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Get the most from this book 

Everyone has to decide his or her own revision strategy, 
but it is essential to review your work, learn it and test your 
understanding. This Revision Guide will help you to do 
that in a planned way, topic by topic. Use this book as the 
cornerstone of your revision and don't hesitate to write in it 
- personalise your notes and check your progress by ticking 
off each section as you revise. 

0 Tick to track your progress 
Use the revision planner on pages 4-6 to plan your revision, 
topic by topic. Tick each box when you have: 

• revised and understood a topic 

• tested yourself 
• practised the exam-style questions 

You can also keep track of your revision by ticking off each 
topic heading in the book. You may find it helpful to add 
your own notes as you work through each topic. 

....,,.lll-liililHll-l:lll·lil·l:11:ili .. ~~~~~---j~ 

u .u. u 

Double-entry book-keeping 

Features to help you succeed 

OfiMIHD 
Throughout the book there are tips from the experts on 
how to maximise your chances. 

Typical mistakes 

: Advice is given on how to avoid the typical mistakes 
: students often make. 

Definitions and key terms 

Clear, concise definitions of essential key terms are 
provided on the page where they appear. 

Key terms from the syllabus are highlighted in bold 
for you throughout the book. 

Use the exam-style questions and answers to consolidate 
your revision and practise your exam skills. 

These short, knowledge-based questions provide the first 
step in testing your learning. Answers are at the back of 
the OOok. 

4;J4'1Mi·i,f\4tMftD 
The activities will help you to understand each topic in an 
interactive way. 



---0 -My revision planner 

AS topics 

Revised 

The accounting system 
Tested Exam 

ready 

1 Recording financial information 

8 Double-entry book-keeping .......................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
11 Capital and revenue incomes and expenditures ........... 0 ................ D ................ D 
12 The treatment of assets, liabilities and equity .. ........... 0 ................ D ................ D 
Accounting principles 
14 Principles, concepts and conventions .. ........................ 0 ................ D ................ D 
16 Other features of the recording system .............. .......... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
Control systems 

18 The trial balance .. 0 0 0 
20 Bank reconciliations ....................................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
22 Control accounts ............................................................ 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
24 Adjustments to income statements and statements 

of financial position.. . .... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
Financial accounting 
4 Preparation of financial statements 

26 Manufacturing statements ...... ........................... .......... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
30 Income statements .. . ........................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
32 Statements of financial position .................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
33 Cash flows .. 0 0 0 
Partnerships 

36 Features of partnerships ................................................ 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
37 The preparation of partnership accounts ...................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
41 Changes in partnership .. . ..................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
Non-profit making (not for profit) organisations 

45 Clubs and societies... . ............... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
Financial statements prepared from 
incomplete records 

51 Deficient or incorrect financial records ......................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
Valuation of inventory 

59 Principles and application .............................................. 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
60 Methods of valuing inventory ....................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
62 Accounting concepts applied to inventory valuation .... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
62 Inventory reconciliations .. 

Depreciation 
D n 0 

64 Principles and application .............................................. 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
65 The calculation of depreciation ..................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
67 Disposal of non-current assets . ..................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
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Revised Tested Exam 
ready 

10 Capital (equity) 

70 Raising capital . . 0 0 0 
70 Short-term financing ................................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
72 Long-term financing ................................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 

Financial reporting and interpretation 
11 Interpretation and analysis 

75 Users of financial statements ...................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
75 Analysis and interpretation of accounting 

information .. ............................................. 0 ............. 0 ............ 0 
76 Calculation of ratios .................................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
80 The limitations of accounting information ................. 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 

Elements of managerial accounting 
12 Costing principles and systems 

81 Cost accounting for materials, labour and overheads .. 0 ................ D ................ D 
83 Marginal (variable) costing.. ..0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
87 Absorption (total) costing ........................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
89 Costing systems .. . .......................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 

(AS Budgets: the preparation of cash budgets is dealt 
with in Topic 20) 

92 AS questions and answers 

A level topics 

Financial accounting 
13 Preparation of financial statements 

Revised Tested Exam 
ready 

98 Cash flow statements . . .................................. 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
105 Partnership changes ........................................ .......... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 

14 Capital (equity) 

108 Redemption of shares ............................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
111 Capital reduction and reconstruction ........................ 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
112 Bonus and rights issues .................... ........................ 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
114 Reserves .. ............................................. 0 ............... 0 ................ 0 

15 Business purchase 

115 The purchase of an unincorporated business by a 

limited company .. D n 0 
117 The purchase of a partnership by a limited 

company .. D n 0 
119 The purchase of assets and the assumption of 

liabilities.. 0 0 0 
122 Evaluating a business with a view to acquiring it ..... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
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My revision planner --0 
Revised 

16 Published company accounts 
128 Principles governing the disclosure requirements 

Tested Exam 
ready 

of company reports .. . ............................. 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
134 Disclosure of accounting policies ............................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
134 Disclosure details concerning non-current assets 

and depreciation .. . ................................ 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
135 Treatment of intangible assets .................................. 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 

Financial reporting and interpretation 
17 Interpretation and analysis 

136 Ratios to aid the appraisal of financial structure ....... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
137 Stock exchange (investment) ratios .. . ...... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 

18 Company financing 

139 Capital gearing and capital structures ...................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
140 International Accounting Standards and their 

application .. 0 0 0 
Elements of managerial accounting 
19 Costing principles and systems 

149 Process costing.. . ......................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
Valuation of inventory using absorption and 

marginal costing principles ....................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
........................................ 0 ............... 0 ................ 0 

154 

154 Relevant costs .. 

20 Budgets 

157 Using budgets O O 0 
158 The preparation of budgets ...................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
161 Principal budget factors and the flexing of budgets .0 ................ 0 ................ 0 

21 Standard costing 

164 Cost standards for unit costs ..................................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
165 Variance analysis ........................................................ 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 

22 Investment appraisal 

173 The elements of investment appraisal ...................... 0 ................ 0 ................ 0 
177 Other considerations affecting investment 

decisions .. 0 0 0 
178 A level questions and answers 

(~~~1-85~_N_o_w~t_e_s_t_y_o_u_r_se_l_f_a_n_s_w_e_r_s~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~) 
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Countdown to my exams 

• Start by looking at the syllabus - make sure you 
know exactly what material you need to revise 
and the style of the examination. Use the revision 
planner on pages 4-6 to familiarise yourself with 
the topics. 

• Organise your notes, making sure you have 

covered everything on the syllabus. The revision 
planner will help you to group your notes into 
topics. 

• Work out a realistic revision plan that will allow 

you time for relaxation. Set aside days and times 
for all the subjects that you need to study, and 
stick co your timetable. 

• Set yourself sensible targets. Break your revision 
down into focused sessions of around 40 minutes, 
divided by breaks. This Revision Guide organises 
the basic facts into short, memorable sections to 

make revising easier. 

• Read through the relevant sections of this book 
and refer to the expert tips and key terms. Tick 
off the topics as you feel confident about them. 
Highlight those topics you find difficult and look 
at them again in detail. 

• Test your understanding of each topic by working 
through the 'Now test yourself' questions in the 
book. Look up the answers at the back of the 
book. 

• Make a note of any problem areas as you revise, 
and ask your teacher to go over these in class. 

• Look at past papers. They are one of the best 
ways to revise and practise your exam skills. Write 
or prepare planned answers to the exam-style 
questions provided in this book. Check your 
answers with your teacher. 

• Use the revision activities to cry different revision 
methods. For example, you can make notes using 
mind maps, spider diagrams or flash cards. 

• Track your progress using the revision planner and 
give yourself a reward when you have achieved 
your target. 

• Try to fit in at lease one more timed practice of 
an entire past paper and seek feedback from your 
teacher, comparing your work closely with the 
mark scheme. 

• Check the revision planner co make sure you 
haven't missed out any topics. Brush up on any 
areas of difficulty by talking them over with a 
friend or getting help from your teacher. 

• Attend any revision classes put on by your 
teacher. Remember, he or she is an expert at 
preparing people for examinations. 

• Flick through this Revision Guide for useful 
reminders, for example the expert tips and key 
terms. 

• Check the time and place of your examination. 

• Make sure you have everything you need - extra 
pens and pencils, tissues, a watch, bottled water, 
sweets. 

• Allow some time co relax and have an early night to 
ensure you are fresh and alert for the examinations. 

Paper 1 

Date: . 

Time:. 

Location:. 

Paper 2 

Date: . 

Time:. 

Location:. 

Paper 3 

Date: . 

Time:. 

Location:. 

Paper 4 

Date: . 

Time:. 

Location:. 
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1 Recording financial information 

Double-entry book-keeping 

41111iiiltl!~-l!:·~MflDl:!C~i=""la!l~imii~i\lll·!4ai:J~,,~-._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The AS and A level examinations do not generally examine basic double-entry 
book-keeping methods of recording financial transactions. It is assumed chat 
students sitting such examinations have already mastered these techniques. 
Most examination questions start after transactions using the double-
entry system have been completed. However, some double-entry topics do 
occasionally appear in either AS or A level examinations. 

@ffiiffiw 
Use basic double-entry techniques as 'workings' when complex calculations are 
needed. Not only will you find this useful, but examiners can refer to your workings 
if there are errors in your final answer and you may be able to gain part marks. 

••~··~i~·IZID,f~-ill##!·li!iiia~!-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Transactions start their journey through the system with entries in one of the 

books of prime entry shown in Table 1.1. 
Books of prime entry are also kno.-vn 

as books of original entry. 

Table 1.1 Books of prime entry 

Purchases book Purchases invoices Purchases account (GL) 

Sales book Copy sales invoices Credit customer (SL) 

Sales returns book Credit notes received Credit supplier (PL) 

Purchases returned book Copy credit notes Purchases(GL) 

Journal Purchases and sales invoices sent to customer Debit entries as shown in 
for entries relating to transactions involving journal 
non-current assets, managers' memos, minutes 
of meetings etc. authorising actions 

Cash book Till rolls, receipts, paying-in slips, bank Cash/bank (monies 

statements, cheque counterfoils etc. received) 

Payee 

4;JJilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
Select a transaction from the fo llowing list , identify the source document and 
identify all the entries made in the business books of account. Your list should 
end with an entry in one o f the financial statements. 

- purchasesfor resale 

- purchase of a non-current asset 

- introduction of additional capital by t he proprietor 

- payment of wages by direct debit 

0 Cambridge International AS and A Level Accounting Revision Guide 

Credit supplier (PL) 

Sales account (GL) 

Sales account (GL) 

Creditcustomer(SL) 

Credit entries as 
shown in journal 

Drawer 

Cash/ bank (monies 
paid) 



What is a personal account? 
(a) Name two nominal accounts. 
(b) In which ledger would you find nominal accounts? 
(a) Explain why ledgers are divided into three parts. 
(b) What are the names of each of the three parts? 

4 Name a source document used to prepare a cash book. 
List the books of prime entry. 
Which book of prime entry is also part of the double-entry system? 

Answers on p.185 

@Mi% 
If you find the use ofthe journal difficult, enter the data into 'T' accounts, then 
ask which 'T' account has been debited, which account has been credited. Place 
the debit entry in the debit column of the journal and the credit entry in the 
credit column. Don't forget to include the description of the entries or a brief 
narrative (description) of why the entries are necessary. 

•Mttni·i·lii·i,i·G@,iilhii@•!ffl•i,BitmM,H:@M• 
Provisions and reserves 
A provision is an amount set aside out of profits for a known expense, the 
amount of which is uncertain. 

A reserve is any amount set aside out of profits that is not a provision. Reserves 
are made at the discretion of the directors of a limited company. 

Bad debts 
There will always be some credit customers who will not or cannot pay the 
money they owe. These trade debtors cannot remain in the sales ledger, 
otherwise the amount of trade receivables, current assets, total assets and 
therefore capital will be overstated. The balances in the accounts of debtors who 
are known to be unable to settle their debt are transferred co a bad debts 
account in the general ledger. 

At the end of the financial year the bad debts account is closed, along with all 
other nominal accounts in the general ledger, by entering the total amount in 
the income statement. 

Provision for doubtful debts 
As well as actual bad debts, there might be other outstanding debts that could 
prove co be bad in the future. A provision for doubtful debts is an amount set 
aside out of profits co cover debts whose recovery is in doubt. 

The amount of the provision is calculated in two ways: 

• an estimation based on past experience of receivables as a whole, or 
experience based on knowledge of individual debtors. For example, a trader 
may know from past experience chat 2% of receivables will not pay. The 
provision would be calculated at 2% of receivables at the year end 

• using an age profile of trade receivables. All outstanding debts are 
categorised according co the time they have been outstanding. The longer a 
debt is outstanding. the more likely it is to prove bad. An ageing schedule for 
doubtful debts may look as follows: 

@Mi% 
Increases to provisions are expenses 
in an income statement. Decreases 
increase the gross profit of a business. 
The balance on a provision account 
reduces the va lue of an asset in 
a statement of financial position. 
Transfers to reserves do not affect the 
profit from operations. 

A trade debtor is a credit customer 
who still awes money. Collectively, 
trade debtors are known as t rade 
receiva bles; they are current assets. 

A trade creditor is a supplier that 
is still owed money. A number of 
trade creditors are known as t rade 
paya bles; they are current liabilities. 

@Mi% 
You may sometimes see a provision 
fo r doubtful debts described as a 
provision fo r bad debts. 

Double-entry book-keeping 0 



Estimated 
Period outstanding percentage of bad Provision for 

(months) Amount debts doubtful debts 

s s 
0-1 30000 300 
1-3 17000 340 
3-6 4000 120 
6-12 1 OOO 40 
Over 12 months 600 50 300 

52600 1100 

The credit balance shown in the provision account in the general ledger at the 
year end would be $1100. 

An entry in a statement of financial position would show: 

Current assets 

Trade receivables 52 600 

Less provision for doubtful debts 1100 51 500 ~-
Thaof wishes to make provision for doubtful debts as follows: 

year 1 $200 year 2 $700 year 3 $400 

The amounts would be calculated using one of the methods outlined above. The 
provision for doubtful debts for each of the 3 years would look like this: 

Provision for doubtful debts account 

End year 1 Balance c/d 200 Year 1 Income statement lQQ 

200 lQQ 

Start year 2 Balance b/d 200 

End year 2 Balancec/d 700 Year 2 Income statement ~ 

700 ZQQ. 
Year 3 Income statement 300 Start year 3 Balance b/d 700 

End year 3 Balance c/d 400 

700 

Startyear4 Balance b/d 

7mY 

400 

Ot@iijj 
Only the increase or decrease in the 
provision is entered in the income 
statement. The balance carried down 
each yea r is deducted from the total of 
trade receiva bles, shown as a current 
liability. 

A trade receivable is unable to pay an outsta nding ba lance of $500. What are the ledger entries to record t his event? 

The opening balance on the provision fo r doubtful debts account was $820. Trade receivables at the financial year end 
totalled $25500. A provision of 3% is to be made. 

(a) Calculate the closing balance on the provision account. 

(b) What is the req uired double entry to account fo r t he change in provision? 

Answers on p.185 
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Capital and revenue 
incomes and expenditures 

41111iiiltl!~-l!:·~ffP~n;r.n~IIZ~~·III._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
It is important that you can distinguish between capital and revenue incomes 
and expenditures. The distinction is necessary to ensure the accuracy of different 
parts of financial statements. 

Capital expenditure is money spent on the acquisition of non-current assets 
or their improvement. 

Revenue expenditure is money spent on the everyday running costs of a 
business. 

Capital income is derived from selling non-current assets or from an injection 
of capital into the business by a provider of funds (e.g. a bank) or by the 
owner(s). 

Revenue income is monies received from the normal activities of the business. 

9 (a) Explain the difference between capital expenditure and revenue 
expenditure. 

(b) Why is important to distinguish between capital expenditure and 
revenue expenditure? 

10 Which of the following transactions is classified as capital income for a 
general store? 
Monies received from: 
- the sales of fruit 

a further injection of capital by the trader 
the sale of a delivery vehicle that is no longer needed 

- the sale of flour 

Answers on p.185 

+mertthfit# ............ ·. . . 
Students often categorise the costs 
of maintenance of a non-current 
asset as being capital expenditure. 
Maintenance costs are revenue 
expenditure, as are vehicle servicing 
costs. These costs do not improve the 
non-current asset; the servicing or 
maintenance merely ensures that the 
asset functions effectively. 

4•DP#!tttfffftj~·l!l!:·lll~/l11!~·~1!4a·iZl4!•EMi~- !l~·im,11~·iJl~·i~·im,111;~:,!1Z14~·~ii~-t!M~4D~! ... ~~~~~~~~~ 
The purchase of a non-current asset is capital expenditure. Its purchase is 
expected to yield benefits to the business over a number of years. The accruals 
concept states that all expenses used in a particular time period should be 
matched with the revenues that the expenditure has helped to generate. 

A non-current asset will be used to generate profits over a number of years; the 
cost of that asset must be spread over the time that it is used (depreciation). 

All non-current assets, with the exception of freehold land, should be 
depreciated. You should be able to use the three methods of depreciating non­
current assets. These are dealt with in more detail in Topic 9, Depreciation (see 
pp. 65-67). All the methods use the same method of recording in the financial 
statements of a business; only the amount recorded will change. 

The accruals concept states that the 
resources used to generate revenue 
income are accounted for rather than 
the money spent to acquire those 

Depreciation is the apportioning of 
the cost of a non-current asset over its 
useful life. 

Qftff¥ict@fub ············ ·: 
Students sometimes state that 
depreciation is the decrease in the 
value of an asset. However, some 
assets may go up in value over time; 
they must also be depreciated since 
they are used to generate benefits to 
the business. 

Capital and revenue incomes and expenditures G 



The cost of a non-current asset was $37 500; accumulated depreciation to 31 
December 2012 was $14000; depreciation for the year ended 31 December 2013 
has been calculated at $2300. The entries shown in the financial statements 
would be as follows. 

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2013 

s 
Expenses 

Provision for depreciation of non-current assets 2300 

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2013 

Non-current assets at cost 

Less depreciation 

s s 
37500 

16300 21 200 

Disposal and revaluation of non-current assets are dealt with later in Topic 9. 
Depreciation (see pp. 67-68). 

11 Which accounting concept is used when providing depreciation of a non-current asset? 
12 Identify a non-current asset that is not depreciated. 
13 Identify three methods of depreciating non-current assets. 

Answers on p.185 

The treatment of assets, 
liabilities and equity 

4•~3!1a1z11c4a,Diil·!ti~j=§~~3 .... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
After the preparation of an income statement the only balances remain ing in 
the books of account will be those relating to real accounts (i.e. asset and liability 
accounts). 

Balances in a sales ledger show amounts owed by credit customers. These are 
totalled and will appear as a current asset - trade receivables. 

Any other amounts owed appear under the heading of 'other payables'. 

4•~3!1a1z1;c4a,D\IEltO~·~fflffliltfftt~·=---~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Short-term liabilities remaining in the general ledger after an income statement 
has been prepared appear in a statement of financial position as current 
liabilities. Examples include trade and other payables. 

4·~~~·~·i~·ilii1a1z;;c4a,D\IEltO~·~fflffliltfftt~·=---~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Non-current liabilities are amounts owed that only need to be repaid after more 
than 1 year. They are shown in a statement of financial position under a separate 
heading of 'non-current liabilities'. Examples could include a mortgage repayable 
in 2035 or a bank loan to be repaid in 2021. 

0 Cambridge International AS and A Level Accounting Revision Guide 



WtiUIHiiUM• 
Equity is the term used to describe the investment that the owners have in a 
business. It is usually applied to the permanent share capital of a limited 
company plus all the reserves that the company has. 

Ch·h¥iGMMO .................................... . 
: Students often refer to reserves as 'cash set aside for future use'. Reserves are 
: not some form of savings that can be drawn on if a business needs them in the 
: future. They are past profits held back in the company. 

14 Using assets, liabilities and equity, write the accounting equation. 

Answer on p.185 

Equity = ordinary issued share capital + 
undated issued preference share capital 
+all reserves. 

The treatment of assets, liabilities and equity @ 



2 Accounting principles 

Principles, concepts and conventions 
Our everyday life is governed by rules. All actions in accounting are also 
governed by rules. These rules are known as accounting concepts. The 
application of these basic rules ensures that a set of financial statements 
prepared in Segamat will be prepared using the same procedures as those used 
to prepare a set of statements in Shahcheng. Judgements and comparisons 
between sets of accounting statements can be made, safe in the knowledge that 
the same rules have been applied in their preparation. You will already have 
applied some of these principles in your studies so far. 

ttftftliftj 
It is important to learn the concepts 
described below. Learn an example of 
how each is applied when preparing a 
set of financial statements. 

Cwr\ilii4HIM, t-----------------------u==J 
When financial statements are prepared, there is an assumption that the 
business will continue to operate in its present form for the foreseeable future. 
This means that assets shown in a statement of financial position are valued 
at cost not what they would fetch if they were to be sold. If the business is to 
continue trading, the assets will be required and will not be sold. Therefore, the 
sale value is of little interest as far as the preparation of a statement of financial 
position is concerned. 

4•~r~1tttn!·m!:~~D!!-~------------------------~===1 
Matching is sometimes referred to as the accruals concept. The value of 
resources used to run a business is recorded rather than a record of the cash 
paid to acquire the resources. For example, raw materials used in June cost 
$4000. The materials are paid for in August. The $4000 will feature in the 
financial statements for June. 

«·n,rnammn 
The value of all resources is recorded in the time period when they are used. 
Goods and services (other than purchases and sales), such as advertising 
expenditure, insurances and wages, are recorded when the resource is used 
rather than when payments are made. 

C•ff,iMMICD 
The matching principle also applies to incomes and other benefits. The right to 
receive the benefit is recorded rather than the receipt of cash. Profit is normally 
recognised when the title passes from the seller to the customer, not when the 
cash resulting from the transaction is paid. 

Certain resources, such as insurance, are paid for before the resource can be 
used. 

MO 

MO 
Title is the legal term to describe 
ownership. 
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4•~31·~1D.f!it!iZii!,~i,IJ.:J.:,~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
When calculating provisions for doubtful debts or depreciation, or when valuing 
inventories, a variety of methods may be used. Each time a different method is 
used to calculate depreciation or a value for inventory, a different profit figure is 
arrived at. This means that it is difficult to make comparisons between different 
years or different businesses if different methods are used each year. It is also 
difficult to determine whether profits have increased or decreased because of 
the level of business activity or because of a change in methods of calculation. 

Once a business adopts a way of recording financial transactions, it should 
continue co use the same methods or policy in future years in order to allow 

valid comparisons to be made. 

Capital expenditure is spending on non-current assets or their improvement. 
Revenue expenditure is spending on the everyday running costs of a business. 
Non-current assets last for more than 1 financial year. If the accruals concept is 
applied rigidly, the cost of all non-current assets should be spread over the time 
that the non-current asset is used to generate profits. However, some items -
which technically should be classified as non-current assets - are treated as 
revenue expenditure. For example, a calculator is purchased for use in an office. 
The calculator cost $2.99 and it is estimated that it will be used for 5 years. As a 
non-current asset, the calculator should appear in a statement of financial 
position; it should be depreciated; the depreciation should be charged each year 
to an income statement. To do this would not be worth the time or the effort 
involved. The $2.99 is therefore created as revenue expenditure and included as 
office expenses or sundry expenses in an income statement. 

Ci44/¥iiD 
Similar assets can be grouped together for presentation in a statement of 
financial position. Different groups of non-financial assets must be shown 
separately. 

C•1Utffib 
As a rule, it is not permitted to offset assets against liabilities or vice versa. For 
example, if premises cost $100000 and their purchase was partly financed with a 
long-term bank loan of $44000, it would not be permissible to show premises at 
$56000 in a statement of financial position. Premises should be shown at a cost 
of $100000 under the heading 'Non-current assets'. The loan would be classified 
separately under 'Non-current liabilities'. 

Neither would it be acceptable to show a net figure if a business had a bank 
overdraft as well as a positive figure for cash and cash equivalents. 

A transaction is material if its inclusion 
or exclusion from a financial statement 
would mislead one of the users of the 
accounting information. 

4•~31·~1Cn~l-~f~if!·Dii~ltJ=·IIIM~·!·lmiZn~f~iiCtfftijl~,~1--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Limited companies must show figures from previous financial statements. 
This enables the users of the statements to make comparisons regard ing 
performance. 

Principles, concepts and conventions G 



A major principle in the production of financial statements is that they 
should show a true and fair view. The financial statements should reflect the 
performance of the business; they should show the financial position and any 
changes to that position. This should be achieved if the qualitative characteristics 
of understandability, relevance, reliability and comparability are applied. 

4•Citttti;Z!~·~M~·~iim-1+._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Revenues and profits should only be included in financial statements when they 
are realised or when realisation is reasonably certain. This prevents profits from 
being overstated. If profits are overstated, a trader may make excessive drawings 
or a limited company may pay excessive dividends, which deprives the business 
of valuable resources. However, the concept does allow provisions to be made 
for expenses or losses when they become known. 

44iE:fl1!:lth!ll¥~-,~,,~·=Jm·~f=,J~·l·~·Dl·~·a, .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-1~ 
This principle ensures that financial statements are prepared using the substance 
of transactions rather than their legal form. For example, a haulage business 
acquires five new vehicles using hire purchase. Legally, the vehicles are owned by 
the finance company; ownership passes to the haulage company only when the 
final instalment is paid. However, from a commercial point of view the vehicles 
have been purchased with a loan and this is how the transaction is recorded in 
the books of account. In a statement of financial position, the vehicles would 
appear as non-current assets while the outstanding amount due to the finance 
company would appear as a non-current liability (or a current liability if there 
was less than 1 year's repayments left to make). 

Other features of the recording system 

4•C:lttffl!mll~·i=i!ili=J~,i~&~~~--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Only transactions involving the affairs of the business are recorded in the 
business books of account. Private incomes and expenditure do not affect 
business profits. The private affairs of a trader are not recorded as part of the 
business activity. Any private incomes included in the business books of account 
are regarded as capital introduced and any private expenditures are entered as 
drawings. 

4:tDt!iM+ 
All financial transactions are recorded using actual cost. The advantages of using 
historical cost as a basis for the preparation of financial statements include that 
itis: 

• objective 
• easily understood 
• easily applied to the double-entry system of book-keeping 

• fairly straightforward for auditors to verify transactions through source 
documents 

• recognised by most tax authorities 
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-~·fftjlffll. ff6t»' ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Duality ensures that the assets of a company are recorded, along with the 

claims against the business. This is manifested in the application of the double­
entry book-keeping system and the accounting equation. 

wffiiffiw 
Double-entry book-keeping involves entering each financial transaction twice; 
this recognises that a business both gives and receives value. 

4•C;Zttffl:l!-Dltt11!!l·:II!mn-!II._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
On acquisition, non-current assets should be recorded in the general ledger at 

cost. However, during their lifetime non-current assets should be revalued on a 

regular basis to ensure that the carrying amount is not materially different 

from the value that the asset would sell for at the date when a statement of 

financial position is prepared. 

Cost includes all expenditure necessary to make the asset ready to be put to use. 
This includes the actual purchase price plus any delivery charges; it could also 
include preparation of the site to accommodate the asset including architect's 
fees; set-up fees, and estimated dismantling and removal costs at the end of the 
asset's life. 

Carry ing amount is the cost of a non-current asset shown on the statement of 

financial position less the aggregate depreciation charged to date. 

Explain the term going concern. 

After extracting a trial balance for the year ended 31 December 2013: 

4;JJilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
With a partner, one person should 
name an accounting concept. The other 
gives an explanation of the concept and 
an example of its use. Change places 
and repeat until all concepts have been 
covered. 

(a) There is a debit balance of $3500 on the telephone account and an unpaid bill covering the quarter to 28 February 
2014 of$600. How much should be entered on an income statement for this expense? 

(b) There is a debit balance of $3000 on the insurance account. There is only one payment made during the year and it 
covers the 15-month period ending on 31 March 2014. How much should be entered in an income statement for this 
expense? 

A business depreciates its non-current assets in year 1 using the straight-line method of depreciation. In year 2 it uses the 
reducing balance method. It then starts to use to the straight-line method in year 3. Which accounting concept is being 
ignored? 

4 A business has trade receivables of $100000 at its financial year end. There are no irrecoverable debts, but for the past 
3 years 2% of its receivables have not been received. The business shows $100000 as a current asset in its statement of 
financial position. 

(a) Which accounting concept is being ignored? 

(b) State the correct amount. 

What do you understand by the business entity concept? 

Answers on p.185 
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3 Control systems 

The trial balance 

411~·~NGlti1!·~·~iE·IIZhblm:· l1D!ffl~· E•aii~i·C·/;• .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
At the end of an accounting period, ledger accounts are balanced and the 
balance carried down to start the 'new' accounting period. 

The trial balance is a summary of all the debit and credit balances shown in 
the ledgers on the date chat the trial balance has been extracted. It checks the 
accuracy of all entries in the ledgers. 

Even if a trial balance 'balances' and the debit column casts to the same amount 
as the credit column, this is no guarantee that the double-entry system is 
free of errors. This merely confirms chat every debit entry in the ledgers has a 
corresponding credit entry. 

The trial balance has only one function: to test the arithmetic accuracy of the 
whole double-entry system. It is also a convenient list from which financial 

statements can be prepared. 

@mi% 
Most trial balances have more entries in the debit column than in the credit 
column. Debit balances are either assets or expenses. Credit balances are either 
liabilities, incomes or benefi ts. 

@mi% 
A debit balance appears on the debit 
side of the account at the start of 
the new t ime period; a credit balance 
is shown on the credit side of the 
account at the start of the new time 
period. 

Casting is an accounting term for 
'adding'. Overcast means that a total 
is more than it ought to be; undercast 
indicates that a total is lower than it 
ought to be. 

4;J4'1hH,f\itM@ 
Ma ke up a mnemonic to remember 
the components of debit and credit 
balances. 

The debit side of an account totals $230 and the credi t side totals $360. What is the amount shown in the trial balance and 
is this a debit or a credit entry? 

What is the main function of preparing a trial balance? 

On which side of the trial balance would you expect to find the fo llowing balances: motor vehicles; returns outwards; 
carriage inwa rds; carriage outwards; sales; discounts received. 

Answers on p.185 

-•m~~·im@mia·~i·EJ~·CIZ·i~·D·~"=1•114=·=1¥E·Ui®:· D·•DfflllU~·III· ~·~!fflE·~·~i,~iZ+I+ .... --------~~ 
Six types of error are not revealed by extracting the trial balance: 

• Commission - the correct amount is entered on the correct side of an 

incorrect account of the same class. For example, rent debited to the local 

taxes account. 

• Reversal of entries - entries are made on the wrong side of both accounts. 

For example, cash sales debited to sales account and credited to cash 
account. 

• O mission - there is no record of a transaction in the system. For example, 

goods are purchased and the supplier's invoice is mistakenly destroyed before 

the transaction has been entered in the purchases book. 

@Wit@ 
Use the mnemonic 'CROPOC' to help 
you remember the six types of error 
not revealed by extracting the trial 
balance. 
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• Principle - a transaction is entered in the wrong class of account. For 
example, vehicle repairs are entered as capital expenditure in a vehicles 
account. 

• Original entry - an incorrect amount is entered in the book of prime entry. 
For example, a purchase invoice for $345 is entered in the purchases book as 
$435. 

• Compensating errors cancel each other out. For example, the debit side of 
one (or more) account(s) is overcast by $1000; other totally unrelated 
accounts have credits that are also overcast by $1000. 

Cii·hfiitftt\¥10 .... · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · 
Students are often unclear about the difference between an error of 

, commission and an error of principle. An error of commission does not affect 
• profi ts or the accuracy of information shown in a statement of financial 
: position. An error of principle does have an effect on profits and affects the 
: accuracy of info rmation shown in a statement of financial position. 

4 Explain why a trial balance that 
'balances' may not necessarily be 
free of errors. 
List the six types of error that are 
not revealed by the trial balance. 
Explain the difference between an 
error of commission and an error of 
principle. 

Answers on p.185 

If a set of financial statements is prepared from a trial balance whose column totals ..,. __ _ 
fail to agree, the financial statements cannot possibly be correct as they will not 4tftM I@ 
balance. If the trial balance totals do not agree, the difference in the two totals is When the errors in the ledger 
entered in a temporary account known as a suspense account. It is held in this accounts in an examination question 
account until the errors that caused the difference are located and corrected. are corrected, the trial balance will 

balance. 
If the total of the debit column of a trial balance is smaller than the total of the 
credit column, an amount is entered in the debit column to make the two totals •••••••••••• 
equal. This amount is described as 'suspense account'. If the credit column is 4Mfft¥ifflfflb 
smaller, the amount for 'suspense account' appears in the credit column. Sometimes a transaction has no effect 

on the answer to a question. You must 
info rm th e examiner of this point. If a suspense account balance is seen in a trial balance, there must be a ledger 

account to correspond with this item. 

• A suspense account is opened in the general ledger. 

• A debit 'balance' shown in the trial balance should be entered on the debit 
side of the suspense account in the ledger. 

If you don't, the examiner cannot 
tell whether you have omitted the 
transaction deli berately because it is 
the correct treatment or because you 
do not know what any effect might be. 

• A credit 'balance' shown in the trial balance should be entered on the credit · , , •••• , , , , , , •••• , , , , , , •••• 
side of the suspense account in the ledger. 

The inclusion of a suspense account allows a set of financial statements to be 
prepared. We can be certain that provided we do not make further errors, these 
statements will balance. 

When all the corrected errors are entered in a suspense account, the original 
error on the trial balance should be eliminated. 

Questions involving errors and suspense accounts are sometimes linked with 
journal entries. Generally, errors that occur in the double-entry system will 
affect financial statements. Errors that affect the trading section of an income 
statement will affect gross profit and profit for the year. Errors that affect the 
profit and loss section of an income statement will only affect the profit for 
the year. Changes to the profit for the year will also affect net assets shown in a 
statement of financial position as any change in profits affects capital (net assets). 

When errors are discovered: 

• corrections should be journalised 
• ledger accounts should be corrected 

• gross profit should be adjusted 

• profit for the year should be adjusted 

• changes to items in a statement of financial position should be made 

The trial balance G 



A trial balance has debit balances totalling $147 OOO and cred it balances of $149000. Despite further checks, you are unable 
to find the error(s). Which account would you open and wh ich posting wou ld you make before proceeding further? 
Identify the type of error involved in each of the fo llowing cases. 
(a) Returns outwards have been credited to the purchases account. 
(b) Purchase of a stapling machine costing $5.68 has been ignored because it is such a small amount. 
(c) A credit sa le to Sanj i has been debited to the account of S.Anj i. 
The following errors have been discovered after the preparation of a trial balance. Show the journal entries necessary to 
correct these two errors. 
(a) Purchases of $123 from Wong have been debited to his account. 
(b) Rent receivable of $500 has been debited to rent payable account as $50. 

Answers on p.185 

Bank reconciliations 

•:fflliiiW,Ul@H,iibh,,M,i+ 
Most businesses have a current account with a bank. The owner of a business 
records transactions using the bank columns in a cash b:x:ik. The source documents 
they use include cheque counterfoils and counterfoils from a paying-in book. 

The bank also records the same transactions in its ledger. The source documents 
used by the bank are the actual cheques and paying-in slips used by the trader. 
A copy of the trader's account as it appears in the bank's ledger is available co 
the trader either online or as a paper document (a bank statement). 

When a bank statement is received, the trader compares the entries shown 
on this copy of the bank's ledger account with the entries shown in the bank 
columns of their cash book. 

A bank reconciliation statement is prepared by the trader on a regular basis to 
check the accuracy of the entries made in the bank columns of the cash book. It 
checks that the business's record of transactions using the bank account agrees 
with the record kept in the bank's ledger. 

Ch·h¥iGM¥it8 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · . 
: A debit balance in the bank columns of a cash book shows money in the bank; • 
• a cred it balance means that the business is overdrawn. A debit balance shown 
: on a bank statement indicates a bank overdraft; a cred it balance means money 
: in the bank. 

The balance shown in a trader's cash book may not be the same as that shown 
on a bank statement because: 

• the trader's lack of knowledge regarding bank charges; overdrah interest; 
counter credits and credit transfers; dishonoured cheques etc. 

• timing differences - for example, when a trader writes a cheque an entry 
is made in the cash book immediately, but the bank does not record the 
transaction until the cheque is presented for payment, which may be a few 
days later. An entry is made in the cash lx:iok when money is paid into a bank 
account, but the bank may not credit its records until some days later. 

MO 
A current account is a bank account 
for everyday use that allows money to 
be deposited and withdrawn. 

A bank statement is a copy of a 
trader's bank account as it appears in 
the bank's ledger. 

ttftftliftj 
The balance at bank shown in a 
trader's cash book is the balance used 
in a trial balance. It is also the balance 
shown in a statement of financial 
position. 

Bank charges are made by banks 
to cover the costs of providing and 
maintaining the current account. 

Overdraft interest is the interest 
charged by a bank when an account is 
overdrawn. 

Credit transfers are amounts paid 
into an account directly through the 
banking system instead of by issuing a 
cheque. 

Dishonoured cheques are cheques 
that have not gone through the 
drawer's account. Often this may be 
due to the drawer having insufficient 
funds in the account to honour (pay) 
the cheque. 
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4•C:Jtttti~111m1:41;a.1~,11;u11tiii!·mlil·~1,a1a.~,.~1,11m1~,.~1i~,~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Answers to bank reconciliation questions usually require two parts: 

• recording items appearing in a bank statement that have not been entered in 
the cash book 

• preparing the actual reconciliation statement 

Answering a question 
• Balance the bank columns of the cash book and carry the balance down. 

• Compare the debit entries in the bank columns of the cash book with the 
credit entries shown on the bank statement. Compare the credit entries 
in the bank columns of the cash book with the debit entries on the bank 
statement. 

• Update the cash book by entering in the bank columns: 
- on the credit side of the cash book, any payments made by the bank not 

entered in the cash lx:iok 
- on the debit side of the cash lx:iok, any amounts received by the bank 

not entered in the cash book 

• Correct any errors in the bank columns of the cash book (the entries in the 
bank statement are always assumed to be correct). 

• Prepare the reconciliation statement using the following format (amounts are 
used for illustration purposes). 

Name of business. Bank reconciliation statement 
at 31 December 2013 

Balance at bank as per cash book 

Add unpresented cheques 

Cheque number 218 

Cheque number 221 

Cheque number 239 

Less lodgements not yet presented 

Balance at bank as per bank statement 

67 

497 

!§.! 

678 

Z§ 
1423 

839 

~ 

Some questions give a balance at bank according to a bank statement and 
require you to 'work back' to show a cash book balance. The workings would 
then be as follows. 

Balance at bank as per bank statement 
Less unpresented cheques 

Add lodgements not yet presented 
Balance at bank as per cash book 

4;J4'lt5i·i,f\iiMli 

584 
745 

(161) 

839 

~ 

Bank statements are sometimes used as a source document. List fo ur items that 
appear in a bank statement that may not be entered in a trader's cash book. 
State how each should be entered in the cash book. 

@@IM8 
Learn the layout of a bank reconciliation statement and always use a heading. 
If there is more than one unpresented cheque, list them in your statement - if 
you add them on your calculator and make a mistake, the examiner cannot 
award any part marks that may be ava ilable. 

Unpresented cheques are cheques 

that have not yet been cleared by 
the bank and so do not appear as 
debit entries on the business's bank 
statement. 

Lodgement s are deposits paid into a 

bank account. 

Bank reconciliations 0 



10 Explain why a trader would prepare a bank reconciliation statement. 
11 How often should a trader prepare a bank reconciliation statement? 
12 Explain the difference between a standing order and a direct debit. 
13 Explain the term lodgement. 

14 'When preparing a bank reconciliation statement, unpresented cheques must always be entered in the trader's cash book.' 
Is this statement true or fa lse? 

15 A cash book shows an entry fo r cheque number 2975 as $32.78. The bank statement shows the entry for cheque number 
2975 as $23.78. Which amount is deemed to be correct? 

16 Explain why the balance in a cash book at the financial yea r end may be different to that shown on a bank statement at the 
same date. 

17 List the steps that you would take to produce a bank reconciliation statement at a financial year end. 

Answers on p.185 

Control accounts 

411~·~NClii!·Dll·~iiCiliZ·~i,~iZHb~·DIE·~l·~·!·i~·Ci,Dihli•._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Separate ledger accounts are kept for each credit customer and each credit 
supplier. The accounts show how much is owed by each credit customer and 
each credit supplier at any one time. 

In a business making large numbers of credit transactions, it is possible that 
errors may occur. Before any financial statements are prepared, control accounts 
should be prepared to check the accuracy of the personal ledgers. Control 
accounts contain all the entries that are made in personal ledgers. In large 
businesses, the number of credit transactions will be high . Large businesses 
could have many sales and purchases ledgers, so a control account is prepared 
for each individual ledger. 

Control accounts are prepared using totals from books of prime entry. The 
control accounts can be part of the double-entry system or they may be kept 
for memorandum purposes only. Sales and purchases ledgers and their control 
accounts cannot both be part of a double-entry system as this would be a 
duplication of the same data. Most businesses keep control accounts in the 
general ledger as part of their double-entry system. These control accounts are 
said to be 'integrated'. 

Purchases ledger control accoun t 
Source of information 
Previous month's control account Balances b/d Balances bid 
Cash book Cash paid Purchases 
Cash book Discounts received 
Purchases returns book Returns outwards 
Journal Transfers to/from 

sales ledger 
Schedule of trade payables from Balances c/d Balancesc/d 
purchases ledger 

Balances b/d Balances bid 

ttM»IMi 
Control accounts are prepared in the 
same way whether they are part of the 
double-entry system or whether they 
are kept for memorandum purposes. 

Source of information 
Previous month's control account 
Purchases book 

Schedule of trade receivables from 
purchases ledger 
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Sales ledger control account 
Source of information 

Previous month's control account Balances b/d Balances bid 
Cash Sales book Sales 

Source of information 

Previous month's control account 
Cash book 

Discounts allowed Cash book 

Returns inward Sales returns book 

Transfers to/from Journal 
purchases ledger 
Bad debts written Journal 
off 

Schedule of trade receivables from Balances c/d Balancesc/d 
sales ledger 

Balances b/d Balances bid 

Each entry in a control account is taken from a lx:iok of prime entry. 

Provision for doubtful debts and provision for discounts are not included in a 
sales ledger control account as these accounts are kept in a general ledger. 

Transfers between personal accounts that appear in both the sales ledger and 
the purchases ledger are sometimes referred to as set-offs or contra items. 

The balances brought down at the end of a month in a sales ledger control 
account should equal the totals shown in a schedule of trade receivables 
extracted from the sales ledger for that month. The balances brought down at 
the end of a month in a purchases ledger control account should equal the 
totals shown in a schedule of trade payables extracted from the purchases 
ledger for that month. 

The individual ledger accounts in the purchases ledger are kept as 
memorandum accounts and are used to check the accuracy of the statements 
received from suppliers. 

Individual ledger accounts in the sales ledger are used to send out statements 
and reminders to credit customers. 

Control accounts only check the arithmetic accuracy of the entries in the 
personal ledgers. So even if the balances shown in a control account exactly 
agrees with the total of balances extracted from the ledger, it is not a guarantee 
that the ledger is error-free. There could be five of the six errors mentioned 
on pp. 18-19. An error of commission would not occur in a control account, so 
instead of CROPOC we have ROPOC. 

18 Why might a trader keep control accounts? 
19 How many control accounts might a trader maintain? 
20 In wh ich control account would you find bad debts written off, returns 

outwards, provision for doubtful debts, a dishonoured cheque and cash 
sales? 

21 What is a memorandum account? 
22 (a) What is a contra item? 

(b) Give another name for contra items. 
23 On which control account's debit side would a contra item be found? 

Answers on pp.185-86 

Schedule of trade payables from sales 
ledger 

ttfu#jifti 
Control accounts only record credit 
transactions with customers and 
suppliers. You shou ld therefore ignore 
cash purchases and cash sales when 
you prepare control accounts. 

ttfu#jiiif+ 
Practise preparing individual personal 
accounts as they would appear in the 
ledgers. Control accounts look similar 
but use larger amounts. 

Memorandum accounts are not part 
of the double-entry system, but they 
are kept to give additional information 
about entries in the system. 

ttfu#jifti 
Credit balances in a sales ledger are 
trade payables; they shou ld not be 
deducted from the total of trade 
receivables. They are added to other 
trade payables and are shown as a 
current liability in a statement of 
financial position. 
Debit balances in a purchases ledger 
are trade receivables; they shou ld not 
be deducted from the total of trade 
payables. They are added to other 
trade receivables and are a current 
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4•~1Dt!i¥!ila·lli!fifi!a·n:!ttb~·~FF·~ii~i~·~i·~l·~lt+!t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Control accounts: 

• test the accuracy of entries in personal ledger accounts, thus alerting the 
book-keeper of possible errors 

• identify the individual ledger in which errors have been made 
• indicate that only the general ledger and cash book entries need co be 

checked when control accounts balance but the trial balance fails to balance 

• make the totals of trade receivables and trade payables more easy to obtain 
for inclusion in a trial balance and/or a statement of financial position 

• reduce the possibility of fraud since the ledgers they control are generally 
prepared by different people 

4;J4ijhH,f\itM@ 
• Enter each of the following in a three-column table: credit sales; purchases 

on credit; cash sa les; discount payable; returns inwards; provision for 
doubtful debts; transfer from purchases ledger to sa les ledger; dishonoured 
cheque; cash paid to credit suppliers; purchase of delivery vehicle on credit. 

• Place a t ick in the column to indicate in which control account the item 
would appear and write on which side of the account it would appear. The 
first item has been entered for you. 

Credit sales .I Debit 

24 What does a credit balance 
brought down in a sa les ledger 
control account represent? 

25 Explain how debit balances might 
occur in a purchases ledger. 

26 Identify two advantages that a 
trader might hope to enjoy by 
keeping control accounts. 

Answers on p.186 

Adjustments to income statements and 
statements of financial position 
After errors are identified during the preparation of the control accounts, 

adjustments made to correct errors will have some kind of knock-on effect on 

the double-entry system. Some adjustments will affect profits; some will affect 

the accuracy of the statement of financial position. Some adjustments require 

changes to 00th statements. 

-·~i!·~·~·iC,i;g;4;;~,,~·~.\-~l1D· E·a/Z@I:· ~i@mlhffil·ll,!i¥11·1a@l·D•D®Z·D·~·i~·i!iDJa·~tllli=J~i=J~·i!·D·------m() 
The changes to profit and to items shown in a statement of financial position 

will depend on the type of error that caused the changes to the ledger account. 

Table 3.1 Types of error and t heir ef fects 

Commission None None 

Reversal May increase or decrease May change assets or liabilities 

Omission May increase or decrease May change assets or liabilities 

Principle May increase or decrease May change assets or liabilities 

Original entry May increase or decrease May change assets or liabilities 

Compensating May increase or decrease May change assets or liabilities 
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4•~3!,~f~-,a,1;44411~,,~f~-,.~111-1-a1z@1mfflrtf1~· =: 1:1m~-mm1-mm11~,1~1,1,~-,~¥!-!ti~Nmm~· ~· ~• .. ----~cmo 
There are no adjustments required to financial statements involving unpresented 
cheques or lodgements not yet credited by the bank. However, any changes to 
cash book entries because of differing amounts shown on a bank statement will 
affect either or both statements. 

A range of the effects of changes co cash book entries because of differing amounts on a bank statement are given in Table 3.2. 

Table 3.2 Examples of t he effects of changes t o cash book ent ries 

No entry 

Telephone $176 

Vehicle $7570 

Bank charges $45 

Telephone $167 

Vehicle $7750 

Redu; by $45 

Increase by $9 

No effect* 

o;il .:.: 
Bank balance reduction of $45 

Bank balance increase of $9 

Bank balance reduction of $180 

Vehicles increase of $180 

• The change in the value of non·current assets will change the year's charge for depreciation. 

C3,fi,i4¥i,,fi·lilhUiifoii,i1+1,iMii+i11,i@ 
If the closing balance shown on a purchases ledger control account does not 
agree with the schedule of trade payables, or the closing balance on a sales 
ledger control account does not agree with the schedule of trade receivables, 
there is an error in that control account: 

• Changes to parts of a purchases ledger or a purchases ledger control account 
may change profit or trade payables in a statement of financial position. 

• Changes to purchases, returns outwards or discounts received will have an 
effect on profit. 

• Changes to the cash paid or the schedule of trade payables may change the 
bank balance and current liabilities. 

• Changes to parts of a sales ledger or parts of a sales ledger control account 
may change profit or current assets in a statement of financial position. 

• Changes to sales, returns inwards or discounts allowed will have an effect on 
profits. 

• Changes to cash received, dishonoured cheques or the schedule of trade 
receivables will change the bank balance. 

27 The fo llowing errors have been discovered in a double·entry syst em. 

(a) An advertising invoice fo r $239 has been recorded as $392 . 

(b) The wages account has been added to $139660 but the tot al should be $139560; the offi ce furniture account should 
total $34000 but it has been added to a tot al of $33 900. 

(c) Moto r expenses incl ude an item fo r $137 which is an insurance premium. 

(d) A purchases invoice fo r $519 has been eaten by t he owner's dog. No entries were made in the books of account. 

(e) Repairs to an offi ce computer costing $375 have been included in the computer account. 

(f) Goods sold to larrko fo r $194 have been credited to his account and debited to the sa les account. 

In each case: 

• Identify the type of error. 

• Ca lculate t he increase or decrease in profi t after t he error has been corrected. 

• Identify any changes to the assets or liabilities after the error has been corrected. 

Answers on p.186 
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4 Preparation of financial statements 

Manufacturing statements 
Financial statements measuring profit for a business that produces goods for 
resale start with a manufacturing statement. The statement lists and totals the 
costs of running and maintaining the factory in which the products are made. It 
has two main sections: prime cost and overheads. 

41111iii,~iii!·iCl~l·~·Ciili!·~~~tttil!!·l!li~~~._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--i~ 
The prime cost section shows all the coses of the factors of production chat 
can be directly attributed to produces being manufactured. They are costs that 
can be clearly traced to the product, such as direct raw materials, wages paid co 
production workers and other direct costs like roya lties. 

The raw materials purchased during a financial year are not necessarily exactly 
the same raw materials used in the manufacturing process that year. We have to 

make an adjustment to the purchase price of raw materials in order to find the 

value of those actually used during the year. 

lvania manufactures jeans. She provided the following information: inventory of 

materials at 1 January 2013 $2356; inventory of materials at 31 December 2013 

$2895: purchases of materials during the year $56 788. The value of materials used 

in the production process during the year ended 31 December 2013 was $56 249: 

Inventory at 1 January 2013 

Purchases of raw materials 

Inventory at 31 December 2013 

Cost of raw materials used 

111•,ii@lfflt!Baib 

2356 

56788 

59 144 

2895 

56249 

All the costs of running the factory other than prime costs are found under this 

heading. These expenses cannot easily be attributed to the finished product. 

Overheads might include indirect materials, supervisors' wages, factory rent, 

local taxes charged on the factory, and depreciation charged on the factory 

plant and machinery. 

4;J4'lhi·i,f\4Mi@ 
Identify two prime costs and two overheads incurred in the production of your 
cell phone. Explain how you chose each of the four t ypes of cost . 

Direct costs are expenditure that 

can be economically identified with a 

specific saleable cost unit. 

Royalties are payments made to 

the inventor of a product, process or 

idea. They are often calculated as a 

percentage of the revenue earned by 

the user. 

MO 
Overheads are expenditure that 

cannot be economically identified with 

a specific cost unit. 
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The factory manager of Klack Manufacturing provides the following information: 

Inventory of raw materials at 1 November 2012 

Inventory of raw materials at 31 October 2013 
Purchases of raw materials 

Wages 

Manufacturing royalties 

Factory rent 

Factory insurance 

Depreciation of non-current assets 

Additional information at 31 October 2013: 

4529 

3887 
234910 

286900 
22500 

340000 

17800 
64000 

• 20% of the wages bill is for supervisory staff, the remainder is direct wages. 
• 10% of non-current assets are employed in the office of the business; the remainder are used in the factory. 

A manufacturing statement for the year ended 31 October 2013, prepared using the information above, is as follows. 

K/ack Manufacturing. Manufacturing statement for the year ended 31 October 2013 
s s 

Inventory of raw materials at 1 November 2012 

Purchases of raw materials 

Less inventory of raw materials at 31 October 2013 
Raw materials used 

Direct wages 

Royalties 

Prime cost 

Overheads 

Indirect wages 

Factory rent 

Factory insurance 

Depreciation of factory mach inery 

Cost of manufacturing 

@miijj 

57380 
340000 

17800 

57600 

Note the 'full ' heading: it contains the name of t he business, the t ype of 
statement and the dat e. Always identify the key elements in any st atement you 
produce. Notice here that raw materials used, prime cost, overheads and cost of 
manufacture have been clearly identified. 

4529 

234910 
239439 

3887 
235552 

229520 
22500 

487 572 

472780 
960352 

4•Di~,·~1=J~,i~iC·IZia:t=·lli~·iE·ll~n~·~i,~iD·iZtffil:m:!i~·aii~tff1~:~\1rt11!ll~i·~l¥¥~!1•._~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Three types of inventory are held: 

• raw materials - these are goods in the condition in which they were 

bought; they have yet to enter the production process 

• work in progress - goods that are pan-way through the production process 

but are, as yet, incomplete 

• finished goods - goods that are the complete, finished articles and are 

simply waiting to be sold to the eventual customer 

Each type of inventory appears in a different part of the financial statements, 

but the treatment follows the same pattern. The opening inventory is added 

and the closing inventory is deducted. Raw materials are dealt with first. Work 

in progress goods still have some way to go in the factory and are dealt with at 

the end of the manufacturing statement. An adjustment for the inventory of 

finished goods is dealt with in the trading section of an income statement. 

Manufacturing statements @ 



All three types of inventory are shown separately as current assets in a 
statement of financial position. 

•i,ii'kiffttiH,i,iiiiM,ii·IID 
At the end of a financial year, the trader physically counts the items that remain 
unsold in the business (as inventory). The items are listed and each category is 
given a value based on the principle of the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. At a lacer stage we will consider the implications of this basic rule. The 
use of net realisable value can cause a problem for many students. 

4;JJilhi·i,f\4Mi@ 
Identify three types of inventory held 
by the manufac turer of the clothes you 
are presently wearing. 

MO 
Net rea lisa ble value is the selling 
price less any expenses incurred by 
the business to get the goods into a 
saleable condition. 

o:tfttliM» 
0:!lllffl:1--------------------, Make sure you understand how to 

34 

Bed 360 

55 

450 

The chair is damaged; before 
sale it will have to be repaired 
at a cost of $25 

The frame is damaged and will 
have to be repaired at a cost of 
$30 before it can be sold 

Chokri placed an inventory valuation of $210 for the table, $30 for the chair ($55 
less $25 is lower than cost) and $360 for the bed (cost is lower than $450 less $30). 

ca lculate net rea lisa ble value as it 
is often req uired in exa mination 
questions. 

4•CitGt4ffltt#D!·ll~·ill~u~iil
1aiC,iZifZ·~iftt!il!·~·li!G1~·1ZC·E~3 ... ---------------~~ 

Some manufacturing businesses transfer goods from their factory to the 
warehouse at a price that is greater than the total production cost. The 
difference between the transfer price and the total production cost is a profit on 
manufacturing. 

This profit loading is designed to recognise the part that the factory has played 
in generating the overall profits of the business. The loading may be based on: 

• the price that would have to be paid if the goods were purchased from an 
outside supplier 

• a percentage of the total production cost 

However, we have already said that inventories must be valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. This does not pose a problem with raw materials or 
work in progress, but it can cause a problem with finished goods. Finished goods 
are stored in a warehouse ready for sale or dispatch to a customer. There will, in 
all probability, be some of these goods left unsold at the end of the financial 
year. How should these goods be va lued? There is no problem if the finished 
goods are passed to the warehouse at their cost price. However, a problem arises 
if finished goods are passed from the factory at cost price plus a profit margin. 
For the purposes of valuing the inventory, we need to find the cost price of the 
goods. 

o:tfttliM» 
Exa mination qu estions generally 
require students to add a profit 
loading based on a percentage of the 
total production cost. 
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lll!lili!m:t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~, ttfifil+W, 
The transfer prices of finished goods to a trading section are as follows. 

Cost plus 
50% 

30% 
70% 

Transfer price to trading section (S) 

6000 

2080 
3910 

The cost price of the above transfers to the trading sections are as follows. 

Calculation Cost price (S) Profit loading (S) 

6000+1.5 4000 2000 (6000 less 4000) 

2080 + 1.3 1600 480 (2080 less 1600) 

3910 + 1.7 2300 1610 (3910 less 2300) 

The value of inventory is increased by the profit element, so the gross profit and 
hence the profit for the year will be increased by the same amount. We should 
not anticipate profit that has not yet been realised. The profit element should be 

removed from our financial statements, which is achieved by creating a provision 

for unrealised profit. 

The cost price can be calculated by 
divid ing the transfer price by 1 plus 
the percentage mark-up expressed as 
a decimal. So 60% becomes 1.6; 29% 
becomes 1.29 etc. 

Kai manufactures air conditioning units. They are transferred to an income statement at cost plus 40%. The inventory of finished 

units at 1 July 2012 was $52640; at 30 June 2013 it was $58380. The provision for unrealised profit account for the year ended 30 
June 2013 would show: 

Dr 

2013 

30 June Balance c/d 

Provision for unrealised profit account 

16680 

16680 

2012 

1 July Balance b/d 
($52 640 X 40% + 1.4) 

2013 

30 June Income statement 
missing figure 

1 July Balance b/d 
($58380 X 40% + 1.4) 

er 

15040 

~ 
16680 

16680 

The balance is shown in the statement of financial position as a deduction from the closing inventory of fi nished goods, so 
ensuring that it appears in the statement of financial position at cost price. 

The amount shown in the provision account described as ' income statement' $1640 is deducted from the gross profit on 
manufacturing in the income statement. 

4;J4')hi·i,f\4tM@ 
Explain to a non-accountant why goods may be transferred fro m a 
manufac turing account to the trading section of an income statement at a price 
greater than cost . Explain your treatment of t his fact in fin ancial statements. 

When preparing a manufac turing account, what are the components of the prime cost? 

(a) Identify two costs that are always included as part of prime cost. 

(b) identify two costs that are always included as facto ry overheads. 

What are royalties and in which sectio n of a manufacturing account would you find t hem? 

4 What are the three t ypes of inventory that would normally be held by a manufact uring business? 

Manufacturing statements G 



Complete the fo llowing sentence: 
Inventories are valued at the lower of ________ aod _______ _ 
A business charges goods to its warehouse at factory cost plus 25%. It had no opening inventory and closing inventory at 
the end of year 1 was va lued at $3000 transfer price. At the end of year 2 inventory was valued at a transfer price of $2400. 
Prepare a provision for unrealised profit account showing entries for both years. 

Answers on p.186 

Income statements 

41111ii•rtJ~·lltttiZ-~·a1a1,111¥az1,=1~1~,.~1a,,a.~1tt11-D1~1,~iz;.~1a,,:1,111mE-D·=J~,,~1:Ja,11~._~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The trading section shows how much it costs to buy the goods that are sold 
and how much they were sold for. The goods in question are the goods that the 
business buys and sells in its everyday activities. The trading section calculates 
gross profit by deducting sales at cost price from sales revenue derived from the 
same goods. 

Inventories 
• Opening inventories of finished goods are added to purchases, which 

identifies goods available for sale. Closing inventories of finished goods are 
deducted from the goods available for sale to give the cost of sales. 

• If closing inventory is overvalued, gross profit will be overstated. 

• If gross profit is overstated, the profit for the year is overstated. 

• If closing inventory is understated, gross profit will be understated. 

• If gross profit is understated, the profit for the year is understated. 

Returned goods 
The total value of sales returns is deducted from the total value of sales for the 
year. Purchases returns are deducted from the total value of purchases for the 
year. 

Expenses incurred in the carriage of goods 
Carriage inwards is an expense incurred when a supplier charges for delivery 
and it is added to purchases in the trading section. 

Carriage outwards is also an expense that a business incurs when it bears the 
cost of delivery of goods to a customer. It is sometimes referred to as carriage 
on sales. It is an expense in the profit and loss section of an income statement. 

Sales returns are goods that have been 
returned by customers. They are also 
known as returns in or returns inwards. 
Purchases returns are goods that 
the business sends back to suppliers. 
They are also known as returns out or 
returns outwards. 

ttfutlitti 
Carriage inwards -t Trad ing section 
Carriage outwards -t Profit and loss 
section -State wh ich of the fo llowing you would find in the trading section of an income statement: returns inwards; carriage 

outwards; open ing inventory; purchase of office equipment. 
How would you calcu late goods ava ilable for sale? 
Complete the following formula: 

cost of sales + gross profit = ? 

Answers on p.186 
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m.!Z!l•~·~-~·~t~,.~1m,c,11;~,,!M!l:l•m1,~1·~·Cli~·i!i¥11mm~- z1;z.~,=1;c,~1~m .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Departmental income statements allow internal users of accounting information 
to gauge the efficiency of each department of a business. Some direct costs can 
be easily identified with the appropriate department and incorporated into a 
departmental income statement. Other costs may be more difficult to allocate 
and so are apportioned to the appropriate department. 

The main ways of apportioning coses are according to: 
• floor space covered by the department 

• numbers of employees in the department 

• sales revenue generated by the department 

Departmental income statements may show chat one or more departments 
are operating unprofitably. However, care should be taken before the 'offending' 
department is closed. 

• There may be interdependency of departments. 
• Costs are often apportioned in an arbitrary way, which does not accurately 

reflect use of resources. For a more accurate method of app::irtioning costs, 
managers should ask 'How much would the business save if the department 
were closed?' 

• A greater fixed cost burden may be placed on other departments after the 
closure of a seemingly unprofitable department. 

•j,ii,j,,iliffih,,M,ii 
An income statement details the incomes and expenditure incurred by the 
business. It is divided into two sections: 

• section 1 shows the results of trading and calculates the gross profit 

• section 2 shows the profit (or loss) after all business expenses have been 
taken from the gross profit 

Capital expenditure is spending on non-current assets or the improvement of 
non-current assets. Revenue expenditure is spending on everyday expenses. 

Capital income is derived from transactions that are not the usual activities of 
the business. Revenue income is income derived from the usual activities of the 
business. 

The profit and loss section of an income statement 
The profit and loss section of an income statement shows how much profit is 
left after expenses have been deducted from the gross profit earned from 
trading. It is usual for businesses to combine the profit and loss section with the 
trading section to give one income statement. You must be able to produce an 
income statement quickly and accurately, so practise the layout. 

10 Why would managers prepare 
departmental income statements 
fo r a business thatmakes large 
profit s? 

11 How should the following expenses 
be allocated or apportioned 
in a large store with several 
departments: rent; sales; staff 
canteen fac ilities;electricity; staff 
wages. 

12 Should a department that makes 
consistent reported losses always 
be closed? 

Answers on p.186 

4;14,JhH,f\itM@ 
Explain how vehicle servicing costs 
should be treated in the financial 
statements of a supermarket. 

-13 How should carriage inwards and outwards be treated in the profit and loss section of an income statement? 
14 Complete the fo llowing fo rmulae: 

(a) profi t for the year + revenue expenses= ? 

(b) gross profit - revenue expenses=? 
(c) gross profit - profi t for the year =? 

Answers on p.186 
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The appropriation section of an income statement 
After the calculation of profit for the year, an appropriation section is needed to 

show how profits (or losses) are shared in a partnership. 

The profit (or loss) of a sole trader is transferred to the trader's capital account. 
The profit (or loss) earned by a partnership is shared between the partners 
according to their partnership agreement (or according to the Partnership 
Act 1890 if there is no agreement - see pp. 36-37). How profits (or losses) are 
distributed is shown in detail in the final section of the income statement. 

Statements of financial position 

4.p~;3~l!-ata11-1m,~1·J·~1t1~-Jffl~~ia1:-1 .... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-1~ 
Assets are resources that are owned by an organisation. They are used to help 
the organisation survive and function. Liabilities represent the debts owed by 
an organisation. A statement of financial position lists the assets owned by an 
organisation and all the liabilities that are owed. 

iiriii•i!:-~·~rffl!-D•._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The total of assets held must equal the total of liabilities. Capital describes how 
much a business is worth. It represents how much is invested in the business by 
the owner(s). It always equals net assets. 

A statement of financial position shows: 

• what a business is worth 

• what assets are used in a business 
• who provided the funds co acquire the resources used in a business 

41111iilttl~-l!·~k~,.~i·~ilfl~·Jfii~-l!lffi~-Zii!,C,~iiD,~ifll·a:IIEii~··~-i~·i~·~M~tlt/ti~·~·!llD:II!tfftijl!ll._~~~~~~~~-1~ 
Non,current assets are used for more than 1 year. They may be tangible or 
intangible. 

Tangible non ,current assets and intangible non ,current assets should be 
shown separately. Examples of tangible non-current assets include premises, 
factory machinery and delivery vehicles. Examples of intangible non-current 
assets include goodwill, patents and copyrights. 

Current assets are cash or assets that will be changed into cash in the near 
future. Examples include inventory, trade receivables, bank balances and cash in 
the till. Assets are classified in a statement of financial position according to: 

• how long they are likely to be used, and 

• how liquid they are 

The most liquid of the assets is shown last while the least liquid appears first. 
This is known as the ' reverse order of liquidity'. 

Liabilities are classified according to the time allowed to settle the debt. Non· 
current liabilities fall due for repayment after more than 1 year. A 25-year 
loan would fall under this heading (except in its final year). Current liabilities 
are due to be repaid within 1 year. Examples include trade payables and money 

4il§llt1H,f\itM@ 
Identify two tangible assets and two 
intangible assets owned by your 
favourite fast-food restaurant. 

Liquid is the term used to describe how 
easily an asset can be turned into cash. 
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owed for overdue rent. In reality, many current liabilities need to be paid more 
quickly than 1 year, e.g. suppliers are unlikely to allow 365 days before settlement. -15 Which of the following are non-current assets for a garage that sells cars, repairs vehicles and sells spare parts: a break-

down recovery vehicle; spare parts for Honda cars; a lifting jack; a desk for a sales representative; petrol. 

16 Arrange the following non-current assets in the order that they would appear in a statement of financial position: vehicles; 
premises; office equipment; machinery. 

17 Arrange the following current assets in the order that they wou ld appear in a statement of financial position: bank balance; 
inventory; trade receivables; cash in hand. 

Answers on p.186 

•i4BHl,iii,i411MD 
A statement of financial position is the formal way of showing the accounting 
equation. If we know four of the parts that make up the accounting equation, 
we should be able to find out the 'missing' pan that completes the equation. 

The accounting equation recognises that the assets owned by a business are 
always equal to the claims against the business: 

non-current assets + current assets = non-current liabilities + 
current liabilities + capital 

Cash flows 

MO 

411~·~NClti!·Dll·~ii~il¥¥·!ADMlil11\tii~·IJE•t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
An income statement calculates profits or losses during 1 year - profits 
determine the long-term survival of a business. A statement of financial position 
prepared at the start of a financial year shows the state of affairs of a business on 
the first day. A statement of financial position prepared 1 year later shows the 
position on the last day of the financial year. An income statement shows what 
might have caused changes from one perspective: profits. 

A statement of cash flows concentrates on cash, bridging the gap from the 
perspective of liquidity. le reveals information that may not be obvious from 
studying an income statement or statement of financial position. Liquidity is 
important, as the inability to generate cash is the biggest single reason for many 
businesses going into liquidation. 

The three statements together show summaries of much of the financial 
information required by the users of accounting information. A statement of 
cash flows gives a picture of monies flowing into and out of a business during 
a financial year. The statement concentrates on liquidity and may explain why, 
for example, a business may need a bank overdraft in a year when profits are 
high. Even though small companies, sole traders and partnerships do not have to 
produce a statement of cash flows, they may find that it is in their best interests 
to prepare one. 

Cashflows 0 



4C~itffl!·:llMIIl~l·~i\!if..,l~·i~·il·ttlrtl·al!·~~lm:~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Cash is money in notes and coins and deposits that are repayable on demand. 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments chat are convertible 
into cash without notice. They have less than 3 months to run when acquired. 
Overdrafts repayable in less than 3 months are deducted from cash equivalents. 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents held by a business over the period of a 
year are not the same as the profits generated by the business over the year. 
A business could have a positive bank balance at the start of the year and make 
a profit over the year, yet end the year with a bank overdraft. A business could 
improve its bank balance over the course of a year yet have incurred a loss. 

It is important that you understand the clear distinction between cash flows 

and profits as this is often the basis of examination questions. 

4;J4ijhH,f\iiM@ 
Identify three transactions that would reduce: 

• profits but would not affect bank balance 

• bank balance but would not affect profits 

Information will generally be given in the form of two statements of financial 

position: one prepared at the beginning of a financial year and one prepared at 

the end of the same financial year. 

Cash flows are found by comparing the two sets of information. This is known 

as the indirect method of preparing a statement of cash flows. Any changes 

that have taken place over the year will, with a couple of exceptions, have 

involved a movement of cash . 

18 Explain why cash inflows are 
important to a business. 

19 Explain the terms cash and cash 
equivalents. 

Answers on p.186 

at 31 March 2014 at 31 March 2013 

s s s s 
Non-current assets 19620 17230 
Less depreciation 4 110 15510 3720 13510 

Current assets 

Inventory 2800 1750 

Trade receivables 2400 2500 
Cash and cash 1 120 6320 1140 5390 
equivalents 

Current liabilities 

Trade payables (2920) (2880) 

Net assets ~ 16020 
Capital 16020 14009 

Profit for the year 19300 ~ 
35320 30640 

Less drawings 16410 14620 
18910 16020 

There were no disposals of non-current assets during the year. Each amount from the statement of financial position at the scare of 
the year and the figures from the statement at the end of the year should be compared. Any difference between the two figures is 

because of a movement of cash. 
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A statement identifying cash inflows and outflows during the year ended 31 March 2014 would show the following. 

Non-current assets on the first day of the financial year had cost $17 230; Cash outflow: $2390 
on the last day of the financial year the figure had risen to $19620. Jsu has 
purchased additional non-current assets, spending $2390 . 
Depreciation of non-current assets at the start of the year was $3720; at Cash inflow: $390 
the end of the year $411 0. The charge for the year was $390. The charge to 
the income statement $390 has reduced profit but it has not reduced cash . 
Depreciation is a non-cash expense. Although this is not really a cash inflow, it is 
treated as though it were. 

Over the year, inventory has increased by $1050; cash must have been spent to Cash outflow: $1050 
acquire these goods. 

Trade receivables at the start of the financial year were $2500; at the end of Cash inflow: $100 
the year the amount owed was $2400. Therefore, trade receivables have fallen 
by $100. This is because of a net cash inflow. 

The next item, cash and cash equivalents, is overlooked at the moment because we are trying co collect information co explain 

why there has been a change over the year. 

Trade payables at the start of the year were owed $2880 . One year later, they Cash inflow: $40 
were owed $2920. They have increased by $40. This increase in trade payables 
can be used to finance Jsu's businesss and is therefore treated as an inflow of 
cash . 

The summary of the year's changes to Jsu's capital is contained in the statement Cash inflow {profit): 
of financial position for the year ended 31 March 2014. $19300 

A summary of all the differences would look like this: 

Cash inflows 

Depreciation 

Decrease in trade receivables 

Increase in trade payables 

Profit 

390 
100 

40 
19300 
19830 

Cash outflow: {drawings) 
$16410 

Cash outflows 

Purchase of non-current assets 

Increase in inventory 

Drawings 

2390 
1050 

16410 

19850 

The calculations show outflows of cash exceeded inflov.rs by $20 during the year. This shows in the reduction of cash and cash 
equivalents during the year. 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 

20 Explain why cash inflows and profits are not necessarily the sa me. 

21 Identify the cash flows resulting from the following transactions: 

(a) Sale of goods $78 on credit to Jose. 

(b) Purchases of goods $39 on credit from Rajan. 

(c) Rent paid $450 with cheque. 

(20) 

1140 

1120 

(d) Purchased delivery va n $15 800 from Jablonsky. Paid deposit $5000, balance to be paid next month. 

(e) Sold machine with a carrying amount of $900 co Sa if for $300 cash. 

(f) Sold office equipment with a carrying amount of $150 to M pofu for $120. He will pay next month. 

22 Explain how a fall in the value of trade receivables over a yea r will affec t the cash resources of a business. 

Answers on pp.186-87 
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5 Partnerships 

Features of partnerships 

Sole traders are the most common form of business organisation. One person 
is responsible for conducting the business and is legally responsible for the 
stewardship of the business. 

Table S.1 The advantages and disadvantages of being a sole trader 

Complete control Unlimited liability 

Minimum of legal formalities to set up May involve long hours of work 

Financial resul ts do not need to be divulged to others Absence may affect the business 

No one with whom to share problems or ideas 

Raising additional finance may be difficult, involving others 

A sole trader wishing to raise additional finance is often faced with the choice of 
converting the business into either a partnership or a limited company. 

Forming a partnership overcomes some of the disadvantages of being a sole 
trader. The Partnership Act 1890 defines a partnership as 'the relationship which 
subsists between persons carrying on business with a view of profit'. 

Table S.2 The advantages and disadvantages of partnerships 

Access to more capital Partners have less independence. Decisions have to be agreed by all partners 

Sharing workload The number of partners is limited to 20 

Pooling of ideas and problems Partners have unlimited liability 

4;JJilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
Prepare a table headed 'Sole t rader' and 'Partnership '. Under each heading. list 
four ad va ntages of being a sole trade and fo ur of being in a partnership. Then list 
four disadva ntages of each type of business. 

4•CilfiZ·D:l·~·i=J~¥!iNm!i!JJ~-;nziJ:J~·~·i=J~·Di~!._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
It is usual to have a written partnership agreement that usually covers: 

• the duties of the partners 

• the amount of capital to be subscribed 

• how any profits are shared 

• any arrangements to be made if there are structural changes to the 
partnership 

Where no agreement exists, the Partnership Act 1890 lays down the following 
rules. Partners: 

@Mi# 
If no details of the way profits 
are to be shared are given in the 
question, you must assume that no 
partnership agreement exists and so 
the Partnership Act 1890 applies to the 
question. 
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• contribute equal amounts of capital 

• are not entitled to interest on capital 

• are not entitled to a salary 

• are not to be charged interest on drawings 

• share residual profits or losses equally 
• lending the partnership money are entitled to interest at the rate of 5% per 

'A partnership must have a written partnershi p agreement.' Is this statement true or fa lse? 
Explain the advantages of having a pa rtnership agreement. 
What rules are laid down in the Partnership Act 1890? 

Answers on p.187 

The preparation of partnership accounts 

4@i,M¥1Nlib®·l;®/·i,ff3Cll11,l+ 
Partnership income statements 
The internal financial statements for all businesses are prepared in much the 
same way. It is only after the calculation of profit for the year that changes are 
encountered. The appropriation section of the income statement shows in 
detail how profits (or losses) are shared between partners. The profit (or loss) 
earned by a partnership has to be shared in accordance with any agreement (or 
according to the Partnership Act 1890 if there is no agreement). 

Partners usually agree to share profits in ways that reflect the: 

• workload of each partner 

• amount of capital invested in the business by each partner 

• risk-taking element of being in business 

The division of profit (or loss) is shown in the appropriation section under these 
headings: 

• salaries 
• interest on capital account balances 
• share of residual profits 

Partners' salaries 
If a partner is entitled to a partnership salary, this is taken from the profit for the 
year before the residual profit shares are calculated. 

Interest on partners' capital account balances 
Generally, partners will maintain fixed capital accounts if interest is allowed on 
capital account balances. 

Interest on partners' drawings 
Some partnership agreements provide that partners will be charged interest on 
any drawings made during the financial year. This is supposed to deter partners 
from drawing cash from the business. 

The interest on drawings is added to the profit for the year in the appropriation 
section and is debited to the individual partners' current accounts. The debit 
entry in the partners' current accounts has the effect of increasing the amount 
withdrawn during the year. It is, therefore, an additional amount of drawings. 

Residual profits (or losses) are the 
profits (or losses) that remain once all 
appropriations of profits for the year 
have been allocated to partners. 

@Ml# 
The amount of interest on drawings 
will generally be given in the question, 
so you will not be required to calculate 
the amounts to be charged to each 
partner. 
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An example of the appropriation section of an income statement is as follows. 

Shabir and Han if. Extract from the income statement for the y ear ended 31 August 2013 
s s 

Profit for the year 

Add interest on drawings - Shabir 160 
Han if 290 

Less salary- Shabir 

Less interest on capital - Shabir (4200) 

Han if (3_QQQ) 

Share of profit - 5habir ()() 
(35755) 

Hanif (X) ~ 

@ffiitftw 
If the share of residual profit does not divide exactly, check quickly that you 
have not overlooked an entry somewhere. However, don't spend too long doing 
this. If nothing has been missed, 'round' your figures. 

4 Explain the funct ion of an appropriation section of an income statement. 

74341 

450 

74791 
(8000) 

66791 

(llQQ) 
59591 

~ 

Explain why a salary paid to a partner is not included in the profit and loss section of an income statement along with all 
the other sa laries paid to staff employed by the business. 

'A partner cannot have both interest charged on drawings and interest paid on capital account balances.' Is this statement 
true or fa lse? 

Answers on p.187 

4•Dk1fiZ·l:l·~·i=i~tliE•m·~IICl=i~·imii#!E·ll!!·~t!tiff!j!l-i·lm::·DEE·~iimi!·i~·Ci,~i~m ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
In the financial statements for a partnership there must be more than one 

capital account showing the financial commitment of each partner to the 

business. The capital employed in the business is usually divided into partners' 

current accounts and partners' capital accounts. 

Capital accounts may change each year if current accounts are not maintained. 

They resemble the capital accounts of sole traders that you have already 

prepared in your studies. However, some questions state that only capital 

accounts are maintained. 

Partners' current accounts record entries relating to each partner's share of 
the profits of the business in the current year. The current account would also be 

used to adjust for any errors made in the profit share in previous years. 

Partners' capital accounts show deliberate injections of capital into the 
business, as well as any goodwill adjustments and any profits (or losses) arising 
from a revaluation of assets (generally on the admission or the retirement of a 

partner). 
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The appropriation section of an income statement for the year ended 30 June 2014 of Lim and Lee is shown below. 

Profit for the year 75600 
Less salary- Lim 10000 

65600 
Less interest on capital - Lim (4200) 

Lee (5400) (9600) 
56000 

Share of profit- Lim (22400) 

Lee (33600) (56000) 

The capital account balances at 1 July 2013 were $70000 and $90000 respectively. Drawings for the year were Lim $28300 and Lee 
$36 750. The capital accounts of Lim and Lee at 30 June 2014 would look like this: 

Lim Lee Lim Lee 
s $ s s 

Drawings 28300 36750 Balance b/d 70000 90000 
Balance c/d 78300 92250 Salary 10000 

Interest on capital 4200 5400 
Share of profit 22400 33600 

106600 129000 106600 129000 
Balances b/d 78300 92250 

The columnar layout saves time and space. The capital accounts would be shown on the statement of financial position as follows: 

Extract from a statement of financial position at 30 June 2014 
Lim Lee 

$ s 
70000 90000 

Add salary 10000 

Interest on capital 4200 5400 
Share of profit 22400 33600 

106600 129000 
Less drawings 28300 36750 

78300 92250 170550 

Boch the accounts and the vertical layout used give the same result. 

Preparation of ledger accounts will save space in an answer, so in many ways it is preferable co draw up ledger accounts and use the 
capital account totals in the statement of financial position: 

Extract from a statement of financial position at 30 June 2014 
Capital accounts S S 
Lim 
Lee 

78300 
92250 170550 

It is more usual for a partnership co maintain fixed capital accounts and show all entries relating to profits earned and profits 
withdrawn in current accounts. 

@Mi§ 
If you are asked to prepare capital accounts, you must produce the info rmation 
in account fo rm as shown. If you don't produce an 'account ', you may forfeit 
some marks. If a question asks fo r a calculation or does not ask fo r 'accounts', 
then either approach is acceptable. 
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The following information relates to the year ended 31 August 2013. 

Capital account balances 1 September 2012 
Current account balances 1 September 2012 
Drawings for the year 

Interest charged on drawings 

Information from the income statement shows: 

Salary-
Interest on capital -

Share of residual profits-

Gisele 
Chantal 

Gisele 
Chantal 

Gisele 

Capital and current accounts at 31 August 2013 would show: 

Chantal 

s 
60000 

6718 er 
18319 

346 

6500 
2400 

3000 
21 OOO 

14000 

Capital accounts 
Chantal Gisele Chantal 

s s s 
Balances b/d 60000 

Current accounts 
Chantal Gisele 

s s 
Drawings 18319 29034 Balances b/d 
Interest on drawings 346 652 Salary 

Balance c/d 11453 Interest on capital 
Share of profits 

Balance c/d 
30118 29686 

Balance b/d 5643 Balance b/d 

Gisele 

s 
75000 

543 er 
29034 

652 

Gisele 

s 
75000 

Chantal Gisele 

s s 
6718 543 

6500 

2400 3000 
21 OOO 14000 

5643 
30118 29686 

11453 

The capital accounts have remained 'fixed' and the profits earned and profits withdrawn from the business (drawings) and interest 
on drawings are recorded in the current accounts. 

It is, of course, possible that a partner like Gisele may withdraw more profits from the business than they have earned. In this case, 
the partner's current account would show a debit balance. 

4;J4'1hH,f\itM@ 
Explain to a non-accountant the 
items you would include in a partners' 
capital account and a partners' current 

Explain how a business partner cou ld have a debit balance on their current account. 

Identify one example of a debit entry in the capital account of a partner. 

Identify two examples of debit entr ies that might be found in the cu rrent account of a partner. 

10 Identify two examp les of cred it entries that might be found in the cu rrent account of a partner. 

Answers on p.187 
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Changes in partnership 

4•CME·!l@!·l~!a®~· Iii~· ~/~Mm!M~·~·=!~·imimi!Jalfflt!n,1a,;~.,~,i~D!· 3 .... ------------u==) 
During the lifetime of a partnership, there could be changes in ownership. 
Partners may decide to: 

• terminate the partnership 

• admit another partner 

• alter the profit-sharing ratios 

When there is a change in the structure of a partnership, one business ceases to 

exist at the dace of the change and, immediately after the date of the change, a 
new business comes into existence. 

ffiMIM» 
When there is a structural change to 
a partnership, treat the info rmation 
relating to the busin ess before 
the change separat ely from the 
information relating to the business 
after the change. 

Adil and Gurvinder share profits and losses equally. Their financial year end is 31 December. They admit Camille as a partner on 

1 July 2013. They agree that Adil, Gurvinder and Camille will share profits 3:2:1 respectively. The profit for the year ended 31 
December 2013 was $70000 and accrued evenly throughout the year. 

There are two businesses involved: 

• up to 30 June 2013, the owners were Adil and Gurvinder 

• from 1 July 2013, the owners were Adil, Gurvinder and Camille 

Extract from the income statement for the 6 months ended 31 May 2013 

Profit for 6 months 

Profit share- Adele 

Gaynor 

s s 

(17500) 

(17500) 

35000 

Extract from the income statement for the 6 months ended 31 December 2013 

Profit for 6 months 

Profit share- Adele 

Gaynor 

Camille 

$ s 

(17500)· 
(11667)· 
(5833)· 

35000 

• Note that the profit share has been rounded. 

The business assets have to be revalued if there is a structural change. Any 

change in asset values 'belong' to the original partners. The asset accounts 

are adjusted and changes are entered in a revaluation account using double­

entry principles. The revaluation account is balanced with a profit (or loss) on 

revaluation. The profit (or loss) is transferred to the existing partners' capital 

accounts before the new partner is admitted. 
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Revaluation account Asset accounts 
Debit Credit Debit Credit 
Decreases in asset values Increases in asset values Increases in asset values Decreases in asset value 

Capital accounts 
Share of 'profit' Share of 'loss' Share of 'loss' I Share of 'profit' 

Changes to the capital structure of the business are entered in the partners' 
capital accounts. Current accounts are not used. Current accounts only change 
when trading profits or losses are shared between partners or as partners make 
drawings. 

When you get used to making adjustments to the partnership statement of 
financial position because of a structural change, you may find that you do not 
have to open an account for each asset and liability. However, it is safer for you 
to always open a revaluation account to 'collect' the changes that have been 

implemented. 

4•~·~41!1!f;WLUa·!m41!l·f~-il,Zi,~iiZ¥1•+-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-1~ 
The business should be valued when a partner leaves a partnership. The business 
assets (and liabilities) need to be examined in order to determine whether they 
reflect the true worth of the business. 

The capital accounts of the 'old' partners are credited with the increase in the 
value of the net assets, including a share of goodwill, in order that the partner 

who is leaving can receive what is owed. After the departure, the remaining 
partners are debited with writing-off the asset of goodwill in the 'new' profit­

sharing ratios. 

Methods of paying a partner on leaving a partnership 
If a large sum has to be paid when a partner retires, the business could be 
deprived of a great deal of liquid resources. There are several approaches for 
dealing with this: 

• The retiring partner's capital account balance could be transferred to a loan 
account and an agreed amount repaid each year. 

• A new partner could join the business and the payment made by the new 
partner could be used to pay off the retiring partner. 

• The cash to pay off the retiring partner could be borrowed from a bank or 
other financial institution. 

• The remaining partners could inject sufficient further capital into the 
business, allowing the payment to be made. 

• An investment could be made which on maturity would pay for the 
retirement. 

Cidlii44ih1J,iJ·lh61@1,i;titD 
A change to the profit-sharing ratio is dealt with in much the same way as other 
structural changes. View the change as that involving two separate businesses. 
The 'first' business must be valued so that the 'original' owners' capital accounts 

can be adjusted with any change in the value of the business. If a goodwill 
account is not to be maintained in the books of account of the 'new' business, it 
must be deleted and the 'new' partners debited in their profit-sharing ratios. 

@ Cambridge International AS and A Level Accounting Revision Guide 
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4•DM:!f~·la,\;nDIC~l!iiE·!ft!i!J!iilli1~·~i·~iC·ltlllDlil~._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Goodwill is an intangible asset. When a successful business is sold, the vendor 
usually sets a price that is greater than the total value of the net assets being 
sold. 

The valuation of goodwill 
When a new partner is admitted to a partnership, the assets should be revalued 
and a value placed on goodwill. This value has to be acceptable co the partners 
in the 'old' partnership and acceptable to the 'new' partners. Goodwill is 
generally valued at a multiple of the: 

• average profits generated over the past few years 

• average weekly sales generated over the past financial year 

• average of gross fees earned over a number of years 

• super profits earned by the business 

Factors that contribute to the establishment of goodwill 
The factors that determine the value of goodwill include: 

• the quality of a product 

• good service 
• helpfulness of staff 

• after-sales service 

• prominent physical position of premises 

• popularity among customers 

A payment for the purchase of goodwill is made to gain access to future profits. 

Goodwill adjustments in partners' capital accounts 
With the introduction of a goodwill account in the firm's books 
When a new partner enters the business, a goodwill account is debited with 
the value placed on the goodwill. The 'old' partners are credited in their 
profit-sharing ratios. It then appears as a non-current asset in a statement 
of financial position. Inherent goodwill has been generated internally; it is 
not entered in the books of account, so it is never shown in a statement of 
financial position. 

Well-established businesses like Royal Dutch Shell or McDonald's enjoy much 
inherent goodwill, but this will not be shown on their statements of financial 
position as both these businesses are going concerns. The concept of going 
concern tells us that assets should be shown at cost price, not at what they 
would fetch if sold. Neither of these two businesses is due to be sold in the next 
few days, so as a going concern they would not show inherent goodwill on their 
statement of financial position. 

When no goodwill account is to be introduced 
Generally in questions you will be required to write off goodwill so that it does 
not appear in a statement of financial position. When a structural change takes 
place, the business should be valued. The 'original' partners have their capital 
accounts adjusted to take into account any increase or decrease in the value of 
the businesses assets over the years and to take into account any goodwill that 
has been created. 

Goodwill is the cost of acquiring a 
business less the total value of the 
assets and liabilities that have been 
purchased. 

ttfu#lifti 
Goodwill is not sold; it is only 
purchased. The vendor makes a profit 
and the purchaser buys all the net 
assets incl uding goodwill. 
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Table S.3 Writing off goodwill 

Accounts of assets with increases in 
value over the years 

Revaluation account 

Goodwill account with the agreed 
value of goodwill 

Revaluation account 

Accounts of assets with decreases in 
value over the years 

Revaluation account 

Balance the revaluation account with amounts in the profit-sharing ratios of the 

original partners: 

Balance revaluation account Partners' capital accounts 

Partners' ca pital accounts Balance revaluation account 

The goodwill account must be written out of the books: 

'New' partners in their profit-sharing Goodwill account 
ratios 

The goodwill account has now disappeared. 

11 Give t wo examples of changes that result in a partnership being restructured. 

12 Explain why it is necessa ry to revalue the assets of a partnership when a structural change takes place. 

13 Explain the circumstances that could cause the dissolution of a partnership. 

14 Explain the term goodwill. 

15 Explain one method of valuing goodwill. 

16 'Goodwill is the value placed on the customers of the business being taken over.' Is this st atement true or fal se? 

17 Non-current assets $56000; net current assets $12000; purchase price paid to acquire the business $100000. Calculate the 
value of goodwill. 

18 Explain the term inherent goodwill and describe how it should be shown in a st atement of financial position. 

Answers on p.187 
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6 Non-profit making (not for 
profit) organisations 

Clubs and societies 
Both clubs and societies are referred to as 'clubs' in this topic. Clubs do not 
generally keep a full set of double-entry accounting records. 

11:•~i~·~"~i,~\RiiiiiDl,IIZIJZia,~,.~rtfflml:·~i·~i~~jj,l._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--1~ 
Some headings and descriptions are different from those used for commercial 
organisations: 

• 'income statement' becomes 'income and expenditure statement' 

• 'profit' becomes 'excess of income over expenditure' or 'surplus' 
• 'loss' becomes 'excess of expenditure over income' or 'deficit' 

• 'capical account' becomes 'accumulated fund' 
• a 'summarised cash book' may be called a 'receipts and payments account' 

••C;tttl?·l!-~IC·lliii!-\m,i~··~Wi~-~·~ .. ~·CiJa,Dit~iE·~i!~!~-i~·ai,Di~t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--1~ 
Clubs exist to provide: 

• facilities for members 

• opponunities for people to meet and further a common interest 

A receipts and payments account does not show the members: 

• the financial position of the club 
• accrued expenses or prepayments 
• the assets held by the club or how much the assets have depreciated during 

the year 
• any liabi li ties chat are outstanding at the year end 

A more complete picture of the club's financial activities and position is 
obtained by the preparation of an income and expenditure statement and a 
statement of financial position. 

••Dim,i!!~·IZn~iiiiil·\~,i~·ll44!ii=-i:Jm,i~·ij~,a·~ii~¥ElDM~-~i!JC,,~iJ~·~l~t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~ .... ~ 
The accruals concept is used in the preparation of an income and expenditure 
statement. It shows: 
• all incomes and expenditures for the period under review 
• all expenditures accrued and as yet unpaid for the period 
• all incomes due that have not yet been received 
• non-cash expenses such as depreciation 

• any surplus or deficit for the period 
• whether the club is generating sufficient income co pay for members' activities 
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The statement of financial position is sim ilar to that of a business. Non-current 
assets and non-current liabilities are identified, together with current assets and 

liabilities. However, the capital account of a club is known as the accumulated 
fund. 

dtfflffil·l,l,l11idi,UM•IWIIPMYi,i·MM 
To calculate the surplus or deficit for a club, a comparison of net assets at the 
start of the period with the net assets at the end is required: 

Stage 1 - Calculate the opening accumulated fund (net assets). 

Stage 2 - Calculate the closing accumulated fund. 

Stage 3 - Deduct the open ing accumulated fund from the closing 
accumulated fund. This indicates the surplus or deficit for the period. 

Stage 4 - If the club received a donation or a legacy, that has to be treated as 
a capital receipt. The amount of the donation is not an increase in net assets 
'earned' by the activities of the club, so it must be disregarded in the calculation. 
Deduct any 'extra' funds introduced. 

Table 6.1 Calculat ing a club's financial resul ts 

Deduct 

Deduct 

Surplus (deficit) for the year 

Closing accumulated fund 

Opening accumulated fund 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Funds introduced 

This type of question always asks you to calculate the surplus or deficit. 

MO 

UZ!l•1=-i·tM-i~t~-iEIIZ·l~··l·~il1Eil~dM·i~·im·~M~GG!tbM-~i:J~,,=rn~,~·NIP~·IIUMl-tliE-aii~i·IMl·lt»~9?·!t-----==1 
Read the 'required' instruction for the question carefully. A question that 

requires the preparation of a set of financial statements means that we need to 
go through the following stages carefully: 

Stage 1 - Prepare an opening statement of affairs. 

Stage 2 - Prepare a summarised receipts and payments account and a 
summarised bank account. These are often given in the question. 

Stage 3 - Construct adjustment accounts. 

Stage 4 - Prepare the financial statements. 

Stage 3 takes up much time and is the area that seems to cause most problems. 

A statement of affairs is the same as 
a statement of financial position. 

4.P~+~tttl11a11ea1,~!IE-~1,~nm111~~=-=•--------------------~==1 
Many clubs organise activities that are not their core activity. 

• The activities raise additional funds, meaning that subscriptions may be 
lower than if ancillary activities were not undertaken. 

• They keep members interested at times when major club activities are quiet, 
e.g. a cricket club may organise out-of-season activities such as discos during 
the winter months. 
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The treasurer should calculate whether the activity is profitable or not and 
include the profit (or loss) in the income and expenditure statement. 

These extra revenue accounts make it easy for members to see the profit (or 
loss) relating to the activity. Members can then decide whether or not the 
activities should continue. If an activity is profitable, the membership is likely to 

agree co its continuation. An unprofitable activity is likely co be discontinued. 

Cafe (snack bar) trading statement 
Many clubs have caf€s in order to raise additional funds for the club and to 

act as a focal point for members. A trading statement should be prepared. 
The profit (or loss) generated is transferred to the income and expenditure 
statement. The trading statement is similar to the trading section of an income 
statement for a business. You may have to do an adjustment account in order to 

determine the amount of the purchases to use in the trading statement. 

The treasurer of Backhand Tennis Club provided the following information for the 
clubcafe". 
• 1 July 2012 amount owed to supplier of fruit juices and snacks $187. 
• 30 June 2013 amount owed co supplier of fruit juices and snacks $219. 
• Snack bartakingsforcheyear$23561. 
• Amounts paid to the supplier of fruit juices and snacks during the year $12449. 

Inventory of fruit 
juices and snacks 

at 30 June 2013 

$101 

at 1 July 2012 

$82 

A cafe trading statement for the year ended 30 June 2013 is as follows. 

Takings 

Less cost of sales 

Inventory 1 July 2012 

Purchases 

Less inventory 30 June 2013 
Cate profit (to income and 
expenditure statement) 

Workings 

23561 

82 

12481 

12563 

___J_Q!_ 12 462 
11099 

Creditors' adjustment account 

30 June 2013 Cash 12449 1 July 2012 Balance b/d 
30 June 2013 Balance c/d 219 30 July 2013 Cate trading 

statement (missing figure) 

12668 

1 July 2013 Balance b/d 

187 

12481 

12668 

219 

Dinner dances, treasure hunts, family games' nights etc. 
These activities are used as fund raisers. A trading statement should be prepared 
for each activity and the profit (or loss) should be transferred to the income and 
expenditure statement. 

ttfutlitti 
Subscriptions accounts are often asked 
fo r as a short question. 

An honorarium is a payment made 
to a club official to cover expenses and 
time spent on club activities. 
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~•~·~·~!!·Cn~iJ~·~\¥1!·\Ziim·~i·~IC,iZ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-~ 
You may have to prepare adjustment accounts to calculate figures for the 
income and expenditure account. These are similar to the one prepared earlier 
to determine the purchases of fruit juices and snacks for the Backhand Tennis 
Club. 

Ac 1 March 2012 the Hurdles Athletic Club owed $67 to a local nempaper for 
advertising club activities; at 28 February 2013 they owed $59. During the year 
$540 was paid co the newspaper. The amount to be shown on the income and 
expenditure account for the year ended 28 February 2013 for advertising is $532. 

Workings 

28 February 2013 Cash 
28 February 2013 
Balance c/d 

Advertising 

540 1 March 2012 Balance b/d 
59 28 February 2013 Income 

and expenditure account 

67 
532 

599 599 

1 March 2013 Balance b/d 59 

The adjustment account for subscriptions seems to cause most problems: 

• People or organisations that owe the money are receivables (debit balances). 

• Members who owe the club money are receivables (debit balances). 

• Subscriptions owing at the end of the year are receivables (debit balances). 

• Subscriptions in arrears are receivables (debit balances). 

There may be members who have paid their subscriptions for the following year. 
If they ceased their membership, the club would owe them money. Until the 
club makes the repayment, the member is a creditor of the club. 

• People or organisations who are owed money are payables (credit balances). 
• Members who are owed money are payables (credit balances). 

• Subscriptions paid in advance at the end of the year are payables (credit 
balances). 

• Subscriptions in advance are payables (credit balances). 

Monies received during the year from members are debits in the receipts and 
payments account (the cash book summary). The double entry is completed by 
crediting the subscriptions account. 

Spend time on these entries - it is worth the effort as there can be several 
marks for the correct entry for subscriptions in an income and expenditure 
account. 

The following information relates to subscriptions to Shuttles Badminton Club: 
• Ac 31 October 2012 subscriptions remaining unpaid were $360; subscriptions 

paid in advance amounted to $420. 
• Ac 31 October 2013 unpaid subscriptions were $60; subscriptions for the year 

ended 31 October 2014 were $300. 
• $11400 was received for subscriptions for the year ended 31 October 2014. 
• The amount shown in an income and expenditure account for subscriptions 

would be $11220. 

@MID 
You will probably make fewer errors if 
you use the technique of entering the 
closing balances below the account 
and then bringing them back into the 
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The subscriptions account would look like this: 

Subscriptions account 

1 November 2012 Balance 360 1 November 2012 Balance 420 
b/d {subs owing) b/d (subs in advance) 

Income and expenditure 11220 Cash 
account (missing figure) 

3 1 October 2013 300 
Balance c/d 

1 November 2013 Balance 
b/d {subs owing) 

11.MQ_ 

60 
b/d (subs in advance) 

11400 

60 

Many clubs write off any subscriptions not paid by the end of the club's financial 

year. 

Ill: ~:i:mi!lll:.-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~, ttM»ittt+ 
During the year ended 31 August 2013 cash received for subscriptions co the 
Dropkick Rugby Club amounted co $2970. At 1 September 2012 subscriptions 
paid in advance amounted co $240; at 31 August 2013 subscriptions paid in 
advance were $100. At 31 August 2013 subscriptions totalling $80 remained 
unpaid. It is club policy co write off any subscriptions that remain unpaid at a 
financial year end. The subscriptions account for the year ended 30 June 2012 is as 
follows. 

Subscriptions 

Income and 3190 Balance b/d 240 ($3190 is shown as 
expenditure income on income and 
statement expenditure statement) 

Balance c/d 100 Cash 2970 

Income and ($80 is shown as an 
expenditure expense on income and 
statement expenditure statement) 
(subsw/o) 80 

3290 3290 

Balance b/d 100 

Show your adjustment accounts 
neatly - an examin er may have to 
refer t o them in o rder to reward you 
with part marks. 

ttM»IM» 
Label workings so that the exa miner 
can see which figure you have been 
calculating. 

4•Di~,i~·~·l~nCl!Ja,z;.~1,c,11~·i!iC,i!Jli!ia·l~·ili•Z¥¥~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Life membership subscriptions 
A life subscription is a lump sum paid by members that entitles them to use the 

club's facilities for the rest of their life without further payment. The members' 

life subscriptions are debited to the receipts and payments account and credited 

to a life membership fund . An amount agreed by the membership, based on a 

percentage of the balance shown in the life membership fund at the end of a 

financial year, is entered as income in the income and expenditure statement. 

The balance on the life membership fund is shown on the statement of financial 

position as a non-current liability. 

The Cue Snooker Club operates a life membership scheme, which costs $500. 
The balance standing on the life membership fund at 30 September 2012 was 
$2750. During the year ended 30 September 2013. five members paid $2500 for life 
membership. 10% of the balance standing in the life membership fund at the end 
of each financial is transferred to the income and expenditure statement. The life 
membership fund for the year ended 30 September 2013 is as follows. 
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Life membership fund @mi@ 
30 September 2013 Income 525 
and expenditure statement 

1 October 2012 
Balance b/d 

2750 A life membership payment is a 
one-off payment and is received by 

30 September 2013 Balance c/d 4725 Year 2012/13 Bank 2500 the club when the payment is made. 

1 October 2013 
Balance b/d 

~ 
4725 

$525 is shown as an income on the income and expenditure statement. $4725 is 
shown as a non-current liability in the statement of financial position. 

Entrance fees paid by new members 
Some clubs charge new members an entrance fee in addition to the normal 

annual subscription. Generally, these entry fees are regarded as revenue income 

in the income and expenditure statement. However, some clubs treat this 

income as a capital income. In these cases, it is added to the accumulated fund. 

Donations 
In practice, small donations should be treated as revenue income. Large 

donations are treated as capital income. You will be advised as to whether 

donations are to be treated as capital or revenue income. 

Sometimes a club receives a large donation or legacy that has been given for 

a particular purpose. The amount is credited to a special trust fund account 

and the money should be deposited in a bank account solely for this purpose. 

This avoids the money being used for general club expenditure. The trust fund 

should be debited each year with the amount of the annual expenditure on the 

special purpose and the debit entry is in the income and expenditure statement. 

The entries are similar co those used in a life membership fund account. 

What is the name given to a club's capital account? 

(a) Explain the term ancillary activity. 

The annual transfers to the club 
income and expenditure account are 
merely transfers in t he club's books of 
account. The amount transferred does 
not increase the cash inflow that year. 

4;JJl)hi·i,fi4Mi8 
Imagine you are the treasurer of a 
hockey club. Identify three ancillary 
activities that you would consider using. 
Explain the reasons for your choices. 

(b) Identify two ancillary activities that might be undertaken by a swimming club. 

Identify one advantage and one disadvantage that a club would hope to gain when operating a life membership scheme. 

4 'Subscriptions in arrears and subscriptions in advance are both treated as current liabilities.' Is this statement true or fa lse? 

To which account is an excess of income over expenditure transferred? 

Prepare a subscriptions account from the following information: 

Cash received in the year for subscriptions 

Subscriptions unpaid at start of year 

Subscriptions paid in advance at start of year 

Subscriptions unpaid at end of year 

Subscriptions paid in advance at end of year 

Answers on p.187 

$10500 

$500 

$400 

$250 

$85 
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7 Financial statements prepared 
from incomplete records 

Deficient or incorrect financial records 

CdlHhHf'®i,i¥¥U• 
The main record-keeping book in this type of businesses is a cash book in which 
all transactions using cash or cheques are recorded. The information contained 
in the cash book is supplemented by bank statements, till rolls, invoices and 
receipts. 

The two types of question ask students to: 

• calculate the profit (or loss) 

• prepare an income statement 

It is important that you are able to recognise each type of question. 

MO 

4C:~!1!-!$tim!:~M!!!!ll~·l~··i·~litlrtla·Z·~itlll~r.r:1!11~tlifil!~~._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
This type of question always asks you to calculate the profit (or loss) for the 
business. There are several stages: 

Stage 1 - Calculate the opening capital (net assets). 

Stage 2 - Calculate the closing capital (net assets). 

Stage 3 - Deduct the open ing capital from the closing capital. This gives the 
retained profit (or loss). 

Stage 4 - Some profits may have been taken out of the business in the form of 
cash and/or goods (or services) as drawings. These drawings need to be added 
to the retained profits. 

Stage S - Sometimes the proprietor of a business may inject new capital into 
the business. Extra capital increases the assets at the end of the year. The 
amount of capital introduced is not an increase in the nee assets earned by the 
business, so it must be disregarded in your calculation. Therefore, deduct capital 
introduced. 

Table 7.1 Calculating profit (or loss) 

Deduct 

Retained profit 

Add 

Deduct 

Profit for the year 

@ftliffiw 

Closing capital 

Opening capital 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Drawings 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Capital introduced 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Always show your workings as they may gain you marks if part of your answer 
is incorrect. 

You are given a cash book, bank 
statements and a list of assets and 
liabilities at the beginning of a year. 
How would you calculate opening 
capital? 

Opening capital $45 OOO; closing 
capital $37000; further capital 
invested during the year $10 000. 
Calculate business profit (or loss) 
fo r the yea r. 

Answers on p.187 
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• a record of all cash and bank transactions 

• source documents that record monies received and paid out 

The source documents include purchase invoices, copies of sales invoices, 
bank statements, cheque book counterfoils, paying-in counterfoils, till rolls and 
invoices from utilities (gas, electricity, water). These documents will: 

• help to build up a picture of the financial transactions that have taken place 
throughout the financial year 

• verify receipts and payments made 

Five stages are involved in the preparation of the financial statements from a set 
of records that are incomplete: 

Stage 1 - Prepare an opening statement of affairs. You may have to calculate 

the capital figure if it is not given in the question. 

ttffltliMi 
It is important to learn these fi ve 
stages. 

Stage 2 - Compile a summary of bank transactions. 

Stage 3 - Compile a summary of cash transactions 

Stage 4 - Construct adjustment accounts (control accounts). 4;14:;MH,f\itM@ 
Stage S - Prepare the financial statements using all the information gained 

from the previous stages. 

Stage 4 seems to cause most problems, but it is necessary because most of the 

records kept by traders are incomplete - they are merely records of cash spent 

and received. The accruals concept has to be applied to the figures. Rely on 

your knowledge of double entry and on using 'T' accounts. 

Example 

Devise a mnemonic to help you to 
remember the fi ve stages used in the 
preparation of financial statements for 
a t rader whose financial records are 
incomplet e. 

Saleem Zain does not keep full accounting records, but he was able to provide the following information for the year ended 28 

February 2014. 

Balance 1 March 2013 

Receipts from credit customers 

Summarised bank account 

883 Payments to credit suppliers 

91 763 General expenses 

92646 

Purchase of non-current asset 

Balance 28 February 2014 

Saleem provided the following additional information: 

34710 

18903 

38000 

~ 
92646 

at 28 February 2014 at 1 March 2013 

s s 
Trade receivables 1004 457 

Trade payables 891 998 
Inventory 3191 2339 

Preparation of adjustment accounts was necessary to determine the amount of purchases and sales for the year. (Missing figures 

are italicised.) 

Trade receivables Trade payables 
Balance b/d 457 Cash received 91763 Cash paid 34710 Balance b/d 998 
Sales 92310 Balance c/d 1004 Balancec/d 891 Purchases 34603 

92767 92767 35601 35601 

Balance b/d 1004 Balance b/d 891 
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Saleem Zain. Extract from the income statement for the year ended 
28 February 2014 

s 
Sales 92310 
Less cost of sales 

Inventory 1 March 2013 2339 
Purchases 34603 

36942 
Inventory 28 February 2013 3191 33751 
Gross profit 58559 

Harry does not keep a full set of accounting records, but he was able co provide the following information for the year ended 
31 July 2013. 

Amounts paid for staff wages 
Amounts paid for insurances 

Additional information: 

Amount owed for staff wages 
Amount paid in advance for insurances 

86772 
4908 

at 31 July 2013 
s 

1439 
996 

at 1 August 2012 
s 

1016 
1646 

The amounts included in the income statement for the year ended 31 July 2013 were as follom. 

Wages 
Insurances 

Workings 

87195 
5558 

Use the same procedure that was used to determine sales and purchases earlier. 

Cash 
Balance c/d 31 July 2013 

Balance b/d 1 August 2012 
Cash 

Balance b/d 1 August 2012 

Wages account 
86772 Balance bid 1 August 2012 

1 439 Income statement 
88211 

Balance bid 1 August 2013 

Insurance account 
1 646 Income statement 
4908 Balance c/d 31 July 2013 
6554 

996 

The balances have been brought down and are used in a statement of financial position. 

1016 
87195 
88211 

1439 

5558 
996 

6554 

Guillaume does not maintain proper books of account. He provides the following information for the year ended 30 April 2014. 

Balance 1 May 2013 
Takings banked 

Summarised bank account 

2 659 Payments to creditors 
90562 Rent 

31452 
3600 

Local taxes 3 870 
Purchase of vehicle 22 OOO 
Other expenses 18831 
Drawings 9 500 
Balance 30 April 2014 3968 

93221 93 221 
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All takings were paid into the bank account, with the exception of the following: 

Wages 
Drawings 

18980 
10000 

Guillaume provided the following additional information: 

Assets and liabilities at 30 April 2014 

s 
Inventory 453 

Trade receivables 80 
Trade payables 412 

Cash in hand 391 
Local taxes paid in advance 1450 

Rent owed 180 
Fixtures at valuation 750 

Delivery vehicles at valuation 22700 

at 1 May 2013 

s 
273 

46 
509 

165 
1280 

92 
800 

8200 

Preparation of financial statements requires that we must go methodically through the five stages outlined above. If we had merely 

wanted co calculate the profit (or loss), we would have used the nee asset (capital) method. Both methods give the same profit 
figure, but a full set of financial statements will give the details of how the profit was earned. 

Stage 1 Prepare an opening statement of affairs 

You should be able to do this almost as quickly as you can write the items down. Do not be concerned with categorising assets 
and liabilities. This is part of your workings; write down the figures neatly and quickly. 

Assets 

Liabilities 

Net assets 

Statement of affairs 1 May 2013 

s 
Bank balance 
Inventory 

Trade receivables 
Cash 

Local taxes paid in advance 
Fixtures 

Vehicles 

Trade payables 

Rent owed 

509 

92 

2659 
273 

46 
165 

1280 
800 

8200 
13423 

601 
12822 (This is also 

Guillaume's capital) 

Note that the assets have been written down in the order that they appeared in the question and no attempt has been made to 

categorise them. 

Stage 2 and 3 Compile summarised cash and bank transactions 
A bank summary has been given in the question. A cash summary is shown below. 

Balance 1 May 2013 (from list of assets) 

Total takings for year (missing figure) 

Cash account 
165 Takings banked (from bank summary) 

119 768 Wages paid 

90562 

18980 
Drawings 1 O OOO 
Balance 30 April 2013 {from list of 
closing balances) 391 

119933 119933 
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Stage 4 Construct adjustment accounts 
An account is opened for e.tery item listed on the statement of affairs (not cash - it has been adjusted in stage 2). Inventory will 
be adjusted in the trading section of the income statement. 

Do each adjustment in turn. Open a T account for each: 

1 Enter the opening balance (debit for an asset; credit for a liability). 

2 Enter the closing balance under your T account. 

3 Take the closing balance up diagonally into the body of the account. 

4 From the bank or cash account, debit cash paid and credit cash received. 

5 Total the account. 

6 Calculate the missing figure to be posted to the income statement. 

Numbers are given in the first two accounts as a guide to the order in which the entries were made. 

1 Balance 1 May 2013 
6 Sales (missing figure) 

2 Balance 1 May 2014 

1 Balance 1 May 2013 
4 Bank 

2 Balance 1 May 2014 

Balance 1 May 2012 

Balance 1 May 2014 

Balance 1 May 2013 

Bank 

Balance 1 May 2014 

Bank 

Balance 30 April 2014 

Bank 

Balance 30 April 2014 

46 

6 119802 

119848~------==~-==----
80 

Local taxes 
1280 
3870 

5 5150 ----j--==--='---------
1450 

Fixtures 
800 Inc stat (missing figure) (depreciation) 

Balance 30 April 2014 

800 
750 

Vehicles 
8 200 Inc stat (missing figure) (depreciation) 

22000 Balance 30 April 2014 

30200 

22700 

Trade payables 
31452 Balance 1 May 2013 

412 Purchases (missing figure) 

22825 
Balance 1 May 2014 

Rent 

3600 Balance 1 May 2013 
180 Inc stat (missing figure) 

3780 

Balance 1 May 2014 

All the workings are brought together to prepare the financial statements. 

1450 

5150 

50 
750 

800 

7500 

22700 

30200 

509 

31355 
22825 

412 

92 

3688 
3780 

180 
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Stage 5 Prepare the financial statements 

Roger Gui/faume. Income statement fo r the y ear ended 30 April 2014 

s 
Sales 

Less cost of sales 

Inventory at 1 May 2013 

Purchases 

Inventory at 30 April 2014 

Gross profit 

Less expenses 

Local taxes 

Rent 

Wages 

other expenses 

Depreciation 

Fixtures 

Vehicles 

Profit for the year 

273 

31355 

31628 

453 

3700 

3688 

18980 

18831 

50 

7500 

119802 

31175 

88627 

52749 

35878 

Statement of financial position at 30 April 2014 

Non-current assets 
Fixtures at valuation 

Vehicles at valuation 

Current asset s 
Inventory 

Trade receivables 

other receivables (local taxes) 

Bank balance 

Cash 

Current l iabilities 
Trade payables 
other payables (rent) 

Capital 
Add profit for the year 

Less drawings 

@@itftw 
Don't just key the assets and liabilities into your 
calculator. If you do make an error, you cannot be 
rewarded for the parts that are correct. Write down 
the items as part of your answer before you use your 
calculator. 

s s 

750 
22700 

23450 

453 
80 

1450 

3968 

391 
6342 

(412) 

_(1_80)_ ~ 5750 

29200 

12822 

35878 

48700 

19500 

29200 

@@itftw 
Show all your workings, no matter how trivial they 
may seem. If you have made an error in compiling your 
financial st atements or in your workings, you may be 
rewarded for the parts that are correct . Every mark 
counts towards your final grade. 
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Now test yourself 

'Cash paid to trade paya bles during a year is credited to a trade paya bl es adjustment account to find sales for the yea r.' Is 
thisstatementtrueorfalse? 

4 'Cash received from trade receivables during a year is credited to a trade receivables adjustment account t o find sales for 
the year.' Is this statement true o r fal se? 

The opening balance on a machinery account is debit $48 000. The closing balance is debit $40000. There were no 
purchases or sales of machinery during the year. What is the cause of the difference in the two balances? 

Answers on p.187 

4c;~111-!an~~tt1:i:111~,1~,,m.~1a:n1D~tt1:111~,,~1m+m-~Ha~1 .... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
This procedure involves working out what the cash position would have been 

had the mishap not occurred and comparing that position with the actual 

position. 

Antoine owns a general store. Ac 1 January 2013 her cash in hand was $327; at the end of the year it was $127. Her till rolls showed 
takings were $79 187. During the year she banked $32 542 after paying wages of $34 607 and caking $12 OOO cash for private use. 

Antoine believes chat some cash was stolen in a burglary in the final week of December. She can calculate the amount of cash 
stolen by the following process. 

Cash in hand 1 January 2013 
Takings 

@miffiw 

Cash summary 
327 Cash banked 

79 187 Drawings 
Wages 

32542 

12000 
34 607 

Cash stolen (missing figure) 238 
Cash in hand 3 1 December 2013 127 

79514 79514 

4;J4ijhH,f\itM@ 
There are a variety of ways of arriving at the answer 
- each is acceptable. However, show all workings co 
support your answer. 

Make a list of the essential items of informatio n that you 
wo uld find necessary in o rder t o prepare a set of fin ancial 
st atement fo r a trader who does not keep a full set of 
double-entry records. 

4c;~111-!an~~tt1:i:111~.1~,,m.~1a:n1D~tt1:1irtt1~:El~,·~1=J~,;m1~·il·~~ ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--i~ 
A trading section that uses actual figures is compared to the figures that ought 

to have applied. 

Guy owns a general score. Several boxes of candies have been stolen and he is unsure of their value. He provides the following 
information for the year ended 30 April 2014. 

Inventory at 1 May 2013 $350; inventory 30 April 2014 $100; purchases during the year ended 30 April 2014 $21100; sales during 

the year $28 OOO. All goods sold carry a uniform mark-up of 33.3%. 

Guy can find the value of missing goods by comparing actual and 'should be' amounts as follows. 
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Actual figures are They should be 

s s s s 
Sales 28000 28000 

Less cost of sales 
Inventory at 1 May 2013 350 350 
Purchases 21100 21100 

21450 21450 
Inventory 30 April 2014 100 450 
Stolen goods (missing figure) 350 21 OOO 21 OOO 

Gross profit 7000 7000 

The mark-up percentage was used co calculate the gross profit. The closing inventory of $100 is a current asset on the statement of 

financial position. The stolen inventory of $350 muse appear as an expense on the income statement. 

A fire has destroyed some inventory during a year. You are uncertain of its value, but the following data are ava ilable. There 
is a uniform mark-up on all goods sold of 20%. Calculate the va lue of lost invento ry. 

Sales 
Opening inventory 
Closing inventory 

Purchases 

Answer on p.187 

36000 
750 
400 

32500 
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8 Valuation of inventory 

Principles and application 

~-~·~·~·!mlm;: mtt1=·EIZ-i~\i=,J~·l·~IIM!·!lffill· l·Mm·:Mil·Z-~@1-acua~-=-~•m1.--------u==) 
The principle is that inventories should be valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. International Accounting Standard IAS 2 Inventories states 
that cost should include: 

• costs of purchase 

• conversion costs 

• any other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less estimated costs of completion and all estimated costs to be 
incurred in marketing, selling and distributing the items. 

Most businesses are unable to identify the actual items remaining as inventory 
at the end of a financial year. Even if they could, it would be a huge task to 

go through purchase invoices to determine the price paid for each item. The 
valuation of inventories is therefore a matter of convenience rather than a 
strictly accurate measure. We do not trace the actual units that have been sold; 
we identify certain items that are deemed to have been sold and therefore 
certain items that are deemed to remain. 

IAS 2 states that: 

• inventories should be valued at the total of the lower of cost and net 
realisable value of the separate items of inventory. (It allows grouping of 
similar items.) 

• FIFO and AVCO (see below) are acceptable bases for valuing inventory, but 
LIFO and replacement cost are not 

• inventories should include finished goods and work in progress 

Which methods of va luing inventories are acceptable fo r limited companies? 

Identify three components t hat make up cost . 

How is net realisable value calculated? 

4 Complete t he fo llowing sentence: 

Inventories should be valued at the lower of and 

Which International Accounting Standard deals wit h inventories? 

Answers on p.187 

Wt¥iffiMD ........... . 
Many students believe that FIFO and 
LIFO are methods of issuing goods and 
state that sellers of fi sh o r other fresh 
food stuffs must use FIFO otherwise 
their goods will not be fresh. 

Principles and application @ 



Methods of valuing inventory 

4•D·~UD/~,;~;c;m,~iifit§ID=·ai~rtffl~·~·!~t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
First in first out (FIFO) 
This method assumes chat the first goods received by the business will be the 
first ones co be delivered to the final customer or the department requisitioning 
the goods. It assumes chat goods have been used in the order in which they 
were purchased. Any remaining inventory is valued as if it were the latest goods 
purchased. Remember that this is only an aS5umption: a method of valuing 
inventory. It is not necessarily the way that goods are actually issued. Goods are 
used to suit each particular business regardless of when they were received. 

Most people feel that it is intuitively the right method to use Because it feels right intuitively, many people feel that this is 
as it seems to follow the natural way that goods are generally actually the way goods are issued 
issued, i.e. in the order in which they are received 

Inventory values are easily calculated Issues from stores are not at the most recent prices and this 
may have an adverse effect on pricing policy 

Issue prices are based on prices actually paid for purchases of In times of rising prices, FIFO values inventory at higher prices 
goods than other methods. This lowers the value of cost of sales 

and thus increases reported profits. This is advantageous if 
the business is to be sold. However, this can be regarded as 
being contrary to the concept of prudence 

Closing inventory is based on prices most recently paid 

It is a method that is acceptable to the Companies Act 1985 
and IAS 2 

Last in first out (LIFO) 

The assumption is that the last goods to be purchased are the first ones to be 

issued from stores. This means that the valuation of inventory w ill use the value 

of the earliest goods purchased. Remember that questions requiring 'detailed 
calculations' using the LIFO method will not be set. 

Table 8.2 The advantages and disadvantages of using LIFO 

Value of closing inventory is based on prices actually paid for It is less realistic than FIFO as it assumes that the most 
the goods recently acquired goods will be issued before older goods 

Valuation of closing inventory is easy to calculate The most recent prices are not used for inventory valuation 
purposes 

Issues from stores are valued at most recent prices It is a method that is not acceptable to IAS 2 

In times of rising prices, LIFO values inventory at lower prices 
than other methods, which reduces reported profits 

@tijitftw 
You need to understand the method, but questions requiring detailed 
ca lculations using LIFO will not be set. 

AVCO (weighted cost average) 

The average cost of goods held is recalculated each time a new delivery of goods 

is received. Issues are then priced out at this weighted average cost. 
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Table 8.3 The advantages and di sadvantages of using AVCO 

f.;lll!I~ 
Issues of goods are made at a weighted average price. This 
recognises that all issues from stores have equal value and 
equal importance to the business 

It requires a new calculation each time a purchase of goods 
is made, which makes it more difficult to calculate than FIFO 
and LI FO 

Variations in issue prices are minimised The prices charged for issues of inventory will not generally 
agree with the prices paid to pu rchase the goods 

It allows the compa rison of reported profits to be made on 
a more realistic basis as any marked changes in the price of 
inventory issues are ironed out 

Because the average price used for issues is weighted 
towards the most recent purchases, the value of closing 
inventory will be fairly close to the latest prices paid for 
purchases 

It is a method that is acceptable to the Companies Act 1985 
and IAS 2 

Perpetual a nd periodic methods 

Some businesses keep detailed records of every transaction affecting the 
purchases and sales of goods. The value of the inventory held is then 
recalculated after each transaction. The records look rather like a bank 
statement. This is known as the pe rpetual method. 

Other businesses value their inventory once at the financial year end. All items 
remaining unsold on the last day of the financial year are valued and the total 
value is used in financial statements. This is known as the peri odic method. 

Using the FIFO method gives the same result whether you use the perpetual or 
the periodic method. There is no shorter version of calculating closing inventory 

when using AVCO. 

Should you use the periodic method or the perpetual method when answering 

a question? Always use the method you are most comfortable with. As the 

periodic method is generally thought to be less complicated, use it every time 

for FIFO unless the question specifically requires the perpetual method to be 

shown in detail. 

+mtMMO""""""""""""·: 
: All methods of valuing inventories are 
: just methods of valuation not necessarily : 
: methods of issue. • 

41111ilittllt~-l-~i~/¥1mll~·~l,~·~·~IIZ·i~~O .. -------------------~~ 
Each method of valuation gives a different inventory figure, so different gross 

profits will be revealed by using different methods. The level of rep:med profits 

depends on the way inventories have been valued. 

@miffiw 
If the value of closing inventory is altered, reported profi ts will also change: 
• Increase the value of closing inventory and you increase reported profit . 
• Decrease the va lue of closing inventory and you decrease reported profit . 

Where purchase prices are rising over the period, FIFO reveals highest profits, 

LIFO reveals lowest profits and AVCO gives a profit figure between the two. 

4111iilitt11t~-1 -~1~1¥1mm~·mo1~m=-mma-Zh~·~·=mm,~·!bi·~«ra11~d~-1~,1~·!ffl~tttffl~·=·1oz@~·D .... --------~ 
The value of closing inventory affects the net assets of a business. A high 

valuation gives higher net assets and therefore a higher capital figure. A low 

valuation gives a lower net asset value and therefore a lower capital figure. 
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Which method of valuing invento ries uses the most recent price paid to purchase t he goods? 

In times of rising prices, which method of valuing invento ries revea ls profits later than other methods? 

Choose the correct phrase in the following sentence: 

Closing inventories shown in a st atement of financial position are always based on a physical count/computer-based 
printout. 

Explain the difference between a periodic and a perpetual method of valuing closing inventory. 

10 Identify two advantages and two disadvantages of using the FIFO method of valuation. 

11 'A store selling fi sh must always use the FIFO method to value closing invento ries.' Is this statement true or fa lse? 

Answers on pp.187-88 

Accounting concepts applied to 
inventory valuation 

GM,i+i,iii·l@fflfflNlffll,MiY.IM8 
The cost con cept is adhered to. The principle of con sist ency is important 

as results obtained from the financial statements must be able to be used for 

comparative purposes. The concept of prudence should be adhered co so that 

profits are not overstated. This means that the lower of cost and net realisable 

value should be applied when valuing inventories. The accrua ls concept is 

used when considering repair costs or delivery charges etc. to be deducted from 

selling price to determine net realisable value. 

Inventory reconciliations 

The value of inventory appearing as a current asset on an organisation's 

statement of financial position is the result of a physical count and valuation. 

Sometimes it is not possible to make an inventory check immediately after the 

close of business on the final day of the financial year, e.g. staff may be absent 

on the day or it may be too big a job to complete in one day. No doubt you can 

think of other reasons why the physical check cannot be made at the right time. 

Giles was unable to conduct his inventory check on 31 May 2014, his financial year 
end. He did, however, complete it on 6 June 2014. The goods held were valued at 
$9678 on that date. He provided the following information of transactions chat 
took place betv.-een 1 June and 6 June 2014: 
• goods purchased $630 
• sales made $%0 
• goods returned co suppliers $38 
• faulty goods returned by customers $120 

A gross profit margin of 50% is earned by Giles on all sales. The value of inventory 
held at 31 May 2014 was $%46. 

MO 

OMIHt+ 
Goods sent on sale or return remain 
the property of the sender until the 
customer indicates that a sale has 
t aken place. 
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Workings 

Inventory at 6 June 2014 

Less net purchases 
Add net sales 

Inventory at 31 May 2014 

9678 
(592) ($630 less $38) 

560 ($960 less $120 = $840 x ~) 

9646 

The purchases and sales figures are nee of returns. Purchases are deducted as they 
were not with Giles at 31 May. Sales have been added as Giles had the goods at the 
year end. The nee sales muse be valued at cost price so the profit loading is taken 
out of the sales price. 

12 A company's inventory valuation was made on 8 May, 8 days aher the financial year end. How shou ld the following goods 
be treated? 

(a) those sold on 4 May 

(b) those purchased on 6 May 

(c) those returned to a supplier on 7 May 

13 Complete the following sentences: 

(a) Inventory that has been overva lued wi ll ________ profit. 

(b) Inventory that has been undervalued wi ll ________ profit. 

Answers on p.188 
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9 Depreciation 

Principles and application 

44iffinl!-~·Drt1=-~·=J~,1~-i=J~·i!·~nm,1~11a-1-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
A business purchases resources to help generate profits. The purchase of non· 
current assets is an example of capital expenditure that is used co generate 
profits. Non-current assets are used for more than 1 financial year and yield 
benefits over a prolonged period of time. Expenditure on the following items are 
examples of capital expenditure: 

• business premises 
• a delivery van 

• machinery 

The benefits derived from capital expenditure continue to be earned over a 
number of years, so the cost of the non-current assets should be spread over 
those years. The total cost of the non-current asset is never charged to the 
income smement for the year in which it was purchased. The cost is spread 
over the years that it is used in order to reflect in the income statement the cost 
of using the asset during that particular financial year. 

The Companies Act 1985 says that all assets with a finite life should be 
depreciated, so freehold land is the only non-current asset that should not be 
depreciated because it has an infinite life. Machines will eventually cease to 

operate and produce goods and a vehicle will eventually cease to be useful for 
the delivery of goods. Non-current assets are recorded in real accounts in the 
general ledger. 

When a non-current asset is purchased and later sold, the amount that is not 
recovered is called depreciation. Actual depreciation can only be accurately 
calculated when the non-current asset is no longer being used. The annual 
depreciation charge is therefore an estimate based on experience. If we know the 
cost and can make an estimate of how long the non-current asset will be useful 
and how much it might be worth at the end of its life, we can estimate the 
amount of depreciation that will take place over the non-current asset's lifetime. 
This lifetime cost needs co be apportioned into each of the years of use. 

Finite ltfe is a limited life span. 

4•~;ZJ4:·=·J~·~\1~111JJ~,1~·i!J~·i!·~nm .. ~iia-1-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The benefits derived from revenue expenditure are earned in the year of the 
expenditure and entered in the income statement for the year. Each of the 
following items is an example of revenue expenditure: 

• goods purchased for resale 
• petrol purchased for a delivery vehicle 
• wages paid for work provided by staff 

Revenues and expenses are recorded in nominal accounts. 
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•i,iifiiBiJ.IGM·iMffiDt------------------cmo 
There are several causes of depreciation, including: 

• deterioration based on expected wear and tear - this depends on the type 
of use and how well the asset is maintained 

• economic factors such as the necessary output and the potential capacity of 
the asset 

• the introduction of new technology, making the asset obsolete 

• obsolescence caused by a change in demand for the product made 

• a change in demand making the asset incapable of producing the quantity 
(or quality) of product required 

• the age of the asset 

• legal or other limits placed on the asset, e.g. when an asset is acquired under 

A lessor is the owner of the non-

current asset. 

a leasing agreement, the lessor may place restrictions on the use of the asset 

There are many methods of dividing the lifetime depreciation charge. When a 4;JJIJhi•i,f\4tffi@ 
method has been decided upon, it should be used consistently so that the List as many causes of depreciation as 
results shown in the financial statements of different years can be compared. you can. 

The calculation of depreciation 

••Mlt®@ttlii,ii,Mlttltl• 
The same amount is charged annually to the income statement over the lifetime 
of the non-current asset. The formula is: 

cost of non-current asset - any residual (scrap) value 
estimate of number of years' use 

The cost of an asset includes the purchase price, including any taxes, together 
with any other costs directly attributable to bring the asset to the location and 
condition ready for use such as: 

• delivery and handling charges 
• professional fees charged by solicitors, architects, site engineers etc. 

• making ready the site where the asset is to be used 

• any costs involved in assembling and testing the asset 

Residual (scrap) value is the amount that a non-current asset can be sold for at 
the end of its useful life. 

A machine costs $62 OOO. Its disposal value in 5 years' time is expected to be 
$2000. The annual charge is $12000 ($62000 - $2000..;.. 5). To record depreciation: 
• enter equal instalments in each year's income statement 
• credit provision for depreciation account 

In a statement of financial position: 
• non-current assets are entered at cost 
• the accumulated (total) depreciation is deducted from the asset 
• the 'nee' total shown at the end of each year for the asset is the carrying 

amount 

Ledger accounts and journal entries 
We have just seen how to calculate depreciation using the straight-line method. 
How is the charge entered in the double-entry system? 

A provision is an amount set aside 
out of profits for a known expense, the 
amount of which cannot be calculated 
with reasonable accuracy. 

Carrying amount is the cost of a 
non-current asset shown in the general 
ledger (and therefore the statement of 
financial position) less the aggregate 
depreciation charged to date. 

The calculation of depreciation @ 



Jacqui started in business on 1 January 2012. On that day she purchased a machine costing $48 OOO from Machmachines pie. 

Machmachines required payment in February 2013. Jacqui will use the machine for 4 years and hopes chat she will then sell it for 
$8000. She will depreciate the machine using the straight-line method. The journal entries to record the purchase of the machine 

on credit from Machmachines are shown below. 

1 January 2012 Dr Machinery account 

Machmachines pie 

The ledger accounts are: 

Dr Machinery account (in general ledger) 

1 January 2012 
Machmachines pie 

Dr 

48000 I 

Machmachines pie (in purchases ledger) 

11 January 2013 
Machinery account 

Dr er 

s s 
48000 

48000 

48000 

Jacqui provides depreciation using the straight-line method. The entries in her general ledger recording this are as follov.rs. 

Dr Provision for depreciation account (in general ledger) 
31 December 2012 

Income statement 
31 December 2013 
Income statement 

10000 

10000 

er 

er 

er 

Only the annual charge entered in the income statement will change depending on the method of calculation used. The provision 

for depreciation account will look similar no matter which method is used. 

The entries at the year ended 31 December 2012 using the journal entries show: 

31 December 2012 Dr Income statement 

Provision for depreciation of machinery 

Provision for depreciation of machinery using the straight-line method. 

Entries in a statement of financial position at 31 December 2013 show: 

Non-current assets 

Machinery at cost 

Less depreciation to date 

10000 

48000 

20000 

10000 

28000 

41111iii,~iJJll!J~·rff!rtti~D!!:l!:!ffl~-~·~i,~i·ZJJ:,,~i!J~!ttffl~·~·D•._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
There are a number of variations to the reducing balance method. The most 

common deducts a given percentage from the carrying amount of the non­

current asset each year. A fixed percentage is applied to the cost of the non­

current asset in the first year of ownership. The same percentage is applied in 

subsequent years to the carrying amount of the asset 
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An asset costs $70000. The rate of depreciation to be charged is 40%. The 
calculations for the provision for the first 4 years of ownership reveal: 

Year 1 
Year 2 
Year 3 
Year4 

Depreciation charge 
$28000 ($70000 X 40%) 

$16800 ($70000 less $28000 x 40%) 

$10080 ($70000 less $28000 less $16800 x 40%) 

$6048 ($70000 less $28000 less $16800 less $10080 x 40%) 

f i,iiithittffil·i,i,,iiittfflt 
The revaluation method is generally used where many small items make up the 
asset. One example is the small tools that are used on a regular basis in a large 
auto repair business or in an engineering works. It would be inappropriate to use 
either of the two methods of providing for depreciation previously described on 
a pair of wire cutters costing $4.75. 

Loose tools are small items of equipment that have a life expectancy greater 
than 1 year. Individually, they are probably owned for a much shorter period 
because they are broken, misplaced or stolen. Each individual item has a much 
lower value than other non-current assets. These items are small and may seem 
to be insignificant, but they are non-current assets because they are co be used 
for more than 1 financial year. The following calculation is necessary to 
determine the amount of annual depreciation: 

depreciation for the year = value placed on the items at the scare of the 
financial year + any purchases of more items 
during the year - the value placed on the 
items at the end of the year 

The depreciation is shown in an income statement for the auto engineer or in a 
manufacturing statement for a factory. 

Explain the term depreciation. 

Identify an asset that does not depreciate. 
Identify two methods of providing fo r depreciation. 

ttftftliffi 
The provision for depreciation account 
looks very similar no matter which 
method is used; only the annual charge 
to be entered in the income statement 
changes. 

MO 

ttftftliijj 
Only the straight-line method of 
depreciation deducts the estimated 
disposal value from the cost of a non­
current asset before calculating the 
annual charge fo r depreciation. 

4 Calculate the difference in aggregate (total) depreciation charged on a non-current asset costing $40000 at the end of 
2 years when depreciation is calculated at 25% per annum using the straight-line method and the reducing ba lance method. 
What are the book-keeping entries necessary to record an annual charge fo r depreciation? 
Explain the term carrying amount. 

Answers on p.188 

Disposal of non-current assets 

•i,iUitfflffil·i,l,lfflfflMD 
When a non-current asset is sold, it is highly unlikely chat the sum received from 
the buyer will be the same as the carrying amount recorded in the business 
books of account. It is likely that it will be sold at a profit (or loss) based on its 
carrying amount. 

MO 

Disposal of non-current assets @ 



A machine that cost $80000 5 years ago was sold for $8000. The total 
depreciation to date on the vehicle was $50000. The loss on disposal of the 
machine would be $22 OOO. 

Machine at cost 80000 

Depreciation to date 50000 
Carrying amount 30000 

Proceeds of sale 8000 

Loss on disposal 22000 

o:tfttliM» 
If a question asks you to calculate the 
profit (or loss) on the disposal of a 
non-current asset, you may use the 
method described here. However, if a 
question asks fo r a disposal account, 
the calculation must be in account 
format. 

4•DtflC-a·!i4:4Cil-!\k~·a·~i·~l·~ii!il
1
ai~i4i·~·~i~··C1=4~·~·i~ID·tt!-l!l·l!@n,~i·ltf!·iD• ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Open a disposal account in the general ledger: 

Debit entries 
Disposal account with the cost of the asset 
Provision for depreciation account 
Cash account with cash received for sale 
Disposal account with profit on disposal 

The treatment of a 'trade-in' 

Credit entries 
Asset account 
Disposal account 
Disposal account 
Disposal account 
with loss 

Sometimes when a non-current asset is replaced, the 'old' asset is traded in and 
an allowance is made by the supplier of the 'new' asset. The procedure is similar 
to chat used when a non-current asset is purchased for cash only, but the 
difference is chat the new non-current asset account is debited with any 
allowance made by the supplier plus any cash payment made. The disposal 
account is credited with the allowance. 

Revaluation of non-current assets 
Non-current assets may be revalued upwards when: 
• there is a structural change in the ownership of a partnership business 

• the directors of a limited company believe chat the carrying amount of a 
non-current asset does not represent its recoverable amount. 

Revaluations should be carried out regularly. After revaluing a non-current asset, 
depreciation should be charged using the appropriate method outlined above. 
The calculation uses the 'new' valuation as a basis for the amount of the provision. 

The connection between cash and providing for 
depreciation 
Written questions often focus on the connection between a provision for 
depreciation and cash outflows. Cash flows out of a business when a non­
current asset is purchased; the annual depreciation charge is the cost spread over 
the lifetime of the asset. There is no direct connection between providing 
depreciation on non-current assets in the income statement and providing cash 
to replace the asset when it is no longer of use. However, there may be an 
indirect influence that depreciation has on cash flows. Annual depreciation is 
entered in an income statement. This non-cash expense reduces profits for each 
year of ownership. The reduction in profit may influence the owner of the 
business to withdraw less money from the business for personal use, thus 
conserving more cash within the business. 

The recovera ble amount is where 
the fair value of a non-current asset 
less any costs that might be incurred 
in its sale is greater than its present 
value in use. The present value in use 
is calculated by estimating future cash 
flows and discounting them to give the 
value at today's prices. 

Qfu¥ie@ifitw"···········: 
Many students thin k that depreciation 
provides a pot of cash that can be 
used to purchase a replacement non­
current asset. However, the annual 
charge fo r depreciation involves 
making ledger entries only; it is a 
non-cash expense that is shown on an 
income statement. 

4;J4'lhi·i,f\itffi@ 
'Depreciation is measured by the fall in 
the value of a non-current asset over 
1 year of ownership.' Explain whether 
or not you agree with this view on the 
measurement of depreciation. 
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A vehicle is purchased for $50000. It has an estimated life of 8 years, at which time it is thought that it will have a trade-in 
value of $2000. Calculate the annual depreciation charge using the straight-line method. 

A machine is purchased for $80000. It is expected that it will have a trade-in value of $8000 at the end of its useful life. 
Depreciation will be provided at 40% per annum using the reducing balance method. Calculate the annual depreciation 
charge for the first 2 years of ownership. 

An asset was shown in the ledger at a cost of $18 OOO. Aggregate depreciation on the asset amounted to $14 SOO. The asset 
was sold for $3200. Calculate the profit (or loss) on disposal. 

10 A piece of equipment was purchased on 1 June 2009 for $62 OOO. It was thought that it could be used for 5 years and then 
sold for scrap valuing $2000. The equipment was sold for $40000 on 31 May 2013 after only 4 years' use. Calculate the 
profit (or loss) on disposal of the item. 

Answers on p.188 
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10 Capital (equity) 

Raising capital 

41111i•,~iaam,:i,m,~·•·~M1~~·1~,,~.,~.,~,=··._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Businesses require finance to survive and grow. The need for finance can be 
divided into time spans: 

• shorr term - in order to fulfil the need for finance to resolve a business 
problem that will disappear in the not coo distant future; generally for 1 year 
or less 

• long term - in order co satisfy the more permanent needs of a company; 
finance chat allows the company co grow and prosper 

Short-term financing 

4•mMll!:li!iZ11~i~-ill1~·~P~iiaiC¥m .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The efficient management of current assets means chat the business needs to 
borrow less to finance its daily operations. If a company is inefficient in this area, 
it may have ro borrow short term to finance inventory, trade receivables and 
cash needs. 

Cash management 
All businesses must have sufficient cash to carry on their daily activities. Cash 
budgets should be prepared to predict the cash requirements necessary for the 
business to function effectively. If cash requirements are insufficient to allow 
effective functioning, the business will have to borrow. 

Credit control 
It is important to ensure that receivables pay on time and in full. Managers must 
ensure that any increase in credit sales does not result in too great an increase in 
extra administrative costs and a lengthening of the collection period, and that 
prospective credit customers have a sound credit rating. 

Inventory management 
Demand for the finished product should always be met on time, so sufficient 
inventory should be held. Holding inventory acts as a buffer against possible 
shortages of raw materials or components and unforeseen price increases. 
Management of inventories can be achieved by applying an economic order 
quantity (EOQ) model and employing just-in-time (JIT) techniques. Profit and 
cash is tied up in excessive holdings of inventory. EOQ finds the optimal order 
level to minimise costs of holding inventory. JIT means that goods are delivered 
just before they are needed. Both systems mean that holding large amounts of 
inventory is unnecessary and inventory holding costs are kept to a minimum. 
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•#MdilHIM 1-----------------------cmo 
Bank overdrafts 
A business chat is not generating sufficient cash through its day-to-day activities 
may have co borrow short term through a bank overdraft. The bank may wish to 
see a cash budget to see that the overdraft can be covered in the future. 

A bank overdraft facility overcomes irregular cash flows experienced by many 
businesses. Managers of a business should agree an overdraft limit in advance 
if they anticipate that they may need to use this source of finance. Interest 
rates charged on unauthorised overdrafts are usually much higher than if an 
agreement had been reached before the overdraft is required. The rate of 
interest charged on overdrafts tends to be higher than that charged on longer­
term borrowings. This is why businesses are only likely to use overdrafts in the 
short term, although many businesses have a permanent overdraft facility. 

Providers of overdrafts do not require collateral on the loan and therefore the 
level of risk for the provider is greater than that incurred with a loan. This is why 
the rate of interest charged is greater than that charged on a loan . 

Short-term bank loans 
Collateral is required for a short-term bank loan and the loan will be for a finite 
length of time. Loans are often secured on a specific asset and repayments are 
usually for an agreed amount at specified intervals during the loan period. Loans 
tend to have a longer repayment date than overdrafts, but it is possible for 
businesses to acquire funds by using a bank loan that will run for a year or two. 
Loans do not give the lender any rights in the everyday running of the business. 

Debt factoring and invoice discounting 
Trade receivable debts may be used to raise finance. Debt factoring and invoice 
discounting are two methods of collecting money owed as quickly as possible. 

Debt factoring - the sales ledger is administered by a debt factor. The debt­
factoring company buys the debts, at a discount, paying the creditor an advance 
based on the total amount to be collected. The debt-factoring company then 
collects the debts as they fall due, charging a fee based on the volume of credit 
sales together with interest on any advance payments made. Debt factoring is 
often seen negatively by suppliers and customers as control of the customer 
database is lost. 

Invoice discounting - trade receivables are used as security on an advance. 
The credit control function is not contracted out, so the database of credit 
customers remains with the creditor. 

Sale of unused non-current assets 
Cash can be raised by selling off any non-current assets that will not be used in 
the foreseeable future. 

Hire purchase 
The cost of the asset is spread over several time periods. Ownership of the 
asset rests with the hire purchase company until the final payment is made. 
However, the purchaser shows the asset on its statement of financial position 
(this is an application of substance over form). The amount still outstanding 
on the agreement is shown as either a non-current liability or a current liability 
depending on how much of the agreement is left to run. 

Trade credit 
This is when goods are obtained but not paid for immediately. It is a form of 
financing that must be used with caution. The length of time taken to pay 
individual creditors must be monitored carefully. If suppliers feel chat their credit 

Collateral is used to guarantee the 
repayment of a loan, such as the title 
deeds to land or business premises. If 
the borrower fails to repay the loan, 
the lender may sell the assets used as 
collateral to recoup their capital. 

Short-term financing 0 



terms are being abused, they may withdraw any beneficial credit facilities or 
revert to supplying goods and services on a purely cash basis. 

Long-term financing 

4;14:;MH,f\itM@ 
Identify the short-term external sources 
of finance available to the owner ofa 
general store. 

4•D@~1:;z .. ~;~1,,1~·~i·~11a;c1m+ .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-1~ 
Retained earnings 
Retained earnings are probably the most important source of financing for 
any business. It means the business is self-financing and not relying on external 
sources. If a business is constantly relying on injections of external finance, the 
sources could eventually dry up. Retained earnings are a revenue reserve. 

4•C¥3E!li=i~l~,f~-iJl!i·Ci~·IZlim¥11·._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Share capital 
This is one of the main ways of raising large sums of new long-term finance 
available to a public limited company. There are three main methods: 

• by a rights issue of shares to existing shareholders in some proportion to 

their existing holding 

• by a public issue requiring new shareholders to purchase shares 
• by a 'placing', which involves underwriters placing shares with financial 

institutions of their choosing - this method is often used by companies 
coming to the market for the first time 

These share issues provide finance that can be used in whatever way the 
directors feel is appropriate to the needs of the company. 

There are two main types of share capital: ordinary and preference shares. If they 
are part of the permanent capital of a company, they are shown in a statement 
of financial position as part of equity capital. 

Ordinary shares 
All limited companies must have ordinary share capital. A holder of such shares 
has the right to: 

• vote at general meetings of the company 
• a share in any dividends that are declared based on the level of their share 

holding 
• share in any surplus funds that remain after creditors and preference 

shareholders have been paid their dues in the event of liquidation 

Ordinary shares do not usually entitle members to a given level of dividend. 
Despite this, they are attractive to investors because of the possibility of 
potentially large dividends when profits are high and capital gains if the value of 
the shares increases. 

Preference shares 
Preference shares give the holder prior rights over ordinary shareholders with 
regard to the payment of dividends and capital repayment. They are less risky as 
an investment than ord inary shares as they usually have a fixed rate of dividend 
expressed as a percentage of the nominal value of the shares. However, there is 
less chance of a capital gain on the investment. 

Cumulative preference shares - if a company cannot pay preference 
dividends when they fall due, the amount is carried forward until the company 
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is more profitable and is able to fulfil its obligation . Preference shares are 
cumulative unless they are stated to be non-cumulative. 

Non-cumulative preference shares - if a company is unable to pay a 
preference dividend in any one year, the dividend is forfeited and will not be 
paid at a later date. 

Participating preference shares - shareholders are entitled to an extra 
dividend above that shown on the share certificate in years in which profits 
exceed a set amount. 

Redeemable preference shares - these do not form part of the equity 
capital and should be classified as non-current liabilities (except in the year of 
redemption). The Companies Act 1985 allows a company to issue redeemable 
shares provided it has issued shares that are not redeemable. The Act also 
permits companies to purchase their own (non-redeemable) shares. Details of the 
redemption process are dealt with in Topic 14, Capital (equity) on pp. 108-11. 

Loan capital (debentures) 
This is another way of raising a large amount of new long-term finance for a 
limited company. Debentures are bonds recording a long-term loan to a 
company. The document is evidence of the loan and entitles the holder to a 
fixed rate of interest each year. Some debentures are repayable at a future date 
specified on the bond, e.g. 8% debentures (2045) means that the holder is 
entitled to receive annual interest of 8% until 2045 when the loan will be repaid. 
Other debentures have no redemption date and the holder is repaid only in the 
event of the company going into liquidation. The interest has to be paid 
whether or not the company is profitable. It is a charge against the profits of the 
company, unlike share dividends which are an appropriation of profits. 

Mortgage debentures have their loan secured against all or some of the non­
current assets of the company. If the company cannot repay the loan when due, 
the debenture holders can sell the secured asset(s) and use the sale proceeds to 
settle the amount they are owed. 

Convertible loan stock 
The holders of convertible loan stock have made a loan to the company in much 
the same way as debenture holders. However, unlike debenture holders, the 

holders of convertible loan stock have the opportunity to exchange their stock 
for ordinary shares at a predetermined price at a date specified in the future. 

Long-term bank loans 
As well as borrowing by issuing debentures, a company can borrow from banks 
or other financial institutions. The loan is taken out for an agreed period and 
repayments are generally for an agreed amount on specified dates during the 
period of the loan. The lender will charge a fixed rate of interest and require 
some form of collateral. The lender has no powers to interfere with the everyday 
running of the business. 

Leasing 
Rather than purchasing non-current assets, which often requ ires the spending of 
large capital sums, many businesses lease their premises, plant, machinery or 
vehicles. The cash that is not tied up in owning the non-current asset is then 
available to the lessee for other, more profitable, investment opportunities. The 
'rental' costs paid by the lessee are a charge against profits. 

Sale and lease back 
Finance can be raised by selling non-current assets to a leasing company and 
then leasing them back from the lessor. The leasing charges are charged against 
profits. 

@Mitit+ 
Debentures are not shown in a 
statement of financial position as 
part of equity. They are a non-current 
liability. 

A lessee is the business that pays the 
owner (lessor) for the use of the asset. 

Long-term financing 0 



4;J4'lhi·i,f\4iMttD 
• Explain how the holder of convertible loan stock would decide whether or not to exercise their option to convert the stock 

into shares on the due date. 

• Explain the factors that directors of a limited company should consider when choosing a method of raising long-term 
capital. 

• Drah a memo to a line manager listing the advantages and disadvantages that a business might hope to gain from selling 
non-current assets and leasing them back. 

What are the two principal types of shares issued by a limited company? 

In which section of the statement of financial position would you expect to find issued debentures? 

Explain the difference between debentures and convertible loan stock. 

4 What is the difference between a lessor and a lessee? 

What is a hire purchase agreement? 

Answers on p.188 
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11 Interpretation and analysis 

Users of financial statements 

4•D·~»D1~,;~1a;m,~i111a~m;~11JZ41:!Z!·~¥-~._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
People use financial statements for many reasons and the statements are prepared 
to convey information. You should be able to identify various user groups and 
comment on the aspects of business activity they will be most interested in. 

The users within the business include owners (shareholders in the case of 
limited companies), managers, employees and trade unions. Published financial 
statements of limited companies muse satisfy the requirements of the Companies 
Acts, International Accounting Standards and Stock Exchange requirements. 
Owners (not shareholders) and managers will have access to all the business books 
of account on which to base their decisions; other users (including shareholders) 
will have to be satisfied with any published statements that might be available. 
Users outside the business include bank managers, customers and suppliers, 
potential investors, competitors, the government and the tax authorities. Users of 
financial information outside a company look at published financial statements. 

Mih,,M,lffbi1hiiJZ41¥i 
Each group has a slightly different reason for examining financial statements, 
although most have the survival of the business as their prime interest. 
Exceptions include competitors and environmentalists if the business is selling or 
producing products that have a negative impact on the environment in which 
the business operates. 

• In the long term, survival depends on the ability of a business co generate 
profits, but profits provide only one aspect of business activity. 

• Cash is important for the day-co-day survival of a business. In the short­
term, a business must be able to generate positive cash flows - if there are 
insufficient cash inflows, it might be unable co: 
- pay the providers of utilities (water, gas, electricity etc.) 
- settle its payables 
- pay wages, which might result in workers withdrawing their labour 

MO 

4;14:;MH,fii@@ 
In pairs, one person should name 
a user of accounting info rmation 
and the other should identify the 
information that the user is probably 
most interested in. Change places and 
repeat until one person runs out of 
suggestions. 

Analysis and interpretation of accounting 
information 

••bfitii,iiOCff fflffil·l,§,diM 
It is desirable to compare performance over a number of years. The greater the 
number of years' results chat are available, the easier it is to identify and confirm 
trends: 

MO 

Analysis and interpretation of accounting information 0 



• If the time period reviewed is too short, it would be difficult to identify any 
trends. 

• If the time period is too long. much of the earlier information will be out of 
date. 

The published data are abridged to protect a company from users that may 
wish to gain information that is commercially useful and potentially damaging to 

the business. The edited information might not be useful in its published format. 

Figures cannot be used in isolation because they can sometimes be misleading. 
To be useful, results may need to be arranged into a structure that is more 
understandable and comparable with other businesses. The data may be 
arranged to allow: 
• horizontal analysis 

• trend analysis 

• vertical analysis 

• ratio analysis 

Annual raw data are converted into ratios because: 

• amounts expressed in isolation are meaningless; there needs to be context 

• it helps in the analysis of the current year's performance 

• it allows identification of trends by comparing results over a number of years 

• it means that trends may be extrapolated to make decisions that will 
influence future performance 

• it allows comparisons to be made with other similar businesses 

Ratios is the term applied to the results 
of calculations used to compare the 
results of businesses. It is a generic 
term applied to results expressed in 
true ratios (e.g. a current ratio might be 
4: 1), percentages (e.g. a gross profit 
ratio might be 58%) and time (e.g. 
a trade receivables collection period 
might be 32 days). 

4•Ci:tl~-D:l·~·IZICn!f~i,~i·~Jll4!~~i~ltt11!·~~!1D._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Users of accounting information decide whether the profitability and/or the 
liquidity of a business is acceptable by asking 

• 'Is the business performing better (or worse) than last year?' They compare 
previous results with the current year's results. 

• 'Is the business performing better (or worse) than similar businesses?' They 
compare results with businesses in the same business sector. 

• 'Is the business performing better (or worse) than the figures available for 
national quoted companies in the same business sector?' 

• 'Is the business performing better (or worse) than the data produced in 
budgets or forecasts?' 

Calculation of ratios 

@;Mi·FiNG,iii~·lfitfflfflffltlffib 
It is important that the same method of calculation is used each year for 
consistency, so that the results may be compared with previous years. It is also 
important to use the same method when comparisons are made with other 
businesses. 

Gross profit ratio (margin) (gross profit percentage) 
Margins vary from sector to sector. Businesses with a rapid turnover of goods 
will generally have a lower margin than a business with a slower turnover. This 
ratio shows the amount of gross profit earned on each $100 of sales. 

. gross profit 
gross profit margin = net sales (revenue) x 100 

MO 
ttM»IM» 

Ratios should be used to make 
comparisons. In isolation, data are 
almost meaningless; they need to be 
included in some kind of context. 
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Mark-up 
The mark-up indicates the amount of gross profit added to the cost of sales co 
achieve selling price. 

mark-up= :~:;:~::~: x 100 

To improve gross profit margin and mark-up, goods could be purchased more 
cheaply while maintaining selling price. Alternatively, a business could purchase 
at the current price and increase selling price provided that customers will 
accept any price rise without reducing quantity required. Gross profit margin 
and mark-up are rarely used together in analysis because both are different 
perspectives of the same data. 

Profit ratio (net profit ratio) 
The profit ratio shows the prop:mion of operating profit that is earned after 
overhead expenses have been paid. Operating profit is used as this allows 
comparisons to be made between businesses with different levels of OOrrowing. 

net profit ratio = profit before interest and tax (operating profit) x 100 
net sales (revenue) 

Return on capital employed 
Also known as the primary ratio. It is a measure of how effectively the 
managers of a business are using the capital employed at their disposal. Capital 
employed can be calculated by using: 

• total assets less current liabilities 

• shareholders' funds plus non-current liabilities 

• issued equity capital and reserves plus non-current liability capital 

The capital employed used may be: 

• opening capital employed 

• closing capital employed 
• an average of opening and closing capital employed 

It is important that you use the same method each time a comparison is made. 
Choose the method you feel most comfortable with . 

return on 
capital employed profit before interest and tax (operating profit) x 100 

capital employed 

The ratio provides information as to whether the total capital of a business 
could be used elsewhere to earn a greater return. The result can be compared to 

the return earned in similar businesses. 

Expenses to sales ratio (operating expenses to 
revenue ratio) 
This ratio tells us the proportion of sales revenue chat a business is spending on 

ttftftllfti 
An increase in the volume of sales 
will not affect mark-up or margin; the 
ratios will remain constant. 

ttftftllfti 
Generally, return on capital employed 
inventory turnover, trade receivables 
collection and trade paya bles payment 
periods use average figures. However, 
on occasions it is impossible to 
ca lculate an average figure so closing 
figures may be used, but always show 
the fo rmulae. 

overheads. The ratio could improve if total expenditure on overheads was to fall t£Mtl I@ 
in proportion to sales revenue. 

operating expenses co revenue ratio 

Non-current asset turnover 

operating expenses x 
100 

net sales (revenue) 

This measures the efficient use of non-current assets. Non-current assets are 
the wealth generators of a business; they are acquired to generate sales revenue 
and hence profits. High levels of non-current assets should generate high sales 
revenue, which should in turn lead to greater profitability. It indicates how 
much each $1 investment in non-current assets is able to generate in terms of 

The expenses to sales ratio can also be 
determined by gross profi t ratio less 
profit ratio. 
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sales revenue. The higher the non-current asset turnover ratio, the greater is the 
recovery of the investment in those non•current assets. 

net sales (revenue) 
non-current asset turnover total carrying amount of non-current assets 

An increase in the ratio year on year indicates a more efficient use of non· 
current assets. A fall in the ratio might indicate: 

• less efficient use of the assets 
• purchase of more non•current assets 

• revaluation of the assets 

ttM»IM» 
Learn th e formulae forratiosand 
produce these before calculating the 
results. Always state the formula you 
are using. Some ratios have a number 
of variations; it is important that the 
exa miner knmvs which version you are 
working with. 

4•D;!$~iTiH~a, 111a¥E·Ui@D·Gm,:iil·~i~~~·jlf~i®®· ICl1~· Ji~W!·!!IID·n~·~il·~i,~i·DCa·D/l1$IM~·~ia~il .... ------«==) 
Financial ratios assess the ability of a business to pay its current liabilities as they 
fall due. Liquidity is important as a business not only has to pay its suppliers; it 
also has to pay employees and other providers of resources. 

Although liabilities are grouped in a statement of financial position under 
headings that indicate the need for payment within 12 months and payments 
due after 12 months, in reality many payables require settlement in a much 
shorter time. Long·term investors are mainly interested in the solvency of the 
business - they require that the business will survive into the foreseeable future 
(or at least until their debt can be settled). 

Although solvency means an excess of assets over liabilities, many assets are 
difficult to dispose of and so users of accounts are often more interested in 
the liquidity position of the business. They wish to examine and analyse the 
components of working capital in detail. 

Current ratio (working capital ratio) 
This ratio shows how many times the current assets cover the current liabilities. 
The right·hand term should be expressed as unity, so the ratio should be 
expressed as 'something' : 1. Generally, the ratio should be greater than 1: 1 
although many businesses prosper with a ratio less than this. 

current ratio= current assets : 1 
current liabilities 

We should look for trends when we consider the current ratio. If a series of 
results shows that the current ratio is declining, this could mean that the 
business might have some difficulties in meeting its short-term obligations in the 
future. If the current ratio is increasing over time, this could indicate that the 
business is tying up an increasing proportion of its resources in inventory, 
receivables and cash and cash equivalent balances, i.e. non·productive assets, 
instead of the resources being invested in non-current assets that could earn 
profits. 

Liquid (acid test) ratio (quick ratio) 
Again, look for trends. Inventory is the least liquid of current assets. The liquid 
ratio tests the ability of the business to cover current liabilities with current 
assets other than inventories. le is impossible to say what is an acceptable level of 
liquid ratio. Some supermarkets, for example, perform satisfactorily with a liquid 
ratio of less than 0.5 : 1. 

liquid ratio 
current assets - inventory : 

1 
current liabilities 

Solvency is the ability of a business 
to settle its debts when they require 
payment. 

O#tlliit+ 
There is no ideal current ratio. Many 
analysts consider that a reasonable 
current ratio should fa ll between 1.5: 1 
and 2: 1, although it is dangerous to 
be too dogmatic about this. The ratio 
depends on the type of business and 
the direction of any trend. 
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Trade receivables turnover (days) 
Also known as debtors' turnover and average collection period, this ratio 
calculates how long. on average, it takes a business to collect debts from its 
credit customers. Generally, the longer a debt is outstanding, the more likely it is 
that the debt will prove to be irrecoverable. It is also advisable to have a shorter 
debt collection period than the trade payables payment period. It might not 
be p::issible to identify cash and credit sales, so in these cases it is acceptable 
to use total sales. If the result of the calculation gives a fractional answer, this 
must be rounded up (e.g. 34.5 days becomes 35 days). This ratio gives an average 
collection time. It uses all trade receivables, which may mask the fact that 
one significant debtor is a poor payer whereas the other trade receivables pay 
promptly. Many businesses use 30 days as their credit limit. 

trade receivables turnover= tra~~e~~;:~:~les x 365 

Trade payables turnover (days) 
Also known as creditors' turnover and average payment period, this ratio 
measures the average time a business takes to pay its trade payables. 
A comparison of the receivable collection days and the payables payment days 
should be made. It is important that the average collection period is less than 
the average payment period. If this is not the case, further investigation should 
be undertaken. This might reveal an important credit customer who is a slow 
payer or that a significant supplier insists on rapid settlement. 

trade payables turnover = t:i~e payates x 365 
er 1t pure ases 

Inventory turnover 
Also known as rate of inventory turn, every 'bundle' of inventory held contains 
an element of profit and cash. It is essential that this cash is released and that 
profits are earned as quickly as possible. So, the more often that goods held as 
inventory can be 'turned over' (sold), the better it is for the business. The higher 
the rate of inventory turnover, the better. This means that goods are kept for a 
shorter length of time before being sold. Some industries have reduced the need 

Ot@IM» 
Remember that ratios are o nly useful 
if comparisons are made either with 
o ther businesses in the sa me secto r o r 
with previous yea rs' results, i.e. trend 
analysis. 

to hold large inventories with the introduction of just-in-time (JIT) ordering of '(J;J4!1!1!lfr,!li!!•i!l,fml-\!4tll!flffii@, 
goods. List all the ratios (but not the fo rmulae) 

inventory turnover 
average inventory x 

365 
cost of goods sold 

rate of inventory turnover (times) = cost of g~ods sold 
average inventory 

Identify fo ur user groups of financial information. 

considered in this topic on separate 
pieces of paper. Place the pieces in a 
box. With your eyes closed, select a 
ratio and give the fo rmula used in its 
calculation. 

Explain why ratios rather than actual results are used to evaluate the perfo rmance of a business. 
'A profit fo r the year of $102 OOO is an excellent result.' Comment on this statement. 

4 Give the fo rmulae for the fo llowing ratios: 
(a) Gross profit margin 
(b) Return on capital employed 
(c) Current ratio 
(d) Liquid (acid test) ratio 
(e) Trade receiva bles turn over (days) 
(f) Trade payables turnover (days) 
(g) Inventory turnover (days) 

Answers on p.188 
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The limitations of accounting information 

--~·~mamz.1rt®mn@z.m1c,1~,ta1m·~l·:1¥111.:H~·a·~i·~l·~i~·rt11m:m®m1,c1z1,~,1iDi@~·=a•1·=·a•.-------~ 
• Data used are extracted from historical cost statements. Historical cost 

is objective, but comparisons based on historic data may give misleading 
results. For example, someone may earn 100 times more than their great 
grandfather earned, but their standard of living is not 100 times better than 
that of their great grandfather. 

• Past results are not perfect as a predictor of future events. For example, just 
because a sports team won the league last year, this does not necessarily 
mean it will top the league for the next 5 years. 

• Published financial statements are prepared for a whole business. The results 
may not reveal the actual results for each department or section of the 
business. 

• Financial statements show only monetary aspects of a business. There is no 
indication of staff welfare. 

• Statements of financial position are prepared to show the position at one 
particular date. Changes may have taken place over the preceding year or 
may take place over the next few months. 

• Financial statements show only the results of business activity. They do not 
show the causes of good or bad results. 

It is important that we compare like with like when comparisons are being 
made, but this is virtually impossible. When comparing two or more businesses, 
they have different locations, managers, staff and suppliers/customers. The 
difficulties encountered when comparing annual results for one business to 
determine trends include staff changes, economic changes (both internal and 
external) and changes co accounting policies. The use of ratio analysis is probably 
the best way that is available to us of comparing results. 

@tijitftw 
When comparing like with like, there may be a need to make adjustments to the figures given. Notional rents and management 
salaries may need to be included in one set of comparative figures. Table 11.1 gives two exampl es. 

Table 11.1 Examples of adjustments to be made when comparing like with like 

Business renting premises vs business owning premises 

Business employing management team vs business run by owner 

Include notional rent of premises 

Include notional manager's salary 

Avoid making assumptions about a change in annual ratios when there is no evidence. Only consider the available information 
- don't speculate on what migh t have happened. If you do make any assumptions, state them clearly. 

Identify two wea knesses of using ratios as the only means of assessing the 
performance of a business. 

Answer on p.188 
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12 Costing principles and systems 

Cost accounting for materials, labour 
and overheads 

CiMG®iff¥M 
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA) defines direct 
costs as 'expenditure which can be economically identified with a specific 
saleable cost unit'. They can be directly attributed to a unit of production so 
direct costs are always variable costs. Indirect costs are items of expenditure 
that cannot easily be identified with a specific saleable cost unit. Fixed costs do 
not change with levels of business activity. 

$000 

Total fixed costs 

Output (units) 

Figure 12.1 Total fi xed costs 

sooo 

Unit fixed costs 

Output (units) 

Figure 12.2 Unit fixed costs 

Variable costs vary in direct proportion co levels of activity. Short-term decision­
making is mainly concerned with accounting for variable costs. 

Direct material costs can be specifically identified with the finished product 
or service. Direct labour costs can be specifically identified with the finished 
product or service. Direct expenses are any other costs that can be specifically 
identified with the finished product. Prime cost is the total of all the direct 
costs: 

prime cost = direct material costs+ direct labour costs + direct expenses 

MO 
ttMtliffi 

Practise defining terms on a regular 
basis. Remember that a definiti on is an 
explanation; you could use an example 
t o show that you full y understand the 

@ff¥itM¥it# ........... . 
Saying 'fixed costs never change' is a 
common error. In the long run, any 
cost may change. Rent payable is a 
fi xed cost but the owner of a property 
may raise the rent to be paid over the 
long term. 
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$000 
Total variable costs 

Output (units} 

Figure 12.3 Total va riable costs 

$000 

Unit variable costs 

Output (units) 

Figure 12.4 Unit variable costs 

Semi-variable costs contain an element of both fixed and variable costs. An 
example of a semi-variable cost is the charge for telephone use. The line rental is 
a fixed cost as it is charged at a fixed rate that is not dependent on the number 
of calls made. The variable cost part is based on the number of calls. 

$000 

Output (units) 

Figure 12.S Semi-variable costs 

Stepped costs remain fixed until a certain level of business activity is reached. 
When production exceeds this level. additional fixed costs may be incurred. The 
cost then rises co a higher fixed level. They remain at this level until the next 
level of activity requiring a change is reached. 

An example of a stepped cost is the wages of quality controllers. One quality 
controller may be able to inspect 500 units of production per week. If output is 
500 units or less, one quality controller is employed. If output rises ro 501 units 
per week, two quality controllers must be employed. If output rises ro 1001 
units per week, three quality controllers must be employed. 
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SOOD 

Figure 12.6 Stepped costs 

Stepped costs 
{semi-fixed) 

Output (units) 

When a decision has to be made about a future business opportunity, managers 
need to estimate the likely future costs of the project and the revenue that is 
likely to be generated. Some costs of the project may already have been 
incurred, such as the cost of a machine purchased a number of years ago. 
Historical costs cannot influence a decision chat is about to be taken. A business 
is committed to paying fixed costs whatever the level of activity. Fixed costs are 
sometimes referred to as sunk costs. Decisions made now or in the future 
cannot affect these costs, so they should be disregarded when preparing a 
budget on which a decision will be based. 

Total cost of production is made up of all the costs incurred in making each 
product. Unit costs are those chat can be identified easily and so allocated to a 
specific unit, such as material costs, labour costs and other direct costs. The cost 
of each individual unit of production can be calculated by dividing the total 
costs attributed to it by the number of units produced. Work in progress is 
converted into the equivalent number of completed units. 

Distinguish between direct costs and indirect costs. 
Sketch diagrams to illustrate the curves (lines) of: 
(a) fi xed costs per unit 
(b) semi-variable costs per unit 
Explain briefly the meaning of the following costs: 
(a) semi-variable 
(b) stepped 
(c) sunk 

4 List the components of prime cost. 

Answers on pp.188-89 

Marginal (variable) costing 

Sunk costs are unrecoverable 
expenditures already incurred before a 
project is undertaken. 

4;J4'lhi·l,f\4Mi@ 
Identify an example of each of the 
fo llowing costs that might be incu rred 
by a manufacturer of bread: direct cost; 
indirect cost; fixed cost; semi-variable 
cost; sunk cost; unit cost. 

4•C:lttffl!l!ll~·i=@at!i!·m&Jm!:fflUl~·l~·tlia1!H~l·~l'.;;m,m,;~.jlin~tlfflll!·Di¥fim:!:·llim~n:~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Marginal costing makes a clear distinction between fixed and variable costs. 
No attempt is made to allocate or apportion any fixed costs incurred by cost 
centres or cost units. When used in a marginal cost statement or calculation, 
variable cost is total variable cost of sales: 

total variable cost of sales = variable production cost + variable 
selling and distribution cost + variable 
administrative cost 

Marginal costing is a decision­
making technique. It is defined by the 
Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants as 'the cost of one unit of 
a product or service which would be 
avoided if that unit were not produced 
or provided'. 

Marginal (variable) costing @ 



The identification of contribution is essential to marginal costing. Fixed costs or 
period costs are not affected by changes in the number of units produced. 
Marginal costs usually comprise extra materials, extra direct wages, extra direct 
expenditure, other extra variable costs in sell ing and distributing the product 
and any extra administration costs that arise when there is an increase in the 
level of production. Marginal revenues are the revenues earned by the sale of 
one extra unit of production. For the preparation of marginal costing statements 
see Topic 19, Costing principles and systems (seep. 155). 

5 Define variable costs and give two examples. 
6 Define semi-variable costs and give one example. 

Contribution is the difference 
between selling price and total variable 
costs. It should be termed 'contribution 
towards fixed costs and profit'. Once 
fixed costs are covered, contribution 
becomes profit. 

Marginal costs are the costs that 
are incurred when one extra unit is 
produced above the planned level. 

7 A business prod uces 6000 units of a product. Variable costs total $18000; fixed costs total $5000. Ca lculate the total cost 
of producing 7500 units. 

8 Explain the term contribution. 

9 Ca lculate contribution from the fo llowing info rmation: selling price per unit $65; variable costs per unit $38; fi xed costs per 
unit$12. 

Answers on p.189 

4•~1DfZi¥Zila·lli~n~f~i·IMDtltilm·Jl!tti!a·!i~~~-.. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Costing 'special' or 'one off' opportunities 
A special contract may be accepted at a price lower than the 'usual' price 
charged to regular customers (the price based on 'full cost') provided the selling 
price covers marginal costs. There is no need to include fixed costs as these are 
absorbed in the price charged to regular customers. When accepting an order 
based on marginal costing principles: 
• there must be spare production capacity 

• the order must not displace other business (if it does, revenue lost becomes 
a marginal cost) 

• regular customers muse be separated from customers receiving the order 
priced using marginal cost 

• customers receiving the goods should not be in a position to sell the goods 
to others at a price lower than the regular price 

• customers receiving goods priced at marginal cost must be aware that the 
price quoted is for that one order only 

• care must be taken to ensure that competitors do not start a price war by 
matching the price to their regular customers 

A manufacturing business must cover all costs incurred in running the business. 
A business cannot survive by costing all its production at marginal cost. If it 
did, none of the fixed costs would be covered (absorbed). Generally, any special 
order that results in a positive contribution should be accepted. 

A special order that yields a negative contribution may be accepted: 

• to retain a highly skilled workforce 

• to maintain machinery in good condition 

• to stimulate further orders (at the normal price in the future) 

• because it is a worthwhile thing to do, e.g. it provides a product at less than 
full cost for disabled children 
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Make or buy decisions 
A business may have the opportunity to purchase the product that it currently 
manufactures. Only the extra costs and revenues should be taken into account 
when deciding whether or not to continue production. Extra revenues could 
include rent received if the empty factory space could be sub-let. Extra costs 
might include security costs for the vacated premises. 

Making a choice between competing courses of action 
Managers may have to consider a choice between two or more competing 
strategies that incur the same level of fixed costs. Only the marginal costs need 
to be considered. The strategy that provides the greatest contribution should be 
the one adopted. 

Choosing the most profitable production pattern when 
only a limited amount of a factor of production is 
available 
A factor of production chat is in short supply is known as a key factor or 
limiting factor. It is essential that the managers of a business utilise the scarce 
resources available to yield the maximum return for the business. Any shortage 
of a particular resource will limit the business's ability to maximise profits. 
Contribution per unit of scarce resource must be calculated and put into rank 
order to decide on the most profitable production pattern. 

Penetration (or destroyer) pricing 
Managers of a business employ this strategy when they wish to gain a foothold 
in a market that is already well established. They cost their product using only 
marginal costs. They can do this because their existing customers will already be 
covering (absorbing) the fixed costs incurred by the business. 

CiMNl·i,,i¥·iMA@iifo,itfflM 
There are three methods for determining the break,even point: unit 
contribution, contribution to sales ratio and break,even graphs. 

Unit contribution 
This is probably the easiest method to use. It should be used unless a question 
states that another method should be employed. 

break-even int tot.al fi ~ed costs . 
po conmbut1on per unit 

This method gives the break-even point in terms of number of units co be sold. 

Contribution to sales ratio (profit/volume method) 
This method is used when: 

• there are a number of products being manufactured and sold 

• a marginal costing statement is given 

• the variable cost per unit and the selling price per unit are not available or 
would be extremely difficult to calculate 

The first stage is to calculate the contribution co sales (c/s) ratio: 

contribution to sales ratio = ;:;:1
1 
:a~::r::v~t~~~ x 100 

The result is then divided into total fixed costs to give a break-even point: 

break-even point contr~~~:li;i~et~ ~::: ratio 

This method gives the break-even point in terms of sales revenue. 

Factors of production are resources 
that are needed in the process of 
manufacturing or providing a service, 
such as land, labour, finance and capital 
equipment. 

4;J4'1hi·i,f\4MJ@ 
Draft a memo to a junior clerk 
explaining why it would not be wise 
to cost all production processes using 
marginal costing techniques. 

The break-even point is the level of 
sales revenue or units sold at which a 
business neither makes a profit nor a 
loss - contribution equals total fixed 
costs. 

W#iiftfu#ib ........... . 
• If the answer that you arrive at is small 
• or highly unlikely, you may have used 
: fixed cost per unit rather than total 
: fixed cost. 

Marginal (variable) costing § 



Break-even graphs 
Practise drawing break-even graphs. You will probably not be asked to draw a 
full graph as they are too time-consuming to prepare, but you could be asked to: 

• draw in a missing curve (line) or two 

• interpret a given graph 

One problem with break-even graphs is that they do not show clearly the actual 
amount of profit (or loss) at each level of sales. A profit/volume graph solves this 
problem by showing how profits change as the volume of sales changes. 

10 Identify two uses of ma rginal costing. 

11 Explain the term key factor. 

12 What is meant by the break-even point and how may it be calcu lated? 

13 State the fo rmula used to calcu late the break-even point using the unit contribution method . 

14 How is the contribution to sales ratio ca lculated? Explain how it is used to find the brea k-even point. 
15 Which fo rmula used to calcu late the break-even point gives an answer in: 

(a) units 
(b) sales revenue 

Answers on p.189 

4•1illM~·l·!·~@C-!mf~-\;g!J!i~·IDM!·IIMl·Dl~·IZn~i¥1!·:il~·Dld~il·~i,~f~i~Mlt----------~cuo 
Cost-profit-volume analysis: 

• is a useful tool in short-term decision-making 

• examines the relationship that exists between sales volume, sales revenue, 
costs and profits 

• shows how costs behave at varying levels of output 
• can be used in 'what if' analysis 

• can help to provide answers to the question of the likely outcome when 
a particular course of action is followed by management, e.g. the effect on 
profit if more goods were sold at a reduced price 

Graphs show: 

• cost-volume-profit in a form that helps most people understand the 
information shown quickly and more effectively. However, for decision­
making purposes, the use of calculations is more accurate 

• clearly the break-even point and margin of safety 

• visually and clearly the impact that changes in sales volume has on profits 

All forecasts are predictions of future outcomes. Forecasts of profitability are 
based on the accuracy of the predictions of future costs and future revenues. 

Margin of safety is the difference 
between actual sales achieved or 
forecast as achievable and the break­
even level of sales. The margin indicates 
to management how far sales can fall 
before the business will move out of 
profit and into a loss-making situation. 

44~•zt~rrffl!-ll·:limt~·ID1~ia,\!1i:Ja,IZl·~lfiil·~··liDl,!\1ln~f~ii!YDt/til· JM!· !IDl~·\;Q~·~IIDll~t\i~D!· !._-----en() 
Inventories should not be valued using marginal costing. IAS 2 states that 
inventories should be valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value and that 
costs should include the cost of purchase, the cost of conversion and any other 
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 
Costs of conversion include fixed and variable overheads. As marginal costing 
principles ignore fixed costs, it cannot be used as a basis for inventory valuation. 
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Absorption (total) costing 

@:tffliMtJ.fflfflH,tJiiit/t!1¥11·iiH,i+Bi@ 
Absorption costing is used for: 

• calculating the total cost of production, so it is sometimes called total 
costing. All expenditures incurred in production are absorbed into the cost 
of production. The total cost of producing goods is necessary for long-term 
planning as total revenue must cover all the costs of running the business. 

• calculating profit when selling price is fixed. For example, the selling price of a 
product is fixed at $50 per unit. Total production costs are $21 per unit. The 
profit on the sale of each unit is $29. 

• calculating selling price when a predetermined level of profit is required. 
Using the example above: 
- if the business wishes to achieve a profit of $9 on the sale of each unit, 

the selling price has to be $30 per unit 
- if the business requires a net profit margin of 25%, this margin is the same 

as 33.3% on cost of sales. Cost of sales is $21, so the profit is $7 (33.3% of 
$21) and selling price is $28 

A business must cover all costs in order to be profitable and absorb them into 
the selling price. 

Cost centres are usually determined by the type of organisation. A cost centre 
in your school or college might be a department Cost units in a school or 
college might be students. 

A cost centre may be a department, 
machine or person to whom costs can 
be associated. 

A cost unit is a unit of production 
that absorbs the cost centre's overhead 
costs. 

•irtliffli·i,f i,i·f ib+liii·i,i,,M,i!§HdlfflM·M,i·iji·II·•---
Some costs are not easily allocated to a cost centre; they usually apply to the 
business as a whole. However, each cost centre may have benefited from the 
service. For example, the cost of rent or local taxes may apply to the business as 
a whole, but each cost centre should bear some part of the total cost of 
providing the services. Apportionment of overheads is based on a manager's 
perception of the benefits that each individual cost centre receives from 
provision of the service. 

Table 12.1 The bases of apportioning indirect costs 

l!WiiWll 
Rent Floor area of cost centre 

Local taxes Floor area of cost centre 

Insurance Value of items being insured 

Heating and lighting Volume of cost centre (if this is not available, floor area 
may be used) 

Depreciation 

Canteen 

Personnel 

Cost or carrying amount of the asset in each cost centre 

Numbers of personnel in each cost centre 

Numbers of personnel in each cost centre 

Allocation of costs is the charging of 
whole items of expenditure to a cost 
centre or cost unit. The costs are easily 
identified as deriving from the cost 
centre. 

Apportionment of overheads is the 
process by which some overhead costs 
are charged to cost centres because 
they cannot be directly attributed to a 
particular cost centre. 

When all overhead costs have been 
apportioned to a cost centre, the total 
has to be charged to specific units of 
production. This process is known as 
absorption . 
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Apportionment of service departments' overhead 
t: expenditure between production departments Revised . 
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Service departments cannot recover their costs from external customers; their 
coses muse be recovered by the business. They charge other cost centres for the 
services they provide. The estimated costs incurred by service departments must 
be apportioned to each production department. Each production department 
recovers its own overheads and some of the service departments' overheads. 

Reciprocal services 
For example, a canteen provides refreshments for all staff includ ing those in the 
maintenance department. The maintenance engineers keep the canteen 
equipment in good working order as well as servicing equ ipment in all other 
departments. The canteen and maintenance department provide reciprocal 
services for each other. 

Reciprocal services is the term 
used when one department provides 
a service for another department 
and also receives a service from that 
department. 

4C:~!l!·!ati~~Ml!!!ll~·l~··i·~l·l·Ci!1J!IClttt!~·!·~·311~·~-tmi~·IIIC·i!il!·l~·llll~i~C·m .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
After the overheads have been apportioned, the amount of overheads to be 
included into the cost of each unit passing through the cost centre muse be 
calculated as the overhead absorption rate (OAR): 

• If a department is labour-intensive, OAR may be calculated using the direct 
labour hours chat a worker would take to produce one unit of output. 

• If production methods are capital-intensive, the OAR takes into account the 
number of machine hours required co produce each unit of output. 

Other possible methods of calculating the OAR include: 

• direct labour cost rate - estimated overheads are expressed as a 
proportion of the estimated cost of direct wages 

• direct material cost rate - the total cost of materials is used as the 
denominator in the calculation 

• prime cost rate - this method uses prime cost as the denominator 

• unit produced rate (cost unit rate) - total overheads allocated and 
apportioned to production are divided by the estimated number of units 
produced, so the overheads are spread over the goods produced. This 
method can only realistically be used if the business manufactures only one 
type of product 

41@d·B·ii·lil·i,i·li·f'hilttt!I 
Overhead recovery rates are based on predictions of future levels of activity and 
predicted (budgeted) levels of overhead expenditure. There will be an under­
absorption of overheads if: 

• actual level of activity is less than budgeted and actual spending on 
overheads is equal to the predicted level, or 

• actual level of activity is equal to budgeted and actual spending on 
overheads is greater than budgeted 

Under-absorption of overheads is charged to the costing income statement. 

MO 

4•~·~·=1:Jli~·i~·tli~·lll~·lliml·~l,ll~·IJIZ·i=1:JIIClttt!;·~.D·ttl._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-1~ 
Over-absorption of overheads takes place if: 

• actual level of activity is higher than budgeted and actual spending on 
overheads is equal co budgeted, or 
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• actual level of activity is the same as budgeted and actual spending is less 
than budgeted 

An over-absorption of overheads is credited to the costing income statement. 

16 Give another name fo r absorption costing. 
17 Identify one use of absorption costing. 
18 Identify a cost centre and a cost unit fo r a manufacturer of furniture. 
19 How should the fo llowing budgeted overhead expenses be apportioned to production departments: rent; local taxes; 

supervisory wages; insurance of premises. 
20 Which of the fo llowing overhead expenses would be apportioned and which would be allocated to a cost centre: direct 

materials; electrica l power; cost of running a maintenance department; direct wages. 
21 What does OA R mean? 
22 Explain the term reciprocal service departments . 

23 Budgeted overheads are $70000. Actual overheads are $66000. Actual budgeted activity is eq ual to actual activity. Does 
this result in an over-absorption or an under-absorption of overheads? 

24 Distinguish between absorption costing and marginal costing. 

Answers on p.189 

•Mi·i,ti·ictfflfflti¥11·iii·i,i+hib 
• Management decision-making relies on the provision of accurate 

information; overhead absorption rates must be updated on a regular basis 
as they are derived from budgeted information that can change. 

• Apportion methods cannot be 100% accurate. 

• Differences in cost patterns for fixed, variable or semi-variable costs are not 
taken into account. 

MO 

IAS 2 requires that the value of inventories includes the costs of converting raw 4;JJIJhi•i,f\4tffi@ 
materials into finished goods. All normal production costs will be included in the Explain the difference between 
total cost of the product. Other overheads may be included if management allocation, apportionment and 
deems it prudent to do so. absorption. 

Costing systems 

••~0\8~·1!1·1~,i~iiittlll:·~··~ttttn~-~~·IIZ··~~~·~bl!!!-._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The two main types of collecting financial information to be used when costing 
produces or services are job costing and process costing. Managers adapt these 
two types to suit the individual requirements of their business. The system 
employed depends on the type of production and the type of goods or service 
being provided. The adaptations have a number of names including batch 
costing and contract costing. 

Absorption costing can be used in any business. The principles of cost allocation 
and apportionment are still applied. The costing system being used depends 
on the type of business. Business activity generally falls into a process that is a 
continuous operation and operations that deal with specific orders. 

@tfiitti 
Only job, unit and batch costing are 
part of the AS syllabus. 
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Job costing 
Job costing is used where each product or service is different from other 
produces. It is used by businesses chat produce specialised or made-to-order 
outputs or where jobs are tailored to an individual customer's specifications as 
a result of a special order. The system is employed where goods or services are 
provided on a one-off basis as opposed to being mass-produced. 

Each order's costs must be separately calculated in businesses that produce a 
variety of products or jobs or where each order is unique. Each job requires 
differing amounts of labour, materials and overheads. Separate costing records 
are kept for each job, detailing all the coses incurred in completing the job and 
identifying the profit (or loss) for the job. The job is a cost centre to which all 
the costs are charged. The costing details may also be used as an estimate that 
may be used to cost similar future jobs and to form the basis of preparing future 
quotations for jobs being considered. 

It is therefore an appropriate costing system for businesses whose work 
consists of separate jobs, such as installers of air-conditioning units, specialist 
building contractors, specialist home decorators, architects, bespoke tailors 
etc. If the actual costs incurred in completing a job differ from those 
itemised in the quotation, the supplier may calculate any variations that have 
occurred. 

Unit costing 
Continuous operation costing is used in manufacturing organisations that use 
a sequence of continuous or repetitive operations or processes. Unit costing is 
used to find the cost of a single unit of production or a single unit of providing a 
service. Process costing is also a form of continuous operation costing. 

Batch costing 
It is not always possible to classify a system that relies on all the individual 
elements of cost being added together clearly into job costing and process 
costing systems. Batch costing is used where large quantities of identical items 
are manufactured as a batch and the items are manufactured and treated as one 
individual job for costing purposes. This could be because a customer orders a 
quantity of identical items. 

Costing a batch is similar to costing a job and the same procedures are followed. 
However, the whole batch is treated as one separate identifiable job. Costs 
are recorded against each batch and the final total production cost for the 
whole batch is divided by the number of individual units produced to get the 
production cost per article. It is ideally suited to the costing requirements of 
mass production industries where identical items are manufactured. Such items 
keep their individual identity as separate units, even though there may be several 
common, distinct stages in arriving at the end result. Examples of industries 
employing batch costing techniques include a business producing components 
for a car manufacturer or a business making micro-chips for an electrical goods 
manufacturer. 

Where manufactured goods have some common characteristics as well as some 
individual characteristics, the cost accumulation system may be a 
combination of job costing and process costing. For example, the production of 
furniture, footwear and clothing involves the production of batches that are 
variations of a single design and therefore require a sequence of standardised 
operations. A business making women's dresses may use the same basic design 
that requires the same operation. However, some dresses may be long and 
others shorter; some may require better quality materials. The cost of each dress 
will therefore consist of the basic pattern plus additional trimmings such as 
beads and varied stitching. The product cost consists of the average cost of the 

A quotation is an estimate of how 
much a supplier thinks a job will cost 
and includes a mark-up to provide 
profit. It is often shortened to 'quote'. 
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common operation to achieve the 'basic' dress plus any specific costs of the 
unique changes. The final product cost consists of a combination of process 
costing techniques and job costing techniques. This system is referred to as 
operation costing or batch costing. 

dl®i·l,l,IG,itki@ii,M,ii,i•i 
When using unit, job or batch costing principles, closing inventory is valued by 
taking the lower of cost and net realisable value. This is fairly straightforward 
when raw materials or finished goods are valued. However, it would be rather 
unusual if there were no partly completed goods remaining as inventory at 
the end of a period. The costs incurred during the period are for all the goods 
passing through the factory: those that are complete and those that have yet to 
be completed. The units that are partly completed have to be converted into 
the equivalent number of completed units. 

Total production costs for February amount co $92 820. At the end of February 
21 OOO units had been completed and 4000 were partly finished. These partly 
finished goods are 70% complete. 2000 completed units were held as inventory at 
the 28 February. The value of closing inventory of finished goods is $18720. 

$92820 
21 OOO complete+ 2800 (70% of 4000 partly complete) 

= cost per unit of $3.90 

Closing inventory = $18720 

$7800 (2000 complete units at $3.90 each) and $10920 (70% of 4000 units at $3.90 
each). 

4;JJi)h[·i,f\4tM@ 
List two examples of industries that 
would use job costing and two that 
would use batch costing. Explain your 
choices. 

MO 
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AS questions and answers 

This section contains exam-style questions for selected 
AS topics followed by example answers. The answers are 
interspersed by expert comments (shown by the icon ) 
that indicate where credit is due and areas for improvement. 
Where the candidate has used their own figure, this is 
indicated by 'of' after the mark awarded. 

Topic 3 Control systems 

Ci#Mihi• 
Amit runs a small business and provides you with 
the following annual information: 

30 September 30 September 
2014 2013 

s s 
Trade payables 27250 25500 

Trade receivables 34600 32150 
Inventory 58750 62500 

Transactions for the year ended 30 September 2014 
were as follows: 

Cash paid to suppliers 85 OOO 
Cash banked 98 500 

Bad debts 3 500 

The cash banked included SSSO takings from 
30 September 2013, and $700 takings for 30 
September 2014 were not banked until 1 October 
2014. 

REQUIRED 

Calculate the sales and purchases for the year 
ended 30 September 2014. (13) 

Bifflfflffltl·ii,h'l'i41 
Sales ledger control account 

Balance b/d 32150 (1) Cash 98500 (1) 

Last year's 550 (1) This year's 700 (1) 
banking banking 

Sales 104600 (2) Bad debts 3500 (1) 

Balance c/d 34600 (1) 

137 300 137300 
Balance b/d 34600 

Purchase ledger control account 
Bank 98 500 Balance b/d 25 500 (1) 

Balancec/d 27250 (1) Purchases 100250 (1)of 

125750 125750 

Balance b/d 27 250 

Sales for the year= $104600. 

Purchases for the year= $100250. 

j 2J,, This candidate has produced a fully correct sales ledger 
\:P' control account and scores full marks here. However, 

they make an error in the purchase ledger control account as 
the cash banked has been used instead of cash paid, resulting 
in 2 marks lost. Overall, 11 of the available 13 marks are 
awarded and this candidate receives an A grade. 

Biffl@ffi§=ii,fr&AM 
Sales ledger control account 

Cash 98500 Balance b/d 32 150 

This year's 700 Last year's 550 
banking banking 

Bad debts 3500 Sales 104600 
Balancec/d 34600 

137 300 137300 

Balance b/d 34600 

Purchase ledger control account 

Balance bid 25500 Bank 85000 

Purchases 86750 {1)of Balancec/d 27250 (1)of 

Balance b/d 27250 

Sales for the year= $104600. 

Purchases for the year = $86 750. 

112250 

t ~ This candidate has correctly cakulated the sales and 
'=" purchases for the year. The question does not 
specifically ask for the preparation of the control accounts but 
you should be prepared to do this for the exam. However, the 
entries have been completely reversed resulting in the loss of 
many marks. You must have a good understanding of the 
double entry system for these types of questions. 
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Topic 4 Preparation of financial 
statements 

G#Mihf• 
Reuben has provided you with the following 
balances for the year ended 31 December 2013. 

Land and buildings- cost 300000 
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2013 20000 

Office equipment- cost 80000 
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2013 22 200 

Revenue 
Purchases 
Returns inwards 
Returns outwards 
Carriage inwards 
Carriage outwards 
Discounts allowed 
Discounts received 
Inventory at 1 January 2013 
Rent and local taxes 
Heat and light 
Sundry expenses 
Trade receivables 
Bad debts 
Allowance for bad debts 
Trade payables 
Bank overdraft 
Long-term bank loan 
Drawings 

375000 
246500 

4500 
2375 
1850 
2650 
2450 

875 
24500 

5500 
2250 

360 
14650 

650 
600 

9950 
2480 

35000 
33270 

Additional information at 31 December 2013 
1 Inventory was valued at cost at 31 December 

2013 at $26 900. This included a batch of 
damaged items costing $3750 that required 
repair costs of $350 in order to be able to sell 
them for $2000. 

2 The monthly rent for December of $500 had not 
been paid. 
Heat and light costs of $250 are to be accrued. 

4 Sundry expenses relate to a payment covering 
the period from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014. 
The allowance for bad debts is to be adjusted to 
4% of trade receivables at the year end. 
The cost of the building is half of the cost of the 
land. land is not depreciated but the buildings 
are depreciated at 10% straight line. 

7 Office equipment is depreciated at 15% using 
the reducing balance method. 

8 The interest of 8% per annum due on the long­
term loan, which was taken on 1 October 2013, 
has not been paid. 

REQUIRED 
Prepare: 
(a) an income statement for the year ended 

31 December 2013. [14) 

(b) a statement of financial position at 
31 December 2013. 

lffl@fflt!·ii,hl.lJ41 
(a) 

(12) 

Income statement for the year ended 
31 December 2013 

Revenue 

Less returns 

Less cost of sales 

Opening inventory 

Purchases 

Less returns 

Carriage inwards 

s $ 

246500 

(2375) 

244125 

24500 

~ 245975 

270475 

375000 
(4500) 

370500 {1) 

(1) 

Less closing (24800) (245675) 
inventory 

Gross profit 

Discount received 

Adjustment to allowance 
for bad debts 

Carriage outwards 

Discount allowed 

Rent and local taxes 

Heat and light 

Sundry expenses 

Bad debts 

Depredation - buildings 

- office equipment 

Interest 

Profit for the year 

(b) 

2650 

2450 

6000 

2500 

180 
650 

10000 

8670 

700 

124825 {1) 

875 (1) 
40 (1) 

125740 

(1) 
(1) 

(1) 
(1) 

(1) 

(1) 
(1) 

(33800) (1) 

91940 (1) 

Statement of financial position at 
31 December 2013 

s s 
Non-current 
assets 

Land and 
buildings 

300000 

Accumulated {30000) 270000 (1) 
depreciation 

Office 80000 
equipment 

Accumulated {30870) 
depreciation 

Current 
assets 

Inventory 

Trade 
receivables 

14000 

Allowance ~ 

Prepayment 

49130 (1) 319130 

24800 

13440 (1) 

_1_8() (1) 

38420 
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Current 
liabilities 
Trade 9950 
payables 
Bank 2480 (1) 
overdraft 
Accruals (SOO 750 (1) 
+ 250) 
Interest ____7QO_ (1) (13880) 
Net current 
assets 

Non-current 
liabilities 

Long-term 
loan 

Capital 

Net profit 

Drawings 

24540 

343670 

(35000) (1) 

308670 

250000 (2) 

91940 (1) 

341 940 

33270 (1) 
308670 

I~ This candidate has produced a fully correct income 
'-=" statement and statement of financial position and 
accordingfy has scored full marks. Note that the capital balance 
in the statement of financial position is a balancing figure. 

Wfflffl§:ii,fr@§I 
(a) 

Income statement for the year ended 
31 December 2013 

s 
Revenue 375000 

Less cost of safes 

Opening inventory 

Purchases 

Carriage inwards 

24500 

246500 

271 OOO 

1850 

272850 

Less closing inventory 

Gr055 profit 
Discount received 

(24 800) (248 050) 

126950 

_____!lI5_(1) 
127825 

Carriage outwards 2 650 (1) 

Discount allowed 2450 (1) 

Rent and local taxes 5000 

Heat and light 2 OOO 

Sundry expenses 540 

Bad debts 650 

Adjustment to 40 
allowance for bad 
debts 
Depreciation- buildings 10000 (1) 

- office equipment 8670 (1) 

Interest 

Profit for the year 

700 (32 700) (1) 

95125 

(b) 

Statement of financial position at 
31 December 2013 

s s 
Non-current 
assets 

Land and 300000 
buildings 
Accumulated (30000) 270000 (1) 
depreciation 

Office 80000 
equipment 
Accumulated (30870) 49130 (1) 
depreciation 

Current assets 

Inventory 24800 
Trade 14000 
receivables 

Allowance (560) 13440 (1) 

Prepayments 750 
{500 + 250) 

38990 

Current 
liabilities 

Trade payables 9950 

Bank overdraft 2480 (1) 

Accrual 180 

Interest 700 (13310) (1) 

Net current 
assets 

Non-current 
liabilities 

Long-term loan 

Capital 

Net profit 

Drawings 

319130 

25680 

344 810 

(35000) (1) 

309810 

247955 

95125 

343080 

33270 (1) 

309810 

~ ~:;s ~~;:;~:~;n:a;n~~~::h:~:r!:~r~: ~~::sb::~t both 

omitted from the income statement. The accruals and 
prepayments have been dealt with incorrectly- the rent and 
heat and light accruals have been subtracted from the given 
balances (they should be added), and the sundry expenses 
prepayment has been added (it should be subtracted). The 
adjustment to the allowance for bad debts has been correctly 
calculated but instead of adding it to the gross profit it has 
been deducted. These common errors result in the lowering 
of the candidate's grade. 
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Ci#MiH,i• 
Tsrule Ltd is a manufacturing company that has 
extracted the following balances from their books 
of account at 30 September 2014. 

$000 
Revenues 5800 

Purchases of raw materials 1030 
Carriage inwards 115 

Carriage outwards 45 

Direct labour 1105 

Factory overheads 1465 
Office overheads 1150 
Inventories at 1 October 2013 

Raw materials 135 

Work in progress 105 

Finished goods 450 

Additional information 
1 Factory overheads of $50 OOO are to be accrued 

at 30 September 2014. 
2 Office overheads of $25 OOO have been prepaid 

at 30 September 2014. 
Depreciation for the year on the non,current 
assets totalled $100000 and this is to be split 
equally between the factory and office. 

4 Completed production is transferred at a mark· 
up on cost of production of 15%. 
Inventories are valued on 30 September 2014 as 
follows: 

Raw materials 
Work in progress 
Finished goods 

REQUIRED 

sooo 
185 

230 

565 

(a) Prepare a manufacturing and income statement 
for the year ended 30 September 2014. [26) 

(b) Prepare a statement of financial position 
extract showing the entries for inventories. [6) 

Wfflffltl·ii,h'l'IAM 
(a) 

sooo sooo 
Raw materials at 135 
1 October 2013 

Purchases of raw 1030 (1) 
materials 
Carriage inwards 115 (1) 

1280 

Raw materials at _11_852111' 1095 
30 September 2014 

Direct labour 1105 (1) 

2200 (1) 

Factory overheads 1515 (2) 

Factory depreciation 50 (1) 

3765 

Work in progress at 105 
1 October 2013 

Work in progress at (230) _11_252 (1) 
30 September 2014 

Factory cost of goods 3640 (1) 
produced 
Factory profit @ 15% 546 (1) 

Transferred to trading 4186 (1) 
account 
Revenues 5800 (1) 

Deduct cost of sales 
Finished goods at 450 
1 October 2013 

Manufacturing account 4168 

4618 

Finished goods at (565) (1) .. (4053) 
30 September 2014 

Gross profit 1747 (1) 

Office overheads 1125 (2) 

Carriage outwards 45 (1) 

Office depreciation 50 (1) (1220) 

Profit on trading 527 

Factory profit 546 (1)of 

Less increase in _11_5) (3) 531 
provision 
Overall net profit 1058 (1)of 

Workings 
Factory overheads 1465 {1) + 50 (1) = 1515 

Office overheads 1150 (1) - 25 (1) = 1125 

Increase in provision for 115 {l) x _ 15_ = 15 {l)of 
unrealised profit 115 (1) 

• 1 mark is awarded for both inventories. 

•• 1 mark is awarded for both inventories. 

(b) 

Tsrule Ltd. Extract of statement of financial 
position at 30 September 2014 

Raw materials 185 {1) 

Work in progress 230 {1) 

Finished goods 
Less provision 

565 (1) 

(74) (2) 491 

906 {1)of 

l::J. This candidate loses the mark available for failing to 
'=" label the prime cost, but otherwise has produced a 
perfect manufacturing statement. The transfer to the 
trading section of 4186 has a transposition error and 4168 
has been transferred, resulting in the loss of another mark. 
The entries for inventories are correct and the candidate 
obtains full marks for this part of the question. Only 2 
marks have therefore been lost, with the candidate scoring 
30 marks out of the 32 available and therefore receiving an 
A grade. It is pleasing to see clear workings used by this 
candidate. 

AS questions and answers G 



W@ffl@~ii,frN41 
(a) 

SOOD SOOD 

Raw materials at 135* 
1 October 2013 

Purchases of raw 1030 (1) 

materials 
Carriage inwards _11_5 (1) 

1280 

Raw materials at _(1_85)(1)' 1095 
30 September 2014 

Direct labour 1105 (1) 

Primecost{1) 2200 (1) 

Factory overheads 14 15 

Factory depreciation 100 

685 

Work in progress at 105 
1 October 2013 

Work in progress at (230) (125) (1) 
30 September 2014 

Factory cost of goods 560 
produced 
Factory profit@ 15% 84 

Transferred to trading 644 
account 
Revenues 5800 (1) 

Deduct cost of sales 
Finished goods at 450** 
1 October 2013 

Manufacturing account 644 

1094 

Finished goods at (565) (1) .. (529) 
30 September 2014 

Gross profit 5271 

Office overheads 11 75 

Carriage outwards 45 (1) 

Office depreciation 100 (1320) 

Net profit on trading 3951 

Factory profit 84 (l )of 

Less increase in _(1_7) 67 
provision 
Overall net profit 40 18 (1)of 

(b) 

Tsrule Ltd. Extract of statement of financial 
position at 30 September 2014 

Raw materials 185 (1) 

Work in prog ress 230 (1) 

Finished goods 

Less provision 

565 (1) 

~ 489 

~ (1)of 

l=-1. This candidate has made many errors. Some may be 
\:P' due to a lack of knowledge and understanding but 

some may arise as a result of carelessness. First, the accrual 
and prepayment have been dealt with incorrectly- you 
must ensure that you add the accrual to the balance and 
subtract the prepayment. The depreciation has not been 
split as required and consequently too much has been 
charged to the manufacturing account and the income 
statement. The candidate has made the common error of 
adding the indirect factory costs to the prime cost - you 
must ensure that these costs are added as you are building 
up the total cost of production. The provision for 
unrealised profit has been incorrectly calculated as the 
candidate has taken 15% of the increase in finished goods 
- 115 x 151100 = 17.25 instead of 115 x 151115 = 15. 
The accumulation of these avoidable errors result in the 
candidate achieving a C grade. 

Topic 9 Depreciation 

Ci#MMt 
Brandreth acquired new machinery and expects 
it to last for 4 years, at which time he intends to 
sell it for its residual value of $6000. Details are as 
follows. 

Cost price 

Delivery and installation costs 

Maintenance costs 

REQUIRED 

40000 

2000 

2500 pa 

(a) Calculate the annual depreciation charge using 
the straight·line method. [S) 

(b) Brandreth disposes of the machinery at the 
end of the third year for $12 500. Prepare the 
disposal account. [6) 

W@ffi4ii,BW41 
(a) Total cost price = $40000 (1) 

Total co be depreciated = $40000 - $6000 = $34000 (2) 

Annual depreciation charge = $34000 + 4 = $8500 pa (1 ) 

• ..:.Ii This candidate fails to recognise that delivery and 
'-=" installation costs are part of the cost price, but correctly 
did not capitalise the maintenance costs. In spite of 
miscalculating the cost of the machine, the candidate then 
proceeds to use their own figure and the method of 
calculation is correct. The candidate scores 4 marks out of a 
possible 5, sufficient to obtain an A grade. 
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(b) 

Dis osal account 
Machinery 40000 (1) Depreciation 25 SOO (l )of 

Disposal 
proceeds 12500 (1) 

Income 
statement (1) 2000 (l )of 

40000 40000 

This candidate prepares the disposal account correctly 
using their own figures. The only error is the incorrect 

labelling of the proceeds and consequently this candidate 

scores 5 out of the available 6 marks, sufficient to obtain an 

A grade. 

AS questions and answers @ 



1 Preparation of financial 
statements 

Cash flow statements 

tuool;u;:;11W-------c&t() 
Generation of cash is of vital importance for the short-term survival of all 
businesses, while profits ensure survival in the longer term. 

An income statement concentrates on the determination of profits or losses 
over a period of time. A statement of financial position shows the assets and 
liabilities of a business at one particular moment in time. A statement of cash 
flows details cash inflows and cash outflows that have occurred during a 
period. The three statements used together summarise most of the information 
required by the users of financial statements. 

Only larger limited companies are required, under International Accounting 
Standards, to prepare a statement of cash flows as part of their end of year 
financial statements. They must prepare financial statements in accordance with 
Companies Acts 1985 and 1989 and with International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) 

IAS 7 Statement of cash flows lays down the way that the statement must 
be set out. This allows comparisons to be made with the statements of other 
companies. 

@Miiit+ 
Don't confuse a statement of cash 
flows with a cash flow forecast (cash 
budget), which is designed to show 
how cash is likely to be raised and used 
in the future. 

-'Only larger limited companies are required to prepare a statement of cash flows as part of their financial statements.' 
Is this statement true or false? 
'A statement of cash flows is used to calculate profit.' Is this statement true or false? 
'A statement of cash flows wi ll indicate whether or not the business requires a bank overdraft in a few months' time.' 
Is this statement true or false? 

Answers on p.189 

•lh¥i-1Gbh,,M,IM®M1H\it•t----------------c&t() 
Statements of cash flows: 
• allow identification of the significant components of cash flows 

• provide information that allows users of the statement to assess how cash 
has been raised and used 

• explain why profits and losses are different from changes in cash and cash 
equivalents 

• show sources of internal financing and the extent to which the business has 
relied on external financing 

• show information that is not shown in an income statement and a 
statement of financial position 

Cash is money. 

Cash equivalents are short-term 
investments that are convertible into 
cash without notice. They have less 
than 3 months to run when acquired. 
Overdrafts repayable in less than 3 
months should be deducted. 
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• provide information that helps to assess liquidity, viability and financial 
adaptability of the business 

• allow comparisons to be made year on year or inter-firm, if IAS 7 is 
adhered to 

• can help to provide information that the projection of future cash flows can 
be based on (i.e. they may be useful when preparing a cash budget) 

Statements of cash flows don't try to determine future cash flows. However, 
detailed knowledge of specific sources of cash receipts and the uses of cash 
outflows made may have some use in predicting future inflows and outflows of 
cash. 

4 Which International Accounting Standard deals with statements of cash fl ows? 
Identify two uses fo r preparing a statement of cash fl ows. 

Answers on p.189 

wt¥i1Mtifflt# ............ ·. 
• Some students confuse a statement of • 

cashflo't'ISwith acashflowforecast. 
A statement of cash flows is a 
historical document that is prepared 
after the financial year end. A cash 
flow forecast should be more properly 
referred to as a cash budget and it is a 
prediction or estimation of proba bl e 
future cash fl ows. 

41111iil,~iii!¥~-i~Stiallrt!~-:II!l·Di,!fl•._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
IAS 7 makes a statement of cash flows a mandatory requirement for most 
limited companies. Sole traders and partnerships are not required to prepare 
statements of cash flows. However, a statement may be prepared by owners or 
managers who may find it useful as an aid in assessing the performance of their 
business. 

IAS 7 is intended to ensure that limited companies report their cash generation 
and cash absorption in a way that makes the statements comparable with other 
companies. 

Table 13.1 Examples of transactions that result in cash inflows and cash outflows 

Profits 

Interest received 

Dividends received 

Tax refund 

Sale of non-current assets 

Decrease in inventory 

Decrease in trade receivables 

Increase in trade payables 

Increase in share capital 

Increase in debentures 

Increase in long-term loans 

Losses 

Interest paid 

Dividends paid 

Taxation paid 

Purchase of non-current assets 

Increase in inventory 

Increase in trade receivables 

Decrease in trade payables 

Redemption of share capital 

Redemption of debentures 

Repayment of long-term loans 

Calculation of profit from operations 
Profit from operations is the profit for the year calculated before tax and 
interest. In many questions, an income statement extract is not given and it has 
to be reconstructed. 

@;J§ilhH,f\itM@ 
With a partner, make a list of business 
activities that result in a cash inflow 
and compare lists. Each activity that 
is not recognised by the other person 
scores a point. 

Cash flow statements G 



The following extracts are taken from the statements of financial position of Oxxerc pie at 31 December. 

2013 2012 
$000 $000 

Current liabilities 
Tax liability _(1__2Q) ~ 
Equity 
Ordinary shares 2500 2500 

General reserve 400 350 

Retained earnings 1662 1346 

During the year ended 31 December 2013, debenture interest paid amounted to $78000. Dividends amounting to $150000 were 
paid. The profit from operations for the year ended 31 December 2013 (working 'backwards') are as follo'NS. 

$000 $000 
Profit (change in retained earnings) 516 ($1662 less $1346) 

Add provision for taxation 120 

debenture interest paid 78 198 

Profit from operations 714 

Extracts from the financial statements would have shown: 

Income statement extract for the year ended 31 December 2013 

$000 
Profit from operations 
Less debenture interest 

Taxation 

Profit for the year 

Statement of changes in equity 

Retained earnings 

Balance at 1 January 2013 

Profit for the year 

Dividends paid 
Transfer to general reserve 

Balance at 31 December 2013 

General reserve 

Balance at 1 January 2013 

Transfer for the year 

Balance at 31 December 2013 

Calculation of cash flows created by depreciation of 
non-current assets 

714 
(78) 

636 
(120) 

516 

$000 

1346 

516 

1862 
(150) 

~ 
1662 

350 

50 

400 

In some cases, the calculation of cash flows created by the provision of 

depreciation of non-current assets is straightforward. It involves comparing 

the aggregate depreciation at the start of a financial year with the aggregate 

depreciation at the end of the year. The resulting amount should then be added 

to the profit from operations. 
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The following extracts have been taken from the statements of financial position of Betabigga pie. 

at 31 July 2014 at 31 July 2013 

sooo sooo sooo sooo 
Non-current assets 

Premises 2500 

Less depreciation (1850) 650 
Machinery 2830 

Less depreciation (1981) 849 

The amounts co be added co the profit from operations would be $167 OOO: 

Provision for depreciation - premises 

-machinery 

Calcu lation of cash flows resulting from the disposal of 
non-current assets (derecognition) 
Sometimes the calculations are a little more difficult. 

2500 

(1800) 

2830 

(2098) 

The following is an extract from the statements of financial position of Nepps pie at 30 April. 

Non-current assets at cost 

Less depreciation 

2014 

sooo 
2573 

(1238) 

1335 

700 

732 

50000 

117000 

2013 

sooo 
2332 

(1_021_) 
1311 

During the year ended 30 April 2014, non-current assets which had cost $720000 were sold for $274000. The assets sold had been 

depreciated by $433000. You must be able to identify all the cash flows resulting from the sale of the non-current assets. 

Using T accounts, you can gain a complete picture of the transactions involved. Journal entries are given co help you with the 

timingofeachentry. 

1 May 2011 Balance b/d 

Missing figure 

1 May 2012 Balance b/d 

Disposal 

30 April Balance c/d 

Non-current assets 

Non-current assets account 
sooo 
2332 

961 

3293 

2573 

Disposal 

30 April 2012 Balance c/d 

Depreciation of non-current assets account 
sooo 

433 
1238 

1671 

1 May 2011 Balance b/d 

Missing figure 

1 May 2012 Balance b/d 

Disposal of non-current assets account 
sooo 

720 

720 

Depreciation of non-current assets 

Bank 

Income statement 

sooo 
720 

2573 

3293 

sooo 
1021 

650 
1671 

1238 

sooo 
433 

274 
13 

720 
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Journal entries show the timing of each entry: 

Dr Disposal of non-current assets account 
Non-current assets account 

Debit 
s 

720000 

Credit 
s 

720000 

Non-current assets are removed from the non-current assets account and entered in a disJX)sal account: 

Dr Depreciation of non-current assets account 
Disposal of non-current assets account 

Debit 
s 

433000 

Credit 
s 

433000 

Depreciation 'belonging' to the asset is taken from the depreciation account and entered in the disposal account: 

Dr Bank account (not shown) 

Disposal of non-current assets account 

Debit 

s 
274000 

Credit 

s 

274000 

The cash inflow is entered in the disposal account. At this JX)int we need a 'missing' figure $13 OOO: 

Dr Income statement 
Disposal of non-current assets account 

Debit 

s 
13000 

Credit 

s 

13000 

The 'loss' on disposal is entered in the income statement. It is not cash, but it has b€€n entered in the income statement as an 

extra expense - it reduces profit by $13000 but there has been no movement of cash. 

Enter the closing balances given in the question. 

The non-current assets account and the depreciation account will not balance unless you put in the two missing figures. The missing 
figure in the non-current assets account muse either be a revaluation or the purchase of more non-current assets. A revaluation has 
not been mentioned, so the missing figure must be non-current assets purchased during the year: a cash outflow of $%1 OOO. 

This year's charge co the income statement must be inserted co make the depreciation account balance. $650000 is the amount to 

be entered in the account and in the income statement. The profit is reduced by $650 OOO but no cash has moved into or out of 
the business. Both the loss on disposal of $13000 and the depreciation for the year of $650000 have reduced profit, but there has 
b€€n no movement of cash. Boch have to be added to the profit from operations to arrive at the actual cash flow generated by 
the company. 

4•C;?tttlrz-Dfftti!!l·~l·Dl,~til·~lli~·i~·IZ,§ll!•D1iZii=Jn,tii1·~2~;,=J~~I ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
A revaluation of non-current assets changes a statement of financial position. 

The non-current assets will increase in value, as will the equity of the company. 

However, as such a revaluation merely involves ledger entries, there will be no 

movement in cash. Therefore, there will be no entry in a statement of cash 

flows . 

4•C:?i·~i,~iDl/li~t~;1~·~1%1·~1141!,~f~-1=1¥!t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Such transactions impact on the statement of financial position of a limited 

company, but do not cause any movements in cash resources. The issue of 

bonus shares is not shown in a statement of cash flows. 

tmcmmo············ 
Both reva luations of non-current 
assets and bonus issues of shares 
give many students problems. Don't 
be one of those who get s it wrong 
and includes th em when answering 
statements of cash fl ows questions. 
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4•C=atl!· ~-·DIDl,f\W!il!li/!BZ·~HM!mmffi~-mh~·~·i=i~·D\Ml!·Dtffll-mm11u,~.;~\i!· .. -----------CW() 
Companies must prepare statements of cash flows in the format described in 
IAS 7. A statement of cash flows should be published with the other financial 
statements. Cash flows should be analysed as: 
• operating activities 

• investing activities 

• financing activities 

Operating activities 
Cash flows from operating activities are the cash inflows and outflows 
resulting from normal business activities. They are the main revenue producing 
activities of the company. Using the indirect method of preparing a statement 
of cash flows means that we have to adjust the profit from operations (or 
loss) for the year as this figure has been calculated using the accruals concept of 
preparation. 

The operating activities section of the statement contains the following 
adjustments: 

• add depreciation for the year (and any amortisation of intangible assets) 

• add losses on sales of non-current assets (or deduct profits on sales of non-
current assets) 

• add decrease in inventory (or deduct increase in inventory) 

• add decrease in trade receivables (or deduct increase in trade receivables) 

• add increase in trade payables (or deduct decrease in trade payables) 

These adjustments to the profit from operations gives the cash used in/from 
operations. Two further adjustments are necessary: 
• deduct interest paid during the year 

• deduct tax paid during the year 

The result is the net cash used in/from operating activities. 

Investing activities 
Investing activities are cash inflows and outflows resulting from the acquisition 
and disposal of non-current assets and investments: 

• cash inflows include receipts from the disJX)sal of all types of non-current 
assets 

• cash outflows include payments to acquire all types of non-current assets 

Financing activities 
Financing activities are activities that change the equity capital or long-term 
borrowing structure of a company. They are the result of receipts from and to 

external providers of finance: 

• cash inflows include receipts from share issues or issues of debentures, as 
well as receipts from other long-term borrowings (but not overdrafts) 

• cash outflows include dividends paid and payments to redeem shares and 
the repayment of long-term loans 

@Mitit+ 
Some students learn these headings 
by remembering the fir st letters of the 
words as 'OIF' or by using a mnemonic 
such as'Ostriches Invade France'. 

Operating activities are the cash 
effects of transactions that are not 
investing or financing activities. 

Profit from operations is profit for 
the year less tax and interest. 

Amortisation is the writing-off of 
part (or all) of the cost of an intangible 
asset, such as goodwill, over its useful 
life. It is similar to the depreciation 
charged on a tangible non-current 
asset. 

Qtfu¥1EMMO ............ : 
Many students ded uct depreciation 
and losses on disposa ls of non-current 
assets from operating profit as they are 
used to doing this when they prepa re 
an income statement. They are also 
tempted to add a profi t on disposal. 

Wt¥1EMMD ........... . 
'Non-cash' transactions are book 

• entries and do not involve movements 
: in cash so they are not entered in a 
: statement of cash fl ows. 

@Mi@ 
Only cash fl ows arising from purchases 
and sales of non-current assets appear 
under 'Investing activities'. Changes in 
other assets appear as adjustments to 
the profi t from operations. 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4;14:UiH,f\itM@ 
U'A'llfJ(ijif}fJ;rp : List three items that you would 

Only dividends actually paid during the year are included as fi na ncing activity expect to find under each ofthe three 
: outflows in the statement. Outflows will, generally, be interim dividends headings of 'O perating activities', 
: pa id during the year plus the final dividend agreed at the AGM based on the ' Investing activities' and 'Financing 
: previous year's profi ts. Don't incl ude the current yea r's proposed final dividend. activities'. 
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The following areas can be problematic when preparing statements of cash flows: 

• Profit from operations is the profit for the year before tax and interest. 

• Depreciation for the year should be added to the profit from operations. 

• Profits made on the disposal (derecognition) of non-current assets should be 

deducted from profit from operations, whereas losses on disposals should be 

added. 

• Revaluations of non-current assets should be disregarded as the increase in 

asset valuation involves only ledger entries. 

• Bonus issues of shares do not involve any movement in cash. 

• The total of movements in cash for the year is added to the cash and cash 

equivalents at the start of the year. The result should be the cash and cash 

equivalents at the financial year end. 

• A reconciliation of net cash to movement in net debt shows how increases 

or decreases in debt have affected the movement in cash over the year. 

Net debt is the borrowings of a 
company less cash and other liquid 

6 Identify the three sections required by IAS 7 that must be shown in a statement of cash flows. 

7 Explain why depreciation is added to the profit from operations when calcu lating cash flows. 

8 How would you treat a loss on the disposal of a non-current asset? 

9 Premises have been revalued from $400000 to $500000. Ca lculate the amount to be shown in a statement of cash flows 
and state under which heading this event wou ld be shown. 

10 During 2013 last year's final dividend of $32 OOO and this year's interim dividend of $14000 was paid. This year's final 
dividend of $40000 has been proposed. Under which heading in a statement of cash flows should these dividends be 
shown and what is the amount to be included? 

Answers on p.189 

•ilH:iil®H:l·IMMNi·l::ifo::M:lil:l:Mf $9 
This part of a statement of cash flows shows how increases or decreases in the 

components of a company's debt have influenced the increase or decrease in 

cash generated during the year. 

MO 

A reconciliation of net cash flow to a movement in net debt for the year ended 31 July 2014 based on the following data is as 
follo'NS. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
6% debentures 

at 31 July 2014 
$000 

212 
(300) 

at 31 July 2013 
$000 

67 
(400) 

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt for the year ended 31 July 2014 
$000 

Increase in cash in the period 

Cash used to re-purchase debentures 
Change in net debt 

Net debt at 1 August 2013 
Net debt at 31 July 2014 

145 

100 
245 

(333) 

(88) 

($212 less $67) 

($400 less $67) 
($300 less $212) 

An increase in cash resources of $145000 coupled with a reduction of $100000 in debenture debt accounts for the reduction of 
$245 OOO in the net debt. 
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Ch·h¥iGftMffiO .. · .. · .. · .. · .. ·. · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · 
Students often state that a statement of cash fl ows indicates if a business 

: req uires an overdrah at some time in the future. A statement of cash fl ows is a 
: historical document dealing with past events; it is not a predictor of future 
: events. 

ttffltliftj 
You have seen how the constituent 
parts of cash fl ows are calculated. 
Generall y, examination questions ask 
fo r a statement of cash fl ows prepared 
in accordance with IAS 7. 

44~·~NDffll~· at®m~IC,i::IHln~i@~:mn@m·~·f!·iCl!iE·li!iffiE·Di!J~,,ci:Ja,il!§Z·~®l·mlM~1~i·=··=.lfm+._-----«==J 
:;:::ha~~o~~:umber of reasons why an organisation might prepare a statement 4;JJiJh[,j,f\4tffi@ 
• It may be a statutory requirement. 

• Together with the income statement and the statement of financial position, 
it helps to give a fuller picture of the financial activities of the business. 

• It is one of the statements that bridges the gap between two statements of 
financial position. 

• Cash flows are an objective measure. 

Explain to a non-accountant the 
difference between a cash fl ow fo recast, 
a cash budget and a statement of cash 
fl ows. 

4•1ilittJC·II\DimhCIC,!fDiCD1~i·~f~i,~ii!M~·~lilM~iCJm,a,i!J~·i!Ml·~·~-=m·!·lliZ·~i,C,~i·!f~i,~iD!·I------«==) 
Limited companies prepare a full set of financial statements similar in content to 
those you have prepared for sole traders and partnerships. These statements are 
used by the directors and senior managers as a management tool. They provide 
detailed information that allows strategic decisions to be made. The published 
statements that are sent to shareholders and others entitled to receive them are 
incorporated into an annual report. The report uses: 

• standardised formats that conform to the Companies Acts 1985 and 1989, to 
allow comparisons with other public companies 

• an abridged version of the financial details 

Published financial statements are dealt with in Topic 16, Published Company 
Accounts (seep. 129). 

Partnership changes 

. ;• 
11 Explain how net debt is calculated. 
12 'A company that has made an 

operating loss fo r a year does 
not need to prepare a statement 
of cash fl ows. However, it must 
resume preparing a statement 
when it moves back into 
profitability.' Is this statement true 
or fa lse? 

Answers on p.189 

4•D·~titffl!!~·~M!!ll~·i~··m·~iiffifil·!!l:·liC,~iJC¥mi~~~·~ ... -----------------~«==J 
A partnership may be dissolved under the following circumstances: 

• on the death of a partner 

• on the retirement of a partner 

• when a partner is declared bankrupt 

• by mutual agreement of the partners 

4•1iliffl~-l-~/~@m!Ml!·DIE·!l£!i!41ffi~. 1·1·~®~· afflDnDi~i~IC4~'f!·i~rrffltO!· I·~·----------«==) 
When a partnership is dissolved, the assets of the business are disposed of and 
any liabilities are then settled. The order of settling debts (liabilities) is: 

1 trade payables 
partners' loan accounts 

partners' capital accounts 
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The assets can be disposed of in a variety of ways, such as being sold for cash, 

taken over by one or more of the partners or sold to a limited company. 

When a partnership is dissolved, a realisation account is opened. The actual cash 

received from receivables is debited to the partnership bank account and the 
cash paid to payables is credited to the bank account. 

Realisation account 
The carrying amount of the assets Proceeds from the sales of the assets 

Costs of the dissolution 
Discounts allowed 
Profit on dissolution 

disposed of 
other incomes or benefits 
Discounts received 
Loss on dissolution 

Unless the question states d ifferently, assume that the partnership will collect 

any outstanding monies owed by receivables and pay off outstanding payables. 

A profit on the realisation account is posted to the credit of the partners' 

capital accounts in profit-sharing ratios. A loss on the realisation account is 

posted to the debit side of the partners' capital accounts in profit-sharing ratios. 
The agreed value of assets taken over by partners is debited to the appropriate 

capital account(s) and credited to the realisation account. 

4;JJilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
Identify the items you would expect to find on the debit side of a realisation 
account. Then identify the items you would expect to find on the credit side. 

13 Give two examples of structural changes to a partnership. 

QfutitMMD ............ ·: 
A common mistake made by many 
students is to enter the amount raised 
by the sale of the assets on the debit 
side of the realisation account. Make 
sure that it is the carrying amount of 
the assets that you enter on the debit 
side. 

QfutitMMD ........... . 
Don't attempt to share any balance 
left in the bank account in any pre-

: determined ratio. The bank account is 
: used to clear any outsta nding balances 
: left on the partners' ca pital accounts. 

ttfu#IIM» 
At the end of this type of question, 
there should be no outstanding 
balances anywhere in your answer. 

14 Explain why it is necessary to reva lue the assets held by a partnership when a structural change ta kes place. 

15 (a) Identify two items that you might expect to find on the debit side of a realisation account. 

(b) Identify two items that you might expect to find on the credit side of a realisation account. 

16 The debit side of a reva luation account is greater than the credi t sid e. 

(a) Does this represent a profi t or a loss on realisation? 

(b) Where would you expect to find the corresponding double entry? 

Answers on p.189 

Assets taken over by a limited company 
Some assets may be sold to a limited company. The purchase consideration 

could take the form of: 

• cash 

• cash and shares 

• cash and debentures 

• debentures and shares 

• cash, debentures and shares 

The major problem area in such questions is the allocation of shares in the 

limited company purchasing some or all of the assets of the partnership. The 

distribution of shares is in some ratio that will be given in the question. The value 
of the shares is used as the basis for distribution not the number of shares given. 
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Abel, Bare and Carmen share profits and losses 2: 2: 1 respectively. The partnership was sold to Delerm Led. The purchase 
consideration was $600000 made up of $30000 cash; $90000 of 7% debentures and 100000 $1 ordinary shares. A statement of 
financial position for the partnership immediately prior co the dissolution showed the following. 

Net assets (other than cash) 

Cash 

Capital account balances - Abel 
-Bart 

-Carmen 

350000 
10000 

120000 
90000 

150000 

Debentures were distributed according to the last agreed capital account balances. Shares were distributed in profit-sharing ratios. 
Each partner received: 

Abel Bart Carmen 

s s 
Value of: 

Debentures 30000 22500 37500 
Shares 192000 192000 96000 

Cash (2000) (24500) 66500 
Number of shares 40000 40000 20000 

Workings 

Abel Bart Carmen 

s $ 

Capital account balances 120000 90000 150000 
Profit on sale of partnership 100000 100000 50000 ($600000 less $350000) 

Debenture distribution (30000) (22500) (37500) 

Share distribution (192000) (192000) (96 OOO) (Value $480 OOO) 

Cash paid 2000 24500 

Cash received (66500) 

-17 The purchase consideration paid by a limited company to acquire a partnership business of A, Band C was $450000 made 
up of $10000 cash, $44000 debentures and 180000 ordinary shares of $1 each. The shares were split between the partners 
in the ratio of AX: BX: CX. How many shares did partner B receive and what was the value of each ordinary share? 

Answer on p.189 
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14 Capital (equity) 

Redemption of shares 

4•11m~-1-~1~mmm~·mo1~m=-mma-znz,~,:mm,~·G~·~«ra,,~,.a-1~,,~·!ffl~tttffl~·=·=nzn~·D~--------u==J 
When preference shares are redeemed or a company purchases its own shares, 
an amount equal to the value of the shares redeemed must be transferred from 
revenue reserves (generally retained earnings) to a capital redemption reserve. 
Capital reserves cannot be distributed to shareholders in the form of cash 
dividends. 

The Companies Act 1985 seeks to protect payables whose interest may suffer if 
the company's capital is depleted. Therefore, the equity of the company must 
be restored by either a new issue of shares or by converting a revenue reserve 
into a capital reserve (which cannot be distributed in cash), or by a combination 
of these. The application of this rule means that the capital structure of the 

company is maintained. 

A summarised statement of financial position of Wong pie is as follows. 

Non-current assets 
Net current assets 

Non-current liabilities 
7% redeemable preference shares of $1 each 

Equity 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 
Share premium account 
Retained earnings 

sooo 
2000 

300 

(SOO) 

1800 

1000 

200 
600 

1800 

Prepare a summarised statement of financial position immediately after the events in each of the following scenarios. 

Scenario 1 - the preference shares are redeemed out of a new issue of SOO ordinary shares at par. 

Scenario 2 - the preference shares are redeemed out of a new issue of ordinary shares at $2 each. 

Scenario 3 - the preference shares are partly redeemed by an issue of 450 ordinary shares at par. 

Scenario 4 - the preference shares are partly redeemed by an issue of 200 ordinary shares at $2 each. 

Answer to scenario 1 

Non-current assets 
Net current assets 

Equity 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 
Share premium account 

Retained earnings 

sooo 
2000 

300 

2300 

1500 

200 

600 
2300 

(The issue of new ordinary shares 
has raised sufficient capital to 
redeem the preference shares) 
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Answer to scenario 2 

$000 
Non-current assets 2000 (The issue of new ordinary shares 

Net current assets 300 has raised sufficient capital to 

2300 redeem the preference shares) 

Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 1250 
Share premium account 450 
Retained earnings 600 

2300 

Answer to scenario 3 

$000 
Non-current assets 2000 (The new issue of ordinary 

Net current assets 250 shares has raised $450000. This 

2250 is insufficient to fund the total 

Equity redemption. In order to protect 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 1450 
the payables, $50000 must be 
transferred into a capital reserve 

Share premium 200 which cannot be distributed as 
Capital redemption reserve 50 cash) 
Retained earnings 550 

2250 

Answer to scenario 4 

$000 
Non-current assets 2000 (The new issue of ordinary 

Net current assets 200 shares has raised $400000. This 

2200 is insufficient to fund the total 

Equity redemption. In order to protect 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 1200 
the payables, $100000 must be 
transferred into a capital reserve 

Share premium account 400 which cannot be distributed as 
Capital redemption reserve 100 cash) 
Retained earnings 500 

2200 

4;JJilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
Draft some notes to explain to a junior clerk the function of a capital 
redemption reserve and how it ca n be used in the futu re. 

•Di·i,,i,i,ifrM,,l·iiH,i,il.fiii 1----------------1~ 
When a premium is paid to the shareholders on redemption of their shares, 
certain rules must be adhered to if the premium is to be debited to the share 
premium account. The shares must: 

• originally have been issued at a premium 

• be funded by a new issue of shares 

Also, any amount debited to the share premium account must be the lesser 
of the amount received as a premium on the new issue of shares or the credit 
balance in the share premium account. 

The amount to be debited to the share premium account must not exceed the 
credit balance in the account. Any excess must be debited to retained earnings. 
Any premium on redemption must be debited to retained earnings if the shares 
being redeemed: 

• were not originally issued at a premium 

• are not being redeemed out of a new share issue 

Redemption of shares 8 



The summarised statement of financial position of Coloccini pie is as follows. Note chat the preference shares were originally issued 
at a premium of $0.25. 

Non-current assets 

Net current assets 
Non-current liabilities 

8% redeemable preference shares of $1 each 

Equity 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 

Share premium account 

Retained earnings 

$000 

3000 

800 

(400) 

3400 

2000 

750 
650 

3400 

Prepare a summarised statement of financial position immediately after the events in each of the following scenarios. 

Scenario 1 - 350000 preference shares were redeemed at $1.25 each. No new issue of shares was made. 

Scenario 2 - the preference shares were redeemed at $1.25 each. A new issue of 350000 ordinary shares of $1 each was made at 
$1.10each. 

Scenario 3 - the preference shares were redeemed at $1.25 each. A new issue of 400000 ordinary shares of $1 each was made at 

$1.30. 

Answer to scenario 1 

Non-current assets 

Net curre nt assets 

Non-current lia bilities 

8% redeemable preference shares of $1 each 

Equity 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 

Share premium 

Capital redemption reserve 

Retained earnings 

sooo 
3000 

362.5 (BOO less 350 less 87.5) 

_(5QL (400 less 350) 

3312.5 

2000 

750 
350** 

212.5 (650 less 87.5* less 350)** 

3312.5 

• The premium on redemption has been debited to retained earnings as no issue of shares has been made - the share 
premium cannot be used. 

•• No new issue of shares has been made, so payables are protected by the creation of a capital redemption reserve. 

Answer to scenario 2 

$000 
Non-current assets 3000 

Net current assets 685 (BOO less 400 less 100 + 385) 

3685 

Equity 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 2350 (2000 + 350) 

Share premium account 750 (35 less 35)* 

Capital redemption reserve 50** 

Retained earnings 535 (650 less 65* less 50)** 

3685 

• Part of the premium on redemption has been debited to share premium and part to retained earnings. Only $35 OOO can 
be debited to share premium as this is the amount of share premium raised by the new issue of shares. 

•• A capital redemption reserve has been created co protect payables as the proceeds from the new share issue is $50000 
less than the amount needed to redeem the preference shares. 
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Answer to scenario 3 

SOOD 

Non-current assets 3000 
Net current assets 820 (BOO less 500 + 520) 

3820 
Equity 

Ord inary sha res of $1 each 2400 (2000 + 400) 

Share premium account 770 (750 less 100 + 120) 

Retained earnings 650 
3820 

All of the premium on redemption can be debited co share premium as it is less than the premium charged on the new issue of 
shares. There is no need to protect the payables by creating a capital redemption reserve as the permanent capital of the company 
has not been depleted by the redemption. 

What is a capital redemption reserve and what is its purpose? 

A company redeems $50 OOO of redeemable preference shares. It issues 
100 000 o rdinary shares of $0.25 each at par in o rder to fund the 
redemption. Explain: 

(a) if a capital redemption reserve is needed 

(b) if needed, the value of the reserve 

(c) where any amount comes from 

20000 redeemable preference shares of $1 each are redeemed for $1.05. The 
shares were o riginally issued for $1.10 in 199 1. Explain how the premium on 
redemption should be treated. 

Answers on p.190 

4;J§ilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
Listthe rules that are necessary when a 
premium on redemption of shares can 
be debited to a share premium account 

Capital reduction and reconstruction 

•iffl/@fffiitt¥¥M,d,ii11l.fi,iifflfflDD 
Limited companies may reduce their share capital provided they do so legally 

and do not endanger the position of payables. A company that has been trading 

unsuccessfully for a number of years and has, as a consequence, a debit balance 

on retained earnings may seek to undertake a scheme of capital reduction. 

The summarised statement of financial position of Xain Ltd at 30 June 2014 is as follows. 

Net assets 
Equity 

400 OOO ordinary shares of $1 each 
Retained earnings 

SOOD 

290 

400 

__(1_10) 
290 

The nee assets are overvalued; a more realistic valuation is $200000. The company has not paid dividends for a number of years. 
After signing several new contracts for work, the d irectors believe chat the company can become profitable and start to pay 
dividends again in the future. The shareholders agree to a scheme of capital reduction. The scheme reduces the nee assets by 
$90000 and the debit balance on retained earnings by $110000. Debit balances are reduced in total by $200000. Capital (equity) is 
reduced by an equivalent amount. 
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Therefore, the reconstructed statement of financial position would appear as: 

Net assets 

Equity 

Ordinary shares 

SOOD 
200 

200 

The equity could be made up of 400000 ordinary shares of $0.50 or 200000 ordinary shares of $1 each. A limited company may 

alter its share capital if permitted by its articles of association, so either course of action is possible. You would be directed in the 

question how the 'new' share capital is to be made up. 

4;J4ijhH,f\itM@ 
Explain to a non-accountant how retained earnings could be a negative amount. 

Bonus and rights issues 

41f~+31a.~1.~1,~1·~t~1ittm1~11=,~·~IGGl,!·~11=1m+ .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The effect in a statement of financial position 
Bonus shares are issued to existing shareholders for free. The shares are 'paid' 

for by using reserves. Reserves are profits retained within a company. Over the 

lifetime of a limited company, reserves may increase. This may be because of an 

upward revaluation of non-current assets, the premium paid by investors in a 

new issue of shares, the 'plough ing back' of profits or because of the creation of 

a capital redemption reserve (see earlier in this topic, p. 108). 

If reserves reach a level that makes the equity of a company totally 

unrepresentative of the asset base of the business, the directors may distribute 

the reserves as bonus shares. Revenue reserves are built up from retained profits. 

They are distributable reserves, which means they can be brought back into the 

income statement at some future date and may be distributed as cash 

dividends. 

ttM»IM» 
Exa mination questions generally say 
that it is company policy to maintain 
reserves in their most flexible form. 
This means that a bonus issue of shares 
should be funded by using capital 
reserves first. 

The following statement of financial position has been prepared after Manchu pie has traded for many years. 

SOOD 

Non-current assets 5600 (It can be seen clearly that the 

Net current assets 450 asset base of the company of 

6050 $6050000 is much greater 

Equity than the issued share capital 

Ordinary shares of $1 1500 
$1500000) 

Share premium account 500 
Revaluation reserve 2500 

Retained earnings 1550 

6050 

The directors of Manchu made a bonus issue of shares on the basis of two shares for every one ordinary share held. It is company 

policy to maintain reserves in their most flexible form. A statement of financial position prepared immediately after the completion 

of the bonus issue is as follows. 
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Non-current assets 
Net current assets 

sooo 
5600 

450 

6050 

(It can now be seen that the asset 
base is more in line with the value 
of issued ordinary shares) 

Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 
Retained earnings 

4500 
1550 

6050 

Note chat retained earnings have not been used; these can be used if needed co provide cash dividends in the future. From a 
company's point of view: 
• the statement of financial position now shows a more realistic picture 
• the shareholders can now be seen co own the major pare of the company's value 
• the liquid resources of the business have not been depleted 

From the shareholders' point of view: 

• they now own more shares in the company 
• the monetary value of their holdings has not changed as the market value of each share will decrease pro raca 
• the decrease in the value of each share may make chem more marketable 
• if the dividend per share is maintained, a greater total d ividend will be received 

4;J4'1hi·i,f\4Mifi 
Identify the similarities and differences between an issue of bonus shares and a 
rights issue of shares. 

t+NrtniWIJ·IGdll4•.-------------------~ 
The effect in a statement of financial position 
Limited companies can raise more permanent capital by issuing more shares. 

A rights issue is a cheaper method than a public offering. It is an invitation to 

existing shareholders to subscribe for further shares based on their existing 

holding. The effect that a rights issue has in a statement of financial position is 

exactly the same as the effects of an issue to the general public at large. 

The summarised statement of financial position of Fawaz pie was as follows. 

Net assets 
Equity 
Ordinary shares of $0.50 each 
Retained earnings 

sooo 
5400 

3800 
1600 

5400 

The company made a rights issue of one new ordinary share for every four shares 
held. The issue price was $1.20. All shareholders cook up their rights. After all the 
monies were paid, the statement of financial position appeared as follows. 

Net assets 
Equity 
Ordinary shares of $0.50 each 

Share premium 
Retained earnings 

sooo 
7680 

4750 

1330 
1600 

7680 

Shareholders who do not wish co cake up their right co purchase more shares can 
sell the rights co a third party. 

Bonus and rights issues § 



Reserves 
Reserves are not cash; they are past profits and as such they belong to the 
shareholders. They are either accumulated profits earned from trading activities 
or capital adjustments. 

4•C;Zi4:1=1J~·~\·~1;;z111,mJ~·~1:1m .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Revenue reserves are the most flexible form of reserves. If they are found to be 
excessive, they can be transferred back to the income statement, which allows 
them to be available for the payment of dividends. You might encounter the 
following revenue reserves: 

• retained earnings 

• general reserve 

• non-current asset replacement reserve 

Revenue reserves may also be used to issue bonus shares, but this may not be a 
wise move as it may affect company liquidity adversely. 

Capital reserves are created from capital transactions or adjustments to the 
capital structure of the company. They are not available for distribution as cash 
dividends as they are not created from 'normal' operating activities. You might 
encounter the following capital reserves: 

• share premium account 

• revaluation reserves 

• capital redemption reserve 

Any distribution to shareholders using these reserves will be in the form of 
bonus shares. 

4 Distinguish between a bonus issue of shares and a rights issue of shares. 

A company wishes to raise $100000. Should the company use a bonus issue or a rights issue to raise the extra capital? 

Explain the difference between revenue reserves and capital reserves. Give an exa mple of each t ype of reserve. 

Answers on p.190 

8 Cambridge International AS and A Level Accounting Revision Guide 



15 Business purchase 

The purchase of an unincorporated 
business by a limited company .• ,,. MO 
When a successful business is sold, the vendor generally sets the selling price at a 
level greater than the value of the nee assets being sold. The cash paid by the 
purchaser to acquire the goodwill is paid in order to gain access to future 
profits generated by the business taken over. These principles apply to any 
business purchasing net assets at a price greater than the value of these assets. 

Goodwill is an intangible asset. It is 
the cost of acquiring a business less the 
total value of the assets and liabilities 
that have been purchased. If the 
amount paid for a business is less than 
the value of its net assets, the result is 
negative goodwill . This is shown as 
a negative figure under the heading 
'Intangible non-current assets'. 

Akrim's business has non-current assets of $180000 and net current assets of $30000 at 31 December 2013. A summarised 
statement of financial position of Yukiya pie on the same date shows: 

Non-current assets 

Net current assets 

Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 
Reserves 

sooo 
2050 

380 
2430 

2000 

430 
2430 

Yukiya pie purchased Akrim's business at the scare of business on 1 January 2014. The purchase consideration was $300000 made 
up of $50000 cash and 100000 ordinary shares. Yukiya pie valued the non-current assets taken over at $200000 and nee current 
assets at $25000. 

After the acquisition, Yukiya's summarised statement of financial position at 1 January 2014 would be as follows. 

Yukiya pie. Summarised statement of financial position at 1 January 2014 
sooo 

Non-current assets 2250 ($2050 + 200) 

Goodwill 75 ($225000 assets purchased for $300000) 
Net current assets 355 ($380 less 50 + 25) 

2680 
Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 2100 ($200000 + 100000) 

Share premium 150 (100000 shares with a value of $250000) 

Other reserves 430 

2680 

1 Akrim has made a capital gain (profit) on the sale of his business of $90000. (Nee assets $210000 sold for $300000) 

2 Akrim's 100000ordinary shares have a value of $250000 ($300000 purchase consideration less cash $50000) or 
$2.50pershare($65000/30000). 
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Calculation of goodwill (intangible assets) and negative 4;JJ11hi·i,f\4Mhi 
goodwill (intangible assets) Identify two un incorporated businesses 

A purchase consideration may be the same as the value of assets taken over, less near you r school/college. 

than the value of assets taken over or more than the value of assets taken over. 

If the purchaser pays more than the value of the net assets taken over, they are 

paying for the advantage of acquiring profits greater than chose that could be 
expected on the tangible assets taken over. Negative goodwill arises when the 

purchase consideration is less than the value of net assets taken over. 

4•~t'~ti=i~·;&:illZ·l~itttilm~i~,,~·~·i~l~·I~·i~t~· iZMZ·~·~@=~, .~1@=t~1=tm1a@!·l·~·~h~·D,FE· ii+~· 1z,;a,=rn~tm1~•~·a-----~ 
After the two (or more) owners have agreed on values for the assets and 

liabilities that are co form the new partnership, the two statements of financial 

position are combined. It may be necessary for the partners to make payments 

or withdrawals of capital co achieve the required capital account balances that 

have been agreed. 

Unincorporated businesses describes 
all businesses that are not limited 

companies. 

Axel and Bea agree to merge their two businesses into a partnership from 1 January 2014. The following are statements of financial 

position at 31 December 2013. 

Axel 

Non-current assets 40000 

Current assets 

Inventory 5000 15000 

Trade receivables 3500 9000 

Cash and cash equivalents 1000 4000 

9500 28000 

Current liabilities 

Trade payables (2500) 7000 (7000) 

47000 

Capital accounts 47000 

The following values have been agreed for assets to be taken over by the partnership: 

Non-current assets 

Inventories 

Trade receivables 

Axel 

$ 
50000 

4000 

3000 

Bea 

$ 
60000 

14000 

9000 

Bea 

70000 

21 OOO 

91 OOO 

91 OOO 

The partnership would assume responsibility for the current liabilit ies of both businesses. Each partner would scare with capital of 

$60000. Bankers have agreed co provide any necessary overdraft facilit ies. 

A statement of financial position for the partnership at the start of trading on 1 January 2014 shows: 

Axel and Bea. Statement of financial position at 1 January 2014 
$ 

Non-current assets 

Current assets 

Inventories 

Trade receivables 

Current liabilities 

Trade payables 

Cash and cash equivalents (overdraft) 

Capital accounts - Axel 

- Bea 

110000 

18000 

12000 

(9500) 

(10500) 

120000 

60000 

60000 

120000 
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Workings 

Capital account -Axel Capital account - Bea 

Cash 1 OOO Balance b/d 47000 Cash 4000 Balance b/d 91 OOO 
Balance c/d 54500 Valuation 8500 Valuation 11 OOO 

55500 55500 Balance c/d 76000 
Balance b/d 54500 9 1 OOO 91 OOO 

Cash 5500 Cash 16000 Balance b/d 76000 

Axel pays $5500 to the business. Bea receives $16000 so a $10500 bank overdraft is necessary. 

Value of Jorge's nee assets taken over $129000; purchase consideration paid by Sandi $200000. Calculate the va lue of 
goodwill and state how it should be shown in the statement of financial position of Band i. 

Value of Adnan's net assets taken over $560000; purchase consideration paid by Baldeep $500000. Calculate the value of 
goodwill and state how it should be shown in the statement of financial position of Baldeep. 

Ro llo sells his business net asset value $250000 to Sukhdev for a purchase consideration of $300000. Calculate the value of 
goodwill for both Rollo and Sukhdev. 

Answers on p.190 

The purchase of a partnership by a 
limited company 

4•CRttN~mlltffl!·l!l,~\'.;iii!·l·~f~·IZ•iD,:iJ~tmi~~~·~._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
When a limited company purchases a partnersh ip, the process is similar to when 
a sole trader's business is purchased. Technical difficulties could be encountered 

when apportioning shares and debentures between partners. The proportions of 

each security to be allocated to each partner will be given in the question. 

@Mi% 
Remember, don't try to close the partnership books of account at the same 
time as you prepare the company's statement of financial position. Treat each 
part of such a question as if it were two totally separate questions. If you need 
help in remembering how to do this, partnership dissolution is covered in Topic 
13, Partnership changes (see p. 105). 

Yak and Moin are in partnership, sharing profits and losses in the ratio of 3: 1 respectively. Their statement of financial position at 
31 January 2014 showed the following. 

Non-current assets 
Premises 

Office equipment 
Vehicles 

Current assets 
Inventory 
Trade receivables 

Bank balance 

210000 

30000 
50000 

16000 
26000 

5000 
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Non-current liabilities 

Loan- Main 
Current liabilities 

Trade payables 
Net assets 

Capital accounts - Yak 
-Moin 

(80000) 

(7000) 

250000 

150000 
100000 

250000 

The partnership was taken over by Shalev pie before the scare of business on 1 February 2014. The purchase consideration was 
$500000, consisting of: 
• $50 OOO cash 
• $52 OOO 7% debentures shared between the partners in their profit-sharing ratios 
• 1 OOO OOO ordinary shares of $0.25 each shared equally between the partners 

For the purposes of the takeover, the partnership assets were valued as follows. 

Premises 300000 

Office equipment 25000 
Vehicles 40000 

Inventory 14000 
Trade receivables 25000 

A statement of financial position for Shalev pie at 31 January 2014 showed: 

sooo 
Non-current assets 
Land and buildings 6400 

Machinery 1400 
Vehicles 230 

Current assets 
Inventory 62 

Trade receivables 49 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Non-current liabilities 
7% debentures (400) 

Current liabilities 

Trade payables ~ 
Net assets 7690 

Equity 
Ordinary shares of $0.25 each 5000 

Share premium 1500 
other reserves 1190 

7690 

A statement of financial position for Shalev pie at 1 February 2014 after the takeover shows: 

Sha/ev pie. Statement of financial position at 1 February 2014 
sooo 

Non-current assets 
Goodwill 103 

Land and buildings 6700 
Machinery 1400 

Office equipment 25 
Vehicles 270 

Current assets 
Inventory 76 

Trade receivables 74 
Non-current liabilities 

7% debentures (452) 
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Current liabilities 
Trade payables 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Net assets 
Equity 
Ordinary shares of $0.25 each 

Share premium 

Other reserves 

(65) 

~ 
8088 

5250 

1648 

1190 

8088 

The entries necessary to dissolve the partnership of Yak and Main: 

Realisation account 
Premises 210000 Shalev 500000 Realisation 

Office equipment 30000 Trade payables 7000 

Vehicles 50000 

Inventory 16000 

Trade receivables 26000 

Capital Yak 131 250 

Capital Main 43750 

507000 507000 

Shalev pie 
500000 Cash 

Capital Yak 

Capital Main 

Capital Yak 

Capital Main 

500000 

Loan account - Moin 
Bank 80 OOO Balance b/d 80 OOO 

Shalev (debentures) 

Shalev(shares) 

Bank 

Balance b/d 

Shalevplc 

Capital Yak 

Capital accounts 
Yak 

39000 

199000 

43250 

281250 

Moin 
13000 

199000 

212000 

Bank account 
5000 Loan Main 

50000 Capital Yak 

68250 

123250 

Balance b/d 

Profit on realisation 

Bank 

80000 

43250 

123250 

Yak 

150000 

131250 

281250 

The purchase of assets and the 
assumption of liabilities 

•j,iJ,jijb,UjJ,jfj,i§j@t@j,ii\• 
When more than one business is taken over by a limited company, similar 

procedures to those used in the previous example are followed. 

50000 

39000 (deb) 

13000 (deb) 

199000 (shares) 

199000 (shares) 

500000 

Main 
100000 

43750 

68250 

212000 

MO 
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Ewa and Divya form Divewa Led a company incorporating both businesses. The company commenced trading on 1 Apri l 2014 

with share capital of 500000 ordinary shares of $1 each issued at par; the shares were divided equally. Statements of financial 

position for the two businesses at 31 March 2014 are: 

Ewa Divya 
s s 

Non-current assets 

Premises 100000 80000 

Equipment 40000 20000 

Vehicles 30000 25000 

Current assets 

Inventory 12000 8000 

Trade receivables 20000 18000 

Cash 2000 3000 

Current liabilities 
Trade payables (4000) (12000) 

Net assets 200000 142000 

Capital 200000 142000 

The new company assumed responsibility for current liabilities. All assets were taken over by Divewa Led at the following values. 

Ewa Divya 
s s 

Premises 140000 120000 

Equipment 35000 18000 

Vehicles 25000 15000 

Inventory 10000 7000 

Trade receivables 20000 16000 

A statement of financial position for Divewa Ltd at the stare of trading on 1 April 2014 shov.rs: 

Non-current assets 

Goodwill 105000 

Premises 260000 

Equipment 53000 

Vehicles 40000 

Current assets 

Inventory 17000 

Trade receivables 36000 

Cash and cash equivalents 5000 

Current liabilities 
Trade payables (16000) 

Net assets 500000 

Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 500000 

Goodwill calculations 
'Purchase' consideration less Ewa's net assets taken over by the company: 

250000 ordinary shares of $1 each 

$140000 + $35000 + $25000 + $10000 + $20000 + $2000 less $4000 

Value of goodwill {Ewa) 

Value of goodwill {Divya) 

$250000 

$228000 

$22000 

$83000 

$250000 less ($120000 + $18000 + $15000 + $7000 + $16000 + $3000 less $12 OOO) 
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We can use the information given in the previous worked example co prepare relevant accounts in the books of account of Divya 

co show the entries necessary co close her business. 

Realisation account 
Premises 80000 Trade payables 

Equipment 20000 Divewa Ltd 

Vehicles 25000 

Inventory 8000 

Trade receivables 18000 

Cash 3000 

Profit on realisation 108000 

262000 

Capital account - Divya 
Divewa Ltd 250000 Balance bid 

Realisation 

250000 

Divewa Ltd 
Realisation 250000 Capital - Divya 

4;J§ilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
A fri end says that when one business buys another, an addi t io nal payment is 
made to purchase the customers. This additio nal payment is for goodwill. Do 
you agree with your friend? Give reasons for your reply. 

12000 

250000 

262000 

142000 

108000 

250000 

250000 

•i,\J·l·IU,f t¥idttffli,i¥iitNM·IJ,l@,f ii¥¥MM#i111¥ii,i·tffllt 
The agreed purchase consideration could comprise: 

• a cash payment 

• an issue of debentures 

• an issue of shares 

• any combination of cash, debentures and shares 

Shares given as part of a purchase consideration should be allotted to the 

vendor according to value, not the number of shares involved. ~-

Purchase consideration is the agreed 

amount paid to acquire a business. 

Piecr sold his business co Ekal pie. The purchase consideration was $400 OOO, made up of $20 OOO cash, $30000 6% debentures and 

25000 $1 ordinary shares. Pietr would receive-. 
• $20000 in cash 

• $30000 in debentures 
• $350000 worth of ordinary shares 

Piecr receives cash, debentures and a share certificate for 25000 shares valued at $350000. Each share must be worth $14. 

Pascal and Christophe share profits and losses in the ratio of 3: 2. They sold their business co Tournier Led. The purchase 
consideration was $100 OOO, made up of $35000 cash and 40 OOO ordinary shares of $1 each. Pascal receives 24 OOO ordinary shares 

worth $39000; Christophe receives 16000 ordinary shares worth $26000. 
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•MMtii,i·fi,diiii,diiH,t t------------------cmo 
A merger takes place when two or more businesses join together to form 
a new business. The term is generally applied to the agreed takeover of one 
limited company by another. 

An amalgamation occurs when one limited company purchases the assets of 
another company and assumes the responsibility of paying any trade and other 
payables. 

~-
The statements of financial position at 31 January 2014 of Audouard Ltd and Busch Ltd were as follows. 

Audouard Ltd Busch Ltd 

s s 
Non-current assets 400000 100000 

Current assets 160000 30000 
Current liabilities (100000) (18000) 

Net assets 460000 112000 
Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 300000 70000 

Retained earnings 160000 42000 
460000 112000 

On 1 February 2014 Audouard Ltd acquired the net assets except the bank balance ($4000) of Busch Ltd. The purchase 

consideration consisted of 100 OOO shares in Audouard Ltd at par, with any balance being paid in cash. A statement of financial 
position for Audouard Ltd at 1 February 2014 (immediately after the acquisition of the net assets of Busch Ltd) shows: 

Non-current assets 500000 ($400000 + $100000) 

Current assets 178000 ($160000 + $26000 less $8000) 
Current liabilities (118000) ($100000 + $18000) 

560000 

Equity 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 400000 ($300000 + $100000) 
Retained earnings 160000 

560000 

Workings 

Net assets of Busch Ltd are $108000. The purchase consideration was $100000 in shares and $8000 cash. The retained earnings 

was a book entry in Busch's books of account, so it is disregarded. The assets of the company taken over are unlikely co be taken 
over at book value. When the purchase price is greater than the value of the net assets being taken over, the excess represents a 

payment for goodwill. 

Evaluating a business with a view to 
acquiring it 

lril•~·l!:·i~·fli~Dm§!IJlll!J~i·~IIC,!1!·1~··1111,~GC¥!i!ICn~iJ~·~\~~-----------------i~ 
When one business takes over another business, it does so to gain a positive 

return on investment that might include: 

• synergy - greater effectiveness obtained by joining forces 

• vertical integration - control of different stages of production or sale of a 

product 

Return on investment describes the 
financial benefits that will result from 

investing in another business. 
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• the acquisition of larger more profitable contracts 

• greater geographical coverage 

• greater skills coverage - a larger business may attract a more skilful 

workforce 

• perception of new, larger business being more prestigious 

• an increase in market share that may disadvantage rivals 

• an ability to take advantage of internal economies of scale, such as: 
- technical economies - larger businesses can often be more efficient as 

costs are not generally proportionate to the increase in size 
- managerial economies - larger businesses can generally afford specialists 

who concentrate on their areas of expertise 

- financial economies - larger business are generally able to raise finance 

more easily and tend to have a greater variety of potential sources from 
which to choose 

- purchasing economies - larger businesses are more likely to purchase 

materials in larger quantities and therefore take advantage of bulk 

discounting 

• more effective research and development in a larger business 

• a more diverse portfolio of products that may open up further markets and 

reduce the risk associated with a limited range of products 

The following statements of financial position are given. 

Abwitplc Borood Ltd 
sooo sooo 

Non-current assets 
Premises 2900 300 
Plant and machinery 1500 100 
Vehicles 500 50 

Office equipment 300 70 
Current assets 
Inventory 84 18 
Trade receivables 97 25 

Cash and cash equivalents 48 12 
Current liabilities 
Trade payables ~ ~ 
Net assets 5380 569 

Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 3800 400 

Retained earnings 1580 169 
5380 569 

On 1 August 2014 Abwit pie took over the assets of Borood (except cash and cash equivalents) at the following values. 

sooo 
Premises 450 
Plant and machinery 60 

Vehicles 30 
Office equipment 50 

Inventory 17 
Trade receivables 23 

Abwit settled the payables of Bo rood Led. The purchase consideration was $720000, settled by the issue of 400 OOO ordinary shares 
of $1 in Abwit pie at a price of $1.80 each and the balance in cash. The statement of financial position for Abwit pie at 1 August 
2014 (immediately after the acquisition of Borood Ltd) is as follows: 
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sooo 
Non-current assets 
Goodwill 96 

Premises 3350 ($2900 + $450) 
Plant and machinery 1560 ($1500 + $60) 

Vehicles 530 ($500 + $30) 
Office equipment 350 ($300 + $50) 

Current assets 
Inventory 83 ($65 + $18) 
Trade receivables 120 ($97 + $23) 

Current liabilities 
Trade payables (49) 

Cash and cash equivalents ~ ($48 less $6) 

Net assets 6100 

Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 4200 ($3800 + $400) 

Share premium 320 
Retained earnings 1580 

6100 

The value to Abwit pie of the net assets taken over was $624000. Goodwill is therefore valued at $%000 (shares+ premium 
$720000 less $624000 value of net assets). The assets and liabilities of the two companies are combined in the books of account. 

The acquisition of a shareholding 
A company may purchase shares in another company as an investment that 

would financially benefit the business. 

If Amado pie gained control of Bernheim Ltd by purchasing more than 50% 
of ordinary shares in Bernheim Led, Amado pie is the holding company and 
Bernheim Led is the subsidiary company. Bernheim Led would become a 
wholly owned subsidiary if Amado pie owned all of the ordinary shares. The 
shareholding would be recorded as a non-current asset. 

The following summarised statements of financial position are given for two limited companies at 30 November 2013. 

Pine pie Palm pie 

sooo sooo 
Non-current assets 34000 230 
Net current assets 7680 125 

41680 355 
Equity 

Ordinary shares of $1 each 30000 300 
Retained earnings 11680 55 

41680 355 

Before stare of business on 1 December 2013, Pine pie purchased ordinary shares in Palm pie. The effects on the statements of 
financial position of Pine pie and Palm pie are shown for three different scenarios. 

Purchase of ordinary shares in Palm pie at par by Pine pie: 

Scenario 1 - 50000 shares 

Scenario 2 - 151 OOO shares 

Scenario 3 - all the shares in Palm pie 

In all cases, the statement of financial position for Palm would remain the same as shown. The only change that has taken place is 
the change in the ownership of the ordinary shares; this would be recorded in Palm's register of members. Statements of financial 
position for Pine pie show: 
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Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 

sooo $000 sooo 
Non-current assets 

Other non-current assets 34000 34000 34000 
Ordinary shares in Palm pie 50 151 300 

Net current assets 7630 7529 7380 
41680 41680 41680 

The equity section has not changed: 

$000 

Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 30000 

Retained earnings 11680 
41680 

The purchase price of $1 per share in Palm pie was at par. If the purchase price per ordinary share had been as follows, the net 
assets section would be as below. (The equity section remains unchanged.) 

Scenario 1 - $1 .20 per share 

Scenario 2 - $1.75 per share 

Scenario 3 - $4.50 per share 

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 
Price per share $1.20 $1.75 $4.50 

Non-current assets 

other non-current assets 34000000 34000000 34000000 
Ordinary shares in Palm pie 60000 264250 1350000 

Current assets 7620000 7415750 6330000 
41680000 41680000 55340000 

f :ffliiG111iii,f·ntm@,,iiittfflMl1Mi,tii,ii,N4ii,,li,l+ 
IAS 28 Investments in associates suggests that any of the following factors could 

be an indication of significant influence: 

• representation on the board of directors of the associated company 

• interchange of managers between the two companies 

• provision of essential technical information 

• participation in policy-making of the associated company 

• material transactions between the two companies 

There are two methods of recording the investment in one company by another 

company: 

• the equity method. The initial investment is recorded in the investing 

company's books of account using the cost of purchase. Each year the cost 

of this investment is adjusted up or down to reflect the value of the retained 

profits (or losses) in the associated (subsidiary) company. This reflects the 

value of total equity and net assets held in the associate or subsidiary 

company 

• the book value method (also known as the cost method). The investment is 

recorded at purchase price and this value remains unchanged each year. The 

value of the investment is not adjusted to reflect the share of the associate's 

retained earnings. The associate or subsidiary profits are not recorded by the 

investing company; only dividends received are recorded 

Significant influence is where an 
investing company takes an active part 
in policy decisions of the subsidiary 
company, but is not in control (i.e. the 
holding company has less than 50% 
of the ordinary shares of the other 
company). 

An associated company is a company 
that is partly owned by another 
company. The associated company is 
between 20% and 50% owned by 
the investor company, which can exert 
significant influence in the running of 
the associated company. 

Evaluating a business with a view to acquiring it @ 



Trade investment Non-current asset or 
current asset 

Book value (cost) 

Between 20% and 50% Associated company 

Over 50% Subsidiary company 

Non-current asset 

Non-current asset 

An investing company using the equity method of valuation records changes to 

the book value of the investment. 

Equity 

Equity 

Geko pie purchased 25% of the issued ordinary shares of Hastone pie for $200 OOO. In the year ended 31 December 2013, Hastone's 
reported profit was $120000. It paid ordinary share dividends of $15000. Entries in the financial statements of Geko pie show how 
the investment in Hastone is recorded: 

Book value (cost) method in the books of account of Geko pfc 

Cost of investment Entries in financial statements 
25% of ordinary shares in Hastone Statement of financial position 
pie for $200 OOO 

Dividends paid on ordinary shares 
$15000 

Non-current assets 
Investment in associate 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents reduce by 

Statement of financial position 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents increase by 

Income statement 
Revenue increase by 

Equity method in the books of account of Geko pie 
Cost of investment 
25% of ordinary shares in 
Hastone pie for $200000 

Hastone pie reported profits 
$120000 

25% of $15000 dividends paid 
on ordinary shares 

Entries in financial statements 
Statement of financial position 

Non-current asset 

Investment in associate 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents reduce by 

Income statement 

Revenue 

Statement of financial position 
Non-current asset 

Investment in associate 
Statement of financial position 

Non-current asset 

Investment in associate reduce by 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents increase by 

$200000 

$200000 

$3750 

$3750 

$200000 

$200000 

$30000 

$30000 

$3750 

$3750 

A statement of financial position prepared for a company using the book value (cost) method would show only the initial 
investment $200000. Dividends received would increase the revenue shown in an income statement by $3600. Using the equity 
method, the total investment in the associate company would be $194400 ($200 OOO + $30 OOO - $3750). Dividends would 
increase revenue shown in the income statement by $3750. 
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4 Make a list of reasons why one business might wish to purchase another business. 

Explain the following terms. 

(a) holding company 

(b) subsidiary company 

(c) wholly owned subsidiary 

(d) associated company 

Explain how an investment in Bhuni Ltd would be shown in the statement of financial position of Chan pie if Chan held: 

(a) one-tenth of the ordinary shares in Bhuni 

(b) all the ordinary shares in Bhuni 

Answers on p.190 
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16 Published company accounts 

Principles governing the disclosure 
requirements of company reports 

GihiiHffltlD 
The Companies Act 1985 requires that the financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial state of the company. Financial statements must 
comply with the Companies Act 1985 and International Accounting Standards. 
This means that information contained in the published accounts is fair and 
unbiased. The directors must ensure that the company's accounting records 
contain: 
• details of all monetary transactions 

• records of all the company's assets and liabilities, including inventories held at 
the financial year end 

Directors must ensure that the records: 

• show and explain the company's financial transactions 

• disclose the financial p::isition of the company with reasonable accuracy 

• enable the directors to ensure that the income statement and the statement 
of financial position show a true and fair view of the company's financial 
position 

IAS 1 details the presentation of financial statements; it requires that the notes 
to the accounts state that the accounts comply with the standards. Departure 
from standards must be noted and reasons for such deviation explained. A 
departure from the application of standards may be necessary to achieve a fair 
presentation. 

Standards are intended to reduce the subjectivity that could occur if company 
directors had the freedom to produce accounting information in a form of their 
choice. They also help to increase uniformity in presentation. Standards are the 
rules that apply to the preparation of published financial statements and co their 
audit. 

MO 
True means that all the transactions 
reported in the income statement have 
taken place and assets recorded in the 
statement of financial position actually 
exist and are valued appropriately. 

Fair implies that all transactions 
conform to generally accepted 
accounting rules. 

4•11.~1,1;z.1~.,a@1-mm1·~tt1~·m!C~®m@:-~·Jt~·t!·Z+a1~·1~.13i1,~.1~.,!·ltwffla·mm·1•1·~Gi·~mm~u=na1~11=-+ .. --==1 
You need to understand: 

• the contents of published accounts, although you will not be expected co 
prepare income statements or statements of financial position in a form 
suitable for publication 

• some of the principles governing the disclosure requirements of the annual 
reports of limited companies 

The financial statements that a limited company produces are used by the 
directors and managers for decision-making purposes and are extremely detailed. 
If the statements were published in this form, competitors might gain access 

@ Cambridge International AS and A Level Accounting Revision Guide 



to information that could be used to undermine the company. Although the 
shareholders, lenders and others must be sent a copy of the financial statements, 
the company's interests are protected by allowing an 'abridged' version to be 

published. The financial statements are incorporated into an annual report. 

A complete set of financial statements should include: 

• the directors' report 

• an income statement 

• a statement of financial position 

• a statement of cash flows 

• a statement of changes in equity 

• a statement of accounting policies and explanatory notes 

• the auditors' report 

Note that the directors' report and auditors' report are not part of IAS 1; they 

are statutory requirements under the Companies Act 1985. 

You can obtain copies of company reports by writing to the company's 
registered office or visiting the company's website. 

••hMHiiHI,+ 
The Companies Act 1985 requires that d irectors report regularly to shareholders 
on the way that they have managed the company. This is an example of the 
stewardship function of accounting. The report details the principal activities of 
the company; it reviews the activities over the period and comments on results 
and dividend policies. It outlines company employment policy, paying particular 
attention to equal opportunities and policies on the employment of disabled 
people. Directors and their shareholdings are listed. It itemises political and 
charitable donations and health and safety policy, and provides an insight into 
future developments for the company. 

41,t!·i,,i¥1ffiii,,ii,ll§ffiii,,ii,libi!·i,,i·liitttffl"11,t!·i,,i4+ 
Published income statements measure the financial performance of a company 
by identifying gross profit and profit for the year, but they do not detail all the 
company's expenses. Overheads are deducted from gross profit and are 
generally split into distribution and administrative expenses. 

IAS 1 requires that the following items are shown: 

• revenue comprising the receipts from the sales of goods 

• finance costs (interest paid on all debts), which are deducted from the 
profit from operations 

• tax expense (corporation tax based on profits), which is deducted from the 
profit 

• profit (or loss) for the year, which is transferred to the statement of 
changes in equity 

The income statement concludes with the profit for the year. 

Overheads are the expenses incurred 
by a company during the financial year. 

Profit from operations is the profit 
earned by a company before deducting 
finance costs and taxation. 

ttM»IM» 
Learn th e layout fo r aset offinancial 
statements fo r a li mited company. 
You already know most of it, so 
concentrate on the lower th ird - the 
parts after the profit from operat ions 
has been calculated. 
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Capital structure 
The capital structure section should be headed 'Equity'. 

Issued share capital can have ordinary and preference shares: 

• Issued share capital is the amount of share capital that has actually been 
issued by the company. The issued share capital can never exceed the 
authorised share capital. 

• Called, up share capital is the amount of issued share capital that the 
shareholders have been asked to pay to date. It may be less than the value of 
the issued share capital. 

• Paid, up share capital is the amount of share capital that appears on the 
statement of financial position and is the amount of cash that the company 
has actually received from its shareholders. 

• Dividends are the rewards paid co shareholders out of profits earned by 
a limited company. The dividends are paid to individual shareholders in 
proportion co the number of shares they own. Dividends are paid annually, 
but most limited companies will pay interim dividends part-way through 
their financial year. Only dividends actually paid during a financial year are 
recorded in the financial statements (see IAS 10 Events after the reporting 
period, Topic 18, Company financing on p. 144). 

• Ordinary dividends are variable in nature. The dividend varies according to 
the level of profits earned by the company. 

• Preference dividends are normally a fixed amount. Generally, part of the 
total dividend is paid as an interim dividend, with the balance being paid at 
the year end. 

Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares are the most common type of share. The holders of ordinary 
shares are part owners of the company. At meetings in which voting is required, 
each shareholder can cast one vote for each share they own, so they can 

influence policies that directors and managers wish to follow. They may receive 
interim dividends during the year and a final dividend. These dividends vary 
according to the level of company profits. 

Preference shares 
Preference shareholders are entitled to a fixed dividend (if profits and cash are 
available). The percentage is calculated on the nominal value of the shares. In 
the event of liquidation, the preference shareholders are entitled to be repaid 
the nominal value of their shares before the ordinary shares are repaid. 

Most preference shares are cumulative; the dividends due will accumulate if the 
company is unable to pay a dividend in any particular year. For example, if 7% 
cumulative preference shareholders have not received a dividend for 3 years, the 
shareholders would receive a dividend of 28% in year 4 if sufficient profits were 
made. If the preference shares are non ,cumulative, any dividends not paid are 

forfeited and will not be paid at a later date. 

Participating preference shares receive an additional dividend above the 
normal percentage that they would usually receive if the company's profits 
exceed a predetermined level. 

Equity is made up of the ordinary 
share capital, permanent preference 
share capital and reserves of a limited 
company. 

4;JJilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
Download or send for a copy of the 
published financial statements of a 
publicly quoted company and identify 
each of the components req uired by 
IAS 1. 

Nominal value (or par value) is the 
face value of shares. Once shares have 
been issued, their market price can rise 
or fall. Any change in the market price 
is not reflected in the company's books 
of account. 

Liquidation is a legal procedure 
applied to a limited company when it is 
unable to discharge its liabilities. 

Redeemable preference shares may be bought back by the company on a @;J4'lhH,f\itffi@ 
specified date. The date is shown on the statement of financial position or as a From the set of financial statements you 
note to the statement. obtained ea rlier, determ ine the issued 

share capital. 
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Debentures 
Debentures are bonds recording a long-term loan . The holder is entitled to a 
fixed rate of interest each year. They may be repayable at some future date or 
they may be irredeemable: the holder will only be repaid if the company goes 
into liquidation. Debentures are not part of equity. They are shown as a non­
current liability except in the year of redemption . 

Mortgage debentures have the loan secured against specific non-current 
assets or against all the company's assets. If a company is wound up or fails to 
pay the interest due, the holders can sell the assets and recoup any outstanding 
amounts. 

Debenture interest is paid to debenture holders (investors) who have loaned 
money to a company. The interest is usually paid in two equal instalments 
during the year. 

Table 16.1 Comparing ordinary shares, preference shares and debentures 

.... 
Shares Shares Long-term loans {payables) 

Part owner of company 

Voting rights 

Not owners Not owners 

Paid out last in case of 
liquidation 

Dividends 

Variable dividend 

Part of equity capital 

Reserves 

{Usually) no voting rights No voting rights 

Paid out before ordinary shareholders in case of Paid out before preference 
liquidation shareholders in case of liquidation 

Dividends Interest 

Fixed dividend Fixed rate of interest 

Part of equity capital {unless they are redeemable) Not part of equity capital 

Reserves are profits retained within a company. All profits earned by a limited 
company belong to the owners, i.e. the ordinary shareholders. Any profit that 
remains in the business increases the capital structure of the business. There are 
two types of reserves: revenue and capital. 

Revenue reserves 
These are the most flexible form of reserve. If in the future the revenue reserves 
are found to be excessive or unnecessary, they can be added back to current 
profits and used for dividend purposes. They are normal trading profits that 
have been retained ('ploughed back') by the company to strengthen its financial 
position. They form a major source of finance for most limited companies. You 
might encounter these revenue reserves: 

• retained earnings 
• general reserve 

• non-current asset replacement reserve 

Capital reserves 

I 

These arise from capital transactions and adjustments to the capital structure 
of the company. They do not arise through normal trading activities, so are not 
available for the payment of cash dividends. These reserves may be distributed 
to shareholders in the form of bonus shares. Capital reserves you might 
encounter include: 

Qtffl¥iifutHtib ........... . 

• share premium account 
• revaluation reserve 

• capital redemption reserve 

• Students often say that reserves are 
• cash, but they are not. Some of the 
: profits will already have been used to 
: replace non-current and other assets. 
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Share premium account 
A share premium account arises when a company issues shares at any price that 
is greater than the nominal value of the shares. A share premium account may 
be used to: 

• pay up unissued shares to issue as bonus shares 

• write off preliminary expenses (expenses incurred in the formation of a 

company) 

• write off any expenses incurred in an issue of shares 

• provide any premium payable on the redemption of shares or debentures 

Revaluation reserves 
A revaluation reserve is created when non-current assets are revalued upwards. 
It shows a permanent increase in value of a non-current asset. A revaluation 
reserve may be used to issue bonus shares. 

Capital redemption reserves 
See Topic 14 Capital (equity) on p. 114. 

List the three components of equity. 
How are the dividends paid by a company accounted fo r? 
How does a share premium account arise and what may it be used fo r? 

4 Explain the term participating preference shares. 
(a) What is a debenture? 

CMffi¥i irtffl ID D ........... . 
Students frequently state that a share 
premium arises when shares are sold 
fo r a price greater t han the par value. 
This is too imprecise. A premium 
arises o nly when shares are issued by a 
company. 

(b) How is debenture interest paid accounted fo r in the financial statements? 
'Debentures are shares that pay a fi xed dividend each year.' Is this statement true or fa lse? 
(a) Explain the difference between capital and revenue reserves. 
(b) How may an amount withdrawn from reserves be used? 

Answers on p.190 

Other headings used in statements of financial position 
of a limited company 
Current assets 
Current assets comprise: 

• cash and cash equivalents 

• assets that will be disposed of within the next normal operating cycle 
(usually the next financial year), such as inventories, trade receivables and 
cash and cash equivalents 

All other assets are classified as non-current assets. 

Non,current assets 
Non-current assets are shown under three headings: 

• intangible non,current assets are non-physical assets such as goodwill, the 
ownership of a patent, a licence or a trademark 

• tangible non,current assets are assets that can be seen and touched, such 
as land and buildings, plant and machinery, fixtures and fittings, vehicles 

• investments are long-term investments for more than 1 year and should be 
valued at cost. If the investment was for less than 1 year, it is classified as a 
current asset 
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Provisions and reserves 
Provisions are amounts that are set aside out of profits for a known expense 
the amount of which is uncertain . Reserves are any other amount set aside out 
of profits. 

Liabilities 
Liabilities are amounts owed by the company that can be determined with 
substantial accuracy. Non,current liabilities fall due for repayment in more 
than 1 financial year and include debentures, mortgages and long-term bank 
loans. Current liabilities include trade payables and other payables (e.g. current 
taxation due and accrued expenses). 

4f:E1Db~-~i:Ja,,:,J~·~ii§ib·lctn~- ~mlli!Di·:i\!%1• .... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
This has been dealt with in Topic 13, Preparation of financial statements 
(seep. 98). 

fibh,,M,iibGdiiMHl,Uwa-, 
IAS 1 requires that a statement of changes in equity is prepared as a 
component of financial statements. Limited companies must show how the 
shareholders' stake in the company has changed over the course of the financial 
year. 

A statement of changes in equity provides the link between the income 
statement and the statement of financial position by showing changes to 
permanent share capital and reserves (equity). The statement itemises the 
changes that have occurred during the year to components of equity. Any 
changes to permanent share capital are shown, as well as any increases or 
decreases to the company's reserves. 

Dividends are the part of the profits of a company that are paid to its 
shareholders. Any part of the profit that is not paid out to the shareholders as 
dividends is retained within the company as a revenue reserve. The portion of 
profit retained in the company is sometimes said to be 'ploughed back'. These 
retained profits are described on the statement of financial position as retained 
earnings. 

All profits (after taxation and preference dividends) belong to the ordinary 
shareholders, so the amount of profit retained with in the company will, 
generally, have a positive effect on the price of second-hand shares in the (stock) 
market place. 

A statement of changes in equity 
details changes that have taken place 
in share capital and reserves during the 
financial year. 

441~;~1;z;m.~i:~1a,i111~,1!;1.=1a,in1m!?!i¥m11-~i,~,.~ttlfl=-~·~@ftd:in~-~1·~i·~i1n,1a,,ztt+¥~~~~~~~~~~~-1~ 
Explanatory notes: 

• give details about items chat are summarised in the main body of the 
financial statements 

• provide additional information to help in the understanding of the financial 
statements 

• are used to explain the bases used in the treatment of items contained in 
the main body of the financial statements 

4;J4'1hi·i,f\4Mi@ 
From the set of financial statements 
you exa mined previously, identify t wo 
pieces of info rmation covered in the 
accounting po licies and explanatory 

Principles governing the disclosure requirements of company reports @ 



4.P~i~'ffti~·r~rf\tt!~·ll!ilZ!ii~·=i·~I·~~--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The auditors' report is a statutory requirement for larger organisations. It is 
usually brief and contains little detailed information. It is divided into three 
sections: 
• an indication of the responsibilities of directors and auditors 

• the basis of opinion - the auditors' standards of governing the audit and 
how it was planned and performed 

• an opinion as to whether or not the financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of the organisation 

8 List the items that make up a complete set of financial statements accord ing to IAS 1. 

9 Give another name for an income statement. 

10 Make a list of the items that must be shown in a published income statement accord ing to IAS 1. 

11 Explain the purpose of a statement of changes in equity. 

Answers on p.190 

Disclosure of accounting policies 

4.p~;~1;z;m.~l·~ID,i!il~·i!Ql·~iEirtti!ID~mm!j§!f!·Dl,~\·3•~·f!.f!i!¥1• ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
IAS 1 requires that details of the policies used in the preparation of financial 
statements are given. IAS 8 is more detailed and defines accounting policies as 
'the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied ... in 
preparing and presenting financial statements'. 

The notes on accounting policies should explain the accounting policies 
used in the preparation of accounting statements and will show details of 
some figures published in the income statement, the statement of financial 
position and the statement of cash flows. They cover items such as turnover, 
depreciation policy and treatment of goodwill. 

Accounting principles are the concepts 
applied to the preparation of financial 
statements. 
Accounting bases are the methods of 
applying the principles. 

Disclosure details concerning non-current 
assets and depreciation 

Non-current assets must be shown at cost when acquired. Depreciation is 
calculated on cost. The carrying amount muse also be disclosed. Revaluations 
should be carried out on a regular basis so that the carrying amount does not 
differ significantly from its fair value. Depreciation should be calculated on the 
revalued amount. Increases in the value of a non-current asset should be 
credited to equity as a revaluation reserve. 

Cost includes all costs incurred in 
getting a non-current asset into a 
condition and location where it can 
perform its intended use. 

Carrying amount is cost (or revalued 
amount) less aggregate depreciation to 
date. 

Fair value is the amount that could be 
realised from selling the asset. 
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Gfo•fflbt------------------------
AII assets with a finite life should be depreciated. The process starts when the 
asset is put to use and ceases on derecognition. The method should reflect the Derecognition occurs when a non-
way in which the asset is used and this method should be reviewed on an current asset is disposed of. 

annual basis. Depreciation is charged as an expense in the income statement. 

Treatment of intangible assets 

G®iiiJl,ifi,MICiitHW• 
IAS 38 defines an intangible asset as 'an identifiable non-monetary asset without 
physical substance ... from which future benefits ... are expected'. They appear 
in a statement of financial position at cost and should be amortised over their 
useful life. The method and period should be reviewed annually and the method 
used should reflect the use of the asset. 

4;J4'lhH,f\iMJ@ 
From the set of financial statements you obtained earlier, identify the tangible 
and intangible non-current assets and determine the value of any of those assets 
that have been disposed of during the financial year. 

12 (a) What is an intangible non-current asset? 

(b) What is meant by the amortisation of an intangible non-current asset? 

13 Define an intangible asset in accordance with IAS 38. 

Answers on p.190 

Amort isation is the writing-off of part 
{or all) of the cost of an intangible asset 
over its useful life. 

Treatment of intangible assets @ 



17 Interpretation and analysis 

Ratios to aid the appraisal of financial 
structure 

·•~,=**·~il~~lm: .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--1~ 
Gearing measures the relationship that exists between fixed cost capital and 
total capital. The ordinary shareholders' return may be at risk if the company's 
capital is provided mainly by debentu re holders and preference shareholders. 
The degree of risk is measured by the gearing ratio: 

gearing fixed cost capital 
coral capital 

which is: 

non-current liabilities + preference share capital 
issued ordinary share capital + all reserves + 

non-current liabilities + preference shares 

The gearing of a company is said to be: 
• high geared (high borrowing, high debt, high risk) when the ratio is more 

than SO% 
• neutra l geared when the ratio is 50% 

• low geared (low borrowing, low debt, low risk) when the ratio is less than 50% 

Investment in a high ly geared company is riskier than investment in a low geared 
company because if the company is unable co service its long-term liabilities, it 
may be forced into liquidation by the long-term investors. A highly geared 
company may also find it more difficult to borrow further funds because of the 
inherent risk. Banks may be reluctant to lend co highly geared companies as they 
may feel that the ordinary shareholders should be prepared to finance their own 
company rather than rely on outsiders. 

4;J4')hi·i,f\4tMfi 
From the set of financial statements 
you obtained in Topic 16, calculate the 
company's gearing ratio. 

•11~}~tl~·llllN~ll~hl!i¥J~-!·l~tth!·DtrNtt~!I:~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ .... ~ 
This ratio measures the time taken between a business making payment for 
goods received and the receipt of cash from customers for the sale of the goods. 
The shorter the time between the business laying out cash for the purchase of 
goods and the collection of cash for the sales of the goods, the better for the 
business as less finance from other sources is needed. 

working capital cycle (in days) = trade receivables turnover (in days)+ 
inventory turnover (in days) - trade 
payables turnover (in days) 

working capital cycle (in days) = average collection period + inventory 
turnover (in days) - average payment 
period 
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The shorter the cycle, the lower the value of working capital needed to be 
financed from other sources. The cycle can be shortened by lowering levels 
of inventories held, speeding up the collection of monies from receivables or 
delaying payment to payables. 

•Mihl,IMtiHNtMJO 
This ratio shows the proportion of sales revenue that is tied up in less liquid net 
current assets, i.e. the value of the net working assets that is not immediately 
available for use in the business. 

~:::::king assets inventories+ trade receivables - trade payables x 
100 

sales 

MO 

4•Di~,i~·~·l~n~laJ;g=i~-i~·D~!-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
This ratio shows the percentage of operating profit that is taken up covering 
current interest payments. It is generally thought chat the interest charges should 
not take up more than one-third of operating profits. 

income gearing = interest expense x 100 
profit before interest and tax (operating profit) 

Stock exchange (investment) ratios 
Investment ratios are primarily of interest to those who are contemplating an 
investment in a company by purchasing ordinary shares. 

•Ci¥tt1C·llll~i,~iitiiti~·i=i11m1~,f~-1~1a,~1iii!ilaJ~ ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~---1~ 
This ratio measures the amount of profit attributable co each ordinary share. 
Earnings are profit after interest paid, taxation and preference dividends, i.e. the 
earnings that belong wholly to the ordinary shareholders. 

earnings per share 
profit after tax - preference share dividends 

number of issued ordinary shares 

@Mitfit 
This calculation uses the number of ordinary shares issued, not the va lue. 
Therefore, $2 000000 ordinary shares of $0.25 each would use 8000000 as the 
denominator in the ca lculation. 

•0HJ¥il,ii,VitiMD 
The price earnings ratio relates the market price of the share co the earn ings per 
share. It represents the number of years' earnings that investors are prepared to 
pay in order to purchase one of the company's shares. The higher the P/E ratio, 
the greater the confidence investors have in the future of the company. 

. . . market price per ordinary share 
pnce earnings ratio = earn ings per ordinary share 

As the ratio compares current market price with earnings per share, an increase 
in market price increases the ratio. Demand for shares is dependent on investors' 
perception of the company's future performance. An increase in demand for 

MO 
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the shares will generally cause an increase in the share price. A high P/E ratio 
indicates expected future growth (or an overvalued share). A low P/E ratio 
indicates expected poor performance in the future (or an undervalued share). 

4•D•~ttm!l!D·$#!!·1!!:·ttffll!!·~@3•._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Shareholders invest in a company in order to gain a return (dividends) on their 
investment. They also hope that the market price of the share will rise so that 
if they sell their holding they will make a capital profit - a capital gain . The 
dividend yield expresses the actual dividend received by the shareholder as a 
percentage of the market price of the share. It shows the percentage return an 
investor can expect based on the current market price of the shares. 

dividend yield = dividend_ paid and_ proposed 
market price of ordinary shares 

dividend yield = declared rate of dividend x nomtal v~lue ~f 0 ~~inary ~hares 
mar et price o or 1nary s ares 

••fit!$ff! ... i'h-
This ratio calculates how many times current dividends could have been 
paid out of the year's profit. It indicates how likely it is that the company can 
continue to pay its current rate of ordinary share dividend in the future. A 
high figure suggests that the company should be able to maintain dividends 
to ordinary shareholders at the current level even if profits fall. It may indicate 
that the directors operate a conservative dividend policy and that much of the 
profits are being reinvested in the company. Low dividend cover may indicate a 
reckless dividend policy and that a small reduction in company profits may have 
an adverse effect on dividends future. 

dividend cover= profit available to pay ordinary dividend 
ord inary dividend paid 

This ratio calculates the actual dividend paid per share. 

dividend per share = ordinary dividend paid 
number of issued ordinary shares 

4;14'lhi·i,f\itM@ 
Using the set of published financial statements you obtained for Topic 16, 
ca lculate the stock exchange ratios. 

Explain the term gearing. 
Why might a potential investor have concerns about investing in a highly geared company? 
Give the fo rmulae fo r each of the fo llowing ratios: 
(a) earnings per share 
(b) price earnings ratio 
(c) dividend yield 
(d) dividend cover 

4 Explain what the price earnings ratio tells us. 

Answers on p.191 
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18 Company financing 

Capital gearing and capital structures 
Finance is vitally important to the survival and growth of all businesses. It can be 
generated from within the business or it can be provided by external sources. 
Retained earnings are probably the most important source of finance available 
to any business. Some sources are used for short-term financing whereas others 
are used ro finance the business in the long term. 

CNl4filtb 
Gearing is the term that describes the relationship between ordinary share 
capital and fixed return funding - seep. 136 for gearing ratios. Gearing is 
important because of the order in which payments are made to the providers of 
finance: 
1 Debemure interest must be paid first. 
2 Preference dividends are paid if profits are available after paymenc of 

debenture interest. 
Ordinary dividends are paid if profits are available after debemure inrerest 
and preference dividends have been paid. 

The likelihood of ordinary shareholders receiving low dividends or no dividend is 
dependent on the company's gearing. The higher the gearing ratio, the greater is 
the risk of this happening. 

Table 18.1 The advantages and disadvantages of high gearing 

Interest paid is a charge against 
profits. Therefore, when tax is taken 
into account, the rate of interest 
is lower than that stated on the 
debenture 

If a large proportion of profits are 
committed to interest payments, it 
might constrain directors' ability to 
reward ordinary shareholders 

In times of inflation, the interest paid In times when the economy is flat, 
gets more manageable as time goes investors may prefer low geared 

companies as only a small proportion 
of profits are directed towards fixed 
cost capital 

If the return on the capital employed 
is greater than the interest payable, it 
makes sound business sense 

In times of high profits, potential 'risk' 
investors are likely to be attracted 

MO 

44iffin~·!·aDrfl~-16!1:!#~f,Di~,mii!43._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The issued share capital of a limited company can be increased by a share issue, 
a rights issue or a bonus issue. Rights issues and bonus issues are covered in 
Topic 14 Capital (equity) on p. 112-13. You should be able to show how an issue 
of shares affects a statement of financial position. 

Capital gearing and capital structures @ 



The summarised statement of financial position of Bendanic pie showed the 
following position at 31 March 2014. 

Net assets {including $120000 cash) 
Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 
Retained earnings 

560000 

340000 
220000 
560000 

On 1 April 2014, before any other transactions took place, the company issued 
200000 ordinary shares at $1.70. All the shares were taken up and monies paid on 
that date. A statement of financial position would show: 

Net assets {including $460000 cash) 
Equity 
Ordinary shares of $1 each 
Share premium account 
Retained earnings 

900000 

540000 
140000 
220000 
900000 

Loan capital is covered in Topic 10, Capital (equity) (seep. 73). The disclosure 
standards adopted by quoted companies is dealt with in detail in Topic 16, 
Published company accounts (see pp. 128-29). 

(a) Explain how gearing is 
ca lculated. 

(b) Outline one adva ntage and 
one disadvantage of a limited 
company being highly geared. 

Answers on p.191 

International Accounting Standards and 
their application 

--~·~mam11a,:rnc1=1m-11~,,=4=4~.m,m,1.f~-,=1~1m1!m~-ml·ttr~-Z·D•m•------------===1 
Limited companies must prepare their financial statements within a regulatory 
framework consisting of: 

• the Companies Act 1985 as amended by the Companies Act 1989 

• International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Finance 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

• regulations required by the stock exchange (these will not be discussed here 
as Cambridge International does not examine these regulations) 

Standards seek to: 

• iron out areas of difference in the preparation and presentation of 
accounting information 

• recommend disclosure of accounting bases 

• identify any departure from the standards 

• improve existing disclosure requirements 

The Companies Act 1989 introduced a requirement that the financial 
statements of companies must be prepared in accordance with the standards in 
force and that any material deviations from these standards should be identified 
and reasons given for any such deviation . 

In 1989 'Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements' 
was issued by the International Standards Committee. It set out the underlying 
principles for the preparation and presentation of financial statements. The 
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framework stated that 'financial statements ... provide information about the 

financial position, performance and changes in financial position of an entity'. 

It is assumed that financial statements have been prepared using: 

• the accruals concept. This records the value of the resources used and the 
benefits derived from their use in the financial year of use, not when cash is 
paid or received 

• the going concern concept. Unless there is knowledge to the contrary, it is 
assumed that the business will continue to trade in its present form for the 
foreseeable future 

The framework identified four characteristics of financial statements that 
are meant to ensure chat financial statements are useful to all users of the 
statements: 

• Information should be capable of being understood by users with a 
reasonable knowledge of business and accounting. This may require 'study 
with reasonable diligence on behalf of the user'. 

• Statements muse be relevant and contain information that is able to 
influence the decisions of users. 

• Statements muse contain information that can be relied on as a faithful 
representation of the substance of what has taken place. 

• Users of financial statements must be confident that they can compare data 
from one time period to another. 

The framework states that if the four characteristics of understandability, 

relevance, reliability and comparability are present, the statements will show a 
true and fair view of the financial position. 

The concepts chat should influence the preparation of financial statements 
have been covered in Topic 2 Accounting principles. They are business entity, 
materiality, prudence, consistency, historical cost and duality. You need to have 

an understanding of the disclosure standards adopted by quoted companies and 
a basic knowledge of the standards and how these standards relate to the topics 
in the syllabus. 

@Mi# 
You don't need to have a detailed 
knowledge of any of the International 
Accounting Standards, with the 
exception of IAS 7 Statement of 
cash f1 0Y1S. You should know the IAS 
number and the heading. e.g. IAS 18 
Revenue. 

4•Dt~i\Eflll•CA~i=tmi!J~·i!M~·Cl~·i~··i·~illilil~·fM·l~·i~·!M~i11:!MM· ZiJ!,C,~IJD,~it+m .. ~~~~~~~~~~-1~ 
IAS 1 details the ground rules of how financial statements should be presented. 
This means that comparisons can be made with previous accounting periods 
and with other companies. According co IAS 1, five components make up a 
complete set of financial statements: 

• an income statement 

• a statement of financial position 

• a statement of cash flows 

• a statement of changes in equity 

• a statement of accounting policies and explanatory notes 

Note that the directors' report and auditors' report are not part of IAS l; they 

are statutory requirements under the Companies Act 1985. 

The financial statements should contain an explicit and unreserved statement 
that they comply with international standards. The statements muse comply 
with accounting concepts and in order to faci litate comparisons the figures from 
previous periods must be published. 

Income statement 
Although much of the detail does not need co be shown in a published income 
statement, your answer co a question is likely to require more detail than that 
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prescribed by the standard. Income statements are covered in Topic 16, Published 
company accounts (seep. 129). 

The following is an example of an income statement as it might appear in answer co a question. 

Kieri pie. Income statement for the year ended 31 August 2014 
$000 

Revenue 
Cost of sales 
Gross profit 
Distribution costs 
Administrative expenses 
Profit from operations 
Finance costs 
Profit before tax 
Tax 
Profit for the year 

Statement of financial position 

941 
(382) 

559 
(176) 

(133) 

250 

__Q2) 
218 

~ 
160 

(Sales less sales returns) 

(Opening inventory plus purchases less closing inventory) 

(Warehouse costs plus cost of getting goods to customers) 

(Costs of maintaining and running the offices) 

(Interest paid) 

IAS 1 states the items that must be shown as minimum in information in 
a statement of financial position. These are dealt with in detail in Topic 16, 
Published company accounts (see pp. 130-32). 

Statement of cash flows 
This is dealt with in Topic 13, Preparation of financial statements (see pp. 98-102). 

Statement of changes in equity 
This statement shows the changes to the shareholders' stake in the company 
during a year. 

Ac 1 September 2013 the statement of financial position of Kieri pie showed non-current assets at valuation $1420000, retained 
earnings of $945000 and a revaluation reserve of $762000. Ac 31 August 2014 non-current assets were revalued at $1 550000. 
Dividends paid during the year amounted co $52 OOO. 

A statement of changes in equity would appear as follows. 

Kleri pie. Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 August 2014 
sooo 

Retained earnings 
Balance at 1 September 2013 
Profit for the year 

945 
160 

1105 
Dividends paid ~ 

Balance at 31 August 2014 1053 
Revaluation reserve 
Balance at 1 September 2013 762 
Revaluation of non-current assets 130 
Balance at 31 August 201 4 892 

(From income statement above) 

IAS 1 also allows an alternative layout to the one shown above, known as a 
statement of recognised gains and losses. This shows the changes in equity and 
the individual changes that make up the total change. 
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Using the same information for Kieri pie, the statement of recognised gains and losses would appear as follows. 

Statement of recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31 August 2014 
sooo 

Gains/(losses) on revaluation of non-current assets 
Net income recognised directly in equity 
Profit/(loss) for the year 
Total recognised gain for the year 

130 
130 
160 

290 

Statement of accounting policies and explanatory notes 
IAS 1 requires that explanatory notes to the financial statements are included. 
These notes: 
• give details about items that are summarised in the main body of the 

financial statements 

• provide additional information to help in the understanding of the financial 
statements 

• are used to explain the bases used in the treatment of items contained in 
the main body of the financial statements (see IAS 8, p. 144) 

•6\fJi,M,iHD 
Inventories are: 

• goods or other assets purchased for resale 

• consumable stores 

• raw materials and components for inclusion into products for sale 

• work in progress 
• finished goods 

They should be categorised in a statement of financial position as one of the 
following: 
• raw materials 

• work in progress 

• finished goods 

Costs of conversion comprise: 

• costs chat can be specifically attributed to units of production, including 
purchase price; import taxes; transport and handling costs; other costs, e.g. 
direct labour, other direct expenses and sub-contracted work 

• production overheads are expenditures on materials, labour or services for 
production purposes based on the normal level of activity 

• other overheads 

Inventory should be valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value of 
separate items or of groups of similar items. Nee realisable value is the actual or 
estimated selling price (net of trade discount but before any cash discount that 
may be allowed) less all further costs to completion and all marketing, selling 
and distribution costs. 

The standard accepts the use of the: 

• first in first out method (FIFO) 

• weighted average cost method (AVCO) 
• standard cost if it bears a reasonable relationship to actual costs obtained 

during the period 

Cost is expenditure which has been 
incurred in the normal course of 
business in bringing the product or 
service to its present location and 
condition. 
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The standard does not accept the last in first out method {LIFO) or replacement 
cost {unless ic is the best measure of net realisable value). 

4•Dt~J:E:flil~1amm-!{ij!·,C·~IJD,~iitil·~l¥$!·!!lMII1mi·~i\!il• .... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
This is dealt with in Topic 13, Preparation of financial statements {see pp. 98-102} 

MnJ:/1!1!J@.iiW----~ 
IAS 1 requires companies to include details of specific accounting policies used 
in the preparation of financial statements. IAS 8 defines accounting policies 
as 'the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied ... in 
preparing and presenting financial statements'. The principles are the concepts 
that you have already learned. They are the going concern concept, the accruals 
concept, prudence, consistency and materiality. They apply to all the financial 
statements chat you have prepared in your studies so far. 

Where a standard deals with a policy, the policy must be applied. If there is 
no standard providing guidance, directors must use their own judgement in 
selecting a policy. Accounting policies should be applied consistently to similar 
situations. 

Accounting bases are individual methods of treatment selected by directors. 
They should be used co apply accounting principles, e.g. selecting methods of 
depreciation used in preparing the financial statements. 

IAS 8 also deals with the effect of errors in financial statements. Once 
discovered, a material error should be corrected by adjusting the comparative 
figures in the next sec of financial statements. 

4•Dt~ifEilllt~·#Cti#bll·in:ltiJl!:·alZ€i~Ei,~\JJll!ij=·l~·i~·!i\~u!Jl·=i!ijE/$!~·!·1•~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Events that occur after the reporting period but before the financial statements 
are authorised for issue may be: 
• adjusting events - if there is evidence that certain material conditions 

arose at or before the end of the reporting period that have not been taken 
into account, changes should be made before the financial statements are 
authorised. For example, it would be necessary co make a change to the 
amount recorded as trade payables if a customer who owed a material debt 
at the financial year end became insolvent immediately after the end of the 
financial year 

• non-adjusting events - these arise after the end of the reporting period 
and do not require the financial statements to be adjusted. However, if the 
event is material, such as the large purchase of non-current assets shortly 
after the year end, a note to the accounts should be made 

Proposed dividends at the financial year end are non-adjusting events and, 
therefore, are not recorded as a current liability on the statement of financial 
position. They are recorded as a note to the accounts. 
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The following information is available for Kundera pie for the financial year ended 31 March 2014. 
• April 2013 - a final ordinary dividend of $48000 based on reported profits for the year ended 31 March 2013 is proposed 
• June 2013 - shareholders approve the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2013 
• August 2013 - final dividend of $48 OOO for the year ended 31 March 2013 paid to shareholders 
• November 2013 - interim dividend of $25000 paid to shareholders based on reported profits for the half-year ended 30 

5€ptember2013 
• April 2014 - a final ordinary dividend of $62 OOO based on reported profits for the year ended 31 March 2014 is proposed 

Dividend entry in financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 shows: 

Final dividend for year ended 31 March 2013 

Interim dividend for half-year ended 30 September 2013 
Total entry for dividends 

48000 

25000 
73000 

A note to the published accounts would show details of dividends paid during the financial year: 

Equity dividends on ordinary shares 

Amounts recognised during the year: 

Dividends 

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2014 of 4.8p 

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2014 of 2.Sp 

48000 

25000 
73000 

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 of 6.2p 62 OOO 

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting and accordingly has not been 
included as a liability in the financial statements. 

Complete the following sentence: 

There is an assumption that financial statements will be prepared using the 
_______ concept and the ______ _ 
concept. 

Complete the following sentence: 

Financial statements must have the four characteristics of 
understandability, relevance, reliability and ______ . 

4 Explain why there is a need to have internationally recognised International 
Accounting Standards. 

List the components of a complete set of financial statements identified in 
IAS 1. 

Which standard deals with goods that remain unsold at the end of a 
financial year? 

IAS 10 identifies adjusting events and non-adjusting events. Explain the 
difference and state how each shou ld be dealt with in financial statements. 

Answers on p.191 

4•Dt~i\E:flltamc;~;~.j~~=-111~!1!l:·!Mfiin:!ii#ll·~·Di¥NIC·a,~~·l~·C,i!JC,i3~ ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
This standard ensures that accounting principles are applied to non-current 

assets consistently and that treatment of the assets is understood by the users of 

the financial statements. 

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) is initially valued at cost. Cost includes 

expenditure directly attributable to bringing the asset into a usable condition 

and could include import duties, delivery charges, the costs of preparing the site 

Property, plant and equipment 
(PPE) comprises all non-current tangible 
assets from which economic benefit 
flows. They are held for more than one 
time period. Examples include land and 
buildings, plant and machinery, office 
equipment and vehicles. 
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and other installation coses. After acquisition, the financial statements must 
show the carrying amount of the asset at either: 

• cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, or 
• revaluation based on its fair value less subsequent depreciation and 

impairment losses (see IAS 36, p. 147) 

Fair values based on revaluation of land and buildings are generally based on 
market value calculated by a professional valuer. The fair value of plant and 
equipment is usually based on market value. 

Depreciation 
Depreciation reflects the cost of using an asset during a financial period and 
is shown in the income statement. It should reflect the paccern in which the 
economic benefits derived from the asset are consumed. Factors affecting the 
useful life of an asset are: 

• expected use 
• expected wear and tear 

• economic and technical obsolescence 

• legal or similar restraints 

See also Topic 9, Depreciation (p. 64) for more on these factors . 

Repairs and/or maintenance do not affect depreciation policy. The residual 
value and the useful life of an asset should be reviewed on an annual basis co 
decide if any changes need to be made in the depreciation policy. 

As freehold land is not depreciated, land and buildings should be created 
separately. Leasehold land, however, does have a finite life and should be 
depreciated. 

There are three ways of providing for depreciation, which are examined in more 
detail in Topic 9, Depreciation (see pp. 65-67). They are the: 

• straight-line method 

• reducing balance method 

• revaluation method 

If the pattern of use of an asset is uncertain, the straight-line method is usually 
adopted. Changing the basis of calculating the annual charge is allowable when 
the new method gives a fairer representation of use. Change muse be permanent 
and should reflect the way that the asset's benefits are consumed. The change 
must be shown in a note to the financial statements. 

Derecognition means that the asset is no longer recognised in a statement of 
financial position. The profit (or loss) on disposal is shown in the income 
statement. 

Financial statements muse show (generally as a note): 

• the basis for determining the carrying amount 

• the depreciation method used 
• the duration of the useful economic life or the rates of charging depreciation 

• the carrying amount 

• the accumulated depreciation and impairment losses at the start and end of 
the accounting period 

• a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the start and end of the 
accounting period, which shows: 
- additions 
- disposals 
- revaluations 
- impairment losses 
- depreciation 

Carrying amount is the amount 
shown on the statement of financial 
position after the deduction of 
accumulated depreciation or 
impairment losses. 
Depreciation is the apportioning of 
the cost or valuation of an asset over its 
useful economic life. 

Fair value is the amount for which 
an asset could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm's length transaction. 

Residual value is the amount that the 
company expects to obtain for an asset 
less any disposal costs at the end of its 
useful life. 

Derecognition occurs when an asset 
is disposed of or when it is incapable of 
yielding any fu rther economic benefits. 
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-·~t~Ji:E:ill13=1C;?i4~1Cim,n11~1-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Revenue is the inflow of economic benefits arising from the normal activities of 
the business. Revenue comprises income derived from: 

• the sale of goods 

• the provision of a service 

• royalties 
• interest, dividends etc. 

Revenue is recognised when the seller of the goods has transferred to the buyer 
significant risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue is recorded when goods have 
been replaced by a receivable or by cash. 

•t4i!iaj·iii-Mi,i1M@ 
This standard deals with costs incurred when funds are borrowed. Borrowing 
costs fall into two types: 

• interest on loans, overdrafts and other finance charges, which appear as 
revenue expenditure 

• net interest payable on the funds, which may be capitalised when funds are 
borrowed to finance the purchase of a qualifying asset 

net interest = costs of borrowing - any income earned on the 
investment of the funds before use 

•t4illffli,iil·Mii,fii· 
This standard allows comparisons to be made between different companies. 
Public limited companies must show on the face of their income statement the 
earnings per ordinary share. (In practice, earnings per share is generally shown 
after the income statement.) 

earnings per share= profit for the year - preference share dividends 
number of issued ordinary shares 

See also Topic 17, Interpretation and analysis (p. 137). 

•t4itiJi,,i.f iii,,M,\ijftiHi 
Impairment occurs when the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount of an asset. The amount of the loss is shown in the income statement. 

The value of assets needs to be reviewed at the date of each statement of 
financial position to determine impairment. Evidence of impairment could be a 
significant fall in the: 

• market value of the asset 

• value of an asset because of technological change 
• value of an asset because of an economic downturn 

• fair value of the asset due to damage 

• future cash generating ability 

• value due to a restructuring of the business 

Borrowing costs comprise interest and 
other costs charged when funds are 
borrowed. 

A qualifying asset is a non-current 
asset that takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use 
or sale. 

Recoverable amount is the higher 
of fair value (the amount for which 
the asset could be sold less selling 
costs) and value in use (calculated by 
discounting all the future cash flows 
that will be generated by using the 
asset). 
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4•Dt~AEIEf~IC*~ffl~·=fflml~·l~,tfflilia•ia,;z;;m,1m:;m,DiiE®~·~fflfflIITT~~i¥!il·~l,~\·DftM!·li~l·D··~M.!,~ili~·t!t,i;~+a .. ---c::,() 
This standard ensures that there is sufficient information given to enable the 
users of the financial statements to understand the effects of provisions, 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets. 

Provisions are recognised as a liability if there is more than a 50% chance of a 
requirement to settle an obligation. It is also necessary that a reliable estimate of the 
liability can be made. A note to the financial statements should detail the provisions. 

Contingent liabilities mean that there is less than a 50% chance of a possible 
occurrence. No disclosure is necessary in the main body of the statements for 
contingent liabilities, but if the liability is possible it should be disclosed as a note 
to the financial statements. If there is only a remote chance of the occurrence, 
no reference is necessary. 

Contingent assets are possible assets arising from past events that could accrue 
economic benefits in the future. If there is a probable economic benefit in 
the future, a note to the financial statements should be made. No reference is 
necessary if future benefits are only possible or remote. 

A provision is an amount set aside 
out of profits for a known expense, the 
amount of which is uncertain. 

A contingent liability is a potential 
liability that exists when the statement 
of financial position is drawn up, the 
full extent of which is uncertain. 

A contingent asset is a potential 
asset that exists when the statement of 
financial position is drawn up, although 
the inflow of economic benefit is 
uncertain. 

4•Dt~AEIIJtJ=iDM~f~·iD,\;MDIC~i!iiE·!ftfflili!i~--------------------i~ 
Intangible assets include licences, quotas, patents, copyrights, franchises and 
trademarks. International Finance Reporting Standards (IFRS) 3 Business 
combinations deals with goodwill, although this standard is not presently part of 
the Cambridge International syllabus. 

Intangible assets are either purchased or internally generated. Internally 
generated assets cannot be recognised in financial statements. Intangible assets 
are initially shown at cost in the statement of financial position. After acquisition, 
they can be shown at 

• cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 

• revaluation based on fair value less subsequent amortisation and 
impairment losses 

Regular revaluations should be undertaken to ensure that the carrying value 
does not differ materially from the fair value. Increases in value should be 
recognised in a statement of changes in equity and shown as a revaluation 
reserve. Reductions in value are shown as expenses in the income statement. 
Intangible assets with a finite life are amortised over their useful economic life. 
Intangible assets with an infinite life are not amortised. 

8 Identify two factors that affect the useful life of a non-current asset. 
9 Explain the terms derecognition and carrying amount. 

10 Which of the fo llowing would not fo rm part of the revenue of a 
manufac turer of clothing? 
Monies received from: 
- thesa lesofmen'strousers 

- royalties earned on the design of sa ris 
- the sa le of an unused weaving machine 
- dividends received from a su bsidiary company 

11 Explain the term contingent. 

12 (a) According to IAS 36, explain when impairment will have occurred. 
(b) How would an impa irment loss be treated in the accounts? 

Answers on p.191 

Amortisation is the writing-off of part 
(or all) of the cost of an intangible asset 
such as goodwill. 

4;14'lhH,f\itM@ 
In pairs, one person should state the 
number of an IAS and the other should 
give the description. Then the second 
person states a number and their 
partner gives the description. 
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19 Costing principles and systems 

Process costing 

... ~1~1~1ffl11-~i31~·~1·1·1!·~¥!¥,J!·~+!i~llll~~~ ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--1~ 
Industries producing more or less identical products that pass through a series of 
continuous or repetitive processes use a system of process costing. The system is 
used extensively in the chemical and oil refining industries, as well as many other 
industries that produce high volume, low value identical products. 

The finished output at the end of one stage of the process becomes the starting 
point for the next stage. When the final process is completed, products are 
transferred to inventory or sold. The characteristics of a process-costing system 
include: 

• separate, clearly defined processes 
• output from one process becomes the input in the next process 

• both direct coses and overheads are charged to each process 
• as production progresses through each process, costs are accumulated for 

each process 
• average cost for each process can be determined 

4ii4')hi·hf/UM@ 
Name a nationally known business that 
uses a system of process costing. Give 
reasons for your answer. 

•AH¥ii%M&DMIBHl,ii ~ 
The total cost involved at each stage of production can be divided by the 
number of units completed and so the average cost of each individual unit can 
be calculated at each point in its progress cowards becoming a finished product. 
Cost units that are similar pass through each stage of the production process. A cost unit is a unit of production to 
They can be liquid measures such as litres in the case of a cola manufacturer, or which costs can be allocated. 
they can be grams or kilograms in the case of a breakfast cereal manufacturer. It 
should be fairly obvious chat it would be not be sensible co attempt to cost each 
individual packet of breakfast cereal or bottle of cola. 

An account is maintained for each separate process. As production moves 
through each individual process, the output of one process becomes materials 
used in the next process. The next process carries out additional work that 
may require further inputs of all or some elements of cost. Any additional costs 
incurred in the second process are added to the total costs transferred from the 
first process. The total costs from the first two processes are then transferred to 
the third process. 

In a manufacturing business, there are three types of inventory: 
• raw materials and/or components to be used in manufacturing 
• work in progress - goods that are part-way through the production process 
• finished goods waiting to be dispatched to customers 

The average cost per unit plays a vital role in process costing. The formula for 
this is: 

. costs incurred during the period 
average cost per unit = number of units produced during the period 

Process costing 8 



Dercin pie produced 127 OOO' dertinis' during August. Production costs were: 

Direct materials 

Direct labour 

Manufacturing overheads 

Therefore: 

. $337820 
average cost per urnt = 

127000 

= $2.66 

184000 

66000 

87820 

337820 

Mendoza pie manufactures a fruit drink product that passes through three processes. The coses for production of 750000 litres of 
the drink in October were: 

Direct materials 

Direct labour 

Production overheads 

Process 1 

66000 

25000 

12000 

Process 2 

34000 

8000 

23000 

Process 3 

24000 

18500 

22000 

There was no work in progress at the start or end of October. The cost ledger accounts for each of the three processes for 
October are: 

Direct materials 

Direct labour 

66000 

25000 

Production overheads 12 OOO 

103000 

Transfer from process 1 103000 

Direct materials 34000 

Direct labour 8000 

Production overheads 23000 

168000 

Transfer from process 2 168000 

Direct materials 24000 

Direct labour 18500 

Production overheads 22000 

232 500 

Process 1 

Transfer to process 2 103000 

103000 

Process 2 

Transfer to process 3 168000 

168000 

Process 3 

Transfer to finished goods 232500 

232 500 

Therefore, the cost of producing 1 litre of fruit drink was: 

. $232500 
average cost per urnt = 

750 000 

= $0.31 
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4•~~~·~·1Zl,C,!fDii~:,!~a.f~1f!·!ii:e»·t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Even in the most efficient production processes there will be some wastage. 
An industry producing liquid products will incur losses through evaporation, 
whereas an industry producing timber products will lose material when the 
wood is cue or smoothed. Losses chat cannot be eliminated totally are known as 
normal losses. Managers are generally able to predict the amount of wastage 
that will occur in their business. They will be able to quantify the acceptable 
level of wastage in each process. 

The units wasted are credited to the appropriate process account. As the cost 
of the wasted units is absorbed as part of the cost of production, no value is 
attached to it. 

In October 6000 kg of materials costing of $720 were introduced into a process. From past experience, it has been estimated that a 
normal loss of 240 kg can be expected. 

An account for the process is as follows. 

Process 

Units Units 
Direct materials 6000 720 Normal loss 240 

Transfer to next process 5760 720 

6000 720 6000 720 

The average cost per unit of the expected output was $0.12 ($720 .,- 6000). The average cost per unit of actual production was 
$0.125 ($720 + 5760). 

The sale of scrap 
On occasions, materials lost in a process can be sold as scrap. The sale proceeds 
are offset against the costs incurred in the process. 

Details are the same as in the previous example. All lost units have a sale value of $0.06 per unit. 

Process 

Units Units 
Direct materials 6000 720.00 Normal loss 240 14.40 

Transfer to next 
process 5760 705.60 

6000 720.00 6000 720.00 

Cose per unit in this process was $0.1225 {$705.60 + 5760). 

411~·~?kti~·ll?!IE1~··14Zlal!·~e~ia¥!¥!._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
All incomplete units of production are valued in terms of their value of the 
equivalent units of the finished product. For example, 4200 units that are only 
a quarter completed are equivalent to 1050 units of completed goods. If the 
goods were only 10% completed, this would be the equivalent of 420 completed 
goods. 

It would be rather unusual if all production started at the beginning of the 
month was completed by the end of the same month. There are usually a 
number of units of production that are only partly completed and these are 
known as work in progress. The costs detailed in any process account are for 
units completed and units that are only partially completed. 
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To calculate accurately the unit cost in any process, partly completed goods 

must be converted into their equivalent number of complete units. The actual 

complete units can then be added to the partly finished units converted into the 

equivalent number of fully completed units. This figure can then be used as the 

divisor. 

costs incurred during the period 
cost per unit 

units completed + equivalent units of work in progress 

Completed production for February: 45000 units. Work in progress 60% 

complete: 6500 units. 

Production costs 

Direct materials 

Direct labour 

Production overheads 

65300 

29126 

20000 

The cost of one unit of production was $2.34 ($114426 + (45000 + (6500 x 60%)). 

Cost elements with differing degrees of completion 
As the degree of completion may be different for each of the elements making 

up the cost incurred in a process, calculations must be made for each cost 

element used when work in progress is valued. 

Direct materials 

Direct labour 

Overheads 

147240 

225330 

36380 

4;JJilhi·i,f\4tM@ 
Imagine you work for a business 
manufacturing woollen ca rpets. Your 
line manager requires you to draft 
a memo for issue to new interns 
explaining the term work in progress 
and its relevance to the calculation of 
the cost of one unit of production. 

Cost elements are the different 

resources that are used in each process 
of manufacturing, i.e. direct materials, 

direct labour and manufacturing 
overheads. 

120000 units were fully complete. 3600 units were work in progress. The work in progress was 75% complete as to materials, 50% 
complete as to labour and 35% complete as to overheads. 

Work in progress: 

• materials (equivalent units)". 2700 units (75% x 3600) 
• labour (equivalent units): 1800 units (50% x 3600) 

• overheads (equivalent units)". 1260 units (35% x 1200) 

A table can be used to summarise the work in progress and the value of completed production: 

Work in 
progress Total 

Completed equivalent equivalent 
Element Total cost units units units Cost per unit 

$ $ 
Materials 147240 120000 2700 122700 1.20 

Labour 225330 120000 1800 121800 1.85 

Overheads 36380 120000 1260 121260 0.30 

The table helps with calculating the total cost of elements transferred to process 2 (completed units x the cost per unit) and the 
value of work in progress to be carried forward in process 1 in October (work in progress equivalent units x the cost per unit). The 

account looks like this: 
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Process 1 

Materials 

Labour 

Overheads 

147240 

225330 

36380 

408950 

Transfer to process 2 

Work in progress c/d 

402000 (144000 + 222000 + 36000) 

6950 (3240 + 3330 + 380) 

408950 

Work in progress b/d 6950 

Process 2 

From process 1 402000 

••~Mttiml~il·~IZl·=i·~ttG~Z~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-c::::::c:=:) 
Joint products are produced simultaneously from the same process and have a 

significant sales value. If the product has only a minor sales value, it is known as 

a by-product. The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants defines joint 

products as 'having a sufficiently high saleable value to merit recognition as a 

main product'. 

At the start of the process, individual products are indistinguishable. However, 

at some stage during production each product becomes identifiable. Before this 

separation point, costs cannot be traced to an individual product Two methods 

often used to apportion joint costs up to the point of separation or split-off 

point are by: 

• production volume of each product 

• relative sales value of each product 

After the point of separation, each separate product can be identified and 

further costs can be charged appropriately. 

Using production volume to apportion costs 

Products Mand N pass through the same process. 60000 kilograms of Mand 

10000 kilograms of N are produced. Total joint costs of the process are $154000. 

Product M = $132000 (60000..;. 70000 x $154000) 

Product Y = $22000 (10000..;. 70000 x $154 OOO) 

Using relative sales value to apportion costs 

Abacus and Baracus are joint produces. Abacus sells for $87 per litre and Baratus sells for $13 per litre. Production was 2000 litres of 
Abacus and 8000 litres of Baracus. Up to the point of separation, the joint coses amounted to $40 OOO. 

Total sales revenue generated from production: 

Abacus: 

Baratus: 

2000 X $87 = 

8000x $13 = 

Calculating the apportionment of joint costs: 

Costs apportioned to Abacus 

Costs apportioned to Baratus 

25036 

14964 

174000 

104000 

278000 

(174000..;. 278000 X $40000) 
(104000..;. 278000 X $40000) 
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iiI•~:~'..liil!l·lll·~i~·ffN~!t+I._----------------------~~ 
By-products arise during the production of the main product. They have a low 
sales value so a complex costing system is inappropriate. The sales value of the 
by-product less costs incurred after the point of separation is deducted from the 
total cost of production. 

Cose of production for January from previous process: $670000. Revenue from sales of by-produce: $1200. Coses incurred by the 
by-produce: $48. 

Ignoring work in progress, the relevant process account would show: 

Previous process 

Process account for the month of January 
s 

670000 

670000 

Sales of by-product 
Transfer to next process 

1200 

668800 

670000 

Valuation of inventory using absorption 
and marginal costing principles 

GiMtltJl,M,IHD•--------------------~u==J 
IAS 2 requires that inventories should be valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value (see Topic 8, Valuation of inventory - seep. 59). Costs include 
the cost of purchase, conversion costs such as fixed and variable manufacturing 
overheads, and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. All normal costs are included in the total cost of the 
product when using absorption costing, so this is an acceptable method of 
valuing closing inventories. Marginal costing principles ignore fixed costs, so 
inventories cannot be valued using marginal costing techniques. Managers can 
use whatever basis they like when producing financial statements for internal 
management use as IAS 2 does not apply. 

Relevant costs 

4;14:;hH,f\itM@ 
Your line manager wishes you to info rm 
the new interns about by-products 
derived from the manufacture of the 
woollen carpets. Drah notes to aid you 
when you speak to them. 

-·~·~1ttl§jffjj!-~:D!-~i!\iil!!·ll·~rtfft~:!t,----------------------1~ 
Marginal costing is a decision-making technique based on the extra costs 
incurred and the extra revenue generated by the production and sale of an 
additional unit of output. A clear distinction is made between fixed and variable 
coses. No attempt is made to allocate or apportion any fixed costs incurred by 
cost centres or cost units. An increase in production, i.e. an increase in business 
activity, does not increase fixed costs - they will remain unchanged. Marginal 
costing is used when a business is: 
• costing special or one-off opportunities 

• deciding whether co make or buy a product 

• choosing between competing alternative actions 

• employing a penetration/destroyer pricing strategy 

• calculating the break-even level of output 

All of these circumstances tend to be short-term decisions. 
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Marginal cost statements 
Marginal cost statements offer an alternative layout to traditional income 

statements. They emphasise the total fixed costs incurred by showing fixed and 

variable costs separately. 

A marginal cost statement for the year ended 31 May 2014 could look like this: 

Marginal cost statement for the year ended 31 May 2014 
s s 

Sales 1 240000 

Less variable costs 
Direct materials (80000) 

Direct wages (420000) 

Factory expenses (90000) 

Selling and distribution expenses (61 OOO) 

Administrative expenses (23000) (674000) 

Total contribution 566000 
Less fixed costs 

Factory overheads (143000) 

Selling and distribution overhead (28000) 

Administrative overhead (41 OOO) (212000) 

Profit for the year 354000 

.,~r.~~.!§P.,'-jj~.~11~,.~1~,,~,~.~b~i~iitt':~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-4~ 
Absorption costing determines the total cost of production. It is important 

that a business is able to calculate what each product or service (or group of 

products or services) has cost to make or provide. This is necessary so that a 

selling price can be arrived at in order to recover the costs and provide profits co 

ensure the survival of the business. All costs incurred in production are absorbed 

into the cost of production. The total cost of producing goods is necessary for 

long-term planning as total revenue must cover both direct costs as well as 

overheads. 

An absorption costing statement for January 2014 might look like this: 

Direct materials 124000 
Direct labour 560000 

Royalties 4000 
Prime cost 688000 

Indirect materials 14000 
Indirect labour 65000 

other indirect costs 18000 
Depreciation 44000 
Total production cost 829000 

Selling and distribution costs 48000 
Administration costs 176000 

Total cost 1 053000 

If 40000 units of production were manufactured, the cost of each unit would be 
$26.325. 
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A business may be faced by a short-term shortage of one or more factors of 
production necessary in the manufacturing process. A shortage of any resource 
could limit the ability to maximise profits. A scarce resource is sometimes 
referred to as a key factor or limiting factor. Managers must utilise scarce 
resources in a way that will yield the maximum return to the business. 

Explain the term work in progress. 

Total costs incurred in process 1 amounted to $3081. There were 1200 comp lete units and 800 units that were on ly one­
eighth complete. Calculate the cost of one unit of production in process 1. 

Explain the term normal loss. 

4 Explain the difference between a joint product and a by-product. 

Explain the difference between a marginal cost statement and a 'trad itiona l' income statement. 

What is the connection between a key factor and a limiting factor? 

Answers on p.191 
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20 Budgets 

Using budgets 

"-ri1r.,,Jll!l@lftll~.,~.,~,~,P..r;\1r.@"·"~':!- fffl~ .... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-~ 
Accounting fulfils two purposes: stewardship and management. 
The management function can be broken down into: 

• planning 
• co-ordinating 

• communicating 

• decision-making 

• controlling 

All these functions are achieved by the preparation of budgets. 

Budgets: 

A budget is a short-term financial plan 

prepared in advance and based on the 
objectives of the business. 

• are 'plans expressed in money' and show what the management of a 
business hopes to achieve in terms of departmental plans and strategic plans 

• must be co-ordinated, so managers must communicate with each other 
when preparing budgets. They must communicate plans to staff below and 
senior managers above 

• depend on and influence each other - it is important co ensure that 
individual budgets do not contradict or conflict with other budgets 

• mean that decisions have to be made regarding future levels of sales and 

production etc. if profits are to increase 

• should be compared with actual results. Action can be taken if actual results 

arfe wodrse tha~ budgetbed'.dif ac~fiuadl resudlts ar
1

~ betdter
1

thanh budgeted, examples .;jJIJt4j.j,f\$JMt+i 
o goo practice may e1ent11e an rep1cate esew ere - .. - ... , ··-·--

Budgetary control delegates financial planning to managers. Performance is 

evaluated by continuously comparing actual results achieved departmentally 

against those set in a budget. 

Prepare a memo for presentation 
to your line manager listing t hree 
advantages and three disadvantages of 
using a system of budgetary control. 

Table 20.1 The advant ages and disadvantages of using budgets 

Planning must take place when individual budgets 
are prepared 

Plans need to be co-ordinated, which requires 
communication throughout the business 

Areas of responsibility and targets to be achieved by 
different personnel are defined 

Budgets can act as a motivating influence, but 
this is only true when all staff are involved in the 
preparation of budgets 

If departmental budgets are unrealistic, this could 
have a knock-on effect on other budgets 

Resources could be wasted if budgets became an 
overriding goal 

If budgets are imposed rather than negotiated, they 
might demotivate staff 

Budgets might be based on plans that can be easily 
achieved, so making departments/managers appear 
to be more efficient than they really are. This could 
also lead to complacency and/or underperformance 

Individual departmental and personal goals are more Budgets might lead to departmental rivalry 
likely to be an integral part of the strategic plan 

Budgets generally lead to a more efficient use of 
resources and therefore better control of costs 
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The preparation of budgets 

4•~·!1'Ci-fill:Mi~~!ttti~·!@§ft=·~._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
All budgets are drawn together to prepare a master budget. This provides a 
summary of all the individual budgets prepared by the different parts of the 
business and their planned operations. It is made up of a budgeted: 

• manufacturing statement (where appropriate) 

• income statement 

• statement of financial position 

Trade payables 
budget 

Production 
budget 

Figure 20.1 Components of the master budget 

Trade receivables 
budget 

Expenditure 
budget 

When budgets are being prepared, it is essential chat any limiting factors are 
identified and amendments made. Changes made co one departmental budget 
will have a knock-on effect on other budgets. Changes may be necessary to cake 
account of a limiting factor. For example, a factory may be able to produce 
120000 units per month. It would be pointless for a sales budget to be prepared 
estimating sales volume at 140000 units. Production of 120000 units is a limiting 
factor. This limiting factor would affect not only the sales budget; it would also 
have an impact on the cash, purchases, trade receivables and trade payables 
budgets, as well as the master budget. 

Preparation of a set of forecast financial statements will test your ability to: 
• apply the concepts of accruals and realisation 

• differentiate between capital and revenue expenditures and capital and 
revenue incomes 

• distinguish between cash and non-cash expenses. 

A limiting factor is anything that 
limits the activity of a business; it is also 
known as a key factor. 

4•Cit:fflD!·~·~MtftffN~~·rll!ttti~·D@§ft;::·I~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
A production budget is prepared to determine whether the levels of production 
necessary to satisfy the anticipated level of sales are attainable. It shows the 
quantities of finished goods that must be produced in order to meet expected 
sales, together with any increase in inventory levels that might be required. 

4•CQrtfl~mJ,!ij~Q=i~ID:ffti~·~@§ft;-111~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-1~ 
A purchases budget is required to determine the quantities of purchases 
required for resale or for use in production. The method used is similar to that 
used to compile a production budget. 
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.::t1•r11~.,~;~.P.\.~n'ft#ii"'·l'!!:ffti"-'·!~~-rf!I ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-~ 
This budget includes all anticipated payments to be made. You need to include 
all payments made and include the payments in the correct month. Information 
is used from the purchases budget and the sales budget. You must consider 
carefully when suppliers are to be paid and when customers settle their debts. 
Other payments made must be carefully included according to the information 
supplied. 

"•utfti!!!-~,1~1~1~4P..~J~lt1'-~C~t11~-ll:ffti!!!!,~~!-!1!._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-~ 
This budget forecasts the amounts that will be owed by credit customers. It is 
linked to the production, sales and cash budgets. It considers the length of credit 
period that is allowed on customers' debts. Note that cash sales are not included 

in the trade receivables budget as these are recorded in the cash budget. 

• ttti ii #\Ca, !#I! M 
This forecasts the amounts that will be owed to suppliers of components, 
raw materials or goods for resale at the end of each month. It is linked to the 
purchases and the cash budgets. 

Cash is an essential element for the survival of any business in the short term: 
• holding coo much cash is a waste of the resource 

• holding coo little cash can lead to problems in acquiring the factors of 
production necessary to function effectively 

In order to predict if either of these situations is about to arise, managers prepare cash budgets are sometimes called 
a cash budget. Forecast receipts result in positive cash flows (or cash inflows), cash flow forecasts. 
whereas forecast expenditures result in negative cash flows (or cash outflows). 
The difference between the cash inflows and cash outflows gives net cash flows. ifffuiffil 
Cash budgets allow managers to determine if there is sufficient cash to continue • 
in business. A cash budget might show a negative 

cash flow at the end of a time period. 

Preparing a cash budget 
A cash budget shows estimates of future cash incomes and cash expenditures. It 
is usually prepared monthly and includes both capital and revenue transactions. 
It helps managers co be aware of any potential shortages or surpluses of cash so 
that they can make the necessary financial arrangements. 

A cash budget has three parts: 

• forecast receipts (cash inflows) 

• forecast expenditure (cash outflows) 

• a summary of forecast receipts and forecast expenditure, with the resulting 
closing forecast cash balance 

A cash budget is just what it says: transactions involving cash. Non-cash 
transactions are not included, neither are provisions. The preparation of a cash 
budget will: 

• help co ensure that there is always sufficient cash available to pursue normal 
business activities 

• highlight times when the business may have cash surpluses, allowing 
managers time to arrange short-term investment of the surpluses to gain 
maximum return 

This is possible as cash budgets also 
include bank transactions. 

4il4'1hH,fHMJ@ 
Cash is to be paid to a supplier of 
goods on credit. Identify all the budgets 
that would be affected by this one 
transaction. 

ttM»IM» 
Cash budgets are often examined, so it 
is worth practising the layout. 

The preparation of budgets @ 



• highlight times when the business might have cash deficits, allowing 

managers time to arrange short-term alternative sources of finance 

The following budgeted information is given. 

July August September 

s s s 
Credit sales 30000 25000 48000 

Credit purchases 18000 13000 17000 

Wages paid 9000 9000 9500 

other expenses 6200 7400 8500 

Purchase of machine 20000 

Depreciation of machine 200 

October November 

s 
28000 35000 

12000 20000 

9500 9500 

6100 8000 

200 200 

Trade receivables will pay 1 month after goods are sold. Trade payables will be paid 2 months after receipt of the goods. All 

expenses are paid in the month in which they occur. It is expected chat cash in hand at 1 September will be $2600. Inventory at 

1 September is expected to be $1500. Inventory at 30 November is expected to be $2500. 

A cash budget for the 3 months ended 30 November would show: 

Cash budget for the 3 months ending 30 November 
September October November 

s s 
Receipts 

Cash received from credit customers 25000 48000 28000 

Payments 

Cash paid to credit suppliers 18000 13000 17000 

Wages 9500 9500 9500 

other expenses 8500 6100 8000 

Purchase of machine 20000 

56000 28600 34500 

Balance b/d 2600 (28400) (9000) 

Receipts 25000 48000 28000 

27600 19600 19000 

Payments 56000 28600 34500 

Balance c/d (28400) (9000) (15500) 

Note chat depreciation has not been included as it is a non-cash expense. There are alternative layouts, but the one shown above is 

the version used most frequently. 

A budgeted income statement for the 3 months ended 30 November has been prepared: 

Sales 111 OOO 

Less cost of sales 

Inventory 1 September 1500 

Purchases 49000 

50500 

Inventory 30 November 2500 48000 

Gross profit 63000 

Less expenses 

Wages (28500) 

other expenses (22600) 

Depreciation of machinery (600) (51700) 

Profit for the 3 months 11300 

The sales figure is the total of the budgeted figures - September $48000, October $28000 and November $35000- not the 

amounts shown in the cash budget. The purchases figure is the total of the budgeted figures - September $17 OOO, October 

$12000 and November $20000. 

Depreciation is included in the budgeted income statement because of the accruals concept: the machinery is a resource that will 

be used co generate profits, so a charge has to be made. 
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@Mi% 
Incl ude t he words 'cash budget' 
or 'cash fo recast ' as part of your 
heading. The heading should 
also include the t ime period. 

@Mib 
Always show the months separately when 
preparing a cash budget . All budgets use 
t he same summarised layout: 
• opening balance 
• plus increases 
• lessdecreases 
• closing balance 

@Mi@ 
There are many different 
ways of summarising the 
cash transactions shown in a 
budget. Choose one and use it 
consistently. 

.. -~(ffl~.~Qj!!l~!ttt!"·~~:!·~ .... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-~ 
Sales budgets show predicted sales and revenues and are usually prepared before 
other budgets as most businesses are sales-led. Other budgets can be prepared 
using information derived from a sales budget. If the sales budget is inaccurate, 
errors will filter through and make other budgets inaccurate coo. 

A sales budget is based on forecast sales for the budget period; it is difficult 
to prepare because of the many variables chat are out of the control of the 
management. These variables include: 

• customers changing to or from other suppliers 

• competitors increasing or decreasing prices and/or output 

• the state of the economy 

• government action, such as changes in levels of taxation, government 
spending and the imposition of trade sanctions 

Explain the term budget . 

Identify fi ve functions of budgeting. 

Explain the term budgetary control. 

4 Explain the term master budget. 

Complete t he fo llowing sentence: 

4;14:;MH,fii@@ 
Explain to a non-accountant why the 
amounts shown in a cash budget fo r 
sales is generally different to the amount 
shown fo r sa les in an income statement. 

wt¥iffifuD"··········· 
Don't show separate monthly fi gures 
in the budgeted income statement. 
This is one ofthe most common 
errors made in answering this type of 
exa mination question. 

A master budget draws together individual budgets and is summarised by the preparation of an 
______________ statement and a statement showing the _____________ of t he business. 

Complete t he fo llowing fo rmula fo r a trade payables budget : 

opening balance of t rade payables+? - ? = closing balance of t rade payables 

Explain why the preparation of a cash budget is vital to the decision-making of any business. 

Is depreciation entered in a cash budget? Explain your answer. 

List three items that might appea r in a budgeted income statement but would not appear in a cash budget. 

Answers on pp.191-92 

Principal budget factors and the flexing 
of budgets 

4Wtl!ttt!ffl&!Oii+ 
A principal budget factor (also known as a key factor or limit ing factor) 
restricts a business from achieving its desired level of output 

MO 
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During the preparation of budgets, obstacles to achieving the desired outcomes 
should be identified. These could include shortages of materials or components, 
factory space or skilled labour. When production is restricted so that demand 
cannot be met, the limiting factor must be identified. While individual budgets 
are being prepared, it is essential that co-ordination takes place and changes are 
made. For example, it would be pointless: 

• to set a sales budget of 1000000 units if the factory is capable of producing 
only 900000 units 

• to set a production budget requiring 200000 hours of labour if only 80000 
labour hours were available 

Budgets may be used as control mechanisms when actual performance is 
compared to the budgeted performance. Variances need to be investigated 
and action taken. Adverse variances need corrective action whereas 
favourable variances need to be identified and, where possible, applied to 

other areas of the business. 

Variances arise when there is a 
difference betvveen actual and 
budgeted figures. 

Adverse variances reduce profits. 

Favourable variances increase profits. 

••m1~~i:m1:l·~·J:m-zt-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-~ 
Actual results that are compared to a fixed budget based on a set level of sales 
or output can give misleading results, which can lead to managers making 
inappropriate decisions. This problem may be overcome if budgets are 'flexed' in 
order to reflect changes in output and turnover. ·-

The production of 1500 containers is budgeted co require 600 kg of materials; 
actual usage is 420kg of materials. Therefore, budgeted use of materials is calculated 
co be 0.4 kg per unit and actual usage is calculated co be 0.28 kg per unit In fact, 
only 1400 containers were manufactured, so actual usage was 0.3 kg per unit. 

Managers need to adjust budgeted levels of activity to prepare accurate budgets 
capable of being used for budgetary control purposes. If the actual level of 
activity is different to the budgeted level, they have to allow for differing levels of 
expenditure on the factors of production they use. Variable costs and revenues 
must be changed in order to reflect the actual level of activity achieved. 

Flexed budgets should reflect different behaviour patterns of fixed and variable 
costs and should be based on adjusted levels of activity. The process requires 
that variances are analysed; in the case of adverse variances, remedial action 
should be taken. Responsibility for variances rests with departmental heads. 

The following data are available for Momsen for the year ended 30 September. 

Budget Actual 
Level of production (units) 9000 8500 

Variable costs- direct materials 37800 33150 

- direct labour 41 400 42500 

-variable overheads 17100 19125 

Total variable costs 96300 94775 

Fixed costs 45000 52000 

Total costs 141300 146775 
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A flexed budgeted operating statement for Momsen for the year ended 
30 5€ptember is as follo'NS. 

Flexed Actual Variance 
budget 

s 
Direct materials 35700 33150 2550 (Favourable) 

Direct labour 39 100 42500 (3 400) (Adverse) 

Variable overheads 16150 19125 (2975) (Adverse) 

Total variable costs 90950 94775 (3825) (Adverse) 

Fixed costs 45000 52000 (7000) (Adverse) 

Total costs 135950 146775 (10825) (Adverse) 

10 Explain the term principal budget fac tor. 

11 Identify two principal budget fac tors that could prevent the desired outcomes fo r a business. 

12 Explain what is meant by a fl exed budget. 

Answers on p.192 
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21 Standard costing 

Cost standards for unit costs 
4f:E1~tfitl~-~·ltttl!Z!:·IC¥tii·!l:!i~~m!-._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Standard costing sets levels of costs and revenues that ought to be achievable 
when reasonable levels of performance are attained, together with efficient 
working practices. In order to achieve an efficient production process, budgets 
are prepared. They set the targets for future performance. If a business does not 
achieve the standards set, managers will want to find out why. 

A budget is a short-term financial plan 
prepared in advance and based on the 
objectives of the business. 

4~1l~n·ii@!il·~ili¥fi!·!l:!ililittttl!·llfl·!tttll!·I•._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
There are a number of ways of setting standards. 

Attainable standards are standards that are set so chat they can be achieved 
under generally efficient operating conditions. The Chartered Institute of 
Managemem Accountants defines an attainable standard as one 'which can be 
achieved if a standard unit of work is carried out efficiently, a machine properly 
operated or a material properly used'. They are most often used in practice as 
they are not too easy or too difficult to achieve. 

Basic standards remain unchanged over a number of years and are useful for 
determining trends in efficiency. The danger is that such standards will become 
outdated over time and so reveal variances that have li ttle use for analysis 
purposes. Therefore, basic standards are rarely used for control purposes. 

Ideal standards assume that production is carried out under the most 
favourable conditions leading to perfect performance. The Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountant's definition is 'a standard that can be attained under 
the most favourable conditions, with no allowance for normal losses, waste and 
machine downtime'. 

etmmM,H·l@ tfitlttr rnttmo 
Estimated costs for labour, materials and overheads are totalled to give the 
standard cost for the product. The estimated costs are based on the coses chat 
should be incurred under efficient production conditions. Standard unit price 
is the total standard costs of all the factors of production that make up one 
finished unit of production. Standard costs can be based on: 

• past data used to forecast likely usage of materials and labour 

• detailed study of the processes involved in production 

Material standards are based on the quantity of materials that will be necessary 
to complete each unit of output. Labour standards are based on production 
methods and the hours required by an average worker to complete each unit of 
output. 
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fiMttUi·N t-----------------------cmo 
This output measure is used in departments that produce several different 
products and it represents the work that can be done in an hour. Using such a 
measure, each production department has a standard number of hours set for 
its output. 

List three methods used to set standards. 

Answer on p.192 

Variance anaiysis 
A variance is the difference between budgeted (standard) revenue and coses and 
actual revenue and costs. It arises when actual results do not correspond with 
predicted results. 

4•D·~iit¥111·!1ifiM\Dla·ZtilMDl~·!·il·!t~ii~·~·iC,i!i¥¥~------------------1~ 
Total direct materials varian ce identifies the difference between the amount 
that managers thought would be spent on direct materials (the standard/ 
budgeted set) and the amount that was actually spent. 

An adverse total direct materials variance means that materials have cost the 
business more than anticipated, which has reduced profits (profits affected 
adversely). A favourable total direct materials variance means that materials 
have cost the business less than anticipated, which has increased profits (a 
favourable effect on profits). 

The difference in the cost of direct materials to a business could because of: 

• more (adverse variance) or fewer (favourable variance) materials being used 
than was expected 

• an increase in the price of materials since the budget was prepared (adverse 
variance) or a decrease in the price of materials since the budget was 
prepared (favourable variance) 

• a combination of a change in the use of materials and a change in prices 

We can identify the causes of differences in budgeted and actual expenditure 
arising from the above factors by calculating sub-variances. 

Direct materials usage sub-variance 
Direct materials usage sub-variance calculates the change in total expenditure 
caused by changes in the quantity of materials used. An adverse usage sub­
variance indicates that production used more materials than anticipated (and 
therefore reduces predicted profits), whereas a favourable usage sub-variance 
indicates that production used fewer materials than anticipated (and therefore 
increases predicted profits). 

Direct materials price sub-variance 
A direct materials price sub-variance calculates differences between budgeted 
and actual costs due to sub-variances that arise because of changes in the prices 
of the raw materials used. 

An adverse price sub-variance arises when the cost of direct materials has 
risen, whereas a favourable price sub-variance occurs when the cost of direct 
materials has fallen. 

A sub-variance is a constituent part 
of a total variance; sub-variances added 
together give the total variance. 

@Mi% 
Always indicate in your answer which 
sub-variance you have calculated 
and state whether it is an adverse or 
favo urable sub-variance. 

Variance analysis @ 



The calculation of sub-variances is relatively straightforward when only one 

variable is considered. When there are changes to both usage and price, using 

the following grid will help to calculate 00th sub-variances. 

Sq Sp 

Aq Sp 

Aq Ap 

where: 

S = the standard (budgeted) figure 

q = the quantity 

p = the price 

A = the actual figure 

Sq = the standard quantity 

Sp = the standard price 

Aq = the actual quantity used 

Ap = the actual price of the materials used 

Sq 

A difference (variance) between these two totals must be 
due to a difference in the budgeted usage and the actual 
usage as the standard price remains the same 

Aq X 

Aq X 

A difference (variance) between these two totals must be 
due to a difference in the budgeted price and the actual 
price as the quantities remain the same 

The two differences combined gives the total materials variance. ~-
The following information relates to the manufacture of Xow cola. 

Direct materials 

Direct materials cost per litre 

Budgeted 
4800 litres 

$2 

Actual 
4250 litres 

$3 

To calculate the direct materials usage and materials price sub-variances, the amounts are inserted into the grid: 

Sq X Sp 

4800 X $2 
$9600 } 

$1100 Favourable direct materials usage sub-variance 

Aq X Sp 

4250 X $2 $8500 

Aq X Ap 

$127SJ 

$4250 Adverse direct materials price sub-variance 

4250 X $3 = 

$3150 Adverse direct total materials variance 

Materials cost $3150 more than budgeted. The price increased by $4250, but a saving of $1100 was made because of more efficient 
use of materials. 
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4•D·~iit¥111·!1i~M~·Cia·i~·lli~iC-iml!·~i,~i·~¥!t-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Direct labour variances identify the difference between the amount that 
managers thought would be spent on direct labour costs and the amount that 
was actually spent. It is useful to determine whether the total variance was 
because of 

• workers being more or less efficient 

• workers being paid more or less 
• some combination of a change in efficiency and a change in wage rates 

In order to calculate the sub-variances that make up the total direct labour 
variances we can use the grid, but we do need to make some changes to our 
descriptions of the sub-variances. Labour usage is referred co as labour efficiency 
and labour price is referred to as wage rate or labour rate. 

Sq Sp 
Aq Sp 

Aq Ap 

where: 

S = the standard (budgeted) figure 

q = the number of hours 

p = the wage rate 

A = the actual figure 

Sq = the standard hours required 

Sp = the standard wage rate 

Aq = the actual hours taken 

Ap = the actual wage rate paid 

Sq 

A difference (variance) between these two totals must be 
due to the hours that managers thought would be worked 
and the hours that were actually worked 

Aq X 

Aq X 

A difference (variance) between these two totals must 
be due to a difference in the wage rate that had been 
budgeted and the wage rate that was actually paid 

The two differences combined gives the total direct labour variance. 

The following information for direct labour for April is given. 

Budgeted Actual 
Direct labour 

Direct labour rate per hour 

9200 hours 

$5.50 

9250 hours 

$5.30 

To calculate the direct labour efficiency and wage rate sub-variances, the amounts are inserted into the grid: 
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Sq X Sp 

9200 X $5.50 $S0600 } 
Aq X Sp $275 Adverse direct labour efficiency sub-variance 

9250 X $5.50 $S087S } 
Aq X Ap $1850 Favourable direct labour rate sub-variance 

9250 X $5.30 $49025 

$1 575 Favourable total direct labour variance 

The workers took longer to complete their casks, costing $275 more than the budgeted amount. However, they were paid a lower 
hourly race so $1850 was saved. 

Many questions (and real life) are based on both direct materials and direct 
labour and require the calculation of all seven variances. The seventh variance is 
the total direct expenses variance, which is the total materials variances and the 
total labour variances added together. 

41111iiirtt~-1I1Cmttil:c·!·l1C!ttti!l!l·~~:!·3._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
A standard costing system is used to identify problem areas in production so 
that remedial action can be taken. The system identifies areas of cost saving 
which may be copied in other sections of the business. The system identifies 
variances by comparing standard costs and the costs that have actually been 
incurred. It is important that any findings are made by comparing like with like. 
This principle should be applied when comparing standard costs with actual 
costs. If actual activity differs from budgeted activity, budgets must be flexed to 
produce a budget that reflects actual levels of activity. 

Managers wish to produce 20 OOO pairs of soccer boots in August. They believe 

that 4000 m1 of leather should be used. Actual figures available in September 

show that only 3500m1 of leather were used and 18000 pairs of boots were made. 

Less leather than thought has been used, but fewer boots were manufactured, 

so we would expect less leather co have been used. 4000 m' should have made 

20000 pairs of boots; 3500m1 actually made 18000 pairs of boots. 

Therefore, the budgeted figures muse be flexed to see if materials have been used 

efficiently or not. If we had known when the standard was set that only 18 OOO 
pairs of boots would be made, the budgeted figure for materials would have been 
3600m' (18000 + 20000 x 4000m'). 

Standard materials usage: 18 OOO pairs of boots requires 3600 m' of leather 

Actual materials usage-. 18 OOO pairs of boots has required 3500 m' of leather 

Therefore, less material was used than anticipated, giving rise to a favourable 

materials usage sub-variance. 
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The following information is given for direct labour hours for October for the 
production of switches. 

Production 
Direct labour hours 

Standard (budgeted) Actual 

40000 units 
60000 hours 

38000 units 
59000 hours 

Production of 38000 switches should use 57000 hours of direct labour (38000..;.. 

40000 x 60000 hours). In fact, 2000 extra hours have been used. An investigation 
should be undertaken to determine why this has happened and, if possible, 
remedial action should be taken. 

The following information is given for the production of plastic cases. 

Standard (budgeted) costs for 1000 cases: 

Direct materials 

Direct labour 

80 kilograms at $40 .00 per kg 

30 hours at $3 .50 per hour 

Actual costs for the production of 900 cases: 

Direct materials 

Direct labour 

70 kilograms at $41 .50 per kg 

29 hours at $3 .00 per hour 

4MID 
Only fl ex the standard quantity of 
direct materials and/or the standard 
hours of direct labour to be used in 
your grid . 

To use the grid to calculate sub-variances, the budget muse first be flexed. Only 900/1000th of the budgeted cases have been 
produced, so the standard usage of direct materials and direct labour should be calculated to construct a flexed budget. 
Remember that only the standard (budgeted) quantities will change. 

Sq Sp 

72 $40 .00 

Aq Sp 

70 $40 .00 

Aq Ap 

70 $41.50 

Sq X Sp 

27 X $3 .50 

Aq X Sp 

29 X $3 .50 

Aq X Ap 

29 X $3 .00 

Direct materials 

$2880 } 
$80 Favourable direct materials usage sub-variance 

$2800 } 
$105 Adverse direct materials price sub-variance 

$2905 

$25 Adverse total direct materials variance 

Direct Jabour 

$94.50 } 
$7.00 Adverse direct labour efficiency sub-variance 

$101.50 

} 
$14.50 Favourable direct labour rate sub-variance 

$87.00 

J22Q_ Favourable total direct labour variance 

4MID 
You might find that sub-variances are 
referred to as variances, although a 
direct labour effi ciency variance is in 
fa ct a sub-variance. 
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4f:E1l!·U1¥@11~w~.111cr1m,~1·=@m .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Sales variances are not flexed and can be calculated by using the grid. Be careful 
when labelling 'adverse and favourable'. Ask yourself 'Is the business better off 
(favourable variance) or worse off (adverse variance)?' 

·-
The budgeted sales of cartridges was 8100 units at a selling price of $12.50. The actual sales were 8600 units sold at $11.80. 

Using the grid to calculate the sales variances: 

Sq x Sp 

8100 X $12.50 

Aq x Sp 
$101 250 } 

$6250 Favourable sales volume sub-variance (a favourable impact on profit) 

8600 X $12.50 

Aq x Ap 
$107500 } 

$6020 

$101480 

Adverse sales price sub-variance (an adverse effect on profit) 

8600 X $11 .80 

~ Favourable total sales variance 

You should be able to tell quickly whether a variance is favourable or adverse. 

Managers introduce a system of standard costing because it highlights 
variances between predicted costs and actual costs. Variances should lead to an 
investigation into their causes. Budgetary control tries to ensure that individual 
departments or sections of a business are efficient, thereby improving the 
performance of the whole business. Standard costing provides more details 
than budgeting by examin ing the individual costs of the production process for 
each product. When adverse variances are identified, corrective action can be 
taken. Action requires that the causes of any variances are identified. Variance 
analysis identifies areas of concern and areas of good practice. 

@Mi# 

You may be asked to explain possible reasons for variances. You may also be asked 
to identify some inter-relationship between different sub-variances. The comments 
you make may be speculative because of the limited details given in a question. 

The most common type of question 
relates to the calculation of total and 
sub-variances for direct materials and 
direct labour, so you should learn the 
grid and how to use it. 

4•~¥!·!i·atm1@:11.~11tm!!l:D·Al·!r.~11~;~1,~1z.gg1 ..... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~4~ 
Actual results may differ from standards because there have been errors in the 
setting of the standards. Errors could be caused by: 

• setting unrea listic targets 

• managers deliberately setting low standards 

In an answer, show that you are aware of these two points but do not labour 
them. Make a general comment that will apply to all sub-variances. 

Table 21.1 Direct materials usage sub-variance 

Use of: Use of: 
• better quality materials • poorer materials 
• highly skilled workers • less-skilled workers 
• state-of-the-art equipment • poor capital equipment 

Also: 
• theft of materials 
• deterioration of materials 
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Table 21.2 Direct materials price sub-variance 

Deflation - either general or specific to 
the materials being purchased 

Inflation - either general or specific 
to the materials being purchased 

Supplier reducing price Supplier increasing price 

Use of: Use of: 
• a cheaper alternative • more expensive alternative 
• less good quality of same material • better quality of same material 
• better trade discount obtained • loss of trade discount 

Increase in value of dollar against other 
currencies 

Decrease in value of dollar against 
the value of other currencies 

Table 21.3 Direct labour efficiency sub-variance 

.... -Use of: Use of: 
• workers with higher skills • workers with lower skills 
• better machinery • poor machinery 

Good working conditions Poor working conditions 

High staff morale - highly motivated Poor staff morale - poor motivation 

Good levels of quality control Poor levels of quality control 

Table 21.4 Direct wage rate sub-variance 

.... -Use of lower grade workers Use of higher grade workers 

Wage deflation Wage inflation 

Reduction in overtime or premium Increase in overtime or premium rates 
rates being paid being paid 

Table 21.S Sales volume sub-variance 

.... 
More aggressive marketing strategy Less aggressive marketing strategy 

Increased seasonal sales Decrease in seasonal sales 

Less competition in sector More competition in sector 

Fewer sales by competitors- higher More sales going to competitors-
market share lower market share 

High staff morale - highly motivated Poor staff morale - poor motivation 

Change in consumer tastes Change in consumer tastes 

Defective product 

Table 21.6 Sales price sub-variance 

Increase in price to compensate for Reduction in selling price for bulk sales 
increased costs 

Increase in price after use of Reduction in price- using marginal 
marginal cost pricing cost pricing to penetrate a new market 

or to attract new customers; to quickly 
sell off goods etc. 

Variance analysis @ 



Many sub-variances influence other sub-variances. Identification of these inter­

relationships could gain 'development' marks. Table 21.7 gives two examples. 

Table 21.7 Examples of inter-relationships between sub-variances 

Fewer materials being used 

Workers taking longer to 
make goods because of faulty 
machinery 

4;J4ijhH,f\itM@ 

because 

resulting 
in 

a higher skilled workforce is 
being used and has to be paid 

the machinery spoiling much of 
the materials being used 

Imagine you work in a factory making ice cream. Draft notes to your line 
manager explaining how raw material variances can be connected to direct 
labour variances. Give examples of these connections. 

What are the effects on the profits of a business of adverse variances and favourable variances? 

Write down the grid used to calculate sub-variances. 

4 Managers predict that 40000 hats can be produced in a month using 16000m' of material. Only 30000 hats were 
produced using 12 500 m2 of material. Explain whether or not the material has been used efficiently or inefficiently. 

During 1 month a business had a favourable sales volume variance of $2000 and an adverse sales price variance of $1000. 
Calculate the total sales variance and state whether actual profits have increased or decreased compared to those 
budgeted. 

Identify two factors that could have caused: 

(a) an adverse direct materials usage sub-variance 

(b) a favourable direct labour rate sub-variance 

(c) an adverse sales volume sub-variance 

Answers on p.192 
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22 Investment appraisal 

The elements of investment appraisal 

... EiD·=i)lll,i=ij=ij~·ili~·imlE·~lb~·~iff~itti!·~Ctta:IC!tffffl!·:l'.a·m:l· lt\tt\i~·IZ!l·?iij=,~~m ... ~~~~~~~~~~--1~ 
Non-current assets are the wealth generators of a business. They are acquired 
with the intenrion chat they will generate profits. They are used in the business 
for more than one financial time period. Non-current assets used in business 
include land, buildings, machinery, plant, vehicles and office equipment. 

Cash is a scarce resource so some form of capital rationing is often required. 
Managers look for good value when they purchase non-current assets. They 
plan carefully so that they gee the best value for the money they spend. They 
want to ensure chat they earn maximum benefits from their purchase. 

Capical investment appraisal techniques assist managers to help them in their 
choice of appropriate investment opporrunities. Care should be taken when 
making capital investment decisions because: 

• large sums of money are often involved 
• the money may well be tied up for a considerable length of time 

• decisions cannot generally be easily reversed 
• money committed is usually non-returnable 

It is important that managers obtain as much detailed information from all 
sources that may be affected by the decision or that may affect the decision. 

Sales 

Purchasing 

Personnel 
{staff) issues 

Finance 

Figure 22.1 Factors involved in appraising a capi tal investment 

Production 

Capital projects are evaluated in terms of their potential earning power. If 
managers have to replace a machine, they must decide which machine is most 
appropriate. There would be no decision to be made if there was only one 
machine available: the only question would be whether to buy or not to buy. 
However, there are usually alternatives from which to choose. Machines might: 

• have different prices 
• have different qualities 

• produce different quantities of goods 
• produce goods of different quality 

• have different life spans 

• have different rates of obsolescence 
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Methods of appraisal 
There are five main methods of evaluating a capital project: 

• payback 
• accounting rate of return (ARR) 

• net present value (NPV) 

• discounted payback 

• internal rate of return (IRR) 

All methods require predictions about future flows of either cash or profits. 
If predictions are inaccurate, there could be serious problems for the business. 
Managers often use more than one method of appraising a project that could 
affect the business for many years. 

Capital expenditure appraisal considers only additional revenues generated 
by a project and additional expenditure that may be incurred by the project 
(expenditure may include opportunity costs). 

Opportunity costs are the benefits 
from the alternative use of resources 
that are foregone when a new project 

is undertaken. 

~•~·1!11~-llttt-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The payback period is the number of years required for the total cash flows to 

equal the initial capital investment. Risk is an important factor when considering 

a project lasting a few years. The sooner the capital expenditure is recouped, the 

better. If a machine has a scrap or trade-in value, this is treated as an income in 

the year of disposal. 

There are two types of examination question: 

• Wd hen ~r~fits are gibvendind,hde quehstion,f~ny nobn-~ashhexpenhsefsl such as d u:ninim. 
eprec1at1on must e a e to c e pro 1t to o ta1n t e cas ows generate . 

• When annual cash inflows and outflows are shown separately, the outflows 

must be deducted from the inflows to obtain the net cash flows. 

Table 22.1 The advantages and di sadvantages of using payback 

Payback uses cash flows, so non-cash 
items such as depreciat ion, accruals 
and prepayments are ignored. 

It is relatively simple to calculate It ignores the time v alue of money 

It is fairly easy for non-accountants to understand It does not consider cash flows that take place after the 
payback period 

The use of cash is more objective than using profits that are Projects may have different patterns of cash inflows, which 
dependent on the accounting policies decided by managers do not give a realistic appraisal (see example below) 

As all future predictions carry an element of risk, it shows the 
project that involves the least risk because it recognises that 
cash received earlier in the project life cycle is preferable to 
cash received later 

It shows the project that benefits the liquidity of a business 

Project 1 Project 2 

s s 
Yearo (10000) (10000) 

Year 1 10000 
Year 2 

Year 3 50000 

Project 1 has a payback period of 1 year. Project 2 has a payback period of 2.2 years. 

Payback in this case does not give a realistic appraisal. 

The time value of money is the concept 
that money received or paid in the future 

does not have the same value as money 
received or paid today. It recognises that $1 

today is worth more than $1 in the future. 

4il¥1hi·i,f\itM@ 
Explain to a non-accountant what is 
meant by the term time value of money. 
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4.p~;~1az;m.~11~1a,1111~,,~11tt·~·ti§=-m·~lt§ll!·~·~·ah~··lt~i!i;~J~;1~~ ... ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
The accounting rate of return shows the return on the investment expressed as 
a percentage of the average investment over the period. 

average investment initial investme~t + scrap value 

It seems improbable that the scrap value is added, but it works. 

accounting rate of return = avera~e profits x 100 
average investment 

Some projects require an injection of additional working capital in the form of 
extra inventory and as a result more trade payables. The increase in working 
capital can be assumed to be a constant during the lifetime of the project. This 
means that there is no need to calculate the average increase in working capital 
over this time. 

Kosuke is considering an investment in a new project. The initial investment is 

$450 OOO. The project requires an increase in working capital of $50000. The 

average investment in the project is $275000. 

s45oooo + $50000 = $275000 
2 

Table 22.2 The advantages and disadvantages of using ARR 

@Mi% 
The calculation of ARR uses profits, 
not cash flows. 

It is relatively simple to calculate The time value of money is not considered 

The results can be compared to present profitability It does not consider cash flows that take place after 
the ARR period 

It takes into account the aggregate earnings of the 
project {s) 

••u~~@i·1·~·i~·•¥i1J~·~iitla.i~·~lttl~·l,lj1~~ii4~·i~~.-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~c::.::c:=) 
The net present value method of investment appraisal is calculated by taking 

the present-day (discounted) value of all future net cash flows based on the 

business's cost of capital and subtracting the initial cost of the investment. 

A discount factor allows the value of future cash flows to be calculated in terms 

of their value today. Managers evaluate a project by comparing the capital 

investment with the return that the investment will bring in the future. In order 

to make a meaningful comparison between the amount originally invested and 

the income generated in the future by that investment, the cash flows need to 

be discounted so that they are the equivalent of cash flows now. The discount 

factor used in net present value calculations is generally based on a weighted 

average cost of capital available to the business. If you are given a number of 

discount factors to choose from, select the one identified in the question as the 

cost of capital. 

4;J4'lhH,f\itM@ 
You have been asked to explain to a junior clerk t hat discount factors are not 
based on the predicted rate of future inflation. Draft notes to help in your 
explanation, incl uding the concept of current cost of capital in your notes. 

Cost of capita l is based on the 

weighted average cost of capital 
available to a business. 

ett¥iffiffit#"""""""""""": 
There is a misconception t hat a 
discount fac tor is used to take into 
account the effects of inflation on 
future cash flows, but this is not so. 
The effect that inflation has on results 
is self-correcting. 

The elements of investment appraisal @ 



Cash flows are calculated from the revenue income less revenue expenditure 
(both discounted, of course). Any project that yields a positive net present value 
should be considered. Projects that yield negative net present values should be 
rejected on financial grounds but may be considered on other grounds, for 

example to keep a good customer happy, to keep a skilled workforce within the 
business or perhaps to get further orders in the future. 

Examination questions generally require a mutually exclusive decision. When a 
selection has to be made, the machinery that yields the highest net present 
value should be chosen. If all the machines yield a negative net present value, 
none of them should be purchased. 

Table 22.3 The advantages and disadvantages of using NPV 

ttM»IM» 
Net present value tables will be given 
in any examination question requiring 
the use of net present valu e. 

Mutually exclusive means that 
the pursuit of one course of action 
precludes the pursuit of any other 
course of action. 

The time value of money is taken into account as Because all the figures are projections, all of them 
calculations are made to take account of the present are speculative 
value of future cash flows 

It is relatively easy to understand Inflows and outflows of cash are difficult to predict 

Greater importance is given to earlier cash flows The current cost of capital may change over the life 
of the project 

The life of the project is difficult to predict 

4•D•~1!G~i!·i~·mi,Dit¥=-!·i1t'.Ml·~-~!tff~-!!l~l._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--1~ 
A major drawback of the payback method was that it does not take into 
account the time value of money. However, we can take the current cost of 

capital into account by using discounting techniques. This method is widely 
used in business as a method of selecting a machine or project. At the end of a 
project's life, there may be some residual or scrap value. This should be treated 

as income in the year in which it occurs. 

4•DM~i!ijZl·~f~iktilZ·Dtib=-m·~lt§ll!-~·~·~il~··IUUUIIll·~·E~ .. ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
A business must ensure that all projects undertaken are profitable in o rder to 

survive. Net present value compares present-day values of future estimated cash 
inflows with present-day cash outflows. However, such comparisons do not give 
managers the rate of return expected on the investment. 

If a business has a cost of capital of 12%, the return on a project must cover the 
cost of capital and yield a return that is greater than 12%. Managers should be 
able to calculate the rate of return that any project under consideration is likely 
to yield. This expected yield can then be compared with the cost of the capital 
needed to fund the project. The process involved is co calculate the present 
value of future cash flows which, when discounted, will equal zero. 

Select two discounting rates: one that gives a positive net present value and 
another that gives a negative nee present value. The results are then used in the 
following formula: 

internal rate of return= P +[(N-P)x _E__] 
p-n 
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where: 

P = % race giving positive NPV 

p = $ value of positive NPV 

N =%rate giving negative NPV 

n = $ value of negative NPV 

If n is a negative value, it should be added co the value of p in the denominator 
as mathematically the subtraction of a negative number will result in an increase 
in value. The internal rate of return can be calculated using two positive net 
present values. In this case, then part of the denominator should be deducted 
from the value of p. 

Other considerations affecting 
investment decisions 

44iE1~·~UDffl~·li~·\ZiiZ·=i·CIC,IZihti~:lm@l1C·i::1+._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Investment decisions are often linked to social accounting issues. You might 
be asked to consider how a decision arrived at by using any of the methods of 
appraisal might affect: 

• the workforce - does the decision require more workers? Does the decision 
mean that some workers will lose their jobs? 

• the environment - could the decision harm the environment or cause 
pollution? 

• the locality - is more space needed for expansion? Is the local infrastructure 
capable of supporting the new project? 

The time horizon involved in making sound capital investment decisions is 
generally long. Looking into the future makes the reliability of forecast data 
uncertain . Sensitivity analysis measures how responsive the outcome of such 
decisions is to the variability of revenues and costs. 

As you can imagine, in the real world sensitivity analysis can be much more 
complicated because, in a dynamic business environment, it is likely that several 
variables could change after the projected data were produced. 

Explain the term capital rationing. 

What is the difference between payback and discounted payback? 
What is the payback period? 

4 Identify two adva ntages of using payback as a method of investment appraisal. 
Write down the formula fo r calculating accounting rate of return. 

4il¥1hi·i,f\itMfi 
As director ofa business manufacturing 
office furniture, you are considering the 
purchase ofa computerised machine 
to cut the pieces oftimber required. 
The machine produces the pieces 12 
times faster and more accurately than 
at present. List the non-financial factors 
that you should take into account 
before deciding on the purchase. 

-
The initial investment in a project is $200000 and the project req uires additional working capital of $40000. Ca lculate the 
average investment in the project. 
A project yields a negative net present value. Identify two reasons why the managers of a business might still go ahead with 
the scheme. 
Write down the fo rmula fo r calculating the internal rate of return on a project and identify each component. 
What does the internal rate of return represent? 

Answers on p.192 
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A level questions and answers 

This section contains exam-style questions for selected 
A level topics followed by example answers. The answers are 
interspersed by expert comments (shown by the icon ) 
that indicate where credit is due and areas for improvement. 
Where the candidate has used their own figure, this is 
indicated by 'of' after the mark awarded. 

Topic 13 Preparation offinancial 
statements 

Ci#Mihi••-----------
The income statement for Abracadabra pie for the 
year ended 31 May 2014 was as follows. 

Revenue 
Cost of sales 
Gross profit 

Dividends received 
Gain on disposal of non-current asset 
Distribution costs 

Administrative expenses 
Profit from operations 

Finance costs 
Profit before tax 

Tax 
Profit attributable to equity holders 

sooo 
27835 

(14323) 

13512 

85 
213 

(4087) 

(2678) 

7045 

_j1_2Q) 
6925 

(3450) 

3475 

Non-current liabilities 

8% 2024 debentures 1500 

1500 

Current liabilities 

Trade payables 1492 2865 

Taxation 3450 1580 

Bank overdraft 94 
4942 4539 

Total liabilities 6442 4539 

Total equity and liabilities 23603 16615 

Additional information 
1 The company paid total dividends during the 

year totalling $190 OOO. 
2 During the year property, plant and equipment 

costing $430 OOO, on which the accumulated 
depreciation was $182 000, was sold. 
The total depreciation charge for the year was 
$1 875000. 

REQUIRED 
(a) Prepare a statement to show the net cash flow 

from operating activities. [10J 
(b) Prepare a statement of cash flows for the 

year ended 31 May 2014 in accordance with 
IAS7. [18] 

lffl@fflt!·ii,HW§I 
The last two statements of financial position were (a) 
as follows. 

Statements of financial position for the year 
ended 31 May 2014 

2014 2013 

sooo $000 
Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 16630 10785 

16630 10785 

Current assets 

Inventories 3551 2873 

Trade receivables 2668 2957 

Cash and cash equivalents 754 
6973 5830 

Total assets 23603 16615 

Equity 

Ordinary share capital ($1) 2500 1500 

Share premium 2000 1200 

Retained earnings 12661 9376 

Total equity 17161 12076 

Profit from operations 

Depreciation 

Gain on disposal 

Dividends received 

Increase in inventories 

Decrease in trade receivables 

Decrease in trade payables 

Interest paid 

Tax paid 

Net cash from operating 
activities 
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$000 

7045 (1) 

1875 (1) 

213 
(85) (1) 

(678) (1) 

289 (1) 
(1373) (1) 

7286 

(120) (1) 
(1580) (1) 

5586 (l)of 



(b) 

Statement of cash flow s for the year ended 
31 May2014 

$000 $000 
Cash flows from 5586 {1)of 
operating activities 
Cash flows from 
investing activities 
Purchase of property, (7968) (6 - see 
plant and equipment below) 
Proceeds from property, 461 (1) 

plant and equipment 
Dividends received _85_ (1) 

Net cash used in (7422) (1) 
investing activities 
Cash flows from 
financing activities 
Proceeds from share 1800 (1) 

issue 
Proceeds from issue of 1500 (1) 
debentures 
Dividends paid (190) (1) 

Net cash from financing _3_11_0(1) 
activities 
Net increase in cash and 1274 (1)(of) 
cash equivalents 
Cash and cash ~(1) 
equivalents at start of 
year 
Cash and cash _7_54:(1) 
equivalents at end of year 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
PPE at start of period 10785 (1) 
Depreciation (1875) (1) 
Carrying amount of disposed PPE (248) (1) 

PPE at end of period (16630) (1) 
PPE additions {7 968) (2) 

I .=Ji, This candidate has made one error in calculating the net 
\:IP' cash flow from operating activities and has added the 

gain on disposal instead of deducting it. An own figure has 
been brought forward correctly to the cash flow statement 
and all other entries are correct. The candidate uses the 
correct cash and cash equivalents figures, but the statement 
does not reconcile because of the error. Nevertheless, 26 of 
the available 28 marks are awarded and the candidate obtains 
an A grade. 

W@ffl@:ii,frd§I 
(a) 

Profit from operations 

Depreciation 
Gain on disposal 

Dividends received 

sooo 
7045 (1) 

1875 (1) 

(213) (1) 

(85) (1) 

Increase in inventories 
Decrease in trade receivables 

Decrease in trade payables 

Interest paid 
Tax paid 

678 

(289) 

1373 
10384 

(120) (1) 

(1580) (1) 

Net cash from operating activities 8684 (1 )of 

(b) 

Statement of cash flow s for year ended 31 M ay 2014 

sooo sooo 
Cash flows from operating activities 8648 (1)of 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and (7968) (6) 
equipment 
Proceeds from property, plant and {461) 
equipment 
Dividends received 85 (1) 

Net cash used in investing activities - {8344) {1)of 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from share issue 1800 (1) 
Proceeds from issue of debentures 1500 (1) 

Dividends paid 190 
Net cash from financing activities 3490 (1)of 

Netincreaseincashandcash ~ (1)of 
equivalents 

Cashandcashequivalentsatstart ~ (1) 
of year 

Cashandcashequivalentsatend ~ (1) 
of year 

Purchase o f property, plant and equipment 
PPE at start of period 10785 (1) 
Depreciation (1 875) (1) 

NBV of disposed PPE {248) (1) 
PPE at end of period (16630) (1) 

PPE additions {7968) (2) 

(:I ~h~~:;!~:!~ z:~::~:i:~::/;~;~~:;~ :;a::;~:~ 
all been reversed, e.g. the increase in inventories has been 
added instead of being subtracted. The candidate has 
calculated correctly the cash spent on additions and treated it 
correctly in the statement but has deducted the disposal 
proceeds. You must always add any cash which comes in to 
the business (inflows) and deduct that which goes out 
(outflows). The dividends paid (an outflow) have been added 
but should have been subtracted. Due to these errors, the net 
increase in cash and cash equivalents does not reconcile with 
the opening and closing balances on the cash and cash 
equivalents account. The candidate demonstrates a sound 
knowledge of IAS7 but the errors reduce the marks gained 
and the answer achieves a C grade. 
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GMMihi• 
Peter, Ronald and Sultan have been in partnership 
for several years sharing profits in the ratio 4: 3: 2, 
after charging a salary for Peter of $20 OOO and 
interest on opening capital of 5%. Accounts are 
prepared to 30 September. 

Peter decided to retire on 31 March 2014, 
withdrawing the balance owed to him and Tulilah 
was admitted to the partnership on this date, 
introducing fixed capital of $7S000. It was decided 
that the profit.sharing ratio for Ronald, Sultan and 
T ulilah would be 3: 2: 1 after charging a salary for 
Tulilah of $20000 and interest on opening capital 
ofS%. 

The opening capital and current account balances 

Capital 

Current 

Peter 

Ronald 

Sultan 

Peter 
Ronald 
Sultan 

50000 

40000 

35000 

12743 er 
3482 Dr 

14927 er 

The net profit for the year was $60000 and this 
was earned evenly throughout the year. 

(b) 

REQUIRED 
(a) Prepare an appropriation statement for the 

year ended 30 September 2014. 
Goodwill was valued at SS4000 and was not 
to be maintained in the books of account. (14) 

(b) Prepare capital accounts in columnar form 
to show this. (10) 

Rfffl@ffi@·ii,bl.§41 
(a) 

Appropriation statement 
1 October 2013 to 31 March 2014 

Peter Ronald Sultan 

Salary 10000 (1) 

Interest on 1250 (1) 1 OOO (1) 875 (1) 
capital 
Profit4 :3 :2 7500 (1) 5625 (1) 3750 (1) 

1 April 2014 to 30 September 2014 
Ronald Sultan Tulilah 

Salary 10000 

Interest on 1 OOO (1) 875 (1) 1875 (1) 
capital 

Total 

10000 

3125 

16875 

30000 

Total 

10000 

3750 

Profit3 : 2 : 1 8125 (1) 5417 (1) 2708 (1) 16250 

30000 

Capital 

T 

Goodwill 27000 18000 9000 (2) 

Bank 74 000 

Bal c/d 31 OOO (1) 29000 (1) 66000 (1) 

74000 58000 47000 75000 

i .;;:,.I An excellent answer with just one careless error. The 
'=I" salary due to Tulilah has been given to Ronald and 

1 mark has therefore been lost. All other entries are correct. 

The goodwill has been posted correctly. Net credit entries of 
$9000 and $6000 for Ronald and Sultan would have been 

equally acceptable. The candidate scores 23 of the 24 marks 
available and is awarded an A grade. 

Bal b/d 50000 

Cash 

Goodwill 24000 

74 OOO 

Bal b/d 
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5 
40000 35000 (1) 

75000 (1) 

18000 12000 (2) 

58000 47000 75000 

31 OOO 29000 66000 (1) 



W@ffl@~ii,frN41 
(a) 

Appropriation statement 
1 October 2013 to 31 March 2014 

Peter Ronald Sultan 

Salary 20000 

Interest on 2500 2000 1750 
capital 

Profit 4 :3 : 2 1677 (1)of 1250 (1)of 833 (1)of 

(b) 

Total 

20000 

6250 

3750 

30000 

1 April 2014 to 30 September 2014 

Ronald Sultan Tulilah Total 

Salary 10000 10000 

Interest on 1 OOO (1) 875 (1) 1875(1) 3750 
capital 

Profit3 : 2:1 8125 (1)of 5417 (1)of 2708(1)of 16250 
30000 

Capital 

Goodwill 24000 18000 12000 

Bank 26000 

Bal c/d 49000 41 OOO 66000 (3) 

74000 67000 53000 84000 

I :JJ, This candidate has erroneously charged a full year's 
'-=" salary to Ronald and has made the same error when 
calculating the interest on capital for the first half of the 
year's appropriation. The errors have not been repeated 
following Ronald's retirement and Tuli/ah's admission. The 
candidate has calculated the goodwill adjustments correctly 
but has reversed the entries. These errors result in marks 
being lost and are avoidable. 

Topic 19 Costing principles and 
systems 

CiMMihi• 
Spurgeon Ltd make a single product and have two 
production and two service departments. 

Information for May 2014 was as follows: 

Production Service 
departments departments 

Mixing Packaging Stores Canteen 

Overheads $195500 $127850 $108450 $147645 

Direct machine 23625 17815 
hours 

Direct labour 9845 28975 
hours 

Apportionment of the service departments' 
overheads is made at the following rates: 

Stores 

Canteen 

Mixing 
50% 

40% 

Packaging Canteen 
30% 20% 

60% 

s 
Bal b/d 50000 40000 35000 (1) 

Cash 75000 (1) 

Goodwill 27000 18000 9000 

-- --- ---
50000 67000 53000 84000 
-----

Bal b/d 49000 41 OOO 66000 (1) 

REQUIRED 
(a) Prepare an overhead absorption apportionment 

table that shows the reapportionment of 
the service departments' overheads to the 
appropriate departments for May 2014. [10} 

(b) Calculate the overhead absorption rate for 
each production department using the most 
appropriate base. {6} 

W@ffi4ii,fr,WM 
(a) 

Mixing Packaging Stores Canteen 

over- 195500 127850 108450 147645 {1) 
heads 
Stores 54225 {1) 32535(1)(108450) {1) 21690 {1) 
Canteen 84667 84668 {169335) {1) 

334392 {1) 245053 {1) 
of of 

(b) 

Mixing 334392 {1) of+ 23625 (1) = $14.15 per 
machine hour {1) of 

Packaging 245053 (1) of+ 28975 (1) = $8.46 per 
labour hour (1) of 
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A This candidate has produced a table in good form, but Topic 21 Standard costing 
\:, makes the error of reapportioning the canteen's 

overheads in a 50: 50 ratio rather than 40:60. The calculation ·Em~lmll .... -----------
of the overhead absorption rate for both departments is l:!£00 WJl'P 
correct using the candidate's own figures. Consequently, only 
2 marks are lost and the candidate is awarded 14 out of the 
total available of 16 marks and receives an A grade. 

Ci#MMi 
Information for Alfred's business for May 2014 
consisted of the following: 

Sales 12000 units 

Selling price per unit 
Direct materials cost 
Direct labour cost 
Variable overheads 
Fixed costs 

REQUIRED 

Calculate the: 
(a) contribution per unit 

$40 
$150000 

$180000 
$30000 

$100000 

(b) break.even point in units 
(c} margin of safety in units 

W@ffiiiii,frdAM 
(a) 

Selling price 

Direct materials 

Direct labour 

Variable overheads 

12.50 (1) 

15.00 (1) 

4.50 

40.00 (1) 

(32 .00) 

[5) 
[3) 
[2) 

Contribution per unit 8 .00 (1)of 

(b) Break-even := 100000 (1).;.. 8 (l)of 

= 12 500 units (1) of 

(c) Margin of safety = 12500 - 10000 = 2500 units 

j';,.__}, This candidate makes a calculation error of the variable 
'=" overheads (it should be $2.50), but has not made any 
other mistakes. The contribution per unit has been carried 
forward to correctly cakulate the break-even point. The 
margin of safety calculation is incorrect. It should be based on 
actual sales (12 OOO units) less the break-even level of sales. 
The candidate fails to score marks for part (c). Seven marks 
out of a possible 10 for the question is just below the level 
required for a grade A answer. 

Jarminder pie makes a product, the jarm. The 
company operates a standard costing system and 
sales and production are expected to be 3500 units 
each month. The selling price is $11. 

Jarminder purchases materials from a local supplier 
in bulk and receives a 10% discount on the standard 
price of $10 per kg and requires 4kgto make each 
unit. The workforce is paid $12 per hour and it 
takes a worker 4 hours to fully complete a unit. 

Actual results for a recent month were as follows. 

Sales units 3400 
Sales revenue($) 38650 

Units produced 3550 

Material quantity (kg) 14250 
Material cost($) 127600 

Direct labour hours 14300 
Labour cost{$) 168500 

REQUIRED 
(a) Calculate the following variances for May: 

(i} Sales price variance 
(ii) Sales volume variance 
(iii)Total sales variance 
(iv) Materials price variance 
(v) Materials usage variance 
(vi} Total materials variance 
(vii) labour rate variance 
(viii) labour efficiency variance 
(ix) Total labour variance [18) 

(b) What do the labour rate and labour efficiency 
variances that you have calculated indicate? [4) 

W@ffiiiii,BWAM 
(a) 

(i) Sales price variance: 37 400 - 38650 = 1250 (F) (2) 

(ii) Sales volume variance: 38500 - 37400 = 1100 (A) (2) 

(iii) Total sales variance: 1250 (F) + 1100 (A) = 150 (F) 
(2)of 

(iv) Materials price variance: 128 250 - 126 700 = 1550 
(F) 

(v) Materials usage variance: 127800 - 128250 = 450 
(A)(2) 

(vi) Total materials variance: 1550 (F) + 450 (A) = 1100 
(F) (2)of 

(vii) Labour rate variance: 171600 - 168500 = 3100 (F) (2) 

(viii) Labour efficiency variance: 170400 - 171 600 = 
1200(A) (2) 

(ix) Total labour variance: 3100 (F) + 1200 (A) = 1900 

(F) (2)of 
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(b) The favourable labour rate variance shows less was spent 
on labour than standard. (l)of 

The efficiency was adverse as more labour hours than 
standard were used. (l)ofThis may have been because of a 
poorly trained workforce charging less but taking longer. (l)of 

As the labour rate favourable variance is greater than 
the efficiency adverse variance, the actual labour cost is 
favourable.(l)of 

I:::.}. This candidate makes a transposition error in the 
\:J' calculation of the materials price variance: 126 700 

should be 127 600 and therefore loses 2 marks. The 2 

own-figure marks for the total materials variance have been 
awarded and the candidate scores 16 out of the 18 marks 

available, as well as the 4 marks for a good narration. The 
candidate scores 20 out of the 22 marks available and is 

awarded an A grade. 

Topic 22 Investment appraisal 

Cifu§@Nj 
Gurdeep Ltd is considering investing in a S-year 
project that will require an initial outlay of 
$SOO OOO and there will be no residual value. The 
expected cash inflow for each of the first 2 years 
is expected to be $125 OOO and it is then expected 
to grow year by year by 4% then 5% and finally 6% 
when the project will be discontinued. 

The company's cost of capital is 10% and the rates 
are as follows: 

Year 10% 

REQUIRED 

0.909 

0.826 
0 .751 

0 .683 
0 .621 

(a) Calculate the net present value of the project 
and advise the directors, giving a reason, 
whether they should proceed. [14) 
The discount rates at 15% are as follows. 

Year 15% 
0.870 

0 .756 
0 .658 

0.572 
0 .497 

(b) Calculate the internal rate of return and explain 
what your answer shows. [14) 

lffl@fflt!·ii,fr,@M 
(a) 

Year Cash flow Discount Net 
factor present 

value 
(400000) 1.000 (400000) (1) 

125000 (1) 0.909 113625 (1) 

125000 (1) 0.826 103250 (1) 

130000 (1) 0.751 97630 (1) 

136500 (1) 0.683 93230 (1) 

144690 (1) 0 .62 1 89852 (1) 

97587 (1) 

The directors should proceed (1) because there is a positive net 
presentvalue.(l)of 

(b) 

Year Cash flow Discount Net 
factor present 

value 
(400000) 1.000 (400000) 

125000 0.870 108750 

125000 0.756 94500 

130000 0.658 85540 

136500 0.572 78078 

144690 (1) 0.497 71911 
38779 

97587 (1) of 
IRR=10%{1)+-------x5{1) 

97 587 (1) of+ 38 779 

= 13.58% 

(1) 

(1) 

(1) 

(1) 
(1) 

This shov.rs the interest rate which will give zero net present 
value (1). At interest rates lower than the IRR the project should 
be accepted, but at higher races it should be rejected. So the 
project should be undertaken, the IRR is greater than Gurdeep's 
costofcapical(1). 

i.::}, This candi~ate correctly calculates the net present value 

\:J' of the pro1ect and advises the directors correctly, so 
they are awarded maximum marks for this part of the 

question. An error has been made in the calculation of the 
/RR in spite of calculating the net present value at 15% 

correctly. The candidate has added the NPV at 15% in the 
denominator instead of subtracting it. Note that the /RR must 

be higher than 15% as a positive NPV is obtained at that rate. 
The candidate has accordingly lost 2 marks but scores 26 out 

of the 28 available and is awarded an A grade. 
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lffl@ffi§:fi,b§MI 
(a) 

Year Cash flow Discount Net 
factor present 

value 
400000 1.000 400000 

125000 (1) 0.909 113625 (1) 

125000 (1) 0.826 103250 (1) 

130000 (1) 0.751 97630 (1) 

136500 (1) 0.683 93230 (1) 

144690 (1) 0.621 89852 (1) 

897587 

The directors should not proceed beca use there is not 

a profit. 

(b) 

Year Cash flow Discount Net 
factor present 

value 
400000 1.000 400000 

125000 0.870 108750 

125000 0.756 94500 (1) 

130000 0.658 85540 (1) 

136500 0.572 78078 (1) 

144690 (1) 0.497 ___llfil]_ (1) 

= 
897587 

IRR= 10% + X 5 (1) 
897 587 + 838 779 

= 12.58% 

This shows the interest rate which will give zero net present 
value (1). At interest races lower than the IRR the project should 
be accepted, but at higher rates it should be rejected (1). 

This candidate hos made some fundamental errors. 
The investment made by the business has been treated 

incorrectly as an inflow. There is a resultant high positive 
net present value making the projec.t worthwhile but the 
candidate does not understand this and has advised the 
direc.tors not to proceed as 'there is not a profit'. The 
incorrec.t handling of the initial outlay has been repeated 
while discounting at 15% and the resultant net present value 
has been added (it should be subtracted) to the denominator 
in the calculation of the internal rate of retum. Note that the 
internal rate of return will be considerably higher than 15% 
because at this rate there is still a large positive net present 

value. 
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Now test yourself 
answers 

1 A personal account is found in the purchases and sales 
ledgers. le is the account of credit suppliers and credit 

2 (a) Nominal accounts record revenue incomes and expenses. 

(b) They are found in the general ledger. 

3 (a) Ledgers are divided into three pares co make their use 

more manageable as all the accounts of a similar nature 
are kept together. 

(b) General ledger, sales ledger and purchases ledger. 

4 Answers include tills rolls, receipts from suppliers, copies of 
receipts given to customers, paying-in slips, bank scacemencs, 
cheque counterfoils. 

5 Purchases book, sales book, purchases returns book, sales 

returns book, journal and cash book. 

6 The cash book. 

7 ~ D 
Bad debts account 500 Customer's account SOO 

8 (a) $25 500 X 3% = $765 

(b) Dr Provision for doubtful $55 Statement of 
debts financial position 

Cr Adjustment co provision SSS Income statement 

9 (a) Capital expenditure is money spent on non-current 

assets and their improvement; revenue expenditure is 
money spent on regular running coses. 

(b) Items involving capital expenditure appear in a 

statement of financial position; revenue expenditure 
appears in an income statement. 

10 A further injection of capital by the trader and the sale of a 

delivery vehicle chat is no longer needed. 

11 The accruals concept. 

12 Freehold land. 

13 The straight-line mechOO, the reducing balance mechOO and 

the revaluation method. 

14 assets = equity + liabilities ... 
The assumption that a business will continue co operate in 

its present form for the foreseeable future. 

(,) $3700 ($3500 + $200) 

(b) $2400 ($3000 less $600) 

Consistency. 

4 (a) Prudence. 

(b) $98000. 

The affairs of the business and the individual muse be 

separated. Only those relating co the business are recorded 
in the financial statements. 

Qffi 
Credit $130. 

To confirm that the total of debit entries is equal to the 
total of credit entries. 

Debit side: motor vehicles, returns outwards, carriage 

inwards and carriage outwards. Credit side: sales and 
discounts received. 

4 There may be errors in ledger accounts chat do not prevent 

a trial balance from balancing. 

Commission, reversal, omission, principle, original entry and 

compensating 

6 An error of commission occurs when the correct amount is 
posted to the correct side of the wrong account; an error of 

principle occurs when a transaction is posted co the wrong 
class of account. An error of commission does not affect 

the accuracy of either an income statement or a statement 
of financial position, but an error of principle makes both 

statements inaccurate. 

Dr $2000 co suspense account. 

8 (a) Commission. 

(b) Omission. 

(c) Commission. 

(,) D, c, 
Suspense account 246 

Wong 246 

(b) D, c, 
Suspense account 550 

Rene payable account so 
Rene receivable account 500 

10 To check the accuracy of transactions made through his or 
her bank account. 

11 Whenever the bank sends the trader a statement or 
whenever the trader feels it is necessary. 

12 Boch are payments made automatically by a bank on 
behalf of a trader. Standing orders are for a fixed amount 

determined by the trader; direct debits give authority to 
the payee to withdraw variable amounts from the trader's 

13 Lodgements are deposits paid into a bank account. 

14 False. They are cheques already entered in the cash book 

that have not been cleared by the bank and so do not 
appear on the copy of the trader's account prepared by the 

bank . 

15 $23.78 as this is the amount written on the instruction to 

the bank (i.e. the cheque). 

16 They may differ because the cash book is not updated with 
such entries as bank charges, interest etc. and also because 

of unpresented cheques and outstanding lodgements. 

17 Update the cash book with payments made by the bank; 

update the cash book with payments received by the 
bank; correct any errors in the cash book (assuming the 

bank statement is correct); prepare the bank reconciliation 

18 To check the accuracy of entries made in an individual 
ledger. 

Nowtestyourselfanswers @ 



19 One for each separate purchases ledger and each separate 
sales ledger. 

20 All would appear in a sales ledger control account except 
for the provision for doubtful debts and cash sales, which 
would be accounts in the general ledger. 

21 A memorandum account is one chat does not form pare of 
the double-entry system. 

22 (a) Contra items arise when a customer is also a supplier 
and therefore has entries in both the sales ledger control 
account and the purchases ledger control account. 

(b) They are also known as sec-offs as amounts owed by a 
business may be set off against amounts owed to the 
same business. 

23 Purchases ledger control account. 

24 Greater credit entries in the accounts than debit entries. 

25 Answers include settling the account and then returning the 
goods; payment of a fixed amount each month, the total of 
which is greater than the current value of purchases made; 
overpayment of the amount owed. 

26 Answers include that control accounts check the accuracy 
of entries made in the personal ledgers; they enable some 
errors to be located quickly; they allow the amounts owed 
to trade payables and owed by trade receivables co be 
determined quickly. 

(al Transposition Increase of Capital account 
$153 increase {profit 

increase of $100) 

(bi Compensating Increase of Capital account 
$100 increase of $100; 

non-current assets 
increase of $100 

(cl Commission No change No change 

(di Omission Decrease of No change 
$519 

(el Principle Decrease of Non-current assets 
$375 decrease of $375 

(fl Reversal of Increase of Trade receivables 
entries $388 increase of $388 

Direct materials, direct wages and manufacturing royalties. 

(a) Direct materials, direct wages and manufacturing 
royalties. 

(b) Depreciation of factory machinery and any other coses 
incurred in the factory, e.g. factory insurance and factory 
power. 

Royalties are payments made to the inventor of a process 
or product for the right co use it. They are included in the 
prime cost section. 

4 Raw materials, work in progress and finished gOClds. 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. 

6 Dr Provision or unrealised ro t account Cr 

Year 1 Balance b/d 600 Year 1 Income 600 

Year 2 Income 120 Year 2 Balance b/d 600 

Year 3 Balance c/d 480 

600 600 

Year 3 Balance b/d 480 

7 Returns inwards and opening inventory. 

8 opening inventory+ purchases 

9 cost of sales + gross profit = sales 

10 To calculate the profit (or loss) made by each department 
as large profits may disguise a department chat is not 
performing efficiently. 

11 Rent and electricity should be apportioned according to 
floor space occupied, although electricity could be allocated 
to the consuming department if meters were installed in 
each department. Sales and staff wages should be allocated 
to the department in which they occur. Staff canteen 
facilities should be apportioned according to numbers of 
staff employed in each department. 

12 The department should be closed if it is truly making losses. 
The costs incurred by the department should be examined 
to see if they can be allocated rather than apportioned in 
some arbitrary way. After this exercise, profitability can be 
gauged more accurately. 

13 Carriage inwards should not appear in the profit and loss 
section of an income statement - it should be charged co 
the prime cost section in a manufacturing statement or co 
the purchases in the cost of sales in the trading section of 
the income statement. Carriage outwards is added with the 
other expenses and deducted from gross profit. 

14 (a) profit for the year+ revenue expenses= gross profit 

(b) gross profit - revenue expenses= profit for the year 

(c) gross profit - profit for the year= revenue expenses 

15 A break-down recovery vehicle; a lifting jack; a desk for a 
sales representative. 

16 Premises; machinery; office equipment; vehicles. 

17 Inventory; trade receivables; bank balance; cash in hand. 

18 Cash inflows are important for the shore-term survival of a 
business as they are used co pay suppliers, which otherwise 
might stop their provision, for goods and services. 

19 Cash is money held in the form of coins and notes; cash 
equivalents are highly liquid short-term investments that can 
be converted easily into cash. 

20 Profits are calculated on the accruals basis but cash flows 
do not take these into account. An income statement can 
include 'non-cash expenses' such as depreciation, whereas 
cash flows deal with movements of cash. 

21 (a) No movement in cash as this is a credit transaction. 

(b) No movement in cash as this is a credit transaction. 

(c) Cash outflow of $450. 

(d) Cash outflow of $5000. 

(e) Cash inflow of $300. 

(f) No movement in cash as this is a credit transaction. 
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22 The cash resources will increase as credit customers will 
have paid off part of the amounts owed. 

dlt 
1 False. It could be verbal or implied, but it is safer to have a 

written agreement to settle any problems that might arise. 

2 A partnership agreement covers matters chat arise 
in the course of business so that any disputes or 
misunderstandings can be resolved speedily. 

3 Partners must contribute equal amounts of capital and 
are not entitled to a salary or interest on capital. Profits (or 
losses) are to be shared equally. Loans will earn 5% interest 
per annum and partners will not be charged interest on 
their drawings. 

4 An appropriation section shows how profits are shared 
among partners. 

5 Partners, like all owners of businesses, earn profits. A salary 
paid co a partner is part of profits and is not a business 
expense, so it should not be included in the income 
statement along with other salaries. 

6 False. Partners can be charged interest on drawings (as a 
method of preventing excessive drawings). They can also 
earn interest on capital (as a reward for their investment in 
the partnership). 

7 A partner could have a debit balance on their current 
account if they make drawings and interest on drawings 
that exceeds the balance on the account plus all forms of 
profit. 

8 Answers include goodwill adjustment and capital withdrawn 
from the business. 

9 Answers include the balance brought down; drawings; 
interest on drawings; balance carried down. 

10 Answers include balance brought down; salary; interest on 
capital; share of residual profits; balance carried down. 

11 Answers include entry of new partner; retirement of 
a partner; a change in profit share; dissolution of the 
partnership. 

12 To ensure that the 'old' partners are credited with changes in 
the value of net assets that have occurred during their time 
in the business. 

13 Answers include when a partner dies or retires; is declared 
bankrupt; by agreement of the partners. 

14 Goodwill is the cost of acquiring a business less the total 
value of the assets and liabilities chat have been purchased. 

15 Answers include average profits; average weekly sales; 
average gross fees; super profits. 

16 False. A purchaser cannot buy customers. 

17 $32000 ($100000 less $56000 less $12000). 

18 Inherent goodwill is goodwill chat is enjoyed by a business 
while it is a going concern - it has not been purchased. le is 
not included in a statement of financial position. 

Accumulated fund. 

2 (a) Ancillary activities are chose that are not core activities. 

(b) Answers include running a snack bar; treasure hunts; 
dinner dances, family games' nights. 

Advantages include large sums are raised in one go; 
members feel that they should be active in the club in order 
to get value for money. Disadvantages include no further 
income from the member; members might feel that they no 
longer need to attend the club. 

4 False. Subscriptions in arrears is a current asset; subscriptions 
in advance is a current liability. 

6 

Accumulated fund. 

Subscriptions account 

Balance b/d 500 Balance b/d 400 

lncomeand 10565 Bank 10500 
expenditure 

Balancec/d 

Balanceb/d 

85 Balance c/d 

lIBll 
250 Balance b/d 

250 

lIBll 
85 

ON 
Opening capital is derived by deducting the total liabilities 
from the total assets. 

Loss of $18000 (closing capital $37000 less opening capital 
$45000 less capital introduced $10000). 

False. Cash paid is debited to the adjustment account in 
order to calculate purchases for the year. 

4 True. 

Depreciation of $8000. 

6 Based on a mark-up of 20%, the closing inventory should be 
$3250. 

Sales 36000 

Less cost of sales 

Opening inventory 750 

Purchases 32500 

33250 

Closing inventory (3250) (30000) 

Gross profit ___&_QQQ_ 

The actual closing inventory, however, was $400. Therefore, 
the inventory destroyed in the fire is valued at $2850 ($3250 
less$400). 

@tj:• 
1 First in first out (FIFO) and weighted cost average (AVCO). 

2 The cost of purchase and cost of conversion, together with 
any other coses incurred in bringing the goods to their 
present location and condition. 

3 The selling price less any expenses incurred in bringing the 
goods co a condition and location ready for sale. 

4 Inventories should be valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. 

5 IAS2. 

6 Last in first out (LIFO). 

7 LI FO. 
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8 Closing inventories shown in a statement of financial 
position are always based on a physical count. 

9 The periodic method values inventory at one time, generally 
the financial year end, whereas the perpetual method values 
inventory after each transaction. 

10 Advantages include it feels intuitively correct; issue prices are 
actual prices; closing inventory is based on recent prices; it is 
easy to calculate; it is an 'acceptable' method. Disadvantages 

include because it feels right it could be felt that this is the 
way goods are issued; issues are not based on the most 
recent prices, so care muse be taken in pricing; it shows a 
higher profit than other methods in times of rising prices, 
which may be contrary to the concept of prudence. 

11 False. The seller of fish can use whatever method they 
choose. However, it would seem sensible to sell first the fish 

that has been purchased first. 

12 (a) Sales should be added co the valuation. 

(b) Purchases should be deducted. 

(c) Returns should be deducted. 

13 (a) Inventory that has been overvalued will overvalue 
profit. 

(b) Inventory chat has been undervalued will undervalue 
profit. 

1 Depreciation is the cost of a non-current asset spread over 
its useful life. 

2 Freehold land. 

3 Any two from straight-line method, reducing balance 
method and revaluation method. 

4 $2500 ($20000 less $17 500). 

5 Enter instalments in each year's income statement and 
credit provision for depreciation account. 

6 Carrying amount is cost of the non-current asset less the 
total depreciation charged co date. 

7 $6000 per annum ($50 OOO less $2000 + 8). 

8 Year 1 = $32000 ($80000 x 40%); 

year 2 = $19200 ($48000 x 40%). 

9 Carrying amount = $3500; sold for $3200. 
Therefore, loss on disposal = $300. 

10 Carrying amount = $38000; sold for $40000. Therefore, 
profit on disposal = $2000. 

Ordinary shares and preference shares. 

Non-current liabilities. 

Debentures are loans made to the company from which the 
holder expects co receive the agreed interest together with 
the redemption of the debenture at the end of the period. 
The holder of convertible loan stock also receives interest 
at an agreed rate, but at the end of the term has the right 
to exchange their stock for ordinary shares at a previously 
agreed price. 

4 The lessor is the owner of a non-current asset. The lessee 

has the use of the asset and pays the lessee for this facility. 

Hire purchase is an agreement whereby the purchaser of 
an asset pays to the seller instalments consisting of partial 
repayment together with interest charges. The asset is not 
owned legally by the purchaser until the final instalment 
has been paid, but it may still be recorded as an asset in the 
purchaser's statement of financial position (an example of 
substance over form), together with a payable entry in the 
liabilities section co account for the outstanding balance. 

Any two from business owners, managers, employees, trade 
unions, bank managers, customers, suppliers, investors, 

competitors, the government and tax authorities. 

Ratios put the data into context and allow comparisons to 
be made between different businesses of differing sizes. 

This figure in isolation has little value. The profit may be 
a tiny fraction of previous years' profits or it may be an 
improvement if previous results showed reported losses. 
Also, the profit may be excellent for a small general store but 
poor if the results were for a large banking corporation. The 
profit should be put into context. 

4 (a) gross profit margin -~gco~ss-;p_co_fit~ x 100 
netsales(revenue) 

net profit before interest 
b return on capital = and tax (operating profit) x 

100 
( ) employed capital employed 

(c) current ratio = current assets :1 
current liabilities 

(d) liquid ratio 
current assets - inventory :l 

current liabilities 

(e) trade receivables turnover = cra:~~~~:~:~les x 365 

(f) trade payables turnover 
trade payables x 

365 
credit purchases 

(g) inventory turnover 
average inventory x 

365 
cost of goods sold 

Answers include the historic nature of the figures used to 
calculate the ratios; published financial statements show 
an overall picture, which could mask inefficiencies in parts 
of the organisation; the results show only the monetary 
aspects of the business; there are difficulties in comparing 
like with like as businesses and the environment in which 
they exist are constantly changing. 

U'\ilif• 
1 Direct cam are those that can be definitively attr ibuted co 

a cost unit, whereas indirect coses are attributable to general 
non-specific units. 

2 Check your sketches against Figures 12.2 and 12.S on pp. 81-2. 

3 (a) Semi-variable coses contain a combination of both fixed 
and variable costs. 
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(b) Stepped costs are fixed costs up to a certain level, which 
then causes an increase (a step). 

(c) Sunk costs are those that have arisen in the past and 
as they have been incurred are not relevant to the 
decision-making process. 

4 The components of prime cost are direct materials, direct 
labour coses and direct expenses. 

5 Variable costs change in direct relation co levels of business 
activity. Examples include d irect materials, direct labour 
costs and royalties. 

6 Semi-variable costs cannot be classified as either fixed costs 
or variable costs as they contain elements of both. Examples 
include charges for util ities, e.g. electricity, gas, water, 
telephone. 

7 $27500 (7500 X $3 + $5000). 

8 Contribution is the difference between selling price and 
total variable costs. 

9 $27 ($65 less $38). 

10 Answers include costing special or one-off opportunities; 
deciding whether to make or buy in a produce; choosing 
between alternative strategies; penetration/destroyer pricing; 
calculating break-even. 

11 A key factor is a factor of production that limits the activity 
of the business. 

12 The break-even point is the level of sales revenue or units 
sold at which there is neither a profit nor a loss. Ac this 
point, contribution equals total fixed coses. le may be 
calculated by using the unit contribution method or the 
contribution co sales ratio method, or by drawing a graph. 

13 break-even point = total fixed coses 
contribution per unit 

14 The first stage is to calculate the contribution to sales ratio: 

contribution to sales ratio 
total contribution x 

100 
total sales revenue 

The result is then divided into total fixed costs to give a 
break-even point: 

break-even point = contr~:~~i:~et! ~~; ratio 

15 (a) The unit contribution method. 

(b) The contribution to sales ratio method. 

16 Total costing. 

17 Answers include costing a produce and setting prices. 

18 Answers include cost centre - each department; cost unit 
- each piece of furniture. 

19 Rent, local taxes and insurance of premises should be 
apportioned according to the floor area occupied by each 
department. Supervisory wages should be apportioned 
according co the numbers of staff being supervised. 

20 Direct materials and direct wages are allocated; electrical 
power and the cost of running a maintenance department 
are apportioned. 

21 Overhead absorption race. 

22 Reciprocal service departments provide services for each 
other. 

23 An over-absorption of $4000. 

24 Absorption costing absorbs all of the costs into production, 
whereas marginal costing differentiates between the fixed 
and variable coses and includes only the variable ones. 

1 True. 

2 False. The statement shows cash movements into and out of 
a business. 

3 False. It is a historic document and not a predictor of future 

4 IAS7. 

5 Answers include that the statement shows internal and 
external sources of finance; it shows information not 
contained in an income statement or statement of financial 
position; it allows comparisons co be made if the IAS 7 
format is used. 

6 Operating activities, investing activities and financing 
activities. 

7 Depreciation does not involve a movement in cash, but it 
has reduced reported profits so it needs to be added back 
to arrive at the cash generated by business activity. 

8 le should be added co reported profit for the same reason 
outlined in answer co question 7 above. 

9 There is no movement of cash so it is not entered in the 
statement of cash flows. 

10 The dividends should be shown under financing activities. 
$46000 should be included as only actual movements in 
cash are shown in the statement. The proposed dividend is 
a non-adjusting event. 

11 Net debt is the borrowings of a company less cash and 
other liquid resources. 

12 False. All large limited companies must prepare a statement 
regardless of their profitability or lack of it. 

13 Answers include on the admission of a new partner; on 
the retirement or death of a current partner; if the partners 
decide to alter the profit-sharing ratios; if the partners 
decide co terminate the partnership. 

14 The assets of the business may have changed in value since 
the lase statement of financial position was prepared. 

15 (a) Any two from the carrying amount of each non-current 
asset; any bad debts or discounts allowed to receivables; 
the profit on revaluation that is transferred co the 
individual partners' capital accounts. 

(b) Any two from the amount for which each asset has 
been disposed of; any discounts received from payables; 
loss on the revaluation that is transferred to the 
partners' capital accounts. 

16 (a) A loss. 

(b) The corresponding double entry would be debits in the 
capital accounts of the partners. shared in their profit­
sharing ratios. 

17 60000 shares with a value of $132000. Each share has a 
value of $2.20. 
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A capital redemption reserve is set up by a transfer from 
a revenue reserve when a company redeems preference 
shares or buys back its own shares. It protects the company's 
payables by ensuring chat the equity does not fall below the 
level prior to the transaction. 

(a) A capital redemption reserve is needed. 

(b) The value of the capital redemption reserve is $25000 
($50000 less capital of $25000 raised from new issue). 

(c) The amount is transferred from the retained earnings. 

The premium should be debited co retained earnings since 
the redemption has not been funded by a new issue of 
shares. 

4 A bonus issue is a distribution of shares co existing 
shareholders in the same proportion as their holding and is 
completed by transferring from the company's reserves. A 
rights issue is a share distribution co existing shareholders in 
the same proportion as their holding and usually at a price 
lower than market price. The company raises cash with such 
an issue. Reserves are not depleted. 

A rights issue should be made as a bonus issue uses reserves 
and no cash is raised. 

Revenue reserves are those that arise as a result of the 
profitability of the company's trading activities. Examples 
are retained earnings and general reserve. Capital reserves 
do not arise from trading activities; they arise from capital 
transactions. Examples are share premium (from the issue of 
shares at a premium), revaluation reserve (from the upward 
valuation of non-current assets) and capital redemption 
reserve (by the transfer from a revenue reserve). 

u\ilij.j 
$71 OOO ($200000 less $129000). lc should be shown as an 
intangible non-current asset. 

Negative goodwill $60000 ($500000 less $560000). It should 
be shown as a negative non-current asset. 

Sukhdev would show a non-current asset valued at $50000 
in a financial statement. Rollo has no business therefore no 
goodwi ll. He has sold his business and made a capital gain 
(profit) of $50 OOO. 

4 Answers include a positive return on investment resulting 
from synergy; integration; greater geographic or skill 
coverage; greater market share; economies of scale. 

(a) A holding company is one that owns more than 50% of 
the ordinary shares of a subsidiary company. 

(b) A subsidiary company is one chat has more than 50% of 
its ordinary shares owned by a holding company. 

(c) If all the ordinary shares are held by a holding company, the 
subsidiary company becomes a wholly owned subsidiary. 

(d) An associated company is one that is partly owned 
(between 20% and 50%) by another company. 

In both cases the shares held would be shown as a non-

uiiiili 
1 Ordinary share capital, permanent preference share capital 

and reserves. 

2 Only those dividends paid during the year are accounted 
for in the financial statements. The final dividend from the 
previous year and the current year's interim dividend are the 
usual entries. The proposed final dividend is shown as a note 
to the accounts. 

3 A share premium account arises by the issue of shares at 
a price greater than the nominal value. It may be used co 
facilitate the issue of bonus shares, co write off preliminary 
expenses, to write off any expenses incurred in a share issue 
or to provide any premium payable on the redemption of 
shares or debentures. 

4 Holders of participating preference shares receive an 
additional dividend above the normal percentage that they 
should receive when company profits are greater than a 
predetermined level. 

5 (a) A document acknowledging a loan made co the company 
by an individual or another company at an agreed rate of 
interest and redeemable at an agreed future date. 

(b) The interest paid is debited to the income statement as 
a finance cost below the profit from operations to give 
the profit before tax. 

6 False. Debentures are not shares and they do not receive 
dividends. They signify a loan co the company and the 
holders must receive a fixed amount of interest each 
year. 

7 (a) Revenue reserves are chose which arise as a result of the 
profitabi lity of the company's trading activities. Capital 
reserves arise not from trading activities but from capital 
transactions. They do not contain 'money'; they indicate 
past profits earned by a company. 

(b) Revenue reserves are available for distribution to 

shareholders in the form of cash dividends. Capital 
reserves are not available for cash dividends and are 
generally used co fund bonus shares. 

8 An income statement; a statement of financial position; 
a statement of cash flows; a statement of changes 
in equity; a statement of accounting policies and 
explanatory notes. 

9 A statement of comprehensive income. 

10 An income statement should include revenue; finance coses; 

tax expense; profit (or loss), which is transferred to the 
statement of changes in equity. 

11 The statement shows the changes that have taken place 
in permanent share capital and reserves during a financial 
year. 

12 (a) An intangible non-current asset is a non-monetary asset that 
can be identified clearly but is without physical substance. 

(b) Amortisation is the writing-off of part (or all) of the cost 
of an intangible asset over its useful life. 

13 An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset 
without physical substance. 
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U'\ilifi 
Gearing is the ratio of fixed interest-bearing capital as a 
proportion of a company's total capital. le expresses as a 
percentage the value of fixed cost capital (long-term loans 
and preference shares) co the total capital. le is given by the 
following formula: 

fixed cost capital 
gearing= total capital 

An investor would have concerns as the ratio would 
be above 50% and therefore the company may have a 
significant amount of finance costs before any dividends 
would be payable. 

(a) earningspershare 

profit aher tax - preference 

share dividends 

number of issued ordinary shares 

(b) rice earnin s ratio = market price per ordinary share 
p g earnings per ordinary share 

dividend paid and proposed 
(c) dividend yield = market priceofordinaryshares 

profit available co pay 
ordinary dividend 

(d) dividend cover 
ordinary dividend paid 

4 The price earnings ratio compares the earnings per share 
and the current market price of the share. le shows the 
number of year's earnings that a person is prepared co pay 
to purchase the share. The higher the ratio, the greater the 
confidence investors show regarding the prospects of the 
company. 

U'\1111=• 

5 An income statement; a statement of financial position; a 
statement of cash flows; a statement of changes in equity; a 
statement of accounting policies and explanatory notes. 

6 IAS 2 Inventories. 

7 Adjusting events are conditions chat existed at the date of 
the statement of financial position chat are material. The 
statement should be changed co reflect the event. A non­
adjusting event arises when an event occurred after the 
date of the statement of financial position. No adjustment 
is made due co such an event, but if material it should be 
disclosed by way of a note to the financial statements. 

8 Answers include expected use; wear and tear; obsolescence; 
legal restrictions to use. 

9 Derecognition occurs when a non-current asset is disposed 
of. Carrying amount is the cost of a non-current asset less 
total depreciation and impairment costs. 

10 The sale of an unused weaving machine. 

11 Contingent describes is an event that might occur. 

12 (a) Impairment occurs when the carrying amount of a non-
current asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

(b) Impairment losses must be shown in the income 
statement and in the statement of financial position. 

U'\itiP) 
Work in progress is inventory made up of goods chat are as 
yet in an unfinished state. 

$2.37 ($3081 + 1200 + (800 X 1/8)). 

A normal loss is one chat arises during processing, which 
has been expected and cannot be avoided. The units are 
credited to the process account and no value is attached to 
them so the cost is spread between the other units. 

1 (a) Gearing is the relationship that exists between fixed cost 4 Joint produces are produced in the same process as the 
primary produce. They have a significant sales value. By­
products are also produced in the same process as the 
primary produce, but they only contribute a minor sales 
value. 

capital and total capital. A highly geared company has 
more than 50% of its total capital provided using fixed 
cost capital. 

(b) Advantages of being highly geared include chat 
fixed interest payments can be budgeted for; if 
the loan can be used for a capital project chat will 
yield more than the rate of interest being paid, 
this represents good business practice; as years go 
by inflation makes interest payments less onerous. 
Disadvantages include chat interest has to be paid 
regardless of profitability; other lenders may be 
reluctant to lend further capital; the company may 

A marginal cost statement groups all the variable costs 
together and deducts their total from sales revenue, 
giving the total contribution earned. The fixed costs are 
then deducted from total contribution giving profit for 
the year. 

6 They are different names for the same scarce factor of 
production. 

be seen in a negative light as potential investors may u'tj [$.{II 
feel that ordinary shareholders should be prepared _ - ·-• -
to finance their own company rather than placing 

A budget is a short-term financial plan. 
reliance on outsiders. 

2 There is an assumption that the financial statements will 
be prepared using the accruals concept and the going 
concern concept. 

3 Financial statements muse have the four characteristics of 
understandability, relevance, reliability and comparability. 

4 Users of financial statements can rely on information that 
has been prepared and audited using the same ground 
rules. 

Budgets help in the planning process; co-ordinating 
departmental goals; communicating strategies; decision­
making; controlling outcomes. 

Budgetary control delegates financial planning to managers. 
Managers' performance is continuously evaluated by 
comparisons of actual departmental results and chose sec in 
budgets. 

4 le is a summary of the plans of the business. le usually 
consists of a number of budgets leading to a budgeted 
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income statement, budgeted sea cement of financial position 6 (a) Answers include lower skilled staff wasting materials; 
and a cash budget. inferior equipment spoiling material; poor quality 

5 A master budget draws together individual budgets and is material being used. 
summarised by the preparation of an income statement (b) Answers include less well qualified staff being employed; 
and a statement showing the financial position of the general deflation forcing wages down; specific wage 
business. deflation. 

6 opening balance of trade payables+ credit purchases - (c) Answers include losing custom to a competitor; general 
monies paid co suppliers = closing balance of trade payables inflationary pressure causing an increase in price; poor 

7 Cash is an essential ingredient in the short-term survival performance by sales representatives. 

of a business. A cash budget le may forecast the need for 
any further necessary shore-term finance and it can show if ujj [iii 
there is a predicted surplus of cash in the future that may be 

invested short-term. 1 Capital rationing applies when there is a shortage of funds 

8 Depreciation is not entered in a cash budget. le is a book available for investment purposes, meaning only certain 
entry chat does not involve a movement of cash. projects can be undertaken. 

9 Answers include provision for depreciation; provision 
for doubtful debts; inventory valuations; all accruals and 

prepayments. 

10 A factor whose shortage prevents the business from 
achieving its aim. An example is labour hours: if only 5000 
are available, it would be pointless setting a budget requiring 
a greater number of hours. 

11 Answers include shortages of: materials or components; 
skilled labour; factory or score space. 

12 A flexed budget is one that is adjusted co reflect the actual 
level of activity, not the budgeted level. 

Attainable standards, basic standards and ideal standards. 

Adverse variances reduce profits from those forecast. 
Favourable variances improve profits from chose forecast. 

Sq x Sp 

Aq x Sp 

Aq x Ap 

4 The material has been used inefficiently. Only :Y. of the hats 
have been produced, so only :Y. of the material should have 
been used, i.e. 12000m'. In face, 12500m' of material was 
used. 

A favourable total sales variance of $1000. This has increased 
actual profit for the month compared co that budgeted by 
$1000. 

Payback calculates cash flows using current cash values, 
whereas discounted payback cakes into account the 
business's current cost of capital to discount future cash 
flows. 

Payback measures the length of time chat is required for a 
stream of cash received from an investment to recover the 
original cash outlay on the investment. 

4 Answers include ease of calculation; cash flows are less 
subjective than the calculation of profit; a short payback 
period benefits a business's liquidity. 

. average profits 
accounting rate of return = average investment x 100 

6 Average investment = $140000 ($200000 + 2 + $40000). 

Answers include to keep a highly skilled workforce; to keep 
machinery in good working order if deterioration would 
occur through inactivity; in order to stimulate further more 
lucrative orders in the future; if the project was perceived to 
be a 'good thing' co do by management. 

8 internal rate of return = P+[(N-P)x ___r_] 
p-n 

P = %rate giving positive NPV 

N = % rate giving negative NPV 

p = S value of positive NPV 

n = S value of negative NPV 

9 The internal rate of return represents the interest rate 
earned by the investment over its life time. 
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